EXAMPLE 1

ACETYLCHOLINESTERASE: OLD QUESTIONS AND NEW DEVELOPMENTS

Topic Editors Karl Tsim and Hermona Soreq





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2013 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, as well as all content on this site is the exclusive property of Frontiers. Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Articles and other user-contributed materials may be downloaded and reproduced subject to any copyright or other notices. No financial payment or reward may be given for any such reproduction except to the author(s) of the article concerned.

As author or other contributor you grant permission to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

Cover image provided by lbbl sarl, Lausanne CH

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-098-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-098-0

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

ACETYLCHOLINESTERASE: OLD QUESTIONS AND NEW DEVELOPMENTS

Topic Editors:

Karl Tsim, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, China Hermona Soreq, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel



Image by Hermona Soreq.

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is a primary regulator of cholinergic signaling within and out of the central nervous system. It has been studied extensively for several decades, yet many basic questions about its regulation, composition and functions remain open. Thus, neither the full impact of AChE's activities on neuronal development, maintenance and functioning nor the reasons for why and how different AChE molecular forms are being synthesized and degraded are fully known yet, although recent evidence suggests the involvement of micro-RNA regulators in both of

these aspects. The identification of the anchoring proteins, PRiMA and ColQ, stimulates studies on AChE's assembly and its specific localization in the brain and muscle. Additionally, non-cholinergic function(s) of AChE has been proposed as relevant both for neuronal differentiation and cognitive functioning, whereas transgenic engineering, recombinant production and structure-function analyses of this enzyme's variants with various inhibitors paved new avenues for the development of novel Alzheimer's disease therapeutics, agricultural pesticides and prophylactics in anticipation of warfare agent exposure.

The aims of this Research Topic is to provide a forum for experts in the field to critically discuss recent developments in AChE studies, initiate global critiques of the current views for resolving the fundamental questions in AChE research and promote the development of novel versions and uses of AChE-targeted agents. Topics of interest include but are not limited to: (i) post-transcriptional regulation of AChE; (ii) the non-cholinergic functions of AChE; and (iii) anti-AChE inhibitors and diseases.

Table of Contents

04	Acetylcholinesterase: Old Questions and New Developments
	Karl Tsim and Hermona Soreq
06	Trans-acting Factors Governing Acetylcholinesterase mRNA Metabolism in
	Neurons
	Lucas M. Bronicki and Bernard J. Jasmin
13	Interactions of AChE with A β Aggregates in Alzheimer's Brain: Therapeutic
	Relevance of IDN 5706
	Francisco J. Carvajal and Nibaldo C. Inestrosa
23	Serum Cholinesterases are Differentially Regulated in Normal and Dystrophin- deficient Mutant Mice
	Andrea R. Durrant, Liliya Tamayev and Lili Anglister
33	Early Appearance and Possible Functions of Non-neuromuscular Cholinesterase
	Activities
	Carla Falugi and Maria G. Aluigi
45	Revisiting the Role of Acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's Disease: Cross-Talk
	with P-tau and β -Amyloid
	María-Salud García-Ayllón, David H. Small, Jesús Avila and Javier Sáez-Valero
54	Stressing Hematopoiesis and Immunity: an Acetylcholinesterase Window into
	Nervous and Immune System Interactions
	Adi Gilboa-Geffen, Gunther Hartmann and Hermona Soreq
64	Acetylcholinesterase Loosens the Brain's Cholinergic Anti-inflammatory
	Response and Promotes Epileptogenesis
	Yehudit Gnatek, Gabriel Zimmerman, Yael Goll, Naim Najami, Hermona
	Soreq and Alon Friedman
74	Cholinesterase-Targeting microRNAs Identified in Silico Affect Specific
	Biological Processes
~	Geula Hanin and Hermona Soreq
94	Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is an Important Link in the Apoptotic Pathway Induced by Hyperglycemia in Y79 Retinoblastoma Cell Line
	R. Shehadeh Masha'our, R. Heinrich, H. J. Garzozi and I. Perlman
106	Molecular Assembly and Biosynthesis of Acetylcholinesterase in Brain and
100	Muscle: the Roles of t-peptide, FHB Domain, and N-linked Glycosylation
	Vicky P. Chen, Wilson K. W. Luk, Wallace K. B. Chan, K. Wing Leung, Ava J. Y. Guo,
	Gallant K. L. Chan, Sherry L. Xu, Roy C. Y. Choi and Karl W. K. Tsim
114	Acetylcholinesterase Involvement in Apoptosis
	Xue-Jun Zhang and David S. Greenberg



Acetylcholinesterase: old questions and new developments

Karl Tsim¹* and Hermona Soreq²*

¹ Life Science and Center for Chinese Medicine, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Hong Kong, China

² The Edmond and Lily Safra Center for Brain Sciences, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel

*Correspondence: botsim@ust.hk; soreq@cc.huji.ac.il

Edited by:

Robert J. Harvey, UCL School of Pharmacy, UK

Reviewed by:

Robert J. Harvey, UCL School of Pharmacy, UK

The family of cholinesterases, including acetylcholinesterase (AChE) and butyrylcholinesterase (BChE), has been of significant interest to neuroscientists for several decades. Cholinesterases play an essential role in mediating neurotransmission in cholinergic synapses, which control the higher brain functions such as learning and memory; they also are causally involved in controlling nerve-muscle communication and muscle activities, and serve as an important component of the physiological differences characteristic of certain pathological conditions. A notable example is Alzheimer's disease, where premature death of cholinergic neurons has been the basis for drug development so that the leading therapeutic agents available to date are targeted to inhibit cholinesterase activities. AChE and BChE were initially identified as efficient hydrolases that possess the capacity to rapidly hydrolyze acetylcholine and butyrylcholine, respectively; and AChE presents more rapid and far more selective potency for such hydrolysis compared to BChE. Throughout the last 40 years, multiple studies of cholinesterases led to an exponential increase in the effort to explore their functions, structures and physiological roles in health and disease. The resultant findings strongly suggest vital roles for cholinesterases both in the nervous system and in other body systems, with non-neuronal functions such as the regulation of apoptosis and inflammation being a relatively new focus of interest. This vast interest, coupled with the rapid increase in the availability and power of different research tools allow far deeper understanding of the structure and functions of AChE and BChE in different disciplinary terms, including cellular and molecular biology, genetics and epigenetics, physiology, structure-function relationships at an atomic resolution

level, the chemical mechanisms of enzymatic inhibition, pharmacology, drug development, disease therapy, etc. However, in spite of this massive multi-disciplinary effort, numerous critical and core questions of AChE and BChE are yet not fully answered, and some have never been addressed as yet. As two of the many enthusiastic scientists in this field, we believe that the current surge in cholinesterase research will further expand in the near future. Therefore, it has been an honor to co-edit this E-book, entitled "Acetylcholinesterase: old questions and new developments." This volume includes pertinent research articles by 11 leading groups, worldwide (Carvajal and Inestrosa, 2011; Chen et al., 2011; García-Ayllón et al., 2011; Hanin and Soreq, 2011; Bronicki and Jasmin, 2012; Durrant et al., 2012; Falugi and Aluigi, 2012; Gilboa-Geffen et al., 2012; Gnatek et al., 2012; Shehadeh Masha'our et al., 2012; Zhang and Greenberg, 2012). It covers the translational and post-translational modifications of cholinesterases, their developmental expression patterns in different species, their links to inflammation-related pathologies and their role in apoptotic processes. At the molecular level, one can find in this volume a reference to the microRNA regulation of cholinesterases as well as to the trans-acting factors governing the metabolism of cholinesterase mRNA. Also, the links of cholinesterases with inherited neuromuscular diseases as well as with Alzheimer's neuropathology and therapeutics is covered from both the physiological and structural points of view. Thus, this volume provides a glimpse into the most up-to-date research information in the diverse field of cholinesterases, as well as an important insight for outlying future research directions in this topic.

REFERENCES

- Bronicki, L. M., and Jasmin, B. J. (2012). Trans-acting factors governing acetylcholinesterase mRNA metabolism in neurons. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 5:36. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2012.00036
- Carvajal, F. J., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2011). Interactions of AChE with A β aggregates in Alzheimer's brain: therapeutic relevance of IDN 5706. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 4:19. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011.00019
- Chen, V. P., Luk, W. K. W., Chan, W. K. W., Leung, K. W., Guo,

A. J. Y., Chan, G. K. L., et al. (2011). Molecular assembly and biosynthesis of acetylcholinesterase in brain and muscle: the roles of t-peptide, FHB domain, and Nlinked glycosylation. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 4:36. doi: 10.3389/fnmol. 2011.00036

- Durrant, A. R., Tamayev, L., and Anglister, L. (2012). Serum cholinesterases are differentially regulated in normal and dystrophin-deficient mutant mice. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 5:73. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2012.00073
- Falugi, C., and Aluigi, M. G. (2012). Early appearance and possible functions of non-neuromuscular cholinesterase activities. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 5:54. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2012. 00054
- García-Ayllón, M-S., Small, D. H., Avila, J., and Sáez-Valero, J. (2011). Revisiting the role of acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease: cross-talk with P-tau and β -amyloid. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 4:22. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011. 00022
- Gilboa-Geffen, A., Hartmann, G., and Soreq, H. (2012). Stressing hematopoiesis and immunity: an acetylcholinesterase window into nervous and immune system interactions. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 5:30. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2012. 00030
- Gnatek, Y., Zimmerman, G., Goll, Y., Najami, N., Soreq, H., and Friedman, A. (2012). Acetylcholinesterase loosens the brain's cholinergic antiinflammatory response and promotes epileptogenesis. *Front.*

Mol. Neurosci. 5:66. doi: 10.3389/ fnmol.2012.00066

Hanin, G., and Soreq, H. (2011). Cholinesterase-targeting microR-NAs identified in silico affect specific biological processes. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 4:28. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011.00028

Shehadeh Masha'our, R., Heinrich, R., Garzozi, H. J., and Perlman, I. (2012). Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is an important link in the apoptotic pathway induced by hyperglycemia in Y79 retinoblastoma cell line. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 5:69. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2012. 00069

Zhang, X-J., and Greenberg, D. S. (2012). Acetylcholinesterase involvement in apoptosis. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 5:40. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2012.00040

Received: 15 November 2012; accepted: 14 December 2012; published online: 09 January 2013.

Citation: Tsim K and Soreq H (2013) Acetylcholinesterase: old questions and new developments. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 5:101. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2012.00101 Copyright © 2013 Tsim and Soreq. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

Trans-acting factors governing acetylcholinesterase mRNA metabolism in neurons

Lucas M. Bronicki and Bernard J. Jasmin*

Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Edited by:

Karl Tsim, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, China

Reviewed by:

Javier SaEz-Valero, Universidad Miguel Hernandez, Spain Claire Legay, Universite Paris Descartes, France

*Correspondence:

Bernard J. Jasmin, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, University of Ottawa, 451 Smyth Rd., Ottawa, ON, K1H 8M5, Canada. e-mail: jasmin@uottawa.ca The most characterized function of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is to terminate cholinergic signaling at neuron-neuron and neuro-muscular synapses. In addition, AChE is causally or casually implicated in neuronal development, stress-response, cognition, and neurodegenerative diseases. Given the importance of AChE, many studies have focused on identifying the molecular mechanisms that govern its expression. Despite these efforts, post-transcriptional control of AChE mRNA expression is still relatively unclear. Here, we review the trans-acting factors and cis-acting elements that are known to control AChE pre-mRNA splicing, mature mRNA stability and translation. Moreover, since the Hu/ELAV family of RNA-binding proteins (RBPs) have emerged in recent years as "master" post-transcriptional regulators, we discuss the possibility that predominantly neuronal ELAVs (nELAVs) play multiple roles in regulating splicing, stability, localization, and translation of AChE mRNA.

Keywords: Hu, nELAV, AChE, alternative splicing, mRNA stability, translation, micro-RNA

INTRODUCTION

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is one of the most thoroughly studied enzymes and is better known for its role in hydrolyzing acetylcholine (ACh) at central and peripheral nervous system (CNS and PNS) synapses (reviewed in Legay, 2000; Soreq and Seidman, 2001; Massoulie, 2002; Rotundo, 2003; Taylor, 2010). In addition to terminating cholinergic neurotransmission, detection of AChE prior to cholinergic synapse formation and in non-cholinergic neurons led to identification of functions in several cellular processes including neurite elongation (Koenigsberger et al., 1997), synaptogenesis (Sternfeld et al., 1998), cell adherence (Sharma et al., 2001), and apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2002) (reviewed in Jiang and Zhang, 2008; Paraoanu and Layer, 2008). The functional versatility of AChE is also implicated in neocortical development (Dori et al., 2005), cognition (Beeri et al., 1995), stress-response (Kaufer et al., 1998), neuronal tumors (Karpel et al., 1994) and neurodegeneration such as in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (reviewed in Meshorer and Soreq, 2006; Greenfield et al., 2008).

AChE's tissue-specific expression pattern and diverse roles are largely attributed to the generation of multiple splice variants from a single gene (Li et al., 1991; Meshorer et al., 2004). Classically, all AChE variants are categorized depending on their different C-terminal tails into AChE_T (T-tailed), AChE_R (R-read through) and AChE_H (H-hydrophobic). In neurons and skeletal muscle AChE_T interacts with either a collagenic tail termed ColQ, or with a proline-rich membrane anchor referred to as PRiMA. On the other hand, AChE_H is primarily localized to erythrocytes and platelets, anchored to the plasma membrane via glycophospholipids. The typically low abundant variant found in several cell types, AChE_R, is a soluble monomer up-regulated during stress, AChE inhibition and organophosphate poisoning (reviewed in Zimmerman and Soreq, 2006). The importance of AChE for proper neuronal development and synaptic physiology, as well as its putative roles in brain pathologies, has gathered much attention over the last several decades toward delineating the molecular mechanisms that control its expression.

Neuronal transcription of AChE has first been reported during differentiation (Greene and Rukenstein, 1981, see also for example Deschenes-Furry et al., 2003), in response to stressors (Shapira et al., 2000; Meshorer et al., 2004) and in co-cultures with myotubes (Jiang et al., 2003). The murine AChE gene contains a complex 5' regulatory region (5'RR) with alternate promoters and two enhancers (Mutero et al., 1995; Atanasova et al., 1999; Chan et al., 1999; Meshorer et al., 2004). Several transcription factors are now recognized to regulate AChE expression in neurons, including activating transcription factor-1 (ATF1) (Wan et al., 2000), glucocorticoid receptors (GR) (Meshorer et al., 2004), hepatocyte nuclear factor 3β (HNF3β) (Shapira et al., 2000) and ETS-like transcription factor (Elk-1) (Siow et al., 2010). At least 5 and 4 exon 1 (E1) variants have been identified in the mouse (mE1a-e) and human (hE1a-d) AChE 5'RR, respectively, with distinct promoters located upstream of each E1 (Figure 1A). Each leader exon generates a unique AChE 5' untranslated region (UTR), which is presumably dependent on alternative promoter usage rather than alternative splicing. Although the purpose of these various 5'UTRs remains elusive, mE1e and hE1d encode a conserved (79%) amino acid chain that produces N-terminal extended AChE variants (N-AChE_T, N-AChE_R and in principle N-AChE_H) (Meshorer et al., 2004). Interestingly, certain N-AChE variants have been shown to bind the cellular membrane, promote apoptosis in stress-induced cells and to associate with pathological markers in Alzheimer's brains (Kehat et al., 2007; Toiber et al., 2008, 2009).

In addition to transcription and distinct promote usage, an increasing amount of studies are demonstrating that



AChE genes, alternative splicing options and cis-element locations. (A) Mouse and human AChE genes, including the leader exons identified in brain tissues. Noteworthy is the 5' regulatory region that harbors alternate exons 1a-e in mouse and 1a-d in human (orange boxes), distal enhancer glucocorticoid response element (brown line) and proximal muscle-specific enhancer (pink line). Gray boxes and black lines represent constitutive exons and introns, respectively. (B) Alternative splicing at the 3' end of AChE pre-mRNA produces tissue-specific R (green), H (yellow) and T (blue) variants. Approximate locations of the U-rich regulatory sequence, SC35 and ASF/SF2 splicing factor binding sites are denoted by black, white, and gray stars, respectively. (C) The 3' untranslated regions (3'UTRs) of mature T and R AChE variants and the alternative polyadenylation-dependent extended regions. The AChE_H variant is not shown since it is not significantly expressed in neurons. Symbols represent the PBE (black triangle), ARE (gray triangle), miR-132 binding (white triangle), translation stop (red octagon), and polyadenylation signal (p(A)) sites. 4' signifies a pseudo-intron that contains the AChE_R translation termination site. Whether E6 and the downstream region are included in AChE_B transcripts is unknown (?).

post-transcriptional mechanisms are equally important for AChE expression. However, our understanding of the trans-acting factors and cis-acting elements involved in these processes is still limited. Here, we review the work describing the currently identified RNA-binding proteins (RBPs), microRNAs (miRs) and RNA motifs that regulate AChE pre-mRNA splicing, mRNA stability, and translation. Given the established neuronal pleiotropic effects of one family of RBP, namely the principally neuronal ELAVs (nELAVs), we also speculate on their involvement in AChE mRNA metabolism at multiple steps.

REGULATION OF ACHE PRE-mRNA SPLICING

Recent high throughput sequencing revealed that more than 90% of human genes undergo alternative splicing (for review see Kalsotra and Cooper, 2011). In accordance with this finding, AChE pre-mRNA is subjected to alternative splicing at the 3'end, which produces $AChE_T$ or $AChE_R$ in neurons. The terminal sequence of the *AChE* gene contains a 5' splice donor

site downstream of exon 4 (E4) and two 3' splice acceptor sites, one upstream of E5 (proximal) and the other upstream of E6 (distal). When splicing to either of the two downstream acceptor sites is inhibited, the intron (4') and exons downstream of E4, are included into the mature transcript producing AChE_R. Conversely, splicing to the distal acceptor site incorporates E6 into the mature mRNA and generates AChE_T (reviewed in Meshorer and Soreq, 2006) (**Figure 1B**).

Although little is known regarding the splicing factors involved, two serine/arginine-rich (SR) auxiliary splicing factors, SC35 and ASF/SF2, have been found to inversely affect AChE_R versus AChE_T expression (Meshorer et al., 2005). In particular, in vitro experiments with an AChE minigene in COS-1 and HEK293 cells unveiled that SC35 promotes alternative splicing of AChE_R transcripts whereas ASF/SF2 seemed to favor expression of AChE_T. Furthermore, immunohistochemistry and fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) experiments detected a correlation between SC35 protein and AChE_R mRNA expression during embryonic brain development and adult stress-response. However, some discordance between SC35 protein and AChE_R mRNA levels in developing and post-stress cortex were apparent (Meshorer et al., 2005), indicating that other trans-acting factors may also govern splicing of precursor AChE mRNAs. In agreement with this view, Guerra et al used an AChE minigene and sequence mutagenesis to uncover various putative motifs, predominantly located in the E5 non-coding region, that influence production of the R/H/T splice variants in skeletal muscle cells (Guerra et al., 2008).

STABILITY-DETERMINANTS OF AChE mRNA

Post-transcriptional regulation of AChE resulting in increased mRNA stability was initially documented in Neuro2a (N2a) cells under the control of the thyroid hormone T3 (Puymirat et al., 1995) and in differentiating P19 embryonal carcinoma cells (Coleman and Taylor, 1996). Moreover, increased stability of AChE mRNA through an unknown mechanism has been observed during calcium-dependent apoptosis (Zhu et al., 2007). Screening the AChE_T transcript sequence for cis-acting elements that might regulate mRNA stability revealed the presence of an AU-rich element (ARE) in the 3'UTR and a CU-rich sequence in E2 (Cuadrado et al., 2003; Deschenes-Furry et al., 2003). Based on the current understanding of AChE alternative splicing, it would appear that the R transcript also contains these motifs. However, whether the ARE-surrounding sequence that is encoded by E6 is also present in AChE_R remains controversial (Guerra et al., 2008; Camp et al., 2010; Hanin and Soreq, 2011; Marrero et al., 2011) (Figure 1C). In either case, the existence of an ARE indicates RBP-dependent regulation of AChE mRNA stability. AChE transcripts are also susceptible to alternative polyadenylation that preferentially produces a shorter 3'UTR in mature neurons with an expected altered mRNA stability (Figure 1C) (Li et al., 1991).

One of the most extensively studied families of mRNA stabilizing RBPs, termed the Hu/ELAV family, consists of the ubiquitously expressed HuR (ELAV11) and the predominantly neuronal (known as nELAVs) HuB (ELAV12), HuC (ELAV13) and HuD (ELAV14) (reviewed in Bolognani and Perrone-Bizzozero, 2008; Hinman and Lou, 2008; Pascale et al., 2008). Brain developmental and spatial expression patterns of Hu/ELAV members are partially distinct and their amino acid sequences are moderately conserved in certain regulatory regions, suggesting that these RBPs are not completely functionally redundant (Okano and Darnell, 1997; Hambardzumyan et al., 2009). Hu/ELAVs contain two RNA-Recognition Motifs (RRMs) which enable binding to AREs in the 3'UTR and a third RRM that interacts with the poly(A)-tail and other proteins (Abe et al., 1996; Ma et al., 1997; Kasashima et al., 2002; Fialcowitz-White et al., 2007). Recent studies indicate that both ARE and non-ARE sequences located in 5'UTRs, exons and introns are also targeted by Hu/ELAVs (Bolognani et al., 2010; Lebedeva et al., 2011; Mukherjee et al., 2011; Uren et al., 2011). Through these binding mechanisms, Hu/ELAVs can regulate almost all aspects of mRNA metabolism including splicing, polyadenylation, nuclear export, stabilization, localization, and translation (reviewed in Hinman and Lou, 2008; Pascale et al., 2008-and see below). Since several nELAV mRNA targets encode proteins that have essential roles ranging from neurogenesis to synaptogenesis, nELAVs act as "master" post-transcriptional regulators of neuronal development, maintenance, and function (Bolognani et al., 2010 and for review see Deschenes-Furry et al., 2006; Pascale and Govoni, 2012).

The lack of positive correlation between transcription rate and AChE mRNA levels (see for example Boudreau-Lariviere et al., 2000; Angus et al., 2001) together with the presence of an ARE motif in the AChE transcript prompted us several years ago, to initiate a series of studies to determine whether nELAVs control AChE mRNA stability. Using several complementary approaches, we were able to show that HuD binds to the ARE-containing region in the 3'UTR and enhances AChE mRNA abundance following its ectopic expression in PC12 cells (Deschenes-Furry et al., 2003). Around the same time, the group of Cuadrado et al

used an *in vitro* RNAse protection assay to establish that HuD binds to the AChE ARE and CU-rich sequence. In a congruent experiment to ours, they were able to demonstrate that overexpression of HuD is sufficient to increase AChE mRNA expression in N2a cells (Cuadrado et al., 2003). Moreover, similar findings were obtained in a skeletal muscle differentiation model when we demonstrated that HuR also binds to the AChE 3'UTR thereby stabilizing the transcript (Deschenes-Furry et al., 2005).

In subsequent work, we ascertained that the regulation of AChE mRNA stability by HuD also occurs in vivo. To this end, we conducted experiments using two distinct models. First, we made use of transgenic mice overexpressing HuD in regions of the brain. In these animals, we detected through in situ hybridization and RT-PCR experiments, an increase in AChE levels in brain regions showing high levels of transgene expression. Furthermore, RNA immunoprecipitation experiments confirmed in vivo an interaction between the HuD transgene product and endogenous AChE transcripts. In a second approach, axotomy of neurons of the spinal cervical ganglion (SCG) produced a concomitant decrease in AChE mRNA and HuD protein levels, as well as a clear reduction in their interaction. Importantly, the decrease in AChE mRNA abundance could be rescued by localized overexpression of HuD delivered via a viral vector (Deschenes-Furry et al., 2007). Together, these in vitro and in vivo studies highlight the critical importance of HuD in controlling AChE mRNA stability (Figure 2) during neuronal development and following injury. Whether these functions extend to the other nELAVs is not presently known.

LOCALIZATION AND TRANSLATION OF AChE TRANSCRIPTS

Transport of mRNAs into neurites necessitates a heterogeneous and dynamic assembly of proteins, known as ribonucleoprotein (RNPs) particles, onto 3'UTR cis-elements (**Figure 2**). RNP



components stabilize the transcript, inhibit translation during transport and promote/repress protein synthesis at the synapse (reviewed in Wang et al., 2010a; Liu-Yesucevitz et al., 2011). In a potentially analogous mechanism, translocation of AChE_R mRNAs into neurites correlates with increased AChE activity following physiological stress, AChE inhibition or corticosterone treatment (Meshorer et al., 2002). Collectively with the discovery of augmented AChE_R transcript levels in cortical neurites subsequent to AChE inhibition (Kaufer et al., 1998), these findings support the notion that post-transcriptional events regulate AChE_R mRNA translocation and possibly local translation at the neurite terminal (Meshorer and Soreq, 2006).

In agreement with this view, a study by Marrero et al has recently identified Pumilio2 (Pum2) as a regulator of AChE translation (Marrero et al., 2011). Pum2 is a member of the PUF family of RBPs that bind to distinct Pumilio binding elements (PBEs) in 3'UTRs of mRNAs and inhibit their translation (reviewed in Quenault et al., 2011). Using protein-RNA binding assays, the authors demonstrated that Pum2 specifically binds to a PBE element in the 3'UTR and consequently represses AChE translation (Marrero et al., 2011). Although these studies were conducted in skeletal muscle, Pum2 is also found in the nervous system, where it controls synaptic function and dendrite outgrowth (Vessey et al., 2010). Furthermore, disruption of Pum2 impairs long-term memory in Drosophila while its ablation produces numerous behavioural defects in mice (Dubnau et al., 2003; Siemen et al., 2011). Together, these studies suggest that Pum2 may inhibit AChE translation during transport and at synaptic termini in neurons (Figure 2).

MicroRNA REGULATION OF AChE EXPRESSION

Stability and translation of mRNAs are also under the influence of miRs, which are short (\sim 23 nt) single-stranded non-coding RNAs. MiRs function by imperfectly binding to target sequences, usually in the 3'UTR, thereby promoting transcript degradation and/or translational silencing when loaded into the miR-induced silencing complex (miRISC) (Berezikov, 2011). Recently, Shaked et al. used a reporter assay along with binding site point mutation in cultured CHO cells to demonstrate that miR-132 targets the AChE 3'UTR. The authors then elaborated on these findings *in vivo* by showing that miR-132 overexpression and locked nucleic acid (LNA)-mediated reduction decreased and increased, respectively, AChE catalytic activity in bone marrow cells (Shaked et al., 2009).

MiR-132 is also abundant in the brain implying that AChE is subjected to this regulatory event in neurons (Cheng et al., 2007). Indeed, a very recent study revealed that transgenic mice overexpressing AChE_R transcripts lacking the 3'UTR contain elevated miR-132 levels which correlate with decreased AChE_T mRNA abundance in the hippocampus (Shaltiel et al., 2012). However, it remains to be tested whether miR-132 induces AChE mRNA translational inhibition, degradation or both (**Figure 2**). Additional bioinformatics analysis of 3'UTR sequences further identified at least 47 and 81 putative miR sites in AChE_T and AChE_R, respectively (Hanin and Soreq, 2011); though the functionality of these sites requires validation. Amongst these potential sites, at least 13 miRs, for example miR-124, -125b, -194

and -214, are of greater interest because they have been implicated in neuronal development, regeneration, and/or brain diseases (Saba and Schratt, 2010; Hanin and Soreq, 2011).

IMPLICATION OF Hu/ELAVs IN REGULATING ACHE mRNA METABOLISM AT MULTIPLE STEPS

It is now well established that members of the Hu/ELAV family of RBP can exert multiple effects on RNA metabolism by assuming several distinct, yet complementary functions. Thus, the multifunctional nature of Hu/ELAVs in controlling the fate of mRNAs suggests that these RBPs regulate more than stability of AChE transcripts. In support of this idea, a recent compilation of high throughput data implicates HuR in coupling pre-mRNA alternative splicing to mRNA stability. More specifically, nascent HuR targets that contain both intronic and 3'UTR binding sites were found to be more stable than those that do not (Mukherjee et al., 2011).

In view of this, a U-rich sequence in the AChE E5 noncoding region was demonstrated to control splicing to the distal 3' splice site to favor AChE_T expression in skeletal muscle (Guerra et al., 2008). Interestingly, the Hu/ELAV family has been shown to control pre-mRNA splicing by binding to AU- and U-rich sequences (reviewed in Hinman and Lou, 2008). For example, one study demonstrated that nELAVs regulate splicing of the calcitonin/calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) pre-mRNA in a neuron-specific manner by outcompeting TIA/TIAR splicing factors for U-rich intronic binding sites (Zhu et al., 2006). Various Hu/ELAV members were shown to similarly bind and control splicing of Fas (Izquierdo, 2010), Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) (Zhu et al., 2008), Ikaros (Bellavia et al., 2007) and even HuD premRNAs (Wang et al., 2010b). In most of these cases Hu/ELAVs were found to function as splicing repressors with the only exception being a splicing enhancement role on HuD pre-mRNA (Wang et al., 2010b). Based on their established nuclear functions, nELAVs could thus regulate splicing of AChE 3' alternative exons by competing for the U-rich site within the E5 non-coding region (Figures 1B and 2).

In addition to governing pre-mRNA splicing, compelling evidence supports a role for nELAVs in regulating both localization and translation of ARE-bearing transcripts in neurites (reviewed in Pascale et al., 2008). For instance, two ARE-containing HuD target mRNAs that are both involved in axon outgrowth namely, GAP-43 and Tau, colocalize with HuD protein and polysomes in growth cones during neuronal differentiation (Smith et al., 2004; Atlas et al., 2007). Co-immunoprecipitation and in vitro binding assays revealed that HuD interacts with a motor protein, KIF3A, and directly binds to a microtubule component, MAP1B (Aronov et al., 2002; Fujiwara et al., 2011). Strengthening the notion of nELAV-mediated translation, HuD was shown to enhance capdependent protein synthesis and PC12 cell neurite extension by binding to eIF4A and the poly(A)-tail of transcripts (Fukao et al., 2009). Hu/ELAV members are also capable of repressing translation through a mechanism that is unclear but appears to depend on the target transcript and/or the cellular context (Kullmann et al., 2002; Meng et al., 2005). Based on these findings, it is conceivable that nELAVs regulate both AChE mRNA stability and translation in neurons, in a manner analogous to that previously

observed for the mRNA targets GLUT1 and NOVA-1 (Jain et al., 1997; Ratti et al., 2008).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Despite extensive research into the regulation of AChE expression, only a handful of studies have precisely described some of the molecular mechanisms that control AChE expression, particularly at the post-transcriptional level. Currently, our knowledge of trans-acting factors and cis-acting elements that affect AChE pre-mRNA splicing, mature mRNA stability, transport and translation is rather limited. Nevertheless, some progress has been made over the years and increasing evidence suggests that RBPs (SC35, ASF/SF2, HuD and Pum2) and at least one miR (miR-132) play integral roles in controlling AChE expression in cholinergic and non-cholinergic neurons under various physiological contexts (see above). Based on their implications in neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity, trans-acting factors may also regulate AChE expression during learning and memory (Quattrone et al., 2001; Mellios et al., 2011; Siemen et al., 2011; Tognini et al., 2011; Apostolatos et al., 2012). Under such circumstances, post-transcriptional events might differentially regulate AChE_T versus AChE_R at multiple levels, since the expression patterns and functions of these variants are often contrasting (reviewed in Meshorer and Soreq, 2006). Control of mRNA stability, transport and local translation would facilitate temporal and spatial expression of AChE variants at growth cones and mature synapses and thus contribute to the multifaceted biochemical, morphological and physiological modifications necessary for neuronal differentiation, synaptic plasticity and stress-response. Conversely, altered abundance and/or function of trans-acting factors, such as nELAVs and consequently AChE, may be directly or indirectly involved in neurodegenerative pathogenesis, namely Alzheimer's disease (Berson et al., 2008; Amadio et al., 2009). In light of the emerging role of post-transcriptional events governing AChE metabolism, it is now clear that a thorough knowledge of all mechanisms controlling AChE expression and localization is necessary if the ultimate goal is to better understand neuronal development and function including neurogenesis, stress-response, cognition, neurodegeneration, as well as other brain diseases and injuries.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to many friends and colleagues of the cholinesterase community for the scientific camaraderie and spirit of collaborations we have enjoyed over several years. We are particularly indebted to Professors Claire Legay and Nora Perrone-Bizzozero for their invaluable contributions to the original work summarized in this review. We also thank members of the Jasmin laboratory for insightful discussions. Work in the Jasmin lab has been supported over the years by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, the Muscular Dystrophy Association (USA), the Association Francaise contre les Myopathies, the Canadian Space Agency, Muscular Dystrophy Canada and the Foundation for Gene and Cell Therapy (Jesse's Journey). Finally, the authors dedicate this article to Professor Jean Massoulié whose pioneering work, scientific excellence, mentorship abilities, enthusiasm, and friendship, have inspired us all and continue to do so.

REFERENCES

- Abe, R., Sakashita, E., Yamamoto, K., and Sakamoto, H. (1996). Two different RNA binding activities for the AU-rich element and the poly(A) sequence of the mouse neuronal protein mHuC. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 24, 4895–4901.
- Amadio, M., Pascale, A., Wang, J., Ho, L., Quattrone, A., Gandy, S., Haroutunian, V., Racchi, M., and Pasinetti, G. M. (2009). nELAV proteins alteration in Alzheimer's disease brain: a novel putative target for amyloid-beta reverberating on AbetaPP processing. J. Alzheimers Dis. 16, 409–419.
- Angus, L. M., Chan R. Y., and Jasmin, B. J. (2001). Role of intronic E- and N-box motifs in the transcriptional induction of the acetylcholinesterase gene during myogenic differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 17603–17609.
- Apostolatos, A., Song, S., Acosta, S., Peart, M., Watson, J. E., Bickford, P., Cooper, D. R., and Patel, N. A. (2012). Insulin promotes neuronal survival via the alternatively spliced protein kinase C delta II (PKCdeltaII) isoform. J. Biol.

Chem. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111. 313080. [Epub ahead of print].

- Aronov, S., Aranda, G., Behar, L., and Ginzburg, I. (2002). Visualization of translated tau protein in the axons of neuronal P19 cells and characterization of tau RNP granules. J. Cell Sci. 115, 3817–3827.
- Atanasova, E., Chiappa, S., Wieben, E., and Brimijoin, S. (1999). Novel messenger RNA and alternative promoter for murine acetylcholinesterase. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 21078–21084.
- Atlas, R., Behar, L., Sapoznik, S., and Ginzburg, I. (2007). Dynamic association with polysomes during P19 neuronal differentiation and an untranslated-region-dependent translation regulation of the tau mRNA by the tau mRNAassociated proteins IMP1, HuD, and G3BP1. J. Neurosci. Res. 85, 173–183.
- Beeri, R., Andres, C., Lev-Lehman, E., Timberg, R., Huberman, T., Shani, M., and Soreq, H. (1995). Transgenic expression of human acetylcholinesterase induces progressive cognitive deterioration in mice. *Curr. Biol.* 5, 1063–1071.

- Bellavia, D., Mecarozzi, M., Campese, A. F., Grazioli, P., Talora, C., Frati, L., Gulino, A., and Screpanti, I. (2007). Notch3 and the Notch3-upregulated RNA-binding protein HuD regulate Ikaros alternative splicing. *EMBO J.* 26, 1670–1680.
- Berezikov, E. (2011). Evolution of microRNA diversity and regulation in animals. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 12, 846–860.
- Berson, A., Knobloch, M., Hanan, M., Diamant, S., Sharoni, M., Schuppli, D., Geyer, B. C., Ravid, R., Mor, T. S., Nitsch, R. M., and Soreq, H. (2008). Changes in readthrough acetylcholinesterase expression modulate amyloid-beta pathology. *Brain* 131, 109–119.
- Bolognani, F., Contente-Cuomo, T., and Perrone-Bizzozero, N. I. (2010). Novel recognition motifs and biological functions of the RNA-binding protein HuD revealed by genome-wide identification of its targets. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 117–130.
- Bolognani, F., and Perrone-Bizzozero, N. I. (2008). RNA-protein interactions and control of mRNA

stability in neurons. J. Neurosci. Res. 86, 481–489.

- Boudreau-Lariviere, C., Chan, R. Y., Wu, J., and Jasmin, B. J. (2000). Molecular mechanisms underlying the activity-linked alterations in acetylcholinesterase mRNAs in developing versus adult rat skeletal muscles. J. Neurochem. 74, 2250–2258.
- Camp, S., Zhang, L., Krejci, E., Dobbertin, A., Bernard, V., Girard, E., Duysen, E. G., Lockridge, O., De Jaco, A., and Taylor, P. (2010). Contributions of selective knockout studies to understanding cholinesterase disposition and function. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 187, 72–77.
- Chan, R. Y., Boudreau-Lariviere, C., Angus, L. M., Mankal, F. A., and Jasmin, B. J. (1999). An intronic enhancer containing an N-box motif is required for synapse- and tissue-specific expression of the acetylcholinesterase gene in skeletal muscle fibers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 96, 4627–4632.
- Cheng, H. Y., Papp, J. W., Varlamova, O., Dziema, H., Russell, B., Curfman, J. P., Nakazawa, T.,

Shimizu, K., Okamura, H., Impey, S., and Obrietan, K. (2007). microRNA modulation of circadian-clock period and entrainment. *Neuron* 54, 813–829.

- Coleman, B. A., and Taylor, P. (1996). Regulation of acetylcholinesterase expression during neuronal differentiation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 4410–4416.
- Cuadrado, A., Navarro-Yubero, C., Furneaux, H., and Munoz, A. (2003). Neuronal HuD gene encoding a mRNA stability regulator is transcriptionally repressed by thyroid hormone. *J. Neurochem.* 86, 763–773.
- Deschenes-Furry, J., Belanger, G., Mwanjewe, J., Lunde, J. A., Parks, R. J., Perrone-Bizzozero, N., and Jasmin, B. J. (2005). The RNAbinding protein HuR binds to acetylcholinesterase transcripts and regulates their expression in differentiating skeletal muscle cells. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 25361–25368.
- Deschenes-Furry, J., Belanger, G., Perrone-Bizzozero, N., and Jasmin, B. J. (2003). Posttranscriptional regulation of acetylcholinesterase mRNAs in nerve growth factor-treated PC12 cells by the RNA-binding protein HuD. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 5710–5717.
- Deschenes-Furry, J., Mousavi, K., Bolognani, F., Neve, R. L., Parks, R. J., Perrone-Bizzozero, N. I., and Jasmin, B. J. (2007). The RNA-binding protein HuD binds acetylcholinesterase mRNA in neurons and regulates its expression after axotomy. J. Neurosci. 27, 665–675.
- Deschenes-Furry, J., Perrone-Bizzozero, N., and Jasmin, B. J. (2006). The RNA-binding protein HuD: a regulator of neuronal differentiation, maintenance and plasticity. *Bioessays* 28, 822–833.
- Dori, A., Cohen, J., Silverman, W. F., Pollack, Y., and Soreq, H. (2005). Functional manipulations of acetylcholinesterase splice variants highlight alternative splicing contributions to murine neocortical development. Cereb. Cortex. 15, 419–430.
- Dubnau, J., Chiang, A. S., Grady, L., Barditch, J., Gossweiler, S., McNeil, J., Smith, P., Buldoc, F., Scott, R., Certa, U., Broger, C., and Tully, T. (2003). The staufen/pumilio pathway is involved in Drosophila long-term memory. *Curr. Biol.* 13, 286–296.
- Fialcowitz-White, E. J., Brewer, B. Y., Ballin, J. D., Willis, C. D., Toth, E. A., and Wilson, G. M. (2007). Specific protein domains mediate cooperative assembly of HuR

oligomers on AU-rich mRNAdestabilizing sequences. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 20948–20959.

- Fujiwara, Y., Kasashima, K., Saito, K., Fukuda, M., Fukao, A., Sasano, Y., Inoue, K., Fujiwara, T., and Sakamoto, H. (2011). Microtubule association of a neuronal RNA-binding protein HuD through its binding to the light chain of MAP1B. *Biochimie* 93, 817–822.
- Fukao, A., Sasano, Y., Imataka, H., Inoue, K., Sakamoto, H., Sonenberg, N., Thoma, C., and Fujiwara, T. (2009). The ELAV protein HuD stimulates cap-dependent translation in a Poly(A)- and eIF4Adependent manner. *Mol. Cell.* 36, 1007–1017.
- Greene, L. A., and Rukenstein, A. (1981). Regulation of acetylcholinesterase activity by nerve growth factor. Role of transcription and dissociation from effects on proliferation and neurite outgrowth. J. Biol. Chem. 256, 6363–6367.
- Greenfield, S. A., Zimmermann, M., and Bond, C. E. (2008). Non-hydrolytic functions of acetylcholinesterase. The significance of C-terminal peptides. *FEBS J.* 275, 604–611.
- Guerra, M., Dobbertin, A., and Legay, C. (2008). Identification of cis-acting elements involved in acetylcholinesterase RNA alternative splicing. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 38, 1–14.
- Hambardzumyan, D., Sergent-Tanguy, S., Thinard, R., Bonnamain, V., Masip, M., Fabre, A., Boudin, H., Neveu, I., and Naveilhan, P. (2009). AUF1 and Hu proteins in the developing rat brain: implication in the proliferation and differentiation of neural progenitors. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 87, 1296–1309.
- Hanin, G., and Soreq, H. (2011). Cholinesterase-targeting microR-NAs identified in silico affect specific biological processes. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 4:28. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011.00028
- Hinman, M. N., and Lou, H. (2008). Diverse molecular functions of Hu proteins. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 65, 3168–3181.
- Izquierdo, J. M. (2010). Cell-specific regulation of Fas exon 6 splicing mediated by Hu antigen R. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 402, 324–328.
- Jain, R. G., Andrews, L. G., McGowan, K. M., Pekala, P. H., and Keene, J. D. (1997). Ectopic expression of Hel-N1, an RNA-binding protein, increases glucose transporter (GLUT1) expression in 3T3-L1

adipocytes. Mol. Cell. Biol. 17, 954–962.

- Jiang, H., and Zhang, X. J. (2008). Acetylcholinesterase and apoptosis. A novel perspective for an old enzyme. *FEBS J.* 275, 612–617.
- Jiang, J. X., Choi, R. C., Siow, N. L., Lee, H. H., Wan, D. C., and Tsim, K. W. (2003). Muscle induces neuronal expression of acetylcholinesterase in neuron-muscle co-culture: transcriptional regulation mediated by cAMP-dependent signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 45435–45444.
- Kalsotra, A., and Cooper, T. A. (2011). Functional consequences of developmentally regulated alternative splicing. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 12, 715–729.
- Karpel, R., Ben Aziz-Aloya, R., Sternfeld, M., Ehrlich, G., Ginzberg, D., Tarroni, P., Clementi, F., Zakut, H., and Soreq, H. (1994). Expression of three alternative acetylcholinesterase messenger RNAs in human tumor cell lines of different tissue origins. *Exp. Cell Res.* 210, 268–277.
- Kasashima, K., Sakashita, E., Saito, K., and Sakamoto, H. (2002). Complex formation of the neuronspecific ELAV-like Hu RNA-binding proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, 4519–4526.
- Kaufer, D., Friedman, A., Seidman, S., and Soreq, H. (1998). Acute stress facilitates long-lasting changes in cholinergic gene expression. *Nature* 393, 373–377.
- Kehat, R., Zemel, E., Cuenca, N., Evron, T., Toiber, D., Loewenstein, A., Soreq, H., and Perlman, I. (2007). A novel isoform of acetylcholinesterase exacerbates photoreceptors death after photic stress. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 48, 1290–1297.
- Koenigsberger, C., Chiappa, S., and Brimijoin, S. (1997). Neurite differentiation is modulated in neuroblastoma cells engineered for altered acetylcholinesterase expression. J. Neurochem. 69, 1389–1397.
- Kullmann, M., Gopfert, U., Siewe, B., and Hengst, L. (2002). ELAV/Hu proteins inhibit p27 translation via an IRES element in the p27 5'UTR. *Genes Dev.* 16, 3087–3099.
- Lebedeva, S., Jens, M., Theil, K., Schwanhausser, B., Selbach, M., Landthaler, M., and Rajewsky, N. (2011). Transcriptome-wide analysis of regulatory interactions of the RNA-binding protein HuR. *Mol. Cell.* 43, 340–352.
- Legay, C. (2000). Why so many forms of acetylcholinesterase? *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 49, 56–72.

- Li, Y., Camp, S., Rachinsky, T. L., Getman, D., and Taylor, P. (1991). Gene structure of mammalian acetylcholinesterase. Alternative exons dictate tissue-specific expression. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 23083–23090.
- Liu-Yesucevitz, L., Bassell, G. J., Gitler, A. D., Hart, A. C., Klann, E., Richter, J. D., Warren, S. T., and Wolozin, B. (2011). Local RNA translation at the synapse and in disease. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 16086–16093.
- Ma, W. J., Chung, S., and Furneaux, H. (1997). The Elav-like proteins bind to AU-rich elements and to the poly(A) tail of mRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25, 3564–3569.
- Marrero, E., Rossi, S. G., Darr, A., Tsoulfas, P., and Rotundo, R. L. (2011). Translational regulation of acetylcholinesterase by the RNAbinding protein Pumilio-2 at the neuromuscular synapse. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 36492–36499.
- Massoulie, J. (2002). The origin of the molecular diversity and functional anchoring of cholinesterases. *Neurosignals* 11, 130–143.
- Mellios, N., Sugihara, H., Castro, J., Banerjee, A., Le, C., Kumar, A., Crawford, B., Strathmann, J., Tropea, D., Levine, S. S., Edbauer, D., and Sur, M. (2011). miR-132, an experience-dependent microRNA, is essential for visual cortex plasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1240–1242.
- Meng, Z., King, P. H., Nabors, L. B., Jackson, N. L., Chen, C. Y., Emanuel, P. D., and Blume, S. (2005). The ELAV RNA-W. stability factor HuR binds the 5'-untranslated region of the human IGF-IR transcript and differentially represses capdependent and IRES-mediated translation. Nucleic Acids Res. 33, 2962-2979
- Meshorer, E., Bryk, B., Toiber, D., Cohen, J., Podoly, E., Dori, A., and Soreq, H. (2005). SC35 promotes sustainable stress-induced alternative splicing of neuronal acetylcholinesterase mRNA. *Mol. Psychiatry*. 10, 985–997.
- Meshorer, E., Erb, C., Gazit, R., Pavlovsky, L., Kaufer, D., Friedman, A., Glick, D., Ben-Arie, N., and Soreq, H. (2002). Alternative splicing and neuritic mRNA translocation under long-term neuronal hypersensitivity. *Science* 295, 508–512.
- Meshorer, E., and Soreq, H. (2006). Virtues and woes of AChE alternative splicing in stress-related neuropathologies. *Trends Neurosci.* 29, 216–224.

- Meshorer, E., Toiber, D., Zurel, D., Sahly, I., Dori, A., Cagnano, E., Schreiber, L., Grisaru, D., Tronche, F., and Soreq, H. (2004). Combinatorial complexity of 5' alternative acetylcholinesterase transcripts and protein products. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 29740–29751.
- Mukherjee, N., Corcoran, D. L., Nusbaum, J. D., Reid, D. W., Georgiev, S., Hafner, M., Ascano, M. Jr., Tuschl, T., Ohler, U., and Keene, J. D. (2011). Integrative regulatory mapping indicates that the RNA-binding protein HuR couples pre-mRNA processing and mRNA stability. *Mol. Cell.* 43, 327–339.
- Mutero, A., Camp, S., and Taylor, P. (1995). Promoter elements of the mouse acetylcholinesterase gene. Transcriptional regulation during muscle differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 1866–1872.
- Okano, H. J., and Darnell, R. B. (1997). A hierarchy of Hu RNA binding proteins in developing and adult neurons. J. Neurosci. 17, 3024–3037.
- Paraoanu, L. E., and Layer, P. G. (2008). Acetylcholinesterase in cell adhesion, neurite growth and network formation. *FEBS J.* 275, 618–624.
- Pascale, A., Amadio, M., and Quattrone, A. (2008). Defining a neuron: neuronal ELAV proteins. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 65, 128–140.
- Pascale, A., and Govoni, S. (2012). The complex world of posttranscriptional mechanisms: is their deregulation a common link for diseases? Focus on ELAV-like RNA-binding proteins. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 69, 501–517.
- Puymirat, J., Etongue-Mayer, P., and Dussault, J. H. (1995). Thyroid hormones stabilize acetylcholinesterase mRNA in neuro-2A cells that overexpress the beta 1 thyroid receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 30651–30656.
- Quattrone, A., Pascale, A., Nogues, X., Zhao, W., Gusev, P., Pacini, A., and Alkon, D. L. (2001). Posttranscriptional regulation of gene expression in learning by the neuronal ELAV-like mRNAstabilizing proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 11668–11673.
- Quenault, T., Lithgow, T., and Traven, A. (2011). PUF proteins: repression, activation and mRNA localization. *Trends Cell Biol.* 21, 104–112.
- Ratti, A., Fallini, C., Colombrita, C., Pascale, A., Laforenza, U., Quattrone, A., and Silani, V. (2008). Post-transcriptional regulation of

neuro-oncological ventral antigen 1 by the neuronal RNA-binding proteins ELAV. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 7531–7541.

- Rotundo, R. L. (2003). Expression and localization of acetylcholinesterase at the neuromuscular junction. *J. Neurocytol.* 32, 743–766.
- Saba, R., and Schratt, G. M. (2010). MicroRNAs in neuronal development, function and dysfunction. *Brain Res.* 1338, 3–13.
- Shaked, I., Meerson, A., Wolf, Y., Avni, R., Greenberg, D., Gilboa-Geffen, A., and Soreq, H. (2009). MicroRNA-132 potentiates cholinergic anti-inflammatory signaling by targeting acetylcholinesterase. *Immunity* 31, 965–973.
- Shaltiel, G., Hanan, M., Wolf, Y., Barbash, S., Kovalev, E., Shoham, S., and Soreq, H. (2012). Hippocampal microRNA-132 mediates stressinducible cognitive deficits through its acetylcholinesterase target. *Brain Struct. Funct.* doi: 10.1007/s00429-011-0376-z. [Epub ahead of print].
- Shapira, M., Tur-Kaspa, I., Bosgraaf, L., Livni, N., Grant, A. D., Grisaru, D., Korner, M., Ebstein, R. P., and Soreq, H. (2000). A transcriptionactivating polymorphism in the ACHE promoter associated with acute sensitivity to antiacctylcholinesterases. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 9, 1273–1281.
- Sharma, K. V., Koenigsberger, C., Brimijoin, S., and Bigbee, J. W. (2001). Direct evidence for an adhesive function in the noncholinergic role of acetylcholinesterase in neurite outgrowth. J. Neurosci. Res. 63, 165–175.
- Siemen, H., Colas, D., Heller, H. C., Brustle, O., and Pera, R. A. (2011). Pumilio-2 function in the mouse nervous system. *PLoS One* 6:e25932. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025932
- Siow, N. L., Choi, R. C., Xie, H. Q., Kong, L. W., Chu, G. K., Chan, G. K., Simon, J., Barnard, E. A., and Tsim, K. W. (2010). ATP induces synaptic gene expressions in cortical neurons: transduction and transcription control via P2Y1 receptors. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 78, 1059–1071.
- Smith, C. L., Afroz, R., Bassell, G. J., Furneaux, H. M., Perrone-Bizzozero, N. I., and Burry, R. W. (2004). GAP-43 mRNA in growth cones is associated with HuD

and ribosomes. J. Neurobiol. 61, 222-235.

- Soreq, H., and Seidman, S. (2001). Acetylcholinesterase–new roles for an old actor. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 294–302.
- Sternfeld, M., Ming, G., Song, H., Sela, K., Timberg, R., Poo, M., and Soreq, H. (1998). Acetylcholinesterase enhances neurite growth and synapse development through alternative contributions of its hydrolytic capacity, core protein, and variable C termini. J. Neurosci. 18, 1240–1249.
- Taylor, P. (2010). From Split to Sibenik: the tortuous pathway in the cholinesterase field. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 187, 3–9.
- Tognini, P., Putignano, E., Coatti, A., and Pizzorusso, T. (2011). Experience-dependent expression of miR-132 regulates ocular dominance plasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1237–1239.
- Toiber, D., Berson, A., Greenberg, D., Melamed-Book, N., Diamant, S., and Soreq, H. (2008). Nacetylcholinesterase-induced apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS One* 3:e3108. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003108
- Toiber, D., Greenberg, D. S., and Soreq, H. (2009). Pro-apoptotic protein-protein interactions of the extended N-AChE terminus. J. Neural Transm. 116, 1435–1442.
- Uren, P. J., Burns, S. C., Ruan, J., Singh, K. K., Smith, A. D., and Penalva, L. O. (2011). Genomic analyses of the RNA-binding protein Hu antigen R (HuR) identify a complex network of target genes and novel characteristics of its binding sites. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 37063–37066.
- Vessey, J. P., Schoderboeck, L., Gingl, E., Luzi, E., Riefler, J., Di Leva, F., Karra, D., Thomas, S., Kiebler, M. A., and Macchi, P. (2010). Mammalian Pumilio 2 regulates dendrite morphogenesis and synaptic function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 3222–3227.
- Wan, D. C., Choi, R. C., Siow, N. L., and Tsim, K. W. (2000). The promoter of human acetylcholinesterase is activated by a cyclic adenosine 3', 5'-monophosphate-dependent pathway in cultured NG108–15 neuroblastoma cells. *Neurosci. Lett.* 288, 81–85.
- Wang, D. O., Martin, K. C., and Zukin, R. S. (2010a). Spatially restricting gene expression by local translation

at synapses. *Trends Neurosci.* 33, 173–182.

- Wang, H., Molfenter, J., Zhu, H., and Lou, H. (2010b). Promotion of exon 6 inclusion in HuD pre-mRNA by Hu protein family members. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 3760–3770.
- Zhang, X. J., Yang, L., Zhao, Q., Caen, J. P., He, H. Y., Jin, Q. H., Guo, L. H., Alemany, M., Zhang, L. Y., and Shi, Y. F. (2002). Induction of acetylcholinesterase expression during apoptosis in various cell types. *Cell Death Differ*. 9, 790–800.
- Zhu, H., Gao, W., Shi, Y. F., and Zhang, X. J. (2007). The CCAAT-binding factor CBF/NF-Y regulates the human acetylcholinesterase promoter activity during calcium ionophore A23187-induced cell apoptosis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 1770, 1475–1482.
- Zhu, H., Hasman, R. A., Barron, V. A., Luo, G., and Lou, H. (2006). A nuclear function of Hu proteins as neuron-specific alternative RNA processing regulators. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 17, 5105–5114.
- Zhu, H., Hinman, M. N., Hasman, R. A., Mehta, P., and Lou, H. (2008). Regulation of neuron-specific alternative splicing of neurofibromatosis type 1 pre-mRNA. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 1240–1251.
- Zimmerman, G., and Soreq, H. (2006). Termination and beyond: acetylcholinesterase as a modulator of synaptic transmission. *Cell Tissue Res.* 326, 655–669.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 January 2012; paper pending published: 14 February 2012; accepted: 06 March 2012; published online: 22 March 2012.

Citation: Bronicki LM and Jasmin BJ (2012) Trans-acting factors governing acetylcholinesterase mRNA metabolism in neurons. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 5:36. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2012.00036

Copyright © 2012 Bronicki and Jasmin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Interactions of AChE with $A\beta$ aggregates in Alzheimer's brain: therapeutic relevance of IDN 5706

Francisco J. Carvajal and Nibaldo C. Inestrosa*

Centro de Envejecimiento y Regeneración (CARE), Departamento de Biología Celular y Molecular, Facultad de Ciencias Biológicas, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Edited by:

Hermona Soreq, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel

Reviewed by:

Javier Saez-^Valero, Universidad Miguel Hernandez, Spain Diego Muñoz-Torrero, Universitat de Barcelona, Spain Stephen Brimijoin, Mayo Clinic, USA

*Correspondence:

Nibaldo C. Inestrosa, Basal CARE Center, P. Catholic University of Chile, 8331150 Santiago, Chile. e-mail: ninestrosa@bio.puc.cl Acetylcholinesterase (AChE; EC 3.1.1.7) plays a crucial role in the rapid hydrolysis of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine, in the central and peripheral nervous system and might also participate in non-cholinergic mechanism related to neurodegenerative diseases. Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disorder characterized by a progressive deterioration of cognitive abilities, amyloid- β (A β) peptide accumulation and synaptic alterations. We have previously shown that AChE is able to accelerate the A β peptide assembly into Alzheimer-type aggregates increasing its neurotoxicity. Furthermore, AChE activity is altered in brain and blood of Alzheimer's patients. The enzyme associated to amyloid plagues changes its enzymatic and pharmacological properties, as well as, increases its resistant to low pH, inhibitors and excess of substrate. Here, we reviewed the effects of IDN 5706, a hyperforin derivative that has potential preventive effects on the development of AD. Our results show that treatment with IDN 5706 for 10 weeks increases brain AChE activity in 7-month-old double transgenic mice (APP_{SWE}–PS1) and decreases the content of AChE associated with different types of amyloid plaques in this Alzheimer's model. We concluded that early treatment with IDN 5706 decreases AChE-AB interaction and this effect might be of therapeutic interest in the treatment of AD.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, amyloid plaques, acetylcholinesterase, AChE–Aβ interactions, Aβ neurotoxicity, AChE activity, APP–PS1 transgenic mice, IDN 5706

INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is characterized by progressive memory and cognitive impairment and the cerebral accumulation of extracellular amyloid plaques and intra-neuronal neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) in areas of brain involved in learning and memory (Ballard et al., 2011). Amyloid plaques are extracellular deposits of aggregated amyloid- β (A β) peptide, surrounded by dystrophic neurites and reactive glial cells. A β peptide is the main constituent of senile plaques and the major neurotoxic agent (Li et al., 2010). Intra-neuronal NFTs consist largely of hyper phosphorylated twisted filaments of the microtubule-associated protein tau (Lee et al., 2001). Synaptic pathology is an early marker of both, AD and aging, with decreased dendritic spine density, degeneration of neurites, neuronal loss, and cortical atrophy (Knobloch and Mansuy, 2008).

Original neurochemical findings in AD brains pointed out to disturbances of acetylcholine metabolism and led to the formulation of the "cholinergic hypothesis" of AD. This hypothesis suggests that there is a loss of cholinergic neurons in the basal forebrain of AD patients (Bartus et al., 1982; Bartus, 2000). The deficiency of cholinergic projections in AD has been linked to the buildup of A β and *tau*. Acetylcholinesterase (AChE; EC 3.1.1.7) and choline acetyltransferase activities decreases, while Na⁺-dependent high-affinity choline uptake increases, perhaps due to compensatory mechanisms (Slotkin et al., 1994; Bissette et al., 1996; Shinotoh et al., 2000; DeKosky et al., 2002). Presynaptic α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are essential for cognitive processes, and their levels increase in early AD, decreasing later on (Ikonomovic et al., 2009). The levels of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors, or receptor coupling, are reduced in the brains of patients with AD. However, pharmacological stimulation of the postsynaptic muscarinic type 1 acetylcholine receptors activates protein kinase C, favoring the processing of amyloid precursor protein (APP) that does not yield an amyloidogenic fragment (Nitsch, 1996; Farias et al., 2004). According to the cholinergic hypothesis, the impairment of cognitive functions and the behavioral disturbances that affect patients with AD are in part due, to cortical deficiencies in cholinergic neurotransmission (Bartus et al., 1982; Dumas and Newhouse, 2011). AD is associated with an early and severe depletion of cholinergic innervations. AChE activity is lower in most regions of AD brains, but it is increased within and around amyloid plaques (Geula and Mesulam, 1989b; Beach et al., 2000). The different molecular forms of AChE are altered in AD, showing a decrease in the tetrameric AChE G₄ isoform localized at central synapses (Xie et al., 2010), while the minor light forms (dimers G₂ and monomers G₁) increase (Atack et al., 1983; Saez-Valero et al., 1999). Interestingly, the activity of the light forms appears to increase in the most severely affected cases (Arendt et al., 1992). Some studies indicate that the level of an amphiphilic monomeric form of AChE is increased in the brains of transgenic mice which produce the human Aß protein (Sberna et al., 1998), and in the brain and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of rats which received intra-cerebral-ventricular injections of the AB peptide (Saez-Valero et al., 2002). So far, the precise nature of this subset of G₁ species which increase in AD brains remains unclear, however this minor species can be distinguished from other brain AChE forms (including tetramers but also from other monomeric AChE isoforms), by its unusual lectin-binding pattern and the lack of binding to anti-AChE antibodies (Saez-Valero et al., 2000; Garcia-Ayllon et al., 2007). Some cholinergic deficits have been shown to appear in transgenic mouse model reproducing preclinical and early stages of amyloid pathology. Region-specific modifications in AChE activity were reported in APP_{696LD} (London V642I mutation) transgenic mice with AB plaques, being decreased in subiculum but increased in the dentate gyrus, a CA₁ sub-region of the hippocampal formation (Bronfman et al., 2000). AChE activity was unchanged in APP751SWE and APP695SWE transgenic mice despite extensive A β plaques (Apelt et al., 2002; Boncristiano et al., 2002). However, when specific AChE isoforms were taken into account, the activity of an abnormally glycosylated G1 version increased in cortical extracts of APP695SWE mice, whereas the activity of the tetrameric G4 AChE was unchanged (Fodero et al., 2002).

AChE activity in the blood and plasma has also been measured to assess the pathophysiology of AD. Plasma AChE activity levels are increased in AD patients, which correlates with an increase in the light AChE species $(G_1 + G_2)$ which are the major species in human plasma, whereas tetramers, that are normally only presents in trace amounts, are slightly decreased in AD plasma (Garcia-Ayllon et al., 2010). Plasma AChE is likely to have multiple cellular origins including cells from the brain. Thus, we can hypothesize that the increase observed in AD plasma may be associated with the particular increase in the light AChE species characterized in AD brain (Arendt et al., 1992; Saez-Valero et al., 1999). Blood AChE and butyrylcholinesterase (BuChE) activities have been studied as markers for Alzheimer's. AD patients have lower AChE activity in lymphocytes compared to control subjects. In contrast, erythrocyte AChE activity is higher in patients with vascular dementia and is reduced in sporadic AD. Low ChE activity in lymphocytes is the best discriminator for AD. Both globular forms are subnormal. Because it is already low at very early stages of AD, AChE could be helpful as an early biomarker of differential diagnosis for the follow-up of patients during their early stages of cognitive impairment before a clinical dementia is established (Inestrosa et al., 1994; Von Bernhardi et al., 2005). Blood and plasma are easily accessible in comparison to CSF, together with specific and sensitive assays for AChE detection, therefore this enzyme could be used as clinical marker in the development of AD (Garcia-Ayllon et al., 2010).

IS THERE A ROLE FOR ACHE IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES?

Previous studies have demonstrated that AChE and BuChE are present in amyloid plaques *in vivo* and are associated to a cholinergic deficit (Mesulam and Geula, 1994; Geula and Mesulam, 1995; **Figure 1**). Moreover, AChE promotes $A\beta_{1-40}$ fibril formation, in fact, AChE forms macromolecular complexes with the growing amyloid fibrils, and is incorporated into senile-like plaques *in vitro* (Alvarez et al., 1997, 1998). In this context, studies with synthetic $A\beta_{1-40}$ *in vitro* have shown that this peptide aggregates and forms amyloid fibrils similar to the filaments found in the brains of AD



patients (Morgan et al., 2004). Different mutations of $A\beta$ were used to see its effect in the formation of aggregates. For example, the single mutation Val18 \rightarrow Ala induces a significant increase on α -helical content in A β , and dramatically diminishes fibrillogenesis (Soto et al., 1995). However, the substitution of $Glu22 \rightarrow Gln$ found in hereditary cerebral hemorrhage with amyloidosis of the Dutch type, yields a peptide with increased ability to form amyloid fibrils (Soto et al., 1995). In fact, AChE had little effect on the aggregation of the highly amyloidogenic Dutch variant (Inestrosa et al., 1996). However, when the $A\beta_{val118 \rightarrow Ala}$ was incubated with AChE, a significant increase in the amyloid fibrils was observed (Inestrosa et al., 1996; Inestrosa and Alarcon, 1998). Previous investigations have shown that wild-type $A\beta_{1\rightarrow 40}$ is able to bind AChE, while the Dutch variant $A\beta_{Glu22} \rightarrow Gln$ is not (Muñoz and Inestrosa, 1999). These data are correlated with previous observations that indicate that the presence of different types of $A\beta$ peptide differentially affects AChE-AB interactions (Inestrosa and Alarcon, 1998). These studies indicated that AChE, but not BuChE increases the final yield of $A\beta$ fibrils. In this context, an *in vitro* study, demonstrated that BuChE acts as a negative modifier of the A β aggregation process, and it is also capable of suppressing the facilitation of amyloid fibril-formation enhanced by AChE. So, BuChE may has acquired an inverse role to that of AChE in the pathogenesis of AD (Diamant et al., 2006).

AChE A NUCLEATION FACTOR FOR A β AGGREGATION, AND THE ROLE OF ITS PERIPHERAL ANIONIC SITE ON A β AGGREGATION

In 1996, we discovered that AChE was able to accelerate the assembly of $A\beta_{1-40}$ into Alzheimer's fibrils by decreasing the lag phase of the peptide aggregation, suggesting a role of AChE as a chaperone for $A\beta_{1-40}$ assembly into oligomers of a high structural complexity (Inestrosa et al., 1996). These results suggested that the enzyme was acting through two possible mechanisms. First, it might increase the seeds necessary for the nucleation step and second, it may stimulate fibril elongation (Harper et al., 1997; Inestrosa et al., 2005a,b; **Figure 2**). When the formed amyloid was evaluated with



amyloid fibrils. The incorporation of AChE occurs at early steps of A β aggregation, acting as a nucleation factor or seed, then it acts in the elongation of the amyloid fibrils. Evidence for the tight binding of the enzyme

with the formed amyloid fibrils was obtained using biochemical as well as immunocytochemical techniques, using an anti-AChE antibody conjugated with gold and examined using a transmission electron microscope. The original data was published by Alvarez et al. (1998).

thioflavin-S (ThS) plus AChE activity, it became apparent that the enzyme was strongly associated with amyloid deposits, exactly as described by Mesulam and Geula, for the senile plaques in AD patients (Geula and Mesulam, 1989a). In this case, at least part of the enzyme became tightly associated to the amyloid fibril, as it was shown by electron microscopy, using a monoclonal antibody conjugated with gold particles that nicely decorated growing amyloid fibrils (Reyes et al., 1997). To test this idea *in vivo* a double transgenic mice which express both human APP_{SWE} and human AChE was generated by Brimijoin, Younkin, and Soreq. In these hybrid transgenic mice, AChE promotes plaque accumulation supporting the notion of its causal involvement with the fibril-formation process (Rees et al., 2003, 2005).

The kinetic and pharmacological properties of AChE-amyloid complex have been examined, and the data show that the kinetic parameters of the enzyme change (Geula and Mesulam, 1989a). The K_m and V_{max} values for AChE associated to amyloid were higher than those for the free enzyme. Similarly, for the AChE- $A\beta_{Glu22 \rightarrow Gln}$ complex and AChE– $A\beta_{Val18 \rightarrow Ala}$ complex, the K_m values were elevated compared with the enzyme alone. When kinetic studies were carried out under varying pH conditions, AChE associated to either the wild-type or the mutant Aß peptides was more resistant to low pH. Similarly, AChE associated in AChE-AB complexes was more resistant to the incubation at high substrate concentrations (Alvarez et al., 1998; Inestrosa and Alarcon, 1998; Inestrosa et al., 2005b). Furthermore, biochemical studies have indicated that senile-plaque-associated AChE is only partially extracted using collagenase digestion, heparin, or highsalt buffers plus detergents (Nakamura et al., 1990; Kalaria et al., 1992; Alvarez et al., 1998), indicating that either different molecular forms are involved, or alternative some changes occur in the biochemical properties of the globular subunit.

Pharmacological studies of AChE associated to amyloid showed that AChE in these conditions also appears more resistant to inhibition by anti-AChE agents as observed with both active site inhibitors such as tacrine, edrophonium, and BW284c51, and with peripheral anionic site blockers, such as propidium and gallamine (Inestrosa and Alarcon, 1998). In almost all cases, a higher inhibitor concentration was required to obtain the same level of inhibition observed with the free enzyme. Overall, the AChE-A $\beta_{Val18 \rightarrow Ala}$ complex showed the largest differences with respect to the free enzyme, suggesting that it has greater degree of interaction with AChE than the other more amyloidogenic Aß peptides. Contrastingly the complexes AChE–A $\beta_{Glu22} \rightarrow Gln$ and AChE-A β_{1-42} were the least affected of all complexes studied. These data are consistent with the idea that the association of AChE with AB fibrils leads to changes in its enzymatic properties, in the absence of any pathological alteration of the enzyme (Inestrosa and Alarcon, 1998).

It is well know that AChE possesses two binding sites for the neurotransmitter acetylcholine, *the active center site* that is located at the bottom of a 20-Å gorge and *the peripheral anionic binding site* (PAS) that is rich in hydrophobic residues and is located at the rim of the gorge on the surface of the enzyme (Sussman et al., 1991). When aggregation experiments were carried and repeated in the presence of AChE inhibitors (AChEIs) directed against the two different sites, it turned out that only the PAS inhibitors were able to block the effect of AChE on amyloid formation (Alvarez et al., 1998). The PAS inhibitors, propidium and fasciculin, were able to prevent the effect of AChE on A β aggregation process (Bartolini et al., 2003; Inestrosa et al., 2008). On the other hand, the amyloid aggregation in the presence of edrophonium, an active site inhibitor of AChE, showed no effect on the role of AChE in this capacity to accelerate A β assembly into Alzheimer's fibrils

(Inestrosa et al., 2008). Further studies, we were able to identify a 3.5-kDa peptide located close the PAS region which was able to mimic effect of the whole AChE enzyme in its capacity to stimulate the A β aggregation (De Ferrari et al., 2001). Moreover, structural studies of AChE showed how the regulation of catalysis by PAS ligands (propidium, decidium, and gallamine) offers information on the residues that interact with other molecules and which could participate in the nucleation process of amyloid fibrils (Bartolini et al., 2003; Inestrosa et al., 2008). To understand the mechanism of the AChE-Aβ interaction Vaux and co-workers have studied a 14 residue peptide named AChE₅₈₆₋₅₉₉, which corresponds to a region within the C-terminal oligomerization domain of human AChE (Jean et al., 2008). The region encompassing AChE_{586–599} shares homology with A β and possesses high propensity for conversion to non-native β-strand, a property associated to amyloidogenicity (Cottingham et al., 2002; Greenfield et al., 2008; Belli et al., 2011). Analysis of stabilizing or destabilizing effects of residue substitutions on the amyloid assembly of AChE586-599 has provided evidence for the critical role of specific side-chain interactions in the stabilization of nascent aggregates and for the position dependence of these side-chains upon polymerization and fibril formation. Consistently with the experimental observations and assembly models for other amyloid systems, they have proposed a model for AChE_{586–599} assembly in which a steric-zipper formed through specific interactions (hydrophobic, electrostatic, cation- π , SH-aromatic, metal chelation, and polar-polar) would maintain the β -sheets together. The dissection of the specific molecular recognition driving AChE₅₈₆₋₅₉₉ amyloid assembly has provided further knowledge on such poorly understood and complicated process, which could be applied to protein folding and the targeting of amyloid diseases (Belli et al., 2011).

DIMERIC TYPE OF AChE INHIBITORS DIRECTED AGAINST THE ACTIVE AND THE $\mbox{A}\beta$ site of the enzyme

The current standard of care for mild to moderate AD includes treatment with AChEIs to improve cognitive function (Hardy and Selkoe, 2002; Terry and Buccafusco, 2003; Ballard et al., 2011). Several classes of AChEIs such as donepezil, rivastigmine, and galantamine were developed to treat AD (Colombres et al., 2004), and currently constitute the only FDA approved therapeutic approach. The NMDA antagonist memantine, has also been shown to improve cognitive function and reached the market in 2004 (Cummings et al., 2006). Nevertheless AChEIs, even valuable in improving the patient's quality of life, represent only symptomatic and palliative tools that slow down the progression of the disease. Blockade of PAS by specific inhibitors has emerged as promising disease-modifying therapeutic strategies for AD. Based on these assumptions, the dual binding AChEIs, that are molecules able to interact simultaneously with both, the catalytic and the peripheral binding sites of the enzyme, emerged as valuable tools to pursue a disease-modifying approach (Colombres et al., 2004; Muñoz-Torrero, 2008). In this regard, several classes of dual binding site AChEIs have been developed and proved to be endowed with a strong inhibitory activity due to the increased capability to interact with both bindings sites of the target (Muñoz-Torrero and Camps, 2006). Some recent examples include benzophenone-based derivatives bearing a [benzyl(methyl)amino]methyl moiety (Belluti et al., 2009), Xanthostigmine derivatives (Belluti et al., 2005) and novel huprine derivatives with inhibitory activity toward Aß aggregation and formation (Viayna et al., 2010). Owing to the simultaneous activity against AChE and amyloid formation and aggregation, dimeric type of AChEIs might attack AD on multiple fronts, with a better therapeutic outcome. Together with coumarin derivatives (Piazzi et al., 2008), and tacrine based heterobivalent ligands (Camps et al., 2009) they are able to act both at the acetylcholine site and at the amyloid formation triggering site. To further support this strategy, Shen and co-workers reported the discovery of novel dual inhibitors of AChE and BACE-1, which demonstrated not only in vitro enzyme inhibitory potency and cellular activity, but, more importantly, in vivo functional efficacy (Zhu et al., 2009). This strategy, embodied by single chemical entities able to simultaneously modulate multiple targets involved in the neurodegenerative cascade, has proven particularly fruitful in recent years and has led to the discovery of several promising anti-AD drug candidates.

AChE INDUCES THE AGGREGATION OF THE CELLULAR PRION PROTEIN

Prion disease, such as the Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (CJD) in human and bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE), can be transmitted by an infectious process which involves the prion protein (PrP). The most remarkable feature of PrP is its ability to be folded into two isoforms, PrP^C (C, cellular form) being the native protein and PrPSc (Sc, scrapie form) being the pathological conformation (Prusiner, 1998; Varela-Nallar et al., 2006). During the pathogenesis of prion disease there is a conformational conversion from PrPC to PrPSc consisting of a drastic alteration of the structure, as well as of the biochemical properties of the protein. A β -positive senile plaques in AD brains commonly contain PrP deposits; while sporadically Aβ-positive senile plaques have also been identified in prion diseases such as CJD and Gerstmann-Sträussler-Scheinker (GSS) disease (Miyazono et al., 1992; Hainfellner et al., 1998). On the other hand, a decrease in the in CFS levels of AChE from patients with CJD has been demonstrated, suggesting that an alteration in the cholinergic system also occurs in some prion diseases (Silveyra et al., 2006). Based on the common features between PrP and A β , it has been shown that AChE is able to induce the aggregation of the peptide deduced from PrP sequence spanning residues 106–126 (PrP_{106–126}), the hydrophobic segment involved in PrP protein aggregation as has been previously described in a similar way for A β protein (Pera et al., 2006), through the PAS region of AChE (Inestrosa et al., 2008). The role of the peripheral site of AChE accelerating the assembly of PrP82-146 was demonstrated using propidium iodide (Pera et al., 2009), a specific inhibitor of the PAS region of AChE (Inestrosa et al., 1996; Bartolini et al., 2003). It has been extensively demonstrated that propidium iodide can also inhibits the AChE-induced AB aggregation. This study showed that AChE acts as a nucleating factor increasing not only the formation of new oligomers, but also fibril formation. A similar effect has been observed with huprine

derivatives X, Y, and Z (Clos et al., 2006; Pera et al., 2006), which is spite of being active site AChEIs have been shown to interfere with the binding of ligands to the peripheral site of the enzyme (Camps et al., 2000). Therefore, inhibitors of the PAS region of AChE could be relevant as potential anti-A β and PrP aggregation drugs.

AChE INCREASES THE NEUROTOXICITY OF $\ensuremath{\mathsf{A}\beta}$ AGGREGATES

Considering that the presence of senile plaques in the brain of aging individuals does not necessarily lead to symptoms of AD (Katzman et al., 1988), the presence of AChE in some critically located amyloid plaques could play a key role in triggering the cytotoxic events that occur around mature plaques in AD (Mesulam, 2004). In vitro assays on PC12 cells showed that aggregates of AChE–A β_{1-40} complexes were more toxic than those of A β_{1-40} and that neurotoxicity depends on the amount of AChE bound to the complexes, suggesting that AChE may play a key role in the neurodegenerative changes observed in Alzheimer brain (Muñoz and Inestrosa, 1999). In this context, previous results showed that A β -AChE complexes are more toxic than the A β fibrils alone on rat hippocampal neurons. In fact, neurons treated with Aβ-AChE complexes showed a much disrupted neurite network compared to neurons treated with AB (Alvarez et al., 1998). Other in vivo study showed that the hippocampal injection of AChE-AB complexes results in the appearance of some features reminiscent of Alzheimer-like lesions in rat brain (Reyes et al., 2004). The early events triggered in neurons in response to AB peptide have been largely studied. Aß oligomers/fibrils induce intracellular calcium deregulation that leads to apoptosis through mitochondrial dysfunction, by direct interaction with isolated mitochondria or by indirect association with the neuronal membrane (Kim et al., 2002; Abramov et al., 2004). One of the earliest effect of AB-AChE complexes was the increase in intracellular calcium, which leads to the loss of the mitochondrial membrane potential (Dinamarca et al., 2010). Disruption of intracellular homeostasis of Ca^{2+} by channels opening has been extensively proposed as a mechanism of A β neurotoxicity (Mattson et al., 1992; Laferla, 2002). A β -AChE complexes and AB treatment have different effects over the mitochondrial membrane potential. Our studies indicated that A β -AChE complexes affected $\Delta \Psi_{mit}$ more than A β alone; also, we observed that the mitochondrial membrane potential was compromised in a non-reversible manner even when the calcium increase was reversed after wash out. On the other hand, previous studies from our laboratory indicated that lithium (a pharmacological activator of Wnt signaling) protects hippocampal neurons against Aß peptide and Aβ-AChE complex neurotoxicity (Dinamarca et al., 2010). Additionally, we found that pre-incubation with the Wnt-7a ligand prevents the increase in cytosolic calcium induced by AB (Quintanilla et al., 2005). These studies suggest that the activation of Wnt signaling prevent the toxic effects of Aβ–AChE complexes (Inestrosa et al., 2008), consistent with this possibility a "synaptic form" of AChE induces tau phosphorylation and activation of glycogen synthase kinase-3β (GSK-3β, a component of the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway). These effects were prevented by GSK-3β and AChE inhibition (Toiber et al., 2008). In this context it is interesting to mention that Huperzine A, a lycopodium alkaloid extracted from the chinese folk medicine, *Huperzia serrata*, a reversible and selective inhibitor of AChE, activates Wnt/ β -catenin signaling and enhances the non-amyloidogenic pathway in a transgenic mouse model of AD (Wang et al., 2011).

IDN 5706 A POTENTIAL DRUG AGAINST AD

Previously, we have shown that hyperform, the active molecule for the anti-depressant activity of St. John's Wort (Hypericum perforatum; Griffith et al., 2010), reduces the behavioral alteration induced by intra-hippocampal injection of Aß aggregates, an acute rat model of AD (Dinamarca et al., 2006). Tetrahydrohyperforin (IDN 5706), a semi synthetic derivative of hyperforin with higher stability and increased oral bioavailability (Cerpa et al., 2010) also shown some neuroprotective properties. Previous studies in our laboratory indicated that IDN 5706 was able to reduce memory impairments, as well as neuropathological markers in 12-monthold APP-PS1 mice treated with 2 mg/kg IDN 5706 for 1 month (Cerpa et al., 2010). Even more, a reduction in the size of ThS positive plaques was observed by this treatment. Interestingly, we have previously demonstrated that IDN 5706: (a) releases AChE from the AB aggregates, and (b) inhibits AChE-AB interaction in vitro and in vivo (12-month-old APP-PS1 mice treated with 2 mg/kg IDN 5706; Cerpa et al., 2010). In young APP-PS1 mice, IDN 5706 improves memory and prevents the impairment of synaptic plasticity, inducing a recovery of long-term potentiation, prevented the decrease in synaptic proteins in hippocampus and cortex, decreased levels of tau hyperphosphorylation, astrogliosis and total forms of A β (Inestrosa et al., 2011). Moreover, we have shown that in vitro, hyperforin is able to disaggregate pre-formed fibrils into protofibrils and amorphous material (Dinamarca et al., 2006). Taking in consideration our previous study in AD aged and young mice (Cerpa et al., 2010; Inestrosa et al., 2011), it is apparent that IDN 5706 has anti-amyloidogenic actions in vitro and in vivo.

EFFECT OF IDN 5706 ON THE ESTERASE ACTIVITY PRESENT IN A β plaques in a mouse model of AD

A major issue in AD research is to find some new therapeutic drugs which decrease AB aggregation and inhibit AChE with dual specificity, being directed to both the active and "peripheral" sites (De Ferrari et al., 2001; Inestrosa et al., 2008). For these reasons, we investigate the effect of IDN 5706, in those activities. IDN 5706 also inhibits the aggregation of $A\beta_{1-40}$, delaying the nucleation phase. When we checked the amount of soluble Aβ peptide after the aggregation assay, IDN 5706 decreased the amount of Aβ peptide in the sediment fraction increasing the amount of soluble $A\beta$. Furthermore, we evaluated whether the anti-aggregation property of IDN 5706 was stronger or weaker than the pro-aggregating effect of the AChE. To explore this point we evaluated the stability of the AB fibrils formed in the absence or the presence of the AChE incubated with IDN 5706. The hyperforin derivative was able to disassemble a 50% of the AB fibrils, but only a 15% of the AChE-Aβ fibrils after 5 h incubation, suggesting that the fibrils formed in the presence of AChE have a more stable arrangement (Dinamarca et al., 2008). Then, the effect of this compound in the AChE activity was evaluated. Toward this aim, aliquots were taken at different

time points and the pellet (fibrils) was separated from the soluble fraction by centrifugation. As expected, at initial time of incubation with IDN 5706, most of the enzyme activity is found in the pellet fraction, but after 2 h of incubation of the AChE–A β aggregates with IDN 5706, the enzyme decreases in the pellet fraction and started to increase in the soluble fraction. After 4 h incubation the enzyme is found in both pellet and soluble fraction in similar amount (Dinamarca et al., 2008). This data showed that IDN 5706 is able to disaggregate the AChE from the AChE–amyloid complexes *in vitro*.

PRESENCE OF ACHE IN AMYLOID PLAQUES OF A DOUBLE APPswe + PS1 TRANSGENIC MICE

A decrease of AChE in the brain appears to be a consistent finding in AD brain (DeKosky and Scheff, 1990). We observed similar finding in APP–PS1 mice brains compared with *wild-type* mice. Moreover, IDN 5706 treatment increases AChE activity in the brains of APP–PS1 mice injected with 4 and 6 mg/kg (**Figure 3A**) and also increases the BuChE activity of APP–PS1 brain in mice injected with 6 mg/kg of IDN 5706 (**Table 1**). The specific neuroprotective effect of IDN 5706 might be related to the increases in the AChE activity in total brain protein extracts, suggesting a neuroprotective effect on cholinergic and cholinoceptive neurons. Moreover, we observed AChE activity associated to amyloid plaques (**Figure 3B**, left panel) visualized by the Karnovsky reaction for AChE (**Figure 3B**, right panel) in APP–PS1 mice treated



FIGURE 3 | IDN 5706 increases AChE activity in whole brain extract of APP–PS1 transgenic mice. Effects of IDN 5706 on AChE activity from brains of transgenic mice injected i.p. with vehicle solution or 2, 4, and 6 mg/kg IDN 5706 three times a week per 10 weeks (**A**). AChE activity in amyloid plaques from brain of APP–PS1 mice in the presence of iso-OMPA (**B**). *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.

Table 1 | IDN 506 increases BuChE activity in brains of double transgenic APP-PS1 mice.

BuChE activity (U/mg protein)		
0.91±0.02		
0.58 ± 0.04		
0.61 ± 0.04		
0.69 ± 0.05		
$0.71 \pm 0.03^{*}$		

*p < 0.05. Statistical significance between APP–PS1 mice control and APP–PS1 mice treated with IDN 5706. Comparison of BuChE activity from brains of wild-type mice, APP–PS1 mice treated with control vehicle solution and APP–PS1 mice treated with 2, 4, and 6 mg/kg IDN 5706 three times a week per 10 weeks.

with iso-OMPA an inhibitor for BuChE activity. Such amyloid plaques from mice brain are similar to those observed in patients with AD (Tago et al., 1986; Geula et al., 1994).

EFFECT OF IDN 5706 ON ACHE ACTIVITY ASSOCIATED TO AMYLOID PLAQUES

Since AChE associated with amyloid and its activity correlates with amyloid plaque toxicity (Alvarez et al., 1998; Reyes et al., 2004; Dinamarca et al., 2010), we carried out an analysis of amyloid plaques positive for AChE activity. Brains from control and treated APP–PS1 animals were stained for AChE with the method of Karnovsky (Tago et al., 1986) and amyloid plaques were revealed by ThS staining. In APP–PS1 mice most of the amyloid plaques were positive for AChE in cortex (**Figure 4A**), however, the percentage of AChE-positive plaques in relation to the total amount of ThS positive plaques in the cortex were decreased in IDN 5706 treated mice (**Figure 4B**), suggesting that in addition to the decreased number of amyloid plaques, there is a decrease in the association of AChE with the amyloid plaques present in IDN 5706 treated APP–PS1 mice.

We have also determined AChE activity in two types of amyloid plaques, the diffuse (Type I) and compact (Type II) plaques present in control transgenic mice (Figure 5A, left panels), as well as in mice treated with IDN 5706. Under this condition AChE activity was reduced (Figure 5A, right panels). Quantification of the number of different type of amyloid plaques positive for AChE with the Karnovsky reaction revealed that treatment with IDN 5706 decreases the amount of AChE activity in type II plaques however, no effect was observed in type I plaques (Figure 5B). These preliminary results suggest a rather specific effect of IDN 5706 on the association of AChE with Aβ aggregates. Previous studies from our laboratory indicate a key role for AChE in the neurotoxicity of amyloid plagues (Alvarez et al., 1998; Chacon et al., 2003; Reves et al., 2004; Dinamarca et al., 2010). Taken together, our data indicates that IDN 5706 might be considered as a possible therapeutic agent for AD treatment.

CONCLUSION

As discussed, AChE is able to accelerate amyloid formation of at least two different macromolecules: the $A\beta$ peptide and the PrP. In addition pro-aggregating effect of the enzyme depends on the intrinsic amyloidogenic properties of the peptide used.



In AD patients, AChE activity is altered in the brain and in the blood, and co-localized with senile plaques. AChE associated to amyloid plaques showed changes in biochemical and pharmacological properties, as well as an increase in the neurotoxicity of the AChE–A β complexes. The AChE effect on amyloid aggregation is sensitive to drugs that block the PAS of the enzyme, suggesting that new and specific AChEIs might well provide an attractive therapeutic possibility for AD treatment. IDN 5706, an hyperforin derivative, prevents the development of the disease in a transgenic mice model of AD (Inestrosa et al., 2011). Interestingly, we have previously demonstrated that IDN 5706 releases AChE from the A β aggregates and inhibit AChE–A β interactions *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In summary, our findings indicate that IDN

REFERENCES

- Abramov, A. Y., Canevari, L., and Duchen, M. R. (2004). β-amyloid peptides induce mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in astrocytes and death of neurons through activation of NADPH oxidase. J. Neurosci. 24, 565–575
- Alvarez, A., Alarcon, R., Opazo, C., Campos, E. O., Muñoz, F. J., Calderon, F. H., Dajas, F., Gentry, M. K., Doctor, B. P., De Mello, F. G., and Inestrosa, N. C.

(1998). Stable complexes involving acetylcholinesterase and amyloid-β peptide change the biochemical properties of the enzyme and increase the neurotoxicity of Alzheimer's fibrils. *J. Neurosci.* 18, 3213–3223.

Alvarez, A., Opazo, C., Alarcon, R., Garrido, J., and Inestrosa, N. C. (1997). Acetylcholinesterase promotes the aggregation of amyloid-β-peptide fragments by forming a complex with the growing fibrils. *J. Mol. Biol.* 272, 348–361.



5706 decreases AChE–A β interaction and this effect might be of therapeutic interest for the treatment of AD.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the members of the Inestrosa laboratory for discussion and scientific support during the course of this project. This work was supported by grants from FONDEF (N° D07I1052) and the Basal Center of Excellence in Aging and Regeneration (CONI-CYT – PFB 12/2007) to Nibaldo C. Inestrosa. Part of this work will be presented by Francisco Javier Carvajal as a partial requirement for the Biochemist degree at the Catholic University of Valparaiso.

- Apelt, J., Kumar, A., and Schliebs, R. (2002). Impairment of cholinergic neurotransmission in adult and aged transgenic Tg2576 mouse brain expressing the Swedish mutation of human β-amyloid precursor protein. *Brain Res.* 953, 17–30.
- Arendt, T., Bruckner, M. K., Lange, M., and Bigl, V. (1992). Changes in acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease resemble embryonic development – a study of molecular forms. *Neurochem. Int.* 21, 381–396.
- Atack, J. R., Perry, E. K., Bonham, J. R., Perry, R. H., Tomlinson, B. E., Blessed, G., and Fairbairn, A. (1983). Molecular forms of acetylcholinesterase in senile dementia of Alzheimer type: selective loss of the intermediate (10S) form. *Neurosci. Lett.* 40, 199–204.
- Ballard, C., Gauthier, S., Corbett, A., Brayne, C., Aarsland, D., and Jones, E. (2011). Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* 377, 1019–1031.
- Bartolini, M., Bertucci, C., Cavrini, V., and Andrisano, V. (2003).

β-Amyloid aggregation induced by human acetylcholinesterase: inhibition studies. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 65, 407–416.

- Bartus, R. T. (2000). On neurodegenerative diseases, models, and treatment strategies: lessons learned and lessons forgotten a generation following the cholinergic hypothesis. *Exp. Neurol.* 163, 495–529.
- Bartus, R. T., Dean, R. L. III, Beer, B., and Lippa, A. S. (1982). The cholinergic hypothesis of geriatric memory dysfunction. *Science* 217, 408–414.
- Beach, T. G., Kuo, Y. M., Spiegel, K., Emmerling, M. R., Sue, L. I., Kokjohn, K., and Roher, A. E. (2000). The cholinergic deficit coincides with Aβ deposition at the earliest histopathologic stages of Alzheimer disease. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 59, 308–313.
- Belli, M., Ramazzotti, M., and Chiti, F. (2011). Prediction of amyloid aggregation *in vivo*. *EMBO Rep.* 12, 657–663.
- Belluti, F., Piazzi, L., Bisi, A., Gobbi, S., Bartolini, M., Cavalli, A., Valenti, P., and Rampa, A. (2009). Design, synthesis, and evaluation of benzophenone derivatives as novel acetylcholinesterase inhibitors. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 44, 1341–1348.
- Belluti, F., Rampa, A., Piazzi, L., Bisi, A., Gobbi, S., Bartolini, M., Andrisano, V., Cavalli, A., Recanatini, M., and Valenti, P. (2005). Cholinesterase inhibitors: xanthostigmine derivatives blocking the acetylcholinesterase-induced β-amyloid aggregation. J. Med. Chem. 48, 4444–4456.
- Bissette, G., Seidler, F. J., Nemeroff, C. B., and Slotkin, T. A. (1996). High affinity choline transporter status in Alzheimer's disease tissue from rapid autopsy. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 777, 197–204.
- Boncristiano, S., Calhoun, M. E., Kelly, P. H., Pfeifer, M., Bondolfi, L., Stalder, M., Phinney, A. L., Abramowski, D., Sturchler-Pierrat, C., Enz, A., Sommer, B., Staufenbiel, M., and Jucker, M. (2002). Cholinergic changes in the APP23 transgenic mouse model of cerebral amyloidosis. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 3234–3243.
- Bronfman, F. C., Moechars, D., and Van Leuven, F. (2000). Acetylcholinesterase-positive fiber deafferentation and cell shrinkage in the septohippocampal pathway of aged amyloid precursor protein London mutant transgenic mice. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 7, 152–168.
- Camps, P., Cusack, B., Mallender, W. D., El Achab, R. E., Morral, J.,

Muñoz-Torrero, D., and Rosenberry, T. L. (2000). Huprine X is a novel high-affinity inhibitor of acetylcholinesterase that is of interest for treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 57, 409–417.

- Camps, P., Formosa, X., Galdeano, C., Munoz-Torrero, D., Ramirez, L., Gomez, E., Isambert, N., Lavilla, R., Badia, A., Clos, M. V., Bartolini, M., Mancini, F., Andrisano, V., Arce, M. P., Rodriguez-Franco, M. I., Huertas, O., Dafni, T., and Luque, F. J. (2009). Pyrano[3,2-c]quinoline-6-chlorotacrine hybrids as a novel family of acetylcholinesterase- and β-amyloid-directed anti-Alzheimer compounds. J. Med. Chem. 52, 5365–5379.
- Cerpa, W., Hancke, J. L., Morazzoni, P., Bombardelli, E., Riva, A., Marin, P. P., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2010). The hyperforin derivative IDN5706 occludes spatial memory impairments and neuropathological changes in a double transgenic Alzheimer's mouse model. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 7, 126–133.
- Chacon, M. A., Reyes, A. E., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2003). Acetylcholinesterase induces neuronal cell loss, astrocyte hypertrophy and behavioral deficits in mammalian hippocampus. *J. Neurochem.* 87, 195–204.
- Clos, M. V., Pera, M., Ratia, M., Roman, S., Camps, P., Muñoz-Torrero, D., Colombo, L., Salmona, M., and Badia, A. (2006). Effect of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors on AChEinduced PrP106-126 aggregation. J. Mol. Neurosci. 30, 89–90.
- Colombres, M., Sagal, J. P., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2004). An overview of the current and novel drugs for Alzheimer's disease with particular reference to anti-cholinesterase compounds. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 10, 3121–3130.
- Cottingham, M. G., Hollinshead, M. S., and Vaux, D. J. (2002). Amyloid fibril formation by a synthetic peptide from a region of human acetylcholinesterase that is homologous to the Alzheimer's amyloid-β peptide. *Biochemistry* 41, 13539–13547.
- Cummings, J. L., Schneider, E., Tariot, P. N., and Graham, S. M. (2006). Behavioral effects of memantine in Alzheimer disease patients receiving donepezil treatment. *Neurology* 67, 57–63.
- De Ferrari, G. V., Canales, M. A., Shin, I., Weiner, L. M., Silman, I., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2001). A structural motif of acetylcholinesterase that promotes amyloid β-peptide fibril formation. *Biochemistry* 40, 10447–10457.

- DeKosky, S. T., Ikonomovic, M. D., Styren, S. D., Beckett, L., Wisniewski, S., Bennett, D. A., Cochran, E. J., Kordower, J. H., and Mufson, E. J. (2002). Upregulation of choline acetyltransferase activity in hippocampus and frontal cortex of elderly subjects with mild cognitive impairment. *Ann. Neurol.* 51, 145–155.
- DeKosky, S. T., and Scheff, S. W. (1990). Synapse loss in frontal cortex biopsies in Alzheimer's disease: correlation with cognitive severity. *Ann. Neurol.* 27, 457–464.
- Diamant, S., Podoly, E., Friedler, A., Ligumsky, H., Livnah, O., and Soreq, H. (2006). Butyrylcholinesterase attenuates amyloid fibril formation *in vitro. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 8628–8633.
- Dinamarca, M. C., Arrazola, M., Toledo, E., Cerpa, W. F., Hancke, J., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2008). Release of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) from β-amyloid plaques assemblies improves the spatial memory impairments in APP-transgenic mice. Chem. Biol. Interact. 175, 142–149.
- Dinamarca, M. C., Cerpa, W., Garrido, J., Hancke, J. L., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2006). Hyperforin prevents β -amyloid neurotoxicity and spatial memory impairments by disaggregation of Alzheimer's amyloid- β -deposits. *Mol. Psychiatry* 11, 1032–1048.
- Dinamarca, M. C., Sagal, J. P., Quintanilla, R. A., Godoy, J. A., Arrazola, M. S., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2010). Amyloid-β-Acetylcholinesterase complexes potentiate neurodegenerative changes induced by the Aβ peptide. Implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 5, 4.
- Dumas, J. A., and Newhouse, P. A. (2011). The cholinergic hypothesis of cognitive aging revisited again: cholinergic functional compensation. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 99, 254, 261.
- Farias, G. G., Godoy, J. A., Hernandez, F., Avila, J., Fisher, A., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2004). M1 muscarinic receptor activation protects neurons from βamyloid toxicity. A role for Wnt signaling pathway. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 17, 337–348.
- Fodero, L. R., Saez-Valero, J., Mclean, C. A., Martins, R. N., Beyreuther, K., Masters, C. L., Robertson, T. A., and Small, D. H. (2002). Altered glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase in APP (SW) Tg2576 transgenic mice occurs prior to amyloid plaque deposition. J. Neurochem. 81, 441–448.

- Garcia-Ayllon, M. S., Riba-Llena, I., Serra-Basante, C., Alom, J., Boopathy, R., and Saez-Valero, J. (2010). Altered levels of acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer plasma. *PLoS ONE* 5, e8701. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008701
- Garcia-Ayllon, M. S., Silveyra, M. X., Andreasen, N., Brimijoin, S., Blennow, K., and Saez-Valero, J. (2007). Cerebrospinal fluid acetylcholinesterase changes after treatment with donepezil in patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 101, 1701–1711.
- Geula, C., Greenberg, B. D., and Mesulam, M. M. (1994). Cholinesterase activity in the plaques, tangles and angiopathy of Alzheimer's disease does not emanate from amyloid. *Brain Res.* 644, 327–330.
- Geula, C., and Mesulam, M. (1989a). Special properties of cholinesterases in the cerebral cortex of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res.* 498, 185–189.
- Geula, C., and Mesulam, M. M. (1989b). Cortical cholinergic fibers in aging and Alzheimer's disease: a morphometric study. *Neuroscience* 33, 469–481.
- Geula, C., and Mesulam, M. M. (1995). Cholinesterases and the pathology of Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 9(Suppl. 2), 23–28.
- Greenfield, S. A., Zimmermann, M., and Bond, C. E. (2008). Non-hydrolytic functions of acetylcholinesterase. The significance of C-terminal peptides. *FEBS J.* 275, 604–611.
- Griffith, T. N., Varela-Nallar, L., and Dinamarca, M. C., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2010). Neurobiological effects of Hyperforin and its potential in Alzheimer's disease therapy. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 17, 391–406.
- Hainfellner, J. A., Wanschitz, J., Jellinger, K., Liberski, P. P., Gullotta, F., and Budka, H. (1998). Coexistence of Alzheimer-type neuropathology in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. Acta Neuropathol. 96, 116–122.
- Hardy, J., and Selkoe, D. J. (2002). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science* 297, 353–356.
- Harper, J. D., Lieber, C. M., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (1997). Atomic force microscopic imaging of seeded fibril formation and fibril branching by the Alzheimer's disease amyloid-β protein. *Chem. Biol.* 4, 951–959.
- Ikonomovic, M. D., Wecker, L., Abrahamson, E. E., Wuu, J., Counts, S. E., Ginsberg, S. D., Mufson, E. J., and DeKosky, S. T. (2009). Cortical α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor and β-amyloid levels in early Alzheimer disease. Arch. Neurol. 66, 646–651.

- Inestrosa, N. C., and Alarcon, R. (1998). Molecular interactions of acetylcholinesterase with senile plaques. *J. Physiol. Paris* 92, 341–344.
- Inestrosa, N. C., Alarcon, R., Arriagada, J., Donoso, A., Alvarez, J., and Campos, E. O. (1994). Blood markers in Alzheimer disease: subnormal acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase in lymphocytes and erythrocytes. J. Neurol. Sci. 122, 1–5.
- Inestrosa, N. C., Alvarez, A., Dinamarca, M. C., Perez-Acle, T., and Colombres, M. (2005a). Acetylcholinesterase-amyloid-βpeptide interaction: effect of Congo Red and the role of the Wnt pathway. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 2, 301–306.
- Inestrosa, N. C., Sagal, J. P., and Colombres, M. (2005b). Acetylcholinesterase interaction with Alzheimer amyloid β. *Subcell. Biochem.* 38, 299–317.
- Inestrosa, N. C., Alvarez, A., Perez, C. A., Moreno, R. D., Vicente, M., Linker, C., Casanueva, O. I., Soto, C., and Garrido, J. (1996). Acetylcholinesterase accelerates assembly of amyloid-β-peptides into Alzheimer's fibrils: possible role of the peripheral site of the enzyme. *Neuron* 16, 881–891.
- Inestrosa, N. C., Dinamarca, M. C., and Alvarez, A. (2008). Amyloidcholinesterase interactions. Implications for Alzheimer's disease. *FEBS J.* 275, 625–632.
- Inestrosa, N. C., Tapia-Rojas, C., Griffith, T. N., Carvajal, F. J., Benito, M. J., Rivera-Dictter, A., Alvarez, A. R., Serrano, F. G., Hancke, J. L., Burgos, P. V., Parodi, J., and Varela-Nallar, L. (2011). Tetrahydrohyperforin prevents cognitive deficit, Aβ deposition, tau phosphorylation and synaptotoxicity in the APPswe/PSEN1Δ9 model of Alzheimer's disease: a possible effect on APP processing. *Transl. Psychiatr.* 1, e20.
- Jean, L., Lee, C. F., Shaw, M., and Vaux, D. J. (2008). Structural elements regulating amyloidogenesis: a cholinesterase model system. *PLoS ONE* 3, e1834. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001834
- Kalaria, R. N., Kroon, S. N., Grahovac, I., and Perry, G. (1992). Acetylcholinesterase and its association with heparan sulphate proteoglycans in cortical amyloid deposits of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience* 51, 177–184.
- Katzman, R., Terry, R., Deteresa, R., Brown, T., Davies, P., Fuld, P., Renbing, X., and Peck, A. (1988). Clinical, pathological, and neurochemical changes in dementia: a subgroup

with preserved mental status and numerous neocortical plaques. *Ann. Neurol.* 23, 138–144.

- Kim, H. S., Lee, J. H., Lee, J. P., Kim, E. M., Chang, K. A., Park, C. H., Jeong, S. J., Wittendorp, M. C., Seo, J. H., Choi, S. H., and Suh, Y. H. (2002). Amyloid β peptide induces cytochrome C release from isolated mitochondria. *Neuroreport* 13, 1989–1993.
- Knobloch, M., and Mansuy, I. M. (2008). Dendritic spine loss and synaptic alterations in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 37, 73–82.
- Laferla, F. M. (2002). Calcium dyshomeostasis and intracellular signalling in Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 3, 862–872.
- Lee, V. M., Goedert, M., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (2001). Neurodegenerative tauopathies. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 24, 1121–1159.
- Li, S., Shankar, G. M., and Selkoe, D. J. (2010). How do soluble oligomers of amyloid β-protein impair hippocampal synaptic plasticity? *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 4:5. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2010.0000
- Mattson, M. P., Cheng, B., Davis, D., Bryant, K., Lieberburg, I., and Rydel, R. E. (1992). β-Amyloid peptides destabilize calcium homeostasis and render human cortical neurons vulnerable to excitotoxicity. *J. Neurosci.* 12, 376–389.
- Mesulam, M. (2004). The cholinergic lesion of Alzheimer's disease: pivotal factor or side show? *Learn. Mem.* 11, 43–49.
- Mesulam, M. M., and Geula, C. (1994). Butyrylcholinesterase reactivity differentiates the amyloid plaques of aging from those of dementia. *Ann. Neurol.* 36, 722–727.
- Miyazono, M., Kitamoto, T., Iwaki, T., and Tateishi, J. (1992). Colocalization of prion protein and beta protein in the same amyloid plaques in patients with Gerstmann-Straussler syndrome. *Acta Neuropathol.* 83, 333–339.
- Morgan, C., Colombres, M., Nunez, M. T., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2004). Structure and function of amyloid in Alzheimer's disease. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 74, 323–349.
- Muñoz, F. J., and Inestrosa, N. C. (1999). Neurotoxicity of acetylcholinesterase amyloid β -peptide aggregates is dependent on the type of A β peptide and the AChE concentration present in the complexes. *FEBS Lett.* 450, 205–209.
- Muñoz-Torrero, D. (2008). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors as diseasemodifying therapies for Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 15, 2433–2455.

- Muñoz-Torrero, D., and Camps, P. (2006). Dimeric and hybrid anti-Alzheimer drug candidates. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 13, 399–422.
- Nakamura, S., Kawashima, S., Nakano, S., Tsuji, T., and Araki, W. (1990). Subcellular distribution of acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease: abnormal localization and solubilization. *J. Neural Transm. Suppl.* 30, 13–23.
- Nitsch, R. M. (1996). From acetylcholine to amyloid: neurotransmitters and the pathology of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurodegeneration* 5, 477–482.
- Pera, M., Martinez-Otero, A., Colombo, L., Salmona, M., Ruiz-Molina, D., Badia, A., and Clos, M. V. (2009). Acetylcholinesterase as an amyloid enhancing factor in PrP82-146 aggregation process. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 40, 217–224.
- Pera, M., Roman, S., Ratia, M., Camps, P., Muñoz-Torrero, D., Colombo, L., Manzoni, C., Salmona, M., Badia, A., and Clos, M. V. (2006). Acetylcholinesterase triggers the aggregation of PrP 106-126. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 346, 89–94.
- Piazzi, L., Cavalli, A., Colizzi, F., Belluti, F., Bartolini, M., Mancini, F., Recanatini, M., Andrisano, V., and Rampa, A. (2008). Multitarget-directed coumarin derivatives: hAChE and BACE1 inhibitors as potential anti-Alzheimer compounds. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 18, 423–426.
- Prusiner, S. B. (1998). The prion diseases. *Brain Pathol.* 8, 499–513.
- Quintanilla, R. A., Munoz, F. J., Metcalfe, M. J., Hitschfeld, M., Olivares, G., Godoy, J. A., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2005). Trolox and 17 β -estradiol protect against amyloid β -peptide neurotoxicity by a mechanism that involves modulation of the Wnt signaling pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 11615–11625.
- Rees, T., Hammond, P. I., Soreq, H., Younkin, S., and Brimijoin, S. (2003). Acetylcholinesterase promotes β-amyloid plaques in cerebral cortex. *Neurobiol. Aging* 24, 777–787.
- Rees, T. M., Berson, A., Sklan, E. H., Younkin, L., Younkin, S., Brimijoin, S., and Soreq, H. (2005). Memory deficits correlating with acetylcholinesterase splice shift and amyloid burden in doubly transgenic mice. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 2, 291–300.
- Reyes, A. E., Chacon, M. A., Dinamarca, M. C., Cerpa, W., Morgan, C., and Inestrosa, N. C.

(2004). Acetylcholinesterase- β complexes are more toxic than A β fibrils in rat hippocampus: effect on rat β -amyloid aggregation, laminin expression, reactive astrocytosis, and neuronal cell loss. *Am. J. Pathol.* 164, 2163–2174.

- Reyes, A. E., Perez, D. R., Alvarez, A., Garrido, J., Gentry, M. K., Doctor, B. P., and Inestrosa, N. C. (1997). A monoclonal antibody against acetylcholinesterase inhibits the formation of amyloid fibrils induced by the enzyme. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 232, 652–655.
- Saez-Valero, J., De Ceballos, M. L., Small, D. H., and De Felipe, C. (2002). Changes in molecular isoform distribution of acetylcholinesterase in rat cortex and cerebrospinal fluid after intracerebroventricular administration of amyloid β-peptide. *Neurosci. Lett.* 325, 199–202.
- Saez-Valero, J., Mok, S. S., and Small, D. H. (2000). An unusually glycosylated form of acetylcholinesterase is a CSF biomarker for Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neurol. Scand. Suppl. 176, 49–52.
- Saez-Valero, J., Sberna, G., Mclean, C. A., and Small, D. H. (1999). Molecular isoform distribution and glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase are altered in brain and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 72, 1600–1608.
- Sberna, G., Saez-Valero, J., Li, Q. X., Czech, C., Beyreuther, K., Masters, C. L., Mclean, C. A., and Small, D. H. (1998). Acetylcholinesterase is increased in the brains of transgenic mice expressing the C-terminal fragment (CT100) of the β-amyloid protein precursor of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 71, 723–731.
- Shinotoh, H., Namba, H., Fukushi, K., Nagatsuka, S., Tanaka, N., Aotsuka, A., Tanada, S., and Irie, T. (2000). Brain acetylcholinesterase activity in Alzheimer disease measured by positron emission tomography. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 14(Suppl. 1), S114–S118.
- Silveyra, M. X., Garcia-Ayllon, M. S., Calero, M., and Saez-Valero, J. (2006). Altered glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase in the Creutzfeldt-Jakob cerebrospinal fluid. J. Mol. Neurosci. 30, 65–66.
- Slotkin, T. A., Nemeroff, C. B., Bissette, G., and Seidler, F. J. (1994). Overexpression of the high affinity choline transporter in cortical regions affected by Alzheimer's disease. Evidence from rapid autopsy studies. J. Clin. Invest. 94, 696–702.

- Soto, C., Castaño, E. M., Frangione, B., and Inestrosa, N. C. (1995). The α-helical to β-strand transition in the amino-terminal fragment of the amyloid β-peptide modulates amyloid formation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 3063–3067.
- Sussman, J. L., Harel, M., Frolow, F., Oefner, C., Goldman, A., Toker, L., and Silman, I. (1991). Atomic structure of acetylcholinesterase from Torpedo californica: a prototypic acetylcholine-binding protein. *Science* 253, 872–879.
- Tago, H., Kimura, H., and Maeda, T. (1986). Visualization of detailed acetylcholinesterase fiber and neuron staining in rat brain by a sensitive histochemical procedure. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 34, 1431–1438.
- Terry, A. V. Jr., and Buccafusco, J. J. (2003). The cholinergic hypothesis of age and Alzheimer's diseaserelated cognitive deficits: recent challenges and their implications for novel drug development. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 306, 821–827.

- Toiber, D., Berson, A., Greenberg, D., Melamed-Book, N., Diamant, S., and Soreq, H. (2008). Nacetylcholinesterase-induced apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS ONE* 3, e3108. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003108
- Varela-Nallar, L., Gonzalez, A., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2006). Role of copper in prion diseases: deleterious or beneficial? *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 12, 2587–2595.
- Viayna, E., Gomez, T., Galdeano, C., Ramirez, L., Ratia, M., Badia, A., Clos, M. V., Verdaguer, E., Junyent, F., Camins, A., Pallas, M., Bartolini, M., Mancini, F., Andrisano, V., Arce, M. P., Rodriguez-Franco, M. I., Bidon-Chanal, A., Luque, F. J., Camps, P., and Muñoz-Torrero, D. (2010). Novel huprine derivatives with inhibitory activity toward β-amyloid aggregation and formation as disease-modifying anti-Alzheimer drug candidates. *ChemMedChem* 5, 1855–1870.
- Von Bernhardi, R., Alarcon, R., Mezzano, D., Fuentes, P., and

Inestrosa, N. C. (2005). Blood cells cholinesterase activity in early stage Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord.* 19, 204–212.

- Wang, C. Y., Zheng, W., Wang, T., Xie, J. W., Wang, S. L., Zhao, B. L., Teng, W. P., and Wang, Z. Y. (2011). Huperzine A activates Wnt/β-catenin signaling and enhances the nonamyloidogenic pathway in an Alzheimer transgenic mouse model. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 1073–1089.
- Xie, H. Q., Leung, K. W., Chen, V. P., Chan, G. K., Xu, S. L., Guo, A. J., Zhu, K. Y., Zheng, K. Y., Bi, C. W., Zhan, J. Y., Chan, W. K., Choi, R. C., and Tsim, K. W. (2010). PRiMA directs a restricted localization of tetrameric AChE at synapses. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 187, 78–83.
- Zhu, Y., Xiao, K., Ma, L., Xiong, B., Fu, Y., Yu, H., Wang, W., Wang, X., Hu, D., Peng, H., Li, J., Gong, Q., Chai, Q., Tang, X., Zhang, H., and Shen, J. (2009). Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of novel dual

inhibitors of acetylcholinesterase and β -secretase. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 17, 1600–1613.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 June 2011; accepted: 21 August 2011; published online: 14 September 2011.

Citation: Carvajal FJ and Inestrosa NC (2011) Interactions of AChE with $A\beta$ aggregates in Alzheimer's brain: therapeutic relevance of IDN 5706. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 4:19. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011.00019

Copyright © 2011 Carvajal and Inestrosa. This is an open-access article subject to a non-exclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.



Serum cholinesterases are differentially regulated in normal and dystrophin-deficient mutant mice

Andrea R. Durrant, Liliya Tamayev and Lili Anglister*

Department of Medical Neurobiology, Institute for Medical Research – Israel-Canada, IMRIC, Faculty of Medicine, Hebrew University Medical School, Jerusalem, Israel

Edited by:

Hermona Soreq, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel

Reviewed by:

Paul Layer, Technische Universität Darmstadt, Germany Shani Shenhar-Tsarfaty, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel

*Correspondence:

Lili Anglister, Department of Medical Neurobiology, Institute for Medical Research – Israel-Canada, IMRIC, The Hebrew University Medical School, PO Box 12272, Jerusalem 91120, Israel. e-mail: lili.anglister@huji.ac.il

The cholinesterases, acetylcholinesterase (AChE), and butyrylcholinesterase (BChE) (pseudocholinesterase), are abundant in the nervous system and in other tissues. The role of AChE in terminating transmitter action in the peripheral and central nervous system is well understood. However, both knowledge of the function(s) of the cholinesterases in serum, and of their metabolic and endocrine regulation under normal and pathological conditions, is limited. This study investigates AChE and BChE in sera of dystrophin-deficient mdx mutant mice, an animal model for the human Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) and in control healthy mice. The data show systematic and differential variations in the concentrations of both enzymes in the sera, and specific changes dictated by alteration of hormonal balance in both healthy and dystrophic mice. While AChE in *mdx*-sera is elevated, BChE is markedly diminished, resulting in an overall cholinesterase decrease compared to sera of healthy controls. The androgen testosterone (T) is a negative modulator of BChE, but not of AChE, in male mouse sera. T-removal elevated both BChE activity and the BChE/AChE ratio in mdx male sera to values resembling those in healthy control male mice. Mechanisms of regulation of the circulating cholinesterases and their impairment in the dystrophic mice are suggested, and clinical implications for diagnosis and treatment are considered.

Keywords: acetylcholinesterase, butyrylcholinesterase, mouse serum, *mdx*, muscular dystrophy, testosterone, orchidectomy, H-P-G axis

INTRODUCTION

The presence of cholinesterase activity in serum was already described by Dale in 1914 (Dale, 1914). It was later found that this activity was due to the two acetylcholine (ACh)-hydrolyzing enzymes (Mendel and Rudney, 1943), acetylcholinesterase (AChE), and butyrylcholinesterase (pseudocholinesterase, BChE), that could be distinguished by their substrate specificity (Mendel and Rudney, 1943) and differential sensitivity to selective inhibitors (Austin and Berry, 1953). By now, both enzymes have been well-characterized in terms of structure and function (Massoulié, 2002; Massoulié et al., 2008). AChE is abundant in the nervous system and muscles, where it is clearly responsible for controlling the duration of cholinergic transmission (Katz and Miledi, 1973). Additional functions have been ascribed to both enzymes in normal development of the nervous system and in altered physiological or pathological conditions due to stress, inflammation, and neurodegenerative diseases, (e.g., Alzheimer's disease) and their treatment (for reviews, see e.g., Layer and Willbold, 1995; Darvesh et al., 2003, 2010; Ballard et al., 2005; Dori and Soreq, 2006; Meshorer and Soreq, 2006; Massoulié et al., 2008; Vogel-Höpker et al., 2012). Moreover, the soluble form of BChE in mammalian serum may serve as a safeguard against the diffusion of ACh into the bloodstream and/or against orally ingested toxic compounds, since it reacts with a broad range of substrates (Lockridge and Masson, 2000;

Masson and Lockridge, 2010). In fact, serum BChE has been used as an indicator of hepatic, renal, and thyroid diseases and as a marker for pesticide toxicity. It is therefore important to understand how the levels and distribution of the ChEs are regulated. Such knowledge may have therapeutic consequences for the treatment of diseases modulated by ChE levels. However, little attention has been paid to the metabolic, and particularly to the hormonal, regulation of BChE or of AChE. Several lines of evidence suggest that such regulation may exist. Thus, rat serum BChE was shown to be under endocrine regulation by gonadal steroids and by growth hormone (GH) (Illsley and Lamartiniere, 1981; Lamartiniere, 1986). Furthermore, systematic changes in AChE/BChE ratios have been established during normal development. Thus, whereas AChE activity in rat muscle increased concomitantly with decrease in BChE, resulting in an inversion in ratio of the amounts of the two enzymes in adult muscle (Berman et al., 1987), an opposite change was observed in mouse serum, leading to a high BChE/AChE ratio post-puberty (Oliver et al., 1992). However, this was not the case for the serum of the mdx dystrophin-deficient mutant mouse, an animal model for Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD). In the mdx mouse, as in DMD patients, a point mutation in the dystrophin gene results in synthesis of a non-functional truncated protein, so that full-length dystrophin is absent from skeletal and cardiac muscles, as well as from certain neural cell populations in the

brain (Sicinski et al., 1989; for a review see Muntoni et al., 2003), with devastating, and eventually fatal, consequences in humans. In *mdx* sera, AChE activity did not decline with the onset of puberty as in normal mice sera, but stayed at a high level (Oliver et al., 1992), which might indicate impaired hormonal regulation. In the present study we found not only that AChE activity was elevated but that BChE was drastically diminished in the *mdx* sera. We went on to show that in normal mouse serum BChE levels are subject to endocrine regulation by the androgen, testosterone (T) in male mice, whereas AChE levels are not influenced. We further examined whether the systematic differences in the levels of both ChEs in *mdx* sera were due to impaired endocrine regulation, and if hormonal manipulation can restore the AChE/BChE ratio to that in normal mouse serum.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

ANIMALS

Male *mdx* and control (*wt*) mice from the same mouse strain (C57BL/10ScSn-D^{mdx} and C57BL10Sn, Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) were bred in our animal facility. Animals were maintained and treated according to an approved protocol of the Ethics Committee (IACUC) of the Hebrew University Medical School. The Hebrew University is an AAALAC internationally accredited institute. All mice were maintained under a controlled photoperiod (lights on 07:00–19:00). Food and water were provided *ad libitum*. Body weights were monitored.

SURGICAL MANIPULATIONS

Bilateral orchidectomy

Exteriorized testes and epididymis of 19–21 week mice were removed under anaesthesia (0.45 mg ketamine/0.05 mg xylazine per ml saline solution, 0.9 ml/mouse, i.p.). Briefly, the spermatic cord was clamped with a hemostat. Then, the distal portions of the vas deferens and spermatic artery were severed. Once homeostasis had been achieved (\sim 5 min), the spermatic cord was unclamped, and the incision was closed. All control animals underwent sham surgery.

Testosterone implants

This procedure was kindly provided by Dr. Robert A. Steiner (U. Washington, Seattle, WA). Immediately after orchidectomy (or sham surgery), testosterone capsules (T, 20–25 mg/pellet), were implanted subcutaneously (about halfway down the mouse's back) via a small incision at the base of the neck. Then the skin was sutured and the animal was allowed to wake up. The T pellet was designed to achieve normal physiological levels. The dose was chosen based on previous research, which established that it would produce significant androgenic actions at target tissues, i.e., spermatogenesis in gonadotropin-deficient mice (Singh et al., 1995; Lindzey et al., 1998). All untreated animals received empty (sham) capsules.

COLLECTION OF BLOOD AND SEPARATION OF PLASMA

Submandibular vein withdrawal for ChE measurements

Blood samples for the measurement of circulating ChE concentrations were collected *via* heparinized capillaries from punctured submandibular vein of lightly sedated mice (ketamine hydrochloride/xylazine, ~ 0.1 ml/mouse, i.p.). Blood was drawn during the period of 10:00–12:00 am from control and castrated animals of age ~ 21 weeks. It should be noted that prior to blood collection, all mice were acclimated for 2 weeks under a new controlled photoperiod (lights on 09:00–21:00).

Orbital sinus withdrawal for creatine kinase measurements

Creatine kinase (CK) levels in circulation were used as a convenient index to confirm the genotype of the animals (see below). Animals were anesthetized (chloral hydrate solution, 0.05 g/ml, 0.1 ml/10 g body weight, i.p.) and 0.5 ml of blood was drawn from the orbital sinus *via* heparinized capillaries.

Sera

After blood collection, samples were allowed to clot for 30 min at room temperature (RT), and then centrifuged (Eppendorf 5415 at 1250 rpm, 15 min, RT). The separated plasma was stored at -80° C. Sera from male rhesus macaque were a generous gift from Dr. Tony Plant (U. Penn., Pittsburgh, PA) and bovine sera were kindly donated by Dr. Joel Zeron (SION A.I. Center & Breeding Ltd., Shikmim, Israel).

DETERMINATION OF ChE ACTIVITIES IN SERA Spectrophotometric method

ChE activity was measured in microplates by the colorimetric method of Ellman et al. (1961) in 1.0 mM 5,5'dithio-bis(2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB) in 0.1 M Tris, pH 7.6, containing 0.5 mM acetylthiocholine iodide (ATCh) or butyrylthiocholine iodide (BTCh) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). Selective inhibitors were used to distinguish between AChE and BChE as described below. The increase in absorbance at 412 nm was followed for 12–15 min at 31–34°C using a PowerWave_x340 Model microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments, Inc, Winooski, VT). Activities were expressed as Δ OD units per minute.

Radiometric method

ChE activity was assayed by a radiometric method, monitoring the ³H-acetate generated during acetylcholine hydrolysis (Johnson and Russell, 1975). This method is of higher sensitivity than the Ellman's technique (see above) thus allowing for better resolution when measurement of variations in the low AChE activities of mouse sera was required. Briefly, samples were incubated in 0.1 ml of 1 mM of ³H-acetylcholine iodide (³H-ACh, PerkinElmer Life Sciences) in 0.1 M NaCl and 0.01 M Tris buffer (pH 7.4). The reaction was stopped as required by addition of 0.1 ml 1 M chloroacetic acid/0.5 M NaOH/2 M NaCl, followed by addition of 4 ml scintillation fluid composed of 90% QuickSafe N (Zinsser Analytic, Frankfurt, Germany) and 10% isoamyl alcohol. The reaction product, [³H]-acetate, was extracted into the organic phase and counted in a Tri-CARB 2900TR liquid scintillation counter (Packard BioScience, Meriden, CT). Selective inhibitors were used to distinguish AChE and BChE activities (see below).

Selective ChE inhibitors

Tetra-isopropyl-pyrophosphoramide(0.1 mM,iso-OMPA,Sigma) and 1,5-bis(4-allyldimethylammoniumphenyl)pentan-3-one

dibromide (0.01 mM, BW284c51, Burroughs Wellcome Co.) were used to selectively inhibit BChE and AChE activities, respectively (Austin and Berry, 1953). Samples were pre-incubated with either inhibitor for 20 min at RT and then assayed for ChE activity in the presence of the inhibitors using either the colorimetric or radiometric method.

DETERMINATION OF CREATINE KINASE (CK) ACTIVITY

Circulating CK values, expressed as units of enzyme activity per liter of serum sample (U/L), were used as an index to identify the genotype of the animals (mdx or wt). CK values in blood samples drawn from orbital sinuses were determined using a standard enzymatic method and an automated clinical analyzer.

STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Data were collected for samples from individual animals in all experiments. Mean values were obtained by averaging measurements obtained for a group of 4–10 animals for a particular experimental day (as indicated in each experiment). The significance of differences between groups was determined by One-Way ANOVA (parametric with Tukey's multiple comparison posttest) for all groups, or by Kruskal–Wallis (non-parametric) tests, depending whether or not the data showed normal Gaussian distribution. Comparison between two groups was by non-paired *t*-test with unequal variances (our usual case). All tests were available in the GraphPad Prism4 (GraphPad Inc.), Statistica10 (StatSoft) and Microsoft Office Excel Professional Software. The difference between groups was considered significant when (p < 0.05).

RESULTS

POST-PUBERTAL EFFECTS OF DYSTROPHY ON BODY WEIGHT

Although the *mdx* mouse was reproductively competent (thus, T was present and functional), its postnatal growth was hindered compared to that of normal controls. The *mdx* mice displayed lower and more variable body weight compared to the controls, with the phenomenon being more pronounced in *mdx* females than in males (not shown). However, the body weight stabilized by 11 weeks of age at levels not significantly different from those of the control mice (**Figure 1**). The oscillatory shape of the curve was consistent with the finding that *mdx* mouse muscles undergo cycles of degeneration and regeneration until most muscles stabilize by 10 weeks (Settles et al., 1996). The mice we used were therefore aged 19–22 weeks, at which age their body weights are stable, and the majority of muscle fibers no longer display transient degeneration (Karpati et al., 1988).

SERUM ChE ACTIVITIES IN NORMAL AND DYSTROPHIC MICE

Mouse serum contains BChE and AChE, both of which hydrolyze ATCh. Total ChE activities in sera of male mdx mice were at least 15% (p < 0.01) below those in normal mice sera (**Figure 2A**), indicating reduced levels of AChE and/or BChE in the mdx sera. AChE activity, which was found to be very low in sera of normal mice, was significantly elevated in the mdx sera (**Figure 2A**, detailed below). In contrast, BChE levels, assayed on BTCh, were found to decrease in male mdx-sera to 64–67% of the levels in wt sera (**Figure 2B**, p < 0.002). Similar results were observed when BChE was assayed on ATCh, with AChE activity being



The effect of strain on body weight is shown. Several litters of *C57BL/* 10J (wt, •) and mdx (o) male mice were weighed over 3–21 weeks. Each data point is the mean \pm SEM (n = 6–34). The dashed line at ~5 weeks marks initiation of puberty in the wt. *p < 0.05 between wt and mdx of the same age, showing that mdx mice gain less weight than wt during postnatal development but reach normal level by 11 weeks.

selectively inhibited by BW284c51 (Figure 2A). Since AChE levels in normal mouse serum are very low, the more sensitive radiometric assay was used to confirm the results obtained using the colorimetric Ellman procedure (Figures 2C and D), showing that AChE activity in mdx-sera indeed increased by 50-80% over the level in control wt sera (p < 0.05), confirming an earlier report (Oliver et al., 1992). BChE activity was shown, also by the radiometric assay, to decrease in mdx-sera to 61-76% of wt values (Figure 2D, p < 0.001). Since BChE is the major ChE form in mouse serum (>70%), the large drop in BChE was responsible for the overall reduction in total ChE activity observed in mdx sera. However, the decrease in BChE levels, taken together with the increase in AChE levels, in *mdx* sera (as shown in Figures 2C and **D**), reduced the BChE/AChE ratio from 2.3 ± 0.2 in the *wt*sera to 1.3 ± 0.5 in *mdx*-sera. Similar results were found for adult female *mdx*-mice and are summarized elsewhere (Anglister et al., 2008).

As an internal control, CK levels in sera were measured to validate the genotype of the animals (*mdx* compared to *wt*). Consistent with the 3–14-fold elevation reported by Glesby et al. (1988), the male *mdx* mice used in our studies showed variable, but consistently increased, CK levels in sera, *viz.*, $9.9 \pm 1.4 (\times 10^3 \text{ U/L}, \text{ mean } \pm \text{ SEM})$ in *mdx* mice, compared to 1.3 ± 0.3 in controls (**Figure 2E**). These differences were highly significant (p < 0.001).

ENDOCRINE REGULATION OF NORMAL MOUSE SERUM BChE ACTIVITY

To determine whether the abnormal BChE/AChE ratio in mdx sera is due to hormonal influences, we first investigated regulation by the androgen, T, of ChEs in the sera of adult male wt mice.



(striped columns), or BW284c51, for measurement of BChE (plain columns) (A); BChE activity was also measured using BTCh (B); (C,D) The radiometric method with ³H-ACh as substrate and with iso-OMPA for AChE (C), or with

was elevated compared with wt (*p < 0.05 in **A**,**C**). As expected, CK levels in *mdx* sera were elevated, compared to those in the *wt* sera (**E**, *p < 0.001).

Sera from orchidectomized 21 week adult male *wt* mice were analyzed for ChE activities (**Figure 3**). Gonadectomy raised BChE activities in adult male mice serum by 20–37% (p < 0.001), whether measured on BTCh, or on ACh in the presence of a selective AChE inhibitor (**Figures 3A** and **B**, respectively).

T-replacement in adult wt males, performed concomitantly with castration, abolished the increase caused by castration, restoring BChE activity to the levels observed in the sera of intact males (**Figures 3A** and **B**). Thus, a high basal level of BChE activity is found in the sera of agonadal males (in the



were determined colorimetrically (A) or radiometrically (B,C) with appropriate substrates and selective inhibitors as described in the legend to Figure 2. Values are the mean \pm SEM for 6–8 samples per group (sham group, n = 3). BChE levels in gonadectomized animals (dashed line in A) differ significantly from those in intact, T-treated and sham animals: Data were analyzed by One-Way ANOVA, showing statistical significance in A ($p \ll 0.0002$) and in B ($p \ll 0.0001$), with Tukey's post-hoc revealing significant differences (*) between castrated male (cas, shaded column) and the other three groups: intact male (male) (p < 0.0003), castrated with T-replacement (cas + T) (p < 0.0002) or sham (p < 0.0002). All other comparisons showed insignificance (p > 0.05): male compared to cas + T (p = 0.086), or to sham (p = 0.07), and cas + T compared to sham (p = 0.92). Similarly, post-hoc test in **B** showed significant difference between cas and the other groups: male (p < 0.001), cas + T (p < 0.0004), and sham (p < 0.001), which were very similar. No significant changes were observed in AChE activity (C).

BChE:AChE					
2.3 ± 0.2					
3.0 ± 0.1					
2.5 ± 0.2					
2.1 ± 0.1					

Table 1 | Effect of gonadectomy on serum BChE and AChE levels in adult male *wt* mice.

The radiometric data presented in this table (in dpm units) are averaged and presented as histograms in **Figures 3B** and **C**.

absence of T), and both endogenous and exogenous androgen down-regulate the enzyme.

Whereas castration of the male wt markedly raised the BChE level in the serum, that of AChE (measured with ACh in the presence of iso-OMPA) did not change significantly (Figure 3C; p = 0.41). The ranges of values recorded radiometrically, with ACh and the respective selective inhibitors of BChE and AChE, in sera of male adult wt mice under the different treatment regimes, are shown in Table 1. The data show clearly that BChE activities were increased from a low level (1830–2350 arbitrary assay units) to a high level (2770-3870 units) after orchidectomy, and reverted to the base level after T-implant. In contrast, the AChE activities observed in adult male mice sera fell in a similar range (530-1460 arbitrary units), whether the mice were intact or castrated, with or without T-implant. These results indicate a specific and selective negative androgen modulation of BChE, but not of AChE. Furthermore, the large increase in BChE after castration resulted in an increased ratio of BChE to AChE activities from 2.3 ± 0.2 in sera of intact wt males to 3.0 ± 0.1 in castrated wt males (Table 1).

EFFECTS OF ORCHIDECTOMY AND T-REPLACEMENT ON SERUM BChE LEVELS IN ADULT *mdx* MICE

We went on to examine whether orchidectomy raises BChE levels also in the sera of mdx mice, and whether, as a consequence, the high agonadal baseline ChE levels seen in wt mice sera can be reached. The data presented in **Table 2** and **Figure 4** reveal low levels of BChE in the sera of control adult mdx males (32.2–48.6 assay units). Although levels increase substantially after gonadectomy (48.7–61.9 assay units), by an average of 35%, the BChE deficiency observed in untreated mdx mice is sustained

Table 2 Effect of gonadectomy in elevating serum BChE activity in
normal and dystrophic mice.

	wt	mdx	p
No surgery	56.1–68.2 (8)	32.2-48.6 (5)	< 0.002
Castrate	68.0-83.3 (6)	48.7–61.9 (4)	< 0.002
Castrate + T	50.1-62.3 (6)	34.0-46.2 (5)	< 0.001
Sham	51.6–57.8 (3)	40.8–44.8 (3)	< 0.006

Activities relate to the same animals and assay conditions as for the data displayed in Figure 4.



(**Figure 4**): thus, the agonadal "baseline" level in *mdx* mice was significantly below the baseline level in *wt* agonadal mice (29%, p < 0.002). It was slightly lower than the level in control *wt* mice (14%, p = 0.06) or in sham-operated *wt* mice. As in *wt* mice, T-replacement reversed the effect of orchidectomy on BChE activity. Thus, after orchidectomy, the BChE in *mdx* circulation may almost reach the gonadal baseline level of BChE activity in the serum of intact male *wt* mice, but not the agonadal baseline level in the serum of castrated *wt* mice.

T-REGULATION OF SERUM ACHE ACTIVITIES IN mdx MICE

We went on to examine the effects of orchidectomy and T-replacement on AChE levels in the sera of mdx mice. Specifically, we checked whether orchidectomy of mdx mice, with or without T-implant, affected serum levels of AChE. As

documented in **Table 3**, the mean AChE activity in the sera of intact *mdx* mice was 1260 ± 120 units, as compared to 790 ± 70 units in the castrated mice. Despite the great variability in AChE levels, castration appears to reduce AChE activity by >30%, p < 0.02). Interestingly, the mean value for agonadal *mdx* mice was not different from that for gonadal *wt* mice (p = 0.2).

T-implant into agonadal *mdx* mice resulted in a mean serum AChE activity of 930 ± 180 , not significantly different from the value for agonadal *mdx* mice lacking the T-implant (p = 0.40). This value is also very similar to the level in the gonadal wt mice (p = 0.89), but lower than the average value for gonadal mdx mice, although a statistically significant difference could not be demonstrated due to the large standard errors within the two groups, resulting in p = 0.11. Furthermore, the values obtained for the small group of "sham" mdx mice analyzed, were intermediate, not being significantly different from either the values for sera of intact *mdx* and intact *wt* mice (p = 0.34and 0.39, respectively). These limitations prevent us from drawing definite conclusions concerning the effect of orchidectomy on serum AChE in *mdx* mice, although orchidectomy decreases AChE levels. However, the large increase in BChE levels, coupled with the apparent decrease in AChE levels, in the agondal mdx mice, results in an increase in the BChE/AChE activity ratio from 1.2 ± 0.5 in the male *mdx*-sera to 2.5 ± 0.4 after castration (Table 3), a ratio similar to that in wt-sera (2.3 ± 0.2) , Tables 1 and 3).

SPECIES-SPECIFIC AND DEVELOPMENTAL VARIATIONS IN CIRCULATING ChEs

Fetal calf serum is known to be a good source of AChE (Ralston et al., 1985). It occurred to us that bovine serum might serve as a good system for testing postnatal down-regulation of serum AChE, and for examining, in parallel, the regulation of BChE, assuming BChE to be a serum component common to all species. We therefore compared ChE activities in fetal bovine sera and in post-pubertal (adult) bull sera. Consistent with the literature, we observed a high level of AChE activity, >96% of total ChE, in fetal bovine sera. Interestingly, AChE activity was >10-fold lower in adult bull sera (**Table 4**). However, whereas in adult mouse serum, BChE was the major ChE component, as in several

Table 3 | Changes in BChE and AChE activities in the sera of adult *wt* and *mdx* adult male mice before and after orchidectomy, and after T-implant.

wt		mdx			
	Male	Male	Castrate	Castrate + T	Sham
Total ChEs	3700 ± 100**	3000 ± 90	3340 ± 220	2880 ± 120	2940 ± 270
BChE	2140 ± 90	1440 ± 70	$1970 \pm 110^{*}$	1540 ± 130	1350 ± 90
AChE	910 ± 40	$1260\pm120^{\#}$	790 ± 70	920 ± 140	1070 ± 140
BChE/AChE	$\textbf{2.3} \pm \textbf{0.2}$	1.2 ± 0.5	2.5 ± 0.4	1.7 ± 0.3	1.3 ± 0.2

Data shown refer to the same animals as those used in Figure 4.

*BChE in castrated mdx sera is significantly elevated compared with mdx male (p < 0.02), castrated with T implant (p < 0.05) and sham sera (<0.01).

** BChE in wt male sera is significantly higher than in mdx male (p < 0.001), castrated with T implant (p < 0.006) and sham sera (p < 0.001).

[#]AChE in mdx male serum is significantly higher than in castrated mdx (p < 0.02) and in wt male sera (p < 0.05).

Table 4 Species-specific variations i	in circulating ChE activities.
-----------------------------------------	--------------------------------

	Bovine		Macaque	Mouse	
	Fetal	Adult	Rhesus	wt (C57BL)	mdx
Total ChE (no inhibitor)	5020	470	2240	3500 ± 210	3260 ± 270
BChE (+BW)	190	100	1990	2140 ± 90	1650 ± 220
AChE (+iso-OMPA)	4830	370	250	910 ± 40	1260 ± 130
BuChE/AChE	0.04	0.27	3.9 ± 0.4	$\textbf{2.3} \pm \textbf{0.2}$	1.3 ± 0.5
AChE U/mL*	1.2–1.7	0.11	0.081	0.24	0.35

All sera were from male animals. ChE activities were determined by radiometric assay with ACh and the respective inhibitors, and presented as units in $125 \,\mu$ L serum. Macaque and bovine values were obtained from pooled sera of three animals each. The values observed for bovine sera were confirmed by Drs. B. P. Doctor and H. Saxena (Walter Reed Army Institute of Research, Silver Spring, MD, pers. communication). *AChE U/mL values represent activities calculated in enzyme units (U = μ moles ACh hydrolyzed/min).

other species (Ecobichon and Corneau, 1973; Chatonnet and Lockridge, 1989), in bovine sera it was the minor ChE component, with very low activity (**Table 4**). Although BChE activity in fetal and adult bovine sera was similar, its fraction of the total ChE activity rose from fetal to adult (\sim 4–25%) due to the big drop in AChE activity. Because of the striking difference in ChE composition of mouse and bovine sera, we decided to examine the ChE composition of the sera of rhesus (RHS) monkeys, which are closely related to humans and for which many endocrinological studies have been performed, including examination of the effects of androgens. As seen in **Table 4**, in adult RHS serum, as in mouse serum, BChE is the major component (89%).

DISCUSSION

In the present study we explored the regulation of serum ChEs in normal and dystrophic mice. Several findings were made: (1) While there is more BChE than AChE activity in mouse serum, as in the sera of several other mammals (reviewed by Chatonnet and Lockridge, 1989), the value of the BChE/AChE ratio for the sera of *mdx* mice is about half of the ratio for the sera of wt mice; (2) While AChE levels increased slightly in the mdx sera (Oliver et al., 1992), BChE levels decreased by >30%, resulting in an overall decrease in ChE activity of \sim 20% in mdx as compared to wt sera; (3) Although orchidectomy elevated levels of BChE activity in the sera of both strains, levels in mdx sera remained lower than in wt sera; (4) T-replacement reversed the effect of orchidectomy on BChE activity in both wt and mdx sera; (5) T-modulation was specific to serum BChE, not significantly affecting levels of AChE; (6) Orchidectomy did not increase AChE activities in either strain. These findings are consistent with involvement of the hypothalamic-hypophysialgonadal (H-P-G) axis in the impairment of BChE activity in *mdx* sera.

The regulation of mouse serum ChEs, either AChE or BChE, via the (H-P-G) axis, has not been previously explored. Our results demonstrate that testosterone (T) down-regulates the expression of BChE in sera of mice, confirming the early observations on male rat sera that the total ChE content was reduced by circulating T (or increased by estrogen in female), not as a result of a direct interaction of the steroid with the enzyme but

via higher level regulation (Everett and Sawyer, 1946; Sawyer and Everett, 1946, 1947; Illsley and Lamartiniere, 1981).

HOW CAN T MODULATE LEVELS OF SERUM BChE?

The target of testosterone (or estrogen) that produces modulation of serum BChE levels is not known. It may be in the hypothalamus, in the pituitary, or perhaps in a target organ that produces serum BChE, such as the liver (Leeuwin, 1965), together with pituitary factors. Experiments on hypophysectomized rats have demonstrated that pituitary mediation is required for both androgen and estrogen action (Everett and Sawyer, 1946; Illsley and Lamartiniere, 1981): while sex steroids do modulate ChE activity from a basal level, either due to suppression by androgen in males, or due to stimulation by estrogen in females, their action is abolished by hypophysectomy. It has also been shown in rats that hypophysectomy (Illsley and Lamartiniere, 1981; Edwards and Brimijoin, 1983) or lesion of the arcuate nucleus in the hypothalamus of males (Lamartiniere, 1986) reduces levels of GH and increases levels of ChE in the serum. The effects on serum ChEs were shown to be reversed by exogenous administration of GH after either type of surgery. Thus, both T and GH appear to be negative modulators of rat serum BChE in male rats. Moreover, they can act synergistically, since their levels are inter-related: the hypothalamus regulates the release of pituitary hormones (e.g., GH) and gonadotropins that, in turn, drive the gonads to produce T and estrogen, viz., the H-P-G axis. In addition, T itself influences GH secretion, and GH in turn reduces serum BChE levels; thus, T can also reinforce down-regulation of BChE via GH.

WHERE CAN T AND GH EXERT THEIR INFLUENCES ON SERUM BChE?

Serum BChE in adults is apparently produced in the liver (Silver, 1974). Indeed, GH has been shown to modulate several sex-differentiated hepatic enzymes, including serum ChE (Lamartiniere, 1981, 1986). Since hypophysectomy abolishes rat liver estrogen receptors and GH restores them, GH may also restore responsiveness of the liver to circulating sex steroids, and result in androgen or estrogen modulation of serum ChE. A similar mechanism could apply to GH regulation of other potential target organ for serum BChE production. In considering the liver as the source for serum BChE, it should be taken into account that, the liver secretes BChE monomers and dimers (Perelman et al., 1990), not the G_4 tetramer which is the major isoform in serum (Lockridge et al., 1979). Furthermore, we have preliminary evidence that T, castration, and T-replacement after castration, alter predominantly the level of G_4 BChE in mouse serum. Thus, it appears that the BChE isoforms produced/secreted by the liver are not the isoform present in serum and modulated by the hormones. This unresolved issue, as well as the influence of T and/or GH on BChE isoforms in serum, liver, and other tissues need to be revisited and further investigated.

IS H-P-G AXIS (AND GH) CONTROL OF SERUM BChE IMPAIRED IN *mdx* MICE?

It became apparent in this study that the *mdx* mice, that lacked dystrophin, had less BChE in their sera (both before and after orchidectomy), relative to *wt* controls. Since T and GH have both been found to be negative modulators of BChE, it is possible that the intact *mdx* mice secrete higher levels of T and/or GH than the *wt* mice. Consistent with this suggestion, *mdx* mice exhibit hypertrophy of somatotroph cells in the pituitary, and slightly elevated pituitary GH in adult females (Anderson et al., 1994). The reduced levels of BChE we show in castrated *mdx* mice compared to castrated *wt* are also likely to be due to genderspecific effects of GH at the hypothalamic-pituitary level, and not to a direct effect of T, since castration has eliminated T from the system. Further studies will be needed to determine whether the perturbation is at the pituitary or hypothalamic level.

Further correlation of GH levels with dystrophin deficiency comes from studies on DMD patients that reported mitigation of the severity of the dystrophy in GH-deficient patients (Zatz et al., 1981a,b), or after treatment with a GH inhibitor (Zatz et al., 1986). Another report provided some evidence for an altered hypothalamic-hypophyseal axis (Zaccaria et al., 1989). This is consistent with the observation referred to above, of high GH levels in *mdx* sera (Anderson et al., 1994). In addition, insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1), which is secreted in correlation with GH, is elevated in *mdx* plasma (De Luca et al., 1999). Altogether, dystrophin deficiency is likely to be associated with impaired H-P-G-regulation.

REMOVAL OF GONADAL CONTROL NORMALIZES THE BChE/AChE RATIO IN MALE *mdx* SERA

Consistent with Oliver et al. (1992), it became apparent in this study that *mdx* mice had more AChE in their sera (prior to orchidectomy), than *wt* controls. Elevated levels of serum AChE were also reported for dystrophic chickens (Lyles et al., 1980) and for other animal dystrophies (Skau, 1985), as well as for fetal calf serum (Ralston et al., 1985). Oliver et al. (1992) proposed that the increased AChE levels in the sera of the dystrophic mice reflect increased release of muscle AChE relative to release in *wt* controls. Our finding that post-pubertal castration of adult *mdx* males normalizes their serum ChE levels by elevating BChE and, perhaps reducing AChE, and thus normalizing the BChE:AChE ratio, suggests that the *mdx* sera BChE levels are not just a reflection of muscle degradation but are under control of the gonads and of the aforementioned higher centers. Moreover, in addition to T, there

is likely to be an additional factor involved in the impaired downregulation of AChE and up-regulation of BChE in *mdx* sera. This seems likely since although the BChE level increased after castration, it did not reach the agonadal *wt* level, and T-replacement did not reverse the effect on *mdx* serum AChE. Before one can extrapolate from our results in mice to human patients, one has to prove that gonadal regulation of BChE occurs in higher primates.

POSTNATAL MATURATION OF SERUM BChE/AChE RATIO

Because, in *mdx* sera, AChE failed to decrease upon maturation and BChE was low in the adult, we considered the possibility that mdx mice are locked in a pre-adult stage and retain some embryonic regulatory properties. It was shown in mouse sera that in the embryo AChE predominates, while in the adult BChE is the major ChE species (Oliver et al., 1992). Surprisingly, we report here strong postnatal down-regulation of AChE in bovine serum, with only small amounts of BChE in both fetal and adult serum relative to other species (Table 4). However, we found BChE to be the major ChE component in sera of adult normal wt mice and rhesus monkeys (Table 4), as has been reported for many animals (Ecobichon and Corneau, 1973; Chatonnet and Lockridge, 1989). Indeed, while human 12th week fetal serum may contain 40% AChE (Hahn et al., 1993), adult human plasma contains >99% BChE (Brimijoin and Hammond, 1988). Higher primates, such as the rhesus macaque, should provide an appropriate model for further studies on the regulation of both AChE and BChE in human serum.

While in the present study we have shown that the AChE in mouse serum is not regulated by circulating T, it should be noted as mentioned, that AChE decreased ~2-fold in the serum of normal mice, prior to puberty. During that time, a progressive increase in AChE coincident with a reduction in BChE occurred in muscle resulting in inversion in the amounts of the two enzymes in adult muscle (Berman et al., 1987). Thus it may still be that the decrease in serum AChE and increase in muscle AChE are due to one or more postnatal triggers, e.g., humoral factor(s) discharged before the episodic T release at puberty (~5 weeks). In this context, it should be noted that BChE precedes AChE expression in embryonic neural development of birds (Layer, 1991; Layer and Willbold, 1994) and mammals (Koenigsberger et al., 1998).

One needs to bear in mind, considering the various roles attributed to ChEs in development, during normal function and in pathological conditions, that modulation of their levels may both reflect and influence normal processes or existing impairments. In the context of the present study, the abnormal BChE/AChE ratio in the serum of dystrophic mice, as compared to normal, may be developed as a tool for easy detection of dystrophy, provided similar observations are made for DMD or for other human dystrophies.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by MDA and ISF to Lili Anglister. We thank Dr. Ifat Uzi (Hebrew University) for expert veterinary advice on surgical procedures, and Prof. Israel Silman (Weizmann Institute) for his useful comments on the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, J. E., Liu, L., Kardami, E., and Murphy, L. J. (1994). The pituitary-muscle axis in *mdx* dystrophic mice. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 123, 80–87.
- Anglister, L., Etlin, A., Finkel, E., Durrant, A. R., and Lev-Tov, A. (2008). Cholinesterases in development and disease. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 175, 92–100.
- Austin, L., and Berry, W. K. (1953). Two selective inhibitors of cholinesterase. *Biochem. J.* 54, 695–700.
- Ballard, C. G., Greig, N. H., Guillozet-Bongaarts, A. L., Enz, A., and Darvesh, S. (2005). Cholinesterases: roles in the brain during health and disease. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 2, 307–318.
- Berman, H. A., Decker, M. M., and Jo, S. (1987). Reciprocal regulation of acetylcholiesterase and butyrlcholinesterase in mammalian skeletal muscle. *Dev. Biol.* 120, 154–161.
- Brimijoin, S., and Hammond, P. (1988). Butyrylcholinesterase in human brain and acetylcholinesterase in human plasma: trace enzymes measured by two-site immunoassay. J. Neurochem. 51, 1227–1231.
- Chatonnet, A., and Lockridge, O. (1989). Comparison of butyrylcholinesterase and acetylcholinesterase. *Biochem. J.* 260, 625–634.
- Dale, H. H. (1914). The action of certain esters of choline, and their relation to muscarine. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 6, 147–190.
- Darvesh, S., Hopkins, D. A., and Geula, C. (2003). The biology of butyrylcholinesterase. *Nat. Rev.* 4, 131–138.
- Darvesh, S., Reid, G. A., and Martin, E. (2010). Biochemical and histochemical comparison of cholinesterases in normal and Alzheimer brain tissues. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 5, 386–400.
- De Luca, A., Pierno, S., Camerino, C., Cocchi, D., and Camerino, D. C. (1999). Higher content of insulin-like growth factor-1 in dystrophic *mdx* mouse: potential role in the spontaneous regeneration through an electrophysiological investigation of muscle function. *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 9, 11–18.
- Dori, A., and Soreq, H. (2006). ARP, the cleavable C-terminal peptide of "readthrough" acetylcholinesterase, promotes neuronal development and plasticity. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 28, 247–255.

- Ecobichon, D. J., and Corneau, A. M. (1973). Pseudocholinesterase of mammalian plasma: physiochemical properties and organophosphate inhibition in eleven species. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 24, 92–100.
- Edwards, J. A., and Brimijoin, S. (1983). Effects of hypophysectomy on acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase in the rat. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 32, 1183–1189.
- Ellman, G. L., Courtney, K. D., Andres, V., and Featherstone, K. D. (1961). A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 7, 88–95.
- Everett, J. W., and Sawyer, C. H. (1946). Effects of castration and treatment with sex steroids on the synthesis of serum cholinesterase in the rat. *Endocrinology* 39, 323–343.
- Glesby, M. J., Rosenmann, E., Nylen, E. G., and Wrogemann, K. (1988). Serum, CK, calcium, magnesium, and oxidative phosporylation in *mdx* mouse muscular dystrophy. *Muscle Nerve* 11, 852–856.
- Hahn, T., Desoye, G., Lang, I., and Skofitsch, G. (1993). Location and activities of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase in the rat and human placenta. *Anat. Embryol.* (*Berl*) 188, 435–440
- Illsley, N. P., and Lamartiniere, C. A. (1981). Endocrine regulation of rat serum cholinesterase activity. *Endocrinology* 108, 1737–1743.
- Johnson, C. D., and Russell, R. L. (1975). A rapid, simple radiometric assay for cholinesterase, suitable for multiple determinations. *Anal. Biochem.* 64, 229–238.
- Karpati, G., Carpenter, S., and Prescott, S. (1988). Small-caliber skeletal muscle fibers do not suffer necrosis in *mdx* mouse dystrophy. *Muscle Nerve* 11, 795–803.
- Katz, B., and Miledi, R. (1973). The binding of acetylcholine to receptors and its removal from the synaptic cleft. J. Physiol. 231, 549–574.
- Koenigsberger, C., Hammond, P. I., and Brimijoin, S. (1998). Developmental expression of acetyl- and butyrylcholinesterase in the rat: enzyme and mRNA levels in embryonic dorsal root ganglia. *Brain Res.* 787, 248–258.
- Lamartiniere, C. A. (1981). The hypothalamic-hypophyseal-gonadal regulation of hepatic glutathione S-transferase in the rat. *Biochem. J.* 198, 211–217.
- Lamartiniere, C. A. (1986). Growth hormone modulates serum cholinesterase. *Endocrinology* 118, 1252–1254.

- Layer, P. G. (1991). Cholinesterases during development of the avian nervous system. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 11, 7–33.
- Layer, P. G., and Willbold, E. (1994). Cholinesterases in avian neurogenesis. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 151, 139–181.
- Layer, P. G., and Willbold, E. (1995). Novel functions of cholinesterases in development, physiology and disease. *Prog. Histochem. Cytochem.* 29, 1–94.
- Leeuwin, R. S. (1965). Effect of androgenic and anabolic compounds on pseudocholinesterase activity in the liver and serum of the rat. *Acta Endocrinol.* 50, 391–402.
- Lindzey, J., Wetsel, W. C., Couse, J. F., Stoker, T., Cooper, R., and Korach, K. S. (1998). Effects of castration and chronic steroid treatments on hypothalamic gonadotropinreleasing hormone content and pituitary gonadotropins in male wild-type and estrogen receptor- α knockout mice. *Endocrinology* 139, 4092–4101.
- Lockridge, O., and Masson, P. (2000). Pesticides and susceptible populations: people with butyrylcholinesterase genetic variants may be at risk. *Neurotoxicology* 21, 113–126.
- Lockridge, O., Eckerson, H. W., and La Du, B. N. (1979). Interchain disulfide bonds and subunit organization in human serum cholinesterase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 254, 8324–8330.
- Lyles, J. M., Barnard, E. A., and Silman, I. (1980). Changes in the levels and forms of cholinesterases in the blood plasma of normal and dystrophic chickens. *J. Neurochem.* 34, 979–988.
- Masson, P., and Lockridge, O. (2010). Butyrylcholinesterase for protection from organophosphorus poisons: catalytic complexities and hysteretic behavior. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 494, 107–120.
- Massoulié, J. (2002). The origin of the molecular diversity and functional anchoring of cholinesterases. *Neurosignals* 11, 130–143.
- Massoulié, J., Perrier, N., Noureddine, H., Liang, D., and Bon, S. (2008). Old and new questions about cholinesterases. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 175, 30–44.
- Mendel, B., and Rudney, H. (1943). Cholinesterases. 3. Specific tests for true cholinesterase and pseudocholinesterase. *Biochem. J.* 37, 473–476.
- Meshorer, E., and Soreq, H. (2006). Virtues and woes of AChE alternative splicing in stress-related neuropathologies. *Trends Neurosci.* 29, 216–224.

- Muntoni, F., Torelli, S., and Ferlini, A. (2003). Dystrophin and mutations: one gene, several proteins, multiple phenotypes. *Lancet Neurol.* 2, 731–740.
- Oliver, L. J., Chatel, J.-M., Massoulie, J., Vigny, M., and Vallette, F. M. (1992). Molecular forms of acetylcholinesterase in dystrophic (*mdx*) mouse tissues. *Neuromuscul. Disord*. 2, 87–97.
- Perelman, A., Abeijon, C., Hirschberg, C. B., Inestrosa, N. C., and Brandan, E. (1990). Differential association and distribution of acetyl- and butyrylcholinesterases within rat liver subcellular organelles. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265, 214–220.
- Ralston, J. S., Rush, R. S., Doctor, B. P., and Wolfe, A. D. (1985). Acetylcholinesterase from fetal bovine serum. Purification and characterization of soluble G4 enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 4312–4316.
- Sawyer, C. H., and Everett, J. W. (1946). Effects of various hormonal conditions in the intact rat on the synthesis of serum cholinesterase. *Endocrinology* 39, 307.
- Sawyer, C. H., and Everett, J. W. (1947). Cholinesterase in rat tissues and the site of serum non-specific cholinesterase production. *Am. J. Physiol.* 148, 675.
- Settles, D. L., Cihak, R. A., and Erickson, H. P. (1996). Tenasin-C expression in dystrophin-related muscular dystrophy. *Muscle Nerve* 19, 147–154.
- Sicinski, P., Geng, Y., Ryder-Cook, A. S., Barnard, E. A., Darlison, M. G., and Barnard, P. J. (1989). The molecular basis of muscular dystrophy in the *mdx* mouse: a point mutation. *Science* 244, 1578–1580.
- Silver, A. (1974). "Pseudocholinesterases," in *The Biology of Cholinesterases*, Vol. 36, eds A. Neuberger and E. L. Tatum (New York, NY: North-Holland Publishing Co.), 441.
- Singh, J., O'Neill, C., and Handelsman, D. J. (1995). Induction of spermatogenesis by androgens in gonadotropin-deficient (hpg) mice. *Endocrinology* 136, 5311–5321.
- Skau, K. A. (1985). Acetylcholinesterase molecular forms in serum and erythrocytes of laboratory animals. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C* 80, 207–210.
- Vogel-Höpker, A., Sperling, L. E., and Layer, P. G. (2012). Co-opting functions of cholinesterases in neural, limb and stem cell development. *Protein Pept. Lett.* 19, 155–164.
- Zaccaria, M., Angelini, C., Dal Pont, O., Pegorara, E., Marchetti, M., and

Scandellari, C. (1989). "Duchenne muscular dystrophy: lack of response to arginine test and low somatomedin-C levels," in *Growth Abnormalities, Serono Symposia Publications,* Vol. 56, eds J. R. Bierich, E. Cacciari, and S. Raiti (New York, NY: Raven Press), 469–473.

Zatz, M., Betti, R. T., and Frota-Pessoa, O. (1986). Treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy with growth hormone inhibitors. Am. J. Med. Genet. 24, 549-566.

- Zatz, M., Betti, R. T., and Levy, J. A. (1981a). Benign Duchenne muscular dystrophy in a patient with growth hormone deficiency. *Am. J. Med. Genet.* 10, 301–304.
- Zatz, M., Toledo, S., and Frota-Pessoa, O. (1981b). Suggestion for a possible mitigating treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Am. J. Med. Genet. 10, 305–398.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 08 February 2012; accepted: 24 May 2012; published online: 19 June 2012.

Citation: Durrant AR, Tamayev L and Anglister L (2012) Serum cholinesterases

are differentially regulated in normal and dystrophin-deficient mutant mice. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 5:73. doi: 10.3389/ fnmol.2012.00073

Copyright © 2012 Durrant, Tamayev and Anglister. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

Early appearance and possible functions of non-neuromuscular cholinesterase activities

Carla Falugi * and Maria G. Aluigi

Dipartimento per lo studio del Territorio e delle sue Risorse, Laboratory of Experimental Embryology, Università di Genova, Genova, Italy

Edited by:

Hermona Soreq, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel

Reviewed by:

Yuri B. Shmukler, N.K.Koltzov Institute of Developmental Biology, Russia Zoltan-Rakonczay, University of Szeged, Hungary

*Correspondence:

Carla Falugi, Dipartimento per lo studio del Territorio e delle sue Risorse, Laboratory of Experimental Embryology, Università di Genova, Corso Gastaldi, 16132 Genova, Italy. e-mail: falugi@unige.it The biological function of the cholinesterase (ChE) enzymes has been studied since the beginning of the twentieth century. Acetylcholinesterase plays a key role in the modulation of neuromuscular impulse transmission in vertebrates, while in invertebrates pseudo cholinesterases are preeminently represented. During the last 40 years, awareness of the role of ChEs role in regulating non-neuromuscular cell-to-cell interactions has been increasing such as the ones occurring during gamete interaction and embryonic development. Moreover, ChE activities are responsible for other relevant biological events, including regulation of the balance between cell proliferation and cell death, as well as the modulation of cell adhesion and cell migration. Understanding the mechanisms of the regulation of these events can help us foresee the possible impact of neurotoxic substances on the environmental and human health.

Keywords: acetylcholinesterase, butyrylcholinesterase, cell communication, development, organophosphates, pre-nervous activity

INTRODUCTION

Neurotransmission systems are formed by sets of molecules which cooperate for the efficiency and control of the intercellular communication in both the nervous central (CNS) and peripheral (PNS) systems.

Since the 1970s, reports are available in the literature, suggesting that the highly organized synaptic neurotransmission may derive from evolution of ancestral pre-nervous (Buznikov et al., 1972) and non-nervous cell-to-cell communication systems, present since the prokaryotic cells (Stacy et al., 2011), and eukaryotic protists. In these last unicellular organisms, molecules belonging to the cholinergic, GABAergic and nitric oxide-based systems were found and related to the cell-to-cell communication driving the mating behavior (Delmonte Corrado et al., 1999, 2002). In paramecia, AChE activity was localized at the cell surface and along the ciliary rows (Delmonte Corrado et al., 1999). This activity was also found along the ciliated epithelia of stigmas of ascidian zooids, larval trochi, and generally at the basis of ciliated epithelia.

In addition, the expression and activity of acetylcholinesterase (AChE, E.C. 3.1.1.7) has been found during gametes interaction (Piomboni et al., 2001; Angelini et al., 2004, 2005; Falugi et al., 2008), embryonic development, in temporal and spatial windows related to differentiation and cell migration (Drews, 1975; Fluck et al., 1980; Falugi, 1993).

In addition, AChE can function as a regulator of inflamed tissues thanks to its role of support to apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2002; Zhu et al., 2008) which is the main objective of anti-tumor therapies.

The previously listed functions can be considered pre-nervous because they are based upon the catalytic effect of AChE enzyme on ACh and consequently on the ionic modulation of ACh receptors. On the contrary, the role played by AChE in cell adhesion (reported by Inkson et al., 2004; Bigbee and Sharma, 2004; for human and mammalian cultured cells) and in cell migration, including the elongation of axons toward their target (Giordano et al., 2007) is not exerted through acetylcholine cleavage. Instead, these effects are due to cell-to cell and cell-matrix interactions, through the affinity of membrane-bound AChE molecules to laminin-1, identified previously as an *in vitro* AChE ligand and, to a lesser extent, to collagen IV and to AChE itself (Johnson and Moore, 2007).

Nevertheless, the possible role of the cholinergic system in non-nervous cell-to-cell communication is still controversial. In this review, we will follow the history of cholinergicrelated molecules in non-nervous and pre-nervous structures, and will outline the possible relationships between the exposure to cholinesterase inhibitors and developmental anomalies.

THE CHOLINERGIC SIGNALING SYSTEM

The cholinergic cell-to-cell communication is performed by a coordinated set of molecules, formed by the signal molecule, acetylcholine (ACh) and its muscarinic and nicotinic receptors, its biosynthetic enzyme, choline-acetyltransferase (ChAT, E.C. 2.3.1.6), the specific ACh lytic enzyme, acetylcholinesterase (AChE, E.C. 3.1.1.7), and other less specific choline esterases: butyryl-cholinesterase (BChE, E.C. 3.1.1.8) and propionyl-cholinesterase (PChE, E.C. 3.1.1.8), together called pseudocholinesterases (ChE). These are able to cleave ACh (acetylthiocholine iodide) at a minor rate compared to their specific substrates, butyrylthiocholine iodide (BTChI) and propionylthiocholine iodide (PTChI). In the past 20 years their role of implementing or substituting the tasks of AChE when its activity is impaired by inhibitors has been researched (Robitzki et al., 1998; Geyer et al., 2008; Pezzementi and Chatonnet, 2010). Actually, the pseudo-cholinesterase activities increase in case of stress due to the exposure to cholinomimetic drugs during chick development (Angelini et al., 1998; Aluigi et al., 2005) or to cholinesterase inhibitors in cultured cells possibly as a homeostatic response to AChE activity failure.

In most marine invertebrates, and/or in some tissues of marine invertebrates, PChE activity is preeminent compared to the others (see **Figure 13**). Actually, AChE and BChE are thought to be the result of a gene duplication event early in vertebrate evolution, soon after the appearance of gnatostomes (Massoulié et al., 1993; Pezzementi et al., 2011).

ACETYLCHOLINESTERASE AS A MODULATOR OF THE CHOLINERGIC COMMUNICATION SYSTEM

The enzyme AChE removes ACh from the receptors, in order to make them able to respond to the following impulses. AChE inhibition, such as the one caused by exposure to nerve weapons or to neurotoxic pesticides, would prevent ACh receptors rescue and cause enormous damages, blocking all the functions depending from ACh reception. The magnitude of the effect is due to the amount of blocked receptors, which depends on the body mass of the target organisms. In general, the impairing of AChE activity may generate in specific animal models the increase of central cholinergic tone, inducing the behavioral analogy of depression (Sklan et al., 2004). This implies a correlation between the correct functioning of AChE and human health, including neurodegenerative diseases.

NON-NEUROMUSCULAR ROLES OF THE MOLECULES RELATED TO THE CHOLINERGIC SYSTEM

In the first half of the last century, Youngstrom (1938) reported the presence of the enzyme activity in the embryos of three amphibian species long before the onset of the nervous system. In these cases, ChE activity increases since the 2–4 stage cells up to the beginning of tadpole motility. In *Ambystoma punctatum*, Sawyer (1943) observed the same behavior.

Whittaker et al. (1977) found cholinesterase since the first cleavage in the cells of the muscular genealogy of ascidian embryos. As the ascidian embryos develop according to the mosaic type, such localization has to be considered as a case of chemical differentiation preceding the structural one, rather than a pre-nervous activity, that generally is involved in instructive cell to-cell communication. On the contrary, the epithelial localization of AChE activity in the ascidian embryo and larva, reported by Minganti and Falugi (1980) should be considered an ancestral neuromuscular-like activity, because it is involved in the shrinkage of the tail epithelial cells during metamorphosis, and is enhanced by acetylcholine exposure (Coniglio et al., 1998).

A number of research groups found active ChE localized in extra-neuromuscular sites of different animal embryos, including invertebrate (Drews, 1975), and vertebrate embryos (Drews, 1975; Fluck et al., 1980; Minganti and Falugi, 1980; Minganti et al., 1981), and in developing buds of vegetal organisms (Raineri and Modenesi, 1986, 1988). They suggested that this AChE activity might be related to "embryonic" functions: cell migration (Drews, 1975) and cell-to-cell communication related to positional information exchange, such as the one between apical ectodermal ridge (AER) and mesenchyme during the limb development (Drews, 1975; Falugi and Raineri, 1985). In the limb bud, active AChE diffuses from the AER to the underlying mesenchyme, with focal points in the pre-cartilage cell clusters, and disappears in the core of early cartilage nodules (**Figure 1**).

ChE ACTIVITY IN DEVELOPMENTAL EVENTS

All the instructive signaling in developmental events is mediated by cell-to-cell communication: in particular, molecules related to neurotransmitter systems play a relevant role in modulating messages mediated by ion fluxes or ion intracellular changes. Buznikov and colleagues (Buznikov et al., 1972, 1996; Buznikov, 1980, 1990; Buznikov and Shmukler, 1981; Buznikov et al., 2001) detailed the history of classic neurotransmitter involvement (biogenic amines, acetylcholine, nitric oxide, and GABA) in early developmental events from fertilization and segmentation to organogenesis of highly specialized structures (Buznikov, 1990; Buznikov et al., 1996). They found evidence that developmental changes in this functional activity are involved from the stage of maturing oocytes through neuronal differentiation. This scheme reflects not only the spatial-temporal sequence of these changes, but also the genesis of neurotransmitter functions, from "protosynapses" represented by interacting gametes and cleaving embryos to the development of specialized synapses belonging to the neuromuscular system.

Professor Minganti's group (Minganti et al., 1975, 1981; Minganti and Falugi, 1980) advanced the hypothesis that the embryonic localization of ChE activities might be related to its role in the modulation of intracellular dynamics responsible for cell-to-cell communication. These assumptions were confirmed by experiments on a number of models, including chordates and high vertebrates (Minganti et al., 1981). The demonstration of these functions was achieved only years later using ChE inhibition bioassays, either with specific inhibitors such as BW284c51, iso-OMPA, and physostigmine, (Sigma, IT), or with organophosphate and carbamate anti-ChE compounds. In all the biological systems investigated, including human stem cells, AChE and BChE activities were found to perform different tasks. BChE is involved in the regulation of cell proliferation, while AChE is involved in cell differentiation (Sperling et al., 2008). This is characterized by decreased proliferation and increased cell death. ChE inhibitors also cause changes in intracellular calcium concentration and calcium-related membrane permeability as demonstrated by chlortetracycline (CTC) and merocyanine potentiometric dyes (Aluigi et al., 2010). Electrical events were always present in the cells and tissues characterized by the presence of AChE and/or ChE activities, and were always affected by either AChE inhibitors or cholinomimetic agents.

THE SPATIAL-TEMPORAL WINDOWS

The distribution of active ChE molecules occurs from fertilization, cleavages, gastrulation, etc., according to successive temporal windows, and in different expression fields, whenever and wherever cell-to-cell interaction takes place. The fields of expression of these molecules are more and more restricted as development proceeds, and in differentiated structures are only expressed in the "mature" neurotransmission sites.



activity by a dark precipitation. (A) Forty-eight hours stage, longitudinal section, 15 μ m thick; (B) AER, same stage; (C) Seventy-two hours stage, showing that from the AER and dorsal ectoderm AChE activity is diffused to focal point where the pre-cartilage cells begin to differentiate (D);

Raineri (1985)].

Sperm-egg interaction

In gametes, the presence and localization of AChE activity was investigated by several researchers. In sperms a number of cholinergic molecules and receptors were localized in sites which suggest their involvement in the regulation of propulsion and fertilizing ability. Nelson (Nelson, 1964, 1978; Nelson et al., 1970) related the localization in the flagellum to the regulation of sperm motility. In fact, sperms present ChE activity (AChE) at the surface of the acrosome, in flagella (Chakraborty and Nelson, 1976; Cariello et al., 1986) and in the neck region. In addition, a high number of reports showing bioassays with AChE and ChE inhibitors shed light on the relevant function of ChEs in sperm swimming and fertilizing ability (Perry, 2008; Okamura et al., 2009), including epidemiological studies in humans professionally exposed to pesticides (Yucra et al., 2008).

Concerning ovogenesis, AChE activity has been localized in ovogonia at different maturation stages in several animal species: in sea urchins (**Figure 2A**), ascidians (Cangialosi et al., 2006), copepods etc. The AChE protein was localized around the nuclei in early maturation stages and close to the oocyte surface (**Figure 2A**). In the same sites AChE activity was localized by electron microscopy in the perinuclear cistern, in the Golgi vesicles and, at maturation, in vesicles close to the surface, (**Figure 2B**) including the cortical granules (Falugi et al., 1993). This active AChE is important as it cooperates to prevent polyspermy. In fact, activated sperms release the acrosomal granule (**Figure 4A**) in order to pass through the egg envelope, and expose the postacrosomal membrane, containing ChAT (**Figure 4B**, Angelini et al., 2004). This causes the synthesis of ACh that binds to the nicotinic receptors in the egg membrane (characterized by Ivonnet and Chambers, 1997). The small Na⁺ entrance caused by the excitation of nicotinic AChR produces a small membrane depolarization (described by Epel, 1980), that causes membrane permissivity to the sperm-egg fusion. If it is maintained by exposure to eserine or to nicotine (Baker and Presley, 1971; Angelini et al., 2004), such low depolarization allows polyspermy.

activity in pre-cartilage buds. a, AER; bl, basal layer; C, cartilage; cm,

cartilage matrix; d, dorsal; e, ectoderm; m, mesenchyme [from Falugi and

In this moment AChE, that has been synthesized in great amount and stored inside the cortical granules and other membranous vesicles (**Figures 3A–C**), is released into the perivitelline space (**Figure 4C**), where it cooperates with the fast block to polyspermy, by immediately removing ACh from its receptors localized in the oolemma. After the release of the cortical granules, AChE activity is present for a short time at the membrane of the fertilization cone (**Figures 3D–F**).

Early embryonic development and differentiative events

In differentiating stem cells, such as NT2 and pre-adipocytes (Aluigi et al., 2010, 2009), the presence of AChE molecules around the nuclei and in the cytoplasm was shown since the stage 0 by immunohistochemical methods and was confirmed by the presence of specific mRNA. The ChE activity was differently distributed, showing that part of the AChE molecules present in the cells are not active and other ChE active molecules non-immunoreactive to the AChE specific antibody are present in the cytoplasm (**Figures 5E,F**).

During segmentation, ChE activity is localized at the surface of blastomeres facing each-other (**Figures 5A,B**). This also appears to be true for the NT2 cultured cells in the proliferative stage (**Figures 5C,D**). At these early stages (cleavage divisions) Buznikov and Shmukler (1978) and Shmukler (1981, 1993)


FIGURE 2 | (A) AChE-positive vesicles in sea urchin ovarian eggs. $5\,\mu$ m section, antibody anti AChE (Sigma, IT); bar equals $20\,\mu$ m. **(B)** Electron microscopy image, showing AChE activity localized in cortical vesicles and granules in unfertilized eggs (×20.000).

reported the presence of a serotoninergic cell-to-cell dialogue between blastomeres and put it in correlation with a pre-nervous membrane signal reception. This suggests a cooperation between prenervous transmitter mechanisms similar to nervous ones in establishing a precocious positional information. Shmukler et al. (1981) also reported a time-dependent passage of positional information: if separated soon after cleavage, the majority of blastomeres remain totipotential, if separated little bit later (about 10 min after blastomere post-division adhesion), the blastomeres further develop with partial cleavage pattern.

A wide expression of acetylcholinesterase is found during gastrulation of invertebrate and vertebrate embryos except crustaceans, round worms and insects, probably because the mosaic development of these organisms does not need informational inputs. In vertebrates the Hensen's node and the consequent chord-mesoderm present intense AChE activity since their first organization (**Figure 6A**).

The successive AChE localization is found in the somites and in the rhombomeres, and is a precursor of the real neural function of the enzyme. From the whole bodies of metameric somites, AChE activity is progressively restricted to the myotomes. In the dorsal chord AChE remains active for a long time, extending to the neural floor plate long after the neural tube closure.

At this stage, an intense exchange of inductive messages is still present between the dorsal chord and the floor plate. These



positive granules. **(C)** TEM image of the same granules. The AChE reaction (dark staining) is reduced to the surface of the fertilization cone after fertilization. **(D,E,F)** The arrows show the point of sperm entry. Bars equal $50 \,\mu$ m. f, fertilization cone.

messages have a crucial role in building the neural tube architecture, as demonstrated by Placzek et al. (1993) by transplantation experiments. The localization of AChE activity in these interacting structures is shown in **Figures 6B,C**. During organogenesis the enzyme activity is localized in the head, heart, and limbs and, later, in the feather buds of the dorsal skin (**Figure 7**).

Cell migration

Drews (1975) first reported the presence of AChE activity in migrating cells of sea urchin, amphibian, and chick embryos during the gastrulation events. The same localization was reported by (Fluck et al., 1980; Fluck and Shih, 1981) in *Oryzias latipes* mesoderm cell cultures. After these discoveries, the presence of AChE activity is considered as a good marker of migrating neural crest cells (Le Douarin, 1986) and of poly ingressing epiblast cells during gastrulation (Weinberger et al., 1984). The exposure to ChE inhibitors, such as eserine, was able to impair the movement of these structures, affecting skeletal rods elongation in sea urchin (Ohta et al., 2009) and causing the formation of cardia bifida in vertebrate embryos (**Figure 8**).

The functional mechanism of AChE in cell movement can be explained by the fact that AChE contains affinity sites to



FIGURE 4 | (A,B) ChAT activity in the sperm acrosome (immunogold), electron microscopy images (Angelini et al., 2004; original images (**A**) bar = 0.5 μ m; (**B**) ×20,000): (**C**) The arrows show some of the AChE-positive cortical granules exocytosized into the perivitelline space at fertilization (×20,000). OsO₄ was not used for fixation, in order to maintain the activity of AChE.

cell membrane or to matrix components, such as laminin and fibronectin (Bigbee and Sharma, 2004; Anderson et al., 2008). ChE molecules might directly interact with fibronectin, that is localized (**Figure 9B**) in the migration pathways during morphogenetic movements of both invertebrate and vertebrate embryos. The link between AChE (**Figure 9A**) and matrix components in these structures might be exerted through association with structural proteins, such as ColQ or PRiMA (described by Massoulié et al., 2008; Liang et al., 2009).

CELLULAR EVENTS PRESENTING PRE-NERVOUS ACHE ACTIVITY *Inflammation and balance between apoptosis/cell proliferation*

Recently, inflamed cells and tissues were found to present a greater amount of ACh, (Wessler and Kirkpatrick, 2008), accompanied by



FIGURE 5 | (A,B) ChE localization at the membranes and perinuclear envelopes in sea urchin early embryos. **(C,D)** Show the similar aspect in cultured N-TERA2-D1 (teratocarcinoma cells), native **(C)** and activated by retinoic acid exposure **(D)**. *In toto* staining, Karnovsky and Roots (1964) with modified fixation; **(E)** Immunoreactivity to mammalian AChE antibody shows perinuclear localization of the protein, **(D)** AChE activity is present around the nuclei and at the periphery of the cells (arrow). Bars equal $50 \,\mu$ m **(A–D)** and 12 μ m **(E,F)**.

AChE expression (de Oliveira et al., 2012) and activity, compared to the healthy ones. A similar increase of AChE activity was found in wound healing tissues (Falugi et al., 1994). The ACh activity enhancement is known to trigger cell proliferation and block apoptosis, by the activation of nicotinic and muscarinic receptors (Thunnissen, 2009). The homeostatic increase of AChE, on the contrary, was demonstrated to increase apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2002; Mor et al., 2008b). For this reason, AChE activity seems to be a check point between proliferation (and possibly cancer promotion) and apotosis in inflamed tissues.

In cultured cells, cDNA microarray studies showed that the most statistically significant pathways affected by AChE inhibition were related to cellular death and cell proliferation (Catalano, 2007). Aluigi et al. (2010) supplied evidence that AChE inhibition may affect the balance between cell differentiation and proliferation of NTera2-D1 (NT2) cells in a dose-dependent way, from the early stages of differentiation, both in control and in retinoic acid exposed cells. NT2 cells showed a time-dependent increase of cell death, caused by exposure to AChE inhibitors, showing a number of features characteristic of apoptosis, including membrane and mitochondrial potential changes and caspase



FIGURE 6 | AChE activity (arrows) (Karnovsky and Roots, 1964) in the Hensen's node of a 24 h chick embryo (A), and in the chord and neural floor plate (empty arrow) along further development (B,C). fp, loor plate; ch, chord. Bars equal 100 μ m.



reveals AChE activity by the Karnovsky and Roots (1964) method. Bar equals 100 $\mu m.$

cascade activation. Since the NT2 cells possess acetylcholine receptors, the regulatory pathway on apoptosis may be exerted by AChE through the modulation of ACh present at the receptorial sites. In this case, the role of AChE should be considered as a pre-nervous, or even nervous activity, as it is related to the cleavage of ACh, and to the consequent effect on nicotinic receptors.



FIGURE 8 | ChE inhibition in 48 h chick embryos, exposed to 10^{-5} M diazinon prevents anterior closure of the heart (the head is not developed) (A). Control at the same incubation stage (B). Bars equal 200 μ m.

CHOLINESTERASE ACTIVITY INHIBITION

Most of the information about the functions of ChE molecules in development has been achieved through bioassays carried out using anti-ChE molecules, such as BW 284c51, physostigmine (eserine), tetraisopropyl pyrophosphoramide (Iso-OMPA), etc. In addition, a huge amount of information has been obtained from exposure to organophosphate (OP) and carbamate (CB) insecticides. These experiments were performed on the basis of applied research, with the aim to understand their impact on environmental and human health. While BW284c51 and iso-OMPA are inhibitors discriminating between AChE and BChE, the neurotoxic pesticides are less specific.

OP is the general name for the esters of phosphoric acid. These are the basis of a number of pesticides and insecticides used worldwide and poured into the environment in the amount of thousands tons every season. The OP compounds were actively studied during the Second World War as nerve agents to be used as weapons, and after the ban of DDT and other chlorine derivatives were widely marketed as neurotoxic insecticides (see Karczmar, 1970, for a thorough review).

These compounds and their formulate derivatives are used for a wide range of aims: from insect to small vertebrate pest control, at concentrations proportional to the body mass of the target organisms.

The OPs can affect the activity of all the ChE molecules, including true AChE and pseudocholinesterases, but not their expression, as it is demonstrated in **Figure 10**.

In blood the effects of such compounds may last a long time, because the AChE activity may be inhibited up to several months, as it was demonstrated in the case report (Romero et al., 1989)



FIGURE 9 | Distribution of AChE activity (A) and fibronectin-like molecules (B). AChE activity is revealed by dark staining, (Karnovsky and Roots, 1964); Fibronectin is revealed by immunofluorescent reaction. Resin sections, $5\,\mu$ m; nc, neural crest. Bar equals $100\,\mu$ m.

resulted by monitoring a group of exposed farmers. In that case, pesticides were also able to pass through the placental barrier of a pregnant woman, causing embryonic anomalies.

The same aspect is revealed in human NT2 cells exposed to 10^{-4} M pesticides (**Figure 11**):

Moreover, the toxic potential varies considerably among the different pesticides, as demonstrated by Zoltan Rakonczay (SENS-PESTI report, 2006), and their effect is different among different organisms and also among different tissues. Rakonczay and Papp (2001) found that after an acute (4 h) treatment with an irreversible cholinesterase OP inhibitor, metrifonate, the activities of both AChE and BChE were inhibited in the rat brain cortex and hippocampus, while no significant changes were present in the other parts of the brain, such as olfactory bulb, or in the choline acetyltransferase activity in all three brain areas.



FIGURE 10 | Blood lymphocytes and monocytes isolated from buffycoats of different donors. (A) Electrophoretic revelation of ChE activity, by the Karnovsky and Roots (1964) method; (B) AChE immunoreactive molecules (M = 82 kDa). These are present in all the lanes, but inactive in the 3, 4, 5 lanes. (C) CDF/LIF ($M = \sim 27-30$ kDa), the cholinergic differentiation factor expression also seems scarcely affected. M, molecular mass; EE, 15 units of electric eel AChE; K, control; 1, BW 10^{-4} M; 2, iso-Ompa 10^{-4} M; 3, chlorpyriphos 10^{-5} M; 4, chlorpyrifos oxon 10^{-5} M; 5, carbaryl 10^{-5} M.





DEVELOPMENTAL OP TOXICITY TARGETS

Reproductive (Nelson, 1990) and developmental facts (Chanda and Pope, 1996; Aluigi et al., 2005, 2008, 2010) were demonstrated by maternal, embryonic or differentiating cells exposure to OP pesticides. The effects were dose-dependent as shown by *in vitro* fertilization and morulae formation experiments (Ducolomb et al., 2009).

The developmental anomalies occurring after exposure to cholinergic drugs generally regard tissues and organs where, in normal conditions, AChE activity is mainly localized. Thus, the main effects of exposure to AChE activity inhibitors are related to three classes of developmental events:

- 1. During gamete maturation, activation and interaction (Angelini et al., 2004, 2005).
- 2. During the early development of invertebrate and vertebrate embryos. In this case cholinergic molecules are located mainly in moving cells and tissues engaged in relevant morphogenetic events, such as gastrulation, and are often co-distributed with special extra-cellular matrix molecules such as fibronectin (Aluigi et al., 2005) and laminin (Johnson et al., 2008).
- 3. During inductive communications between mesenchyme and other tissues, such as the limb bud development (Falugi and Raineri, 1985), eye and heart formation (Aluigi et al., 2005), neural floorplate induction, etc. By use of different animal models, at different developmental stages, it was demonstrated that neurotoxic insecticides (diazinon, carbaryl, pyrimicarb, and their commercial formulates), may affect calcium dynamics since fertilization events (Pesando et al., 2003) and during embryo and larval development.

By diazinon exposure of sea urchin early embryos, evidence was provided that cytoplasmic dynamics were perturbed in a dosedependent way, thus affecting the endonuclear delivery of the OTX2 protein. This may be due to altered calcium dynamics, which in turn alter cytoskeleton dynamics: the asters, in fact, appeared strongly positive to the OTX2 immunoreaction (Aluigi et al., 2008). Pesando et al. (2003) also showed that, during sea urchin development, the treatment with organophosphates decreased the rate of early mitotic cycles and affected nuclear and cytoskeleton status as well as DNA synthesis.

EFFECT OF ChE INHIBITORS ON GAMETOGENESIS AND FERTILIZATION

Most of the information about the effects of OPs on reproductive success has been obtained in countries where the socioeconomic engine is based on agriculture (Contreras et al., 2006). Exposure to these inhibitors caused a significant decrease of sperm count and increase in teratozoospermia (Bustos-Obregón and González-Hormazabal, 2003). Only a few reports are available in the literature about the effect of cholinesterase activity inhibition on gametogenesis, but recently neurotoxic pesticides have been recognized as emerging endocrine disrupters (Canesi et al., 2011). In porcine in vitro models of ovogenesis and fertilization, exposure to two organophosphotionate compounds (diazinon and malathion) caused greater effects than classical endocrine disrupters, such as atrazine and fenoxa-propethyl. The insecticides affected viability and, by a major degree, maturation by blocking the oocytes at the germinal vesicle stage (Casas et al., 2010).

In this case, the activity of the OP compounds seems to be due to the lipofilicity of the molecules that are able to pass through the cell membrane and behave at the same way as steroid



hormones, thus addressing the same mechanisms of the classical endocrine disrupters. In addition, OP-induced stress evoked a mutated AChE form, the AChE-R that was demonstrated to be involved in sperm motility regulation (Mor et al., 2008a,b).

In sea urchin gastrulation, the exposure to OPs, CBs, and AChE inhibitors, such as BW284c51, slowed movement of the primary mesenchyme cells (PMCs, **Figures 12A–G**) causing the formation of apparently diblastic gastrulae (Aluigi et al., 2008; **Figure 12I**), more flattened as compared to control embryos (**Figure 12H**). These experiments showed that AChE is also involved in the control of regulatory proteins delivery into the nucleus, thus affecting key genes expression (such as OTX2), which is linked to the cytoskeletal dynamics (in turn regulated by calcium).

Body patterning

Anti-cholinesterase insecticides, widely used for agricultural purposes, mainly affect the cholinergic system by inhibition of cholinesterase activities and muscarinic receptors (Hayes and Laws, 1991; Mineau, 1991). These have been thoroughly studied by a number of researchers using the early development of the Mediterranean sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* as a model (Pesando et al., 2003). For the morphological effects on fertilization and first cleavages, the effective concentration of the organophosphate diazinon was found to be 10^{-4} M, while for further stages concentrations between 10^{-5} M and 10^{-7} M were effective. The 10^{-3} M concentration arrested development. Moreover, during embryonic development, the treatment with

organophosphates slowed the rate of early mitotic cycles, affected nuclear and cytoskeleton status as well as DNA synthesis (Pesando et al., 2003).

These results paved the way to new hypotheses: Buznikov et al. (2007) affirmed that sea urchins and generally lower organisms show promise for the screening of neurotoxicants that might target mammalian brain development, based on the use of neurotransmitters as embryonic growth regulatory signals. The Authors compared the effects of the organophosphate insecticide, chlorpyrifos, in sea urchin embryos with those of the monoamine depleter, reserpine. They also stated the fact that chlorpyrifos works simultaneously through actions on acetylcholine, monoamines and other neurotransmitter pathways. Membrane permeable cholinomimetic substances and cannabinoids prevented chlorpyrifos- or reserpine-induced teratogenesis. In this way, the Authors envisaged the possibility to propose both a screening procedure for mammalian neuro teratogenesis and therapeutic approaches to prevent teratogenesis mediated by exposure to chemicals.

Electromagnetic fields

Different experiments showed that electromagnetic fields can affect the speed of cell proliferation, enhancing development of sea urchin early embryos and larvae (Falugi et al., 1987) as well as alter the symmetry of blastomeres (Ravera et al., 2006). These last authors found that exposure of fertilized eggs of the sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus to an electromagnetic field of 75-Hz frequency and low amplitudes (from 0.75 to 2.20 mT of magnetic component) caused asynchronous development since the first cell cycle and anomalous embryos showing irregular separation of chromatids during the mitotic events. At the same time, this exposure was also able to impair AChE activity in unicellular organisms (Amaroli et al., 2005) and in particular the one of the PRIMA form, which is linked to the cell membranes. The enzymatic activity was assayed by Ravera et al. (2006) in sea urchin embryo homogenates and decreased by 48% when the homogenates were exposed to the same pulsed field, with a threshold of 0.75 \pm 0.01 mT. The same field threshold was able to cause the formation of anomalous embryos of P. lividus. Blockers of ACh receptors are able to antagonize those effects. The relationships between the effects of EM fields and the cholinergic system seems to be reliable, but it is still rather puzzling, because also other membrane-bound enzymes, such as phosphatases, are strongly impaired by this kind of electromagnetic fields.

Non-cholinergic stressors

Damage from a number of environmental stressors, causing stress-related electrical potential in cells, was followed by dose-dependent changes in AChE activity. The example reported below (**Figure 13**) shows the effect of 10^{-6} g/L nanoparticles on the coelomocytes of sea urchins exposed for 5 days. PChE was the most affected activity, because in sea urchin coelomocytes it is the preeminent one.

MOLECULAR FORMS OF THE NON-NEUROMUSCULAR ChEs

In the non-neuromuscular fragile cells, such as protists, very early embryos and cnidarians, ChE activity was completely inhibited



by the routinely used fixation by alcohol 80, suggested by the protocols running during the 1970s. Following the observation that paraformaldehyde vapors were able to fix protozoans and ascidian embryos preserving the enzyme activity, a modified "gentle" fixation procedure was suggested for the histochemical detection of the "embryonic" AChE activity (Minganti et al., 1981). Using this method, the pre-nervous AChE activity was widely localized in the presumptive differentiating areas, becoming more and more restricted to the differentiated neuromuscular sites, where the activity was strong and resistant to usual fixatives. Minganti and Falugi (1980) advanced the hypothesis that these "embryonic" ChE enzymes were represented by smaller and less active forms than the mature ones, present at synapses. The hypothesis of Minganti et al. (1981) was that the slow cell-to-cell communications taking place during development do not need the high speed and consequently the high differentiation needed at synapses.

ChEs are present with multiple isoforms formed by monomer and olygomer subunits displaying catalytic activity, with relatively low molecular weight. These are assembled forming more heavy complex polymeres, with either globular or asymmetrical shapes (Massoulié et al., 1993). The most specialized polymeres of AChE are present at synapses, where they exert their mature function, characterized by speed and efficiency. The catalytic activity of the molecular forms seems to depend on the size: according to the parameter of thermolability used by Edwards and Brimijoin (1983) the most thermolabile molecular form in a number of examined tissues was represented by the monomeric 4 S enzyme.

More recently, the group of scientists lead by Hermona Soreq (Mor et al., 2008a,b) reported a further complexity in the possible AChE molecular forms, comprising a mutated type of AChE, the AChE-R, which is expressed in organisms and tissues exposed to different stress kinds. In addition, the scientists underline the role of microRNAs in post-transcriptional selective splicing of the molecules, which pave the way to understanding the multifunctional role of AChE and BChE both in development and in stress scenarios (Shaked et al., 2009; Meerson et al., 2010; Hanin and Soreq, 2011; Barbash and Soreq, 2012), including inflammation and apoptosis. These findings are very interesting, because alternative splicing is a relevant tool for the control of early development, allowing the creation of stage-dependent

REFERENCES

- Aluigi, A. G., Coradeghini, R., Guida, C., Scanarotti, C., Bassi, A. M., Falugi, C., Santi, P., and Raposio, E. (2009). Pre-adipocytes commitment to neurogenesis 1, preliminary localization of cholinergic molecules. *Cell Biol. Int.* 33, 594–601.
- Aluigi, M. G., Angelini, C., Corte, G., and Falugi, C. (2008). The sea urchin, *Paracentrotus lividus*, embryo as a "bioethical" model for neurodevelopmental toxicity testing: effects of diazinon on the intracellular distribution of OTX2like proteins. *Cell Biol. Toxicol.* 24, 587–601.
- Aluigi, M. G., Angelini, C., Falugi, C., Fossa, R., Genever, P., Gallus, L., Layer, P. G., Prestipino, G., Rakonczay, Z., Sgro, M., Thielecke, H., and Trombino, S. (2005). Interaction between organophosphate compounds and cholinergic functions during development. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 157–158, 305–316.
- Aluigi, M. G., Guida, C., and Falugi, C. (2010). Apoptosis as a specific biomarker of diazinon toxicity in NTera2-D1 cells. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 187, 299–303.
- Amaroli, A., Trielli, F., Bianco, B., Giordano, S., Moggia, E., and Corrado, M. U. (2005). Effects of time-variant extremely lowfrequency (ELF) electro-magnetic fields (EMF) on cholinesterase activity in Dictyostelium discoideum (Protista). *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 157–158, 355–356.
- Anderson, A. A., Ushakov, D. S., Ferenczi, M. A., Mori, R., Martin, P., and Saffell, J. L. (2008). Morphoregulation by acetylcholinesterase in fibroblasts and astrocytes. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 215, 82–100.
- Angelini, C., Aluigi, M. G., Sgro, M., Trombino, S., Thielecke, H., and Falugi, C. (2005). Cell signalling during sea urchin development: a model for assessing toxicity of environmental contaminants. *Prog. Mol. Subcell. Biol.* 39, 45–70.
- Angelini, C., Baccetti, B., Piomboni, P., Trombino, S., Aluigi, M. G.,

Stringara, S., Gallus, L., and Falugi, C. (2004). Acetylcholine synthesis and possible functions during sea urchin development. *Eur. J. Histochem.* 49, 235–244.

- Angelini, C., Costa, M., Morescalchi, F., Cimoli, G., Coniglio, L., and Falugi, C. (1998). Muscarinic drugs affect cholinesterase activity and development of eye structures during early chick development. *Eur. J. Histochem.* 42, 309–320.
- Baker, P. F., and Presley, R. (1971). Promotion of polyspermy in the sea urchin egg by nicotine and its antagonism by curare. *J. Physiol.* 213, 62P–63P.
- Barbash, S., and Soreq, H. (2012). Threshold-independent metaanalysis of Alzheimer's disease transcriptomes shows progressive changes in hippocampal functions, epi-genetics and microRNA regulation. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* [Epub ahead of print].
- Bigbee, J. W., and Sharma, K. V. (2004). The adhesive role of acetylcholinesterase (AChE): detection of AChE binding proteins in developing rat spinal cord. *Neurochem. Res.* 29, 2043–2050.
- Bustos-Obregón, E., and González-Hormazabal, P. (2003). Effect of a single dose of malathion on spermatogenesis in mice. *Asian J. Androl.* 5, 105–107.
- Buznikov, G. A. (1980). "Biogenic monoamines and acetylcholine in protozoa and metazoan embryos," in *Neurotransmitters: Comparative Aspects*, eds J. Salanki and M. Turpaev (Budapest: Akademial Kiado), 7–28.
- Buznikov, G. A. (1990). "Neurotransmitters in embryogenesis," in *Physiology and General Biology, Section F of Series*, ed T. M. Turpaev (Harwood, London: Soviet Scientific Reviews). 1–350.
- Buznikov, G. A., Nikitina, L. A., Bezuglov, V. V., Lauder, J. M., Padilla, S., and Slotkin, T. A. (2001). An invertebrate model of the developmental neurotoxicity of insecticides: effects of chlorpyrifos and dieldrin in sea urchin embryos

alternative proteins from the same gene, and may help to shed light on the evolutive history of AChE molecules and of the cholinergic system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Most of the experiments were carried out between 2002 and 2005 thank to an EC grant to the SENSPESTI, EC K4-2002-02264 project and during the ongoing INESE project (IIT seed project).

and larvae. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 109, 651–661.

- Buznikov, G. A., Nikitina, L. A., Rakić, L. M., Milosevic, I., Bezuglov, V. V., Lauder, J. M., and Slotkin, T. A. (2007). The sea urchin embryo, an invertebrate model for mammalian developmental neurotoxicity, reveals multiple neurotransmitter mechanisms for effects of chlorpyrifos: therapeutic interventions and a comparison with the monoamine depleter, reserpine. *Brain Res. Bull.* 74, 221–231.
- Buznikov, G. A., Sakharova, A. V., Manukhin, B. N., and Markova, L. N. (1972). The role of neurohumors in early embryogenesis. IV. Fluorimetric and histochemical study of serotonin in cleaving eggs and larvae of sea urchins. *J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol.* 27, 339–351.
- Buznikov, G. A., and Shmukler, Y. B. (1978). Effect of antimediator preparations on the intercellular relations in early embryos of the sea urchin. *Ontogenez* 9, 173–178.
- Buznikov, G. A., and Shmukler, Y. B. (1981). Possible role of "prenervous" neurotransmitters in cellular interactions of early embryogenesis: a hypothesis. *Neurochem. Res.* 6, 55–68.
- Buznikov, G. A., Shmukler, Y. B., and Lauder, J. M. (1996). From oocyte to neuron: do neurotransmitters function in the same way throughout development? *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 16, 533–559.
- Canesi, L., Negri, A., Barmo, C., Banni, M., Gallo, G., Viarengo, A., and Dondero, F. (2011).The organophosphate Chlorpyrifos interferes with the responses to 17β-estradiol in the digestive gland of the marine mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis. *PLoS One* 6:e19803. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019803
- Cangialosi, M. V., Puccia, E., Mansueto, V., and D'Agati, P. (2006). Histochemical localization of acetylcholinesterase activity in ovary and embryos of Ciona intestinalis and Ascidia malaca (Ascidiacea, Urochordata) after exposition to trybutyltin-chloride. *Caryologia* 59, 366–370.

- Cariello, L., Romano, G., and Nelson, L. (1986). Acetylcholinesterase in sea urchin spermatozoa. *Gamete Res.* 14, 323–332.
- Casas, E., Bonilla, E., Ducolomb, Y., and Betancourt, M. (2010). Differential effects of herbicides atrazine and fenoxapropethyl, and insecticides diazinon and malathion, on viability and maturation of porcine oocytes *in vitro*. *Toxicol. In Vitro* 24, 224–230.
- Catalano, J. (2007). Mechanisms of Neurotoxicity of Organophosphates, Carbamates, and Alkylating Agents. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Maryland, Baltimore.
- Chakraborty, J., and Nelson, L. (1976). Comparative study of cholinesterases distribution in the spermatozoa of some mammalian species. *Biol. Reprod.* 15, 579–585.
- Chanda, S. M., and Pope, C. N. (1996). Neurochemical and neurobehavioral effects of repeated gestational exposure to chlorpyrifos in maternal and developing rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 53, 771–776.
- Coniglio, L., Morale, A., Angelini, C., and Falugi, C. (1998). Cholinergic activation of settlement in *Ciona intestinalis* metamorphosing larvae. *J. Exp. Zool.* 280, 314–320.
- Contreras, H. R., Paredes, V., Urquieta, B., Del Valle, L., and Bustos-Obregòn, E. (2006). Testosterone production and spermatogenic damage induced by organophosphorate pesticides. *Biocell* 30, 423–429.
- Delmonte Corrado, M. U., Ognibene, M., Trielli, F., Politi, H., Passalacqua, M., and Falugi, C. (2002). Detection of molecules related to the GABAergic system in a single-cell eukaryote, *Paramecium primaurelia*. *Neurosci. Lett.* 329, 65–68.
- Delmonte Corrado, M. U., Politi, H., Trielli, F., Angelini, C., and Falugi, C. (1999). Evidence for the presence of a mammalian-like cholinesterase in *Paramecium primaurelia* (Protista, Ciliophora) developmental cycle. *J. Exp. Zool.* 283, 102–105.
- de Oliveira, P., Gomes, A. Q., Pacheco, T. R., de Almeida, V.

V., Saldanha, C., and Calado, A. (2012). Cell-specific regulation of acetylcholinesterase expression under inflammatory conditions. *Clin. Hemorheol. Microcirc.* [Epub ahead of print].

- Drews, U. (1975). Cholinesterase in embryonic development. *Prog. Histochem. Cytochem.* 7, 1–52.
- Ducolomb, Y., Casas, E., Valdez, A., González, G., Altamirano-Lozano, M., and Betancourt, M. (2009). *In* vitro effect of malathion and diazinon on occytes fertilization and embryo development in porcine. *Cell Biol. Toxicol.* 25, 623–633.
- Edwards, J. A., and Brimijoin, S. (1983). Thermal inactivation of the molecular forms of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 742, 509–516.
- Epel, D. (1980). Ionic triggers in the fertilisation of sea urchin eggs. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 339, 74–85.
- Falugi, C. (1993). Localization and possible role of molecules associated with the cholinergic system during "non-nervous" developmental events. *Eur. J. Histochem.* 37, 287–294
- Falugi, C., Aluigi, M. G., Chiantore, M. C., Privitera, D., Ramoino, P., Gatti, M. A., Fabrizi, A., Pinsino, A., and Matranga, V. (2012). Toxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles in immune cells of the sea urchin. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 76, 114–121.
- Falugi, C., Collodel, G., Moretti, E., Piomboni, P., Aluigi, M. G., Angelini, C., and Baccetti, B. (2008). "A neural-like model for sperm-egg interactions. Involvement of the cholinergic System," in Sperm Morphology and Pathology, eds G. Collodel and E. Moretti (Kerala: Research Signpost press), 1–16.
- Falugi, C., Grattarola, M., and Prestipino, G. (1987). Effects of lowintensity pulsed electromagnetic fields on the early development of sea urchins. *Biophys. J.* 51, 999–1003.
- Falugi, C., Morri, C., Bouillon, J., and Boero, F. (1994). Localization of some neurotransmitters during development in hydroidomedusae. *Tissue Cell* 26, 523–538.
- Falugi, C., Pieroni, M., and Moretti, E. (1993). Cholinergic molecules and sperm functions. J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol. 25, 63–69.
- Falugi, C., and Raineri, M. (1985). Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) and pseudocholinesterase (BuChE) activity distribution pattern in early developing chick limbs. *J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol.* 86, 89–108.
- Fluck, R. A., and Shih, T.-M. (1981). Acetylcholine in embryos of

Oryzias latipes, a teleost: gas chromatographic-mass spectrometric assay. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C Comp. Pharmacol.* 70, 129–130.

- Fluck, R. A., Wynshaw-Boris, A. J., and Schneider, L. M. (1980). Cholinergic molecules modify the *in vitro* behavior of cells from early embryos of the medaka Oryzias latipes, a teleost fish. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C.* 67C, 29–34.
- Geyer, B. C., Woods, R. R., and Mor, T. S. (2008). Increased organophosphate scavenging in a butyrylcholinesterase mutant. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 175, 376–379.
- Giordano, C., G. Poiana, G., Augusti-Tocco, G., and Biagioni, S. (2007). Acetylcholinesterase modulates neurite outgrowth on fibronectin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 356, 398–404.
- Hanin, G., and Soreq, H. (2011). Cholinesterase-targeting microR-NAs identified in silico affect specific biological processes. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 4:28. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011.00028
- Hayes, W. J. Jr., and Laws, E. R. Jr. (1991). "Organic phosphorous pesticides," in *Handbook of Pesticide Toxicology*, eds W. J. Hayes and E. R. Laws (San Diego, CA: Academic Press), 133–134.
- Inkson, C. A., Brabbs, A. C., Grewal, T. S., Skerry, T. M., and Genever, P. G. (2004). Characterisation of acetylcholinesterase expression and secretion during osteoblast differentiation. *Bone* 35, 819–827.
- Ivonnet, P. I., and Chambers, E. L. (1997). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors of the neuronal type occur in the plasma membrane of sea urchin eggs. *Zygote* 5, 277–287.
- Johnson, G., and Moore, S. W. (2007). Acetylcholinesterase readthrough peptide shares sequence similarity to the 28-53 peptide sequence of the acetylcholinesterase adhesionmediating site and competes for ligand binding *in vitro. J. Mol. Neurosci.* 31, 113–126.
- Johnson, G., Swart, C., and Moore, S. W. (2008). Interaction of acetylcholinesterase with the G4 domain of the laminin alpha1-chain. *Biochem. J.* 411, 507–514.
- Karczmar, A. G. (1970). "Introduction," in Anticholinesterase Agents, vol. 1, Sect. 13 of International Encyclopaedia of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, ed A. G. Karczmar (Oxford, NY: Toronto, Sydney, Braunschweig: Pergamon Press), 1–35.
- Karnovsky, M. J., and Roots, L. (1964). A "direct colouring" thiocholine

method for cholinesterase. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 12, 219–221.

- Le Douarin, N. M. (1986). Investigations on the neural crest. Methodological aspects and recent advances. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 486, 66–86.
- Liang, D., Blouet, J. P., Borrega, F., Bon, S., and Massoulié, J. (2009). Respective roles of the catalytic domains and C-terminal tail peptides in the oligomerization and secretory trafficking of human acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase. *FEBS J.* 276, 94–108.
- Massoulié, J., Pezzementi, L., Bon, S., Krejci, E., and Vallette, F. M. (1993). Molecular and cellular biology of cholinesterases. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 41, 31–91.
- Massoulié, J., Perrier, N., Noureddine, H., Liang, D., and Bon, S. (2008). Old and new questions about cholinesterases. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 175, 30–44.
- Meerson, A., Cacheaux, L., Goosens, K. A., Sapolsky, R. M., Soreq, H., and Kaufer, D. (2010). Changes in brain MicroRNAs contribute to cholinergic stress reactions. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 40, 47–55.
- Mineau, P. (1991). Cholinesterase Inhibiting Insecticides. Their Impact on Wildlife and Environment, Vol II. Chemicals in Agriculture. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Minganti, A., and Falugi, C. (1980). An epithelial localization of acetylcholinesterase in the ascidian Ciona intestinalis embryos and larvae. Acta Embryol. Morphol. Exp. 1, 143–155.
- Minganti, A., Falugi, C., Raineri, M., and Pestarino, M. (1981). Acetylcholinesterase in the embryonic development: an invitation to a hypothesis. *Acta Embryol. Morphol. Exp.* 2, 30–31.
- Minganti, A., Falugi, C., Raineri, M., and Ricci, A. (1975). *Histochemical Researches on Artemia Salina Larvae. Acta Embryologiae Experimentalis.* Italy: Gruppo Embriologico Italiano. Riunione 21 March, Milan.
- Mor, I., Bruck, T., Greenberg, D., Berson, A., Schreiber, L., Grisaru, D., and Soreq, H. (2008a). Alternate AChE-R variants facilitate cellular metabolic activity and resistance to genotoxic stress through enolase and RACK1 interactions. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 175, 11–21.
- Mor, I., Sklan, E. H., Podoly, E., Pick, M., Kirschner, M., Yogev, L., Bar-Sheshet Itach, S., Schreiber, L., Geyer, B., Mor, T., Grisaru, D., and Soreq, H. (2008b). Acetylcholinesterase-R increases germ cell apoptosis but enhances

sperm motility. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 12, 479–495.

- Nelson, L. (1964). Acetylcholinesterase in Bull Spermatozoa. J. Reprod. Fertil. 7, 65–71.
- Nelson, L. (1978). Chemistry and neurochemistry of sperm motility control. *Fed. Proc.* 37, 2543–2547.
- Nelson, L. (1990). Pesticide perturbation of sperm cell function. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 45, 876–882.
- Nelson, L., McGrady, V., and Fangboner, M. E. (1970). "Control of flagellar movement," in *Comparative Spermatology*, ed B. Baccetti (New York, NY: Academic Press), 465–478.
- Ohta, K., Takahashi, C., and Tosuji, H. (2009). Inhibition of spicule elongation in sea urchin embryos by the acetylcholinesterase inhibitor eserine. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 153, 310–316.
- Okamura, A., Kamijima, M., Ohtani, K., Yamanoshita, O., Nakamura, D., Ito, Y., Miyata, M., Ueyama, J., Suzuki, T., Imai, R., Takagi, K., and Nakajima, T. (2009). Broken sperm, cytoplasmic droplets and reduced sperm motility are principal markers of decreased sperm quality due to organophosphorus pesticides in rats. J. Occup. Health. 51, 478–487.
- Perry, M. J. (2008). Effects of environmental and occupational pesticide exposure on human sperm: a systematic review. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 14, 233–242.
- Pesando, D., Huitorel, P., Dolcini, V., Angelini, C., Guidetti, P., and Falugi, C. (2003). Biological targets of neurotoxic pesticides analysed by alteration of developmental events in the Mediterranean sea urchin, *Paracentrotus lividus. Mar. Environ. Res.* 55, 39–57.
- Pezzementi, L., and Chatonnet, A. (2010). Evolution of cholinesterases in the animal kingdom. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 187, 27–33.
- Pezzementi, L., Nachon, F., and Chatonnet, A. (2011). Evolution of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase in the vertebrates: an atypical butyrylcholinesterase from the Medaka Oryzias latipes. PLoS One 6:e17396. doi: 10.1371/ annotation/938a4e59-a5d1-448c-b7 c1-632bf9e7e8ef
- Piomboni, P., Baccetti, B., Moretti, E., Gambera, L., Angelini, C., and Falugi, C. (2001). Localisation of molecules related to cholinergic signalling in eggs and zygotes of the sea urchin, *Paracentrotus lividus*. *J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol.* 33, 187–193.

- Placzek, M., Jessell, T. M., and Dodd, J. (1993). Induction of floor plate differentiation by contact-dependent, homeogenetic signals. *Development* 117, 205–218.
- Raineri, M., and Modenesi, P. (1986). Preliminary evidence for a cholinergic-like system in lichen morphogenesis. *Histochem. J.* 18, 647–657.
- Raineri, M., and Modenesi, P. (1988). Membrane-bound Ca^{2+} distribution visualized by chlorotetracycline fluorescence during morphogenesis of soredia in a lichen. *Histochem. J.* 20, 81–87.
- Ravera, S., Falugi, C., Calzia, D., Pepe, I. M., Panfoli, I., and Morelli, A. (2006). First cell cycles of sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* are dramatically impaired by exposure to extremely low-frequency electromagnetic field. *Biol. Report.* 75, 948–953.
- Rakonczay, Z., and Papp, H. (2001). Effects of chronic metrifonate treatment on cholinergic enzymes and the blood-brain barrier. *Neurochem. Int.* 39, 19–24.
- Robitzki, A., Mack, A., Hoppe, U., Chatonnet, A., and Layer, P. G. (1998). Butyryl-cholinesterase antisense transfection increases apoptosis in differentiating retinal re-aggregates of the chick embryo. J. Neurochem. 71, 413–420.
- Romero, P., Barnett, P. G., and Midtling, J. E. (1989). Congenital anomalies associated with maternal exposure to oxydemeton-methyl. *Environ. Res.* 50, 256–261.

- Sawyer, C. H. (1943). Cholinesterase and the behavior problem in amblystoma. I. The relationship between the development of the enzyme and early motility. II. The effects of inhibiting cholinesterase. J. Exp. Zool. 92, 1–33.
- Shaked, I., Meerson, A., Wolf, Y., Avni, R., Greenberg, D., Gilboa-Geffen, A., and Soreq, H. (2009). MicroRNA-132 potentiates cholinergic anti-inflammatory signaling by targeting acetyl-cholinesterase. *Immunity* 31, 965–973.
- Shmukler, Y. B. (1981). Cellular interactions in early sea urchin embryo. III. Influence of neuropharmaca on the cleavage pattern of Scaphechinus mirabilis half-embryos. *Ontogenez* 12, 404–409.
- Shmukler, Y. B. (1993). Possibility of membrane reception of neurotransmitter in sea urchin early embryos. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C.* 106, 269–273.
- Shmukler, Y. B., Chailakhyan, L. M., Smolyaninov, V. V., Bliokh, Zh. L., Karpovich, A. L., Gusareva, E. V., Naidenko, T. Kh., Khashaev, Z. Kh.-M., and Medvedeva, T. D. (1981). Cellular interactions in early sea urchin embryo. II. Dated mechanical blastomere isolation. *Ontogenez* 12, 398–403.
- Sklan, E. H., Lowenthal, A., Korner, M., Ritov, Y., Landers, D. M., Rankinen, T., Bouchard, C., Leon, A. S., Rice, T., Rao, D. C., Wilmore, J. H., Skinner, J. S., and Soreq, H. (2004). Acetylcholinesterase/paraoxonase genotype and expression predict

anxiety scores. In: health, risk factors, exercise training, and genetics study. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 5512–5517.

- Sperling, L. E., Steinert, G., Boutter, J., Landgraf, D., Hescheler, J., Pollet, D., and Layer, P. G. (2008). Characterization of cholinesterase expression during murine embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Chem. Biol. Int.* 175, 156–160.
- Stacy, A. R., Diggle, S. P., and Whiteley, M. (2011). Rules of engagement: defining bacterial communication. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 15, 155–161.
- Thunnissen, F. B. (2009). Acetylcholine receptor pathway and lung cancer. J. Thor. Oncol. 4, 943–946.
- Weinberger, C., Penner, P. L., and Brick, I. Y. (1984). Polyingression, an important morphogenetic movement in chick gastrulation. *Am. Zool.* 24, 545–554.
- Whittaker, J. R., Ortolani, G., and Farinella-Ferruzza, N. (1977). Autonomy of acetylcholinesterase differentiation in muscle lineage cells of ascidian embryos. *Dev. Biol.* 55, 196–200.
- Wessler, I., and Kirkpatrick, C. J. (2008). Acetylcholine beyond neurons: the non-neuronal cholinergic system in humans. Br. J. Pharmacol. 154, 1558–1571.
- Youngstrom, K. A. (1938). On the relationship between cholinesterase and the development of behavior in amphibia. J. Neurophysiol. 1, 357.
- Yucra, S., Gasco, M., Rubio, J., and Gonzales, G. F. (2008). Semen quality in Peruvian pesticide applicators: association between urinary

organophosphate metabolites and semen parameters. *Environ. Health.* 7, 59.

- Zhang, X. J., Yang, L., Zhao, Q., Caen, J. P., He, H. Y., Jin, Q. H., Guo, L. H., Alemany, M., Zhang, L. Y., and Shi, Y. F. (2002). Induction of acetyl-cholinesterase expression during apoptosis in various cell types. *Cell Death Diff.* 9, 790–800.
- Zhu, B. K., Wang, P., Zhang, X. D., Jiang, C. C., Li, H., Avery-Kiejda, K. A., Watts, R., and Hersey, P. (2008). Activation of Jun N-terminal kinase is a mediator of vincristine-induced apoptosis of melanoma cells. *Anticancer Drugs* 19, 189–200.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 January 2012; accepted: 02 April 2012; published online: 20 April 2012.

Citation: Falugi C and Aluigi MG (2012) Early appearance and possible functions of non-neuromuscular cholinesterase activities. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 5:54. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2012.00054

Copyright © 2012 Falugi and Aluigi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 13 September 2011 doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011.00022



Revisiting the role of acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease: cross-talk with P-tau and β -amyloid

María-Salud García-Ayllón^{1,2}, David H. Small³, Jesús Avila^{2,4} and Javier Sáez-Valero^{1,2}*

¹ Instituto de Neurociencias de Alicante, Universidad Miguel Hernández-CSIC, Alacant, Spain

² Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red sobre Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas, Madrid, Spain

Edited by:

Karl Tsim, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, China

Reviewed by:

Nibaldo C. Inestrosa, Pontifical Catholic University of Chile, Chile Yifan Han, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, China

*Correspondence:

Javier Sáez-Valero, Instituto de Neurociencias, Universidad Miguel Hernández-CSIC, E-03550 Sant Joan d'Alacant, Alacant, Spain. e-mail: j.saez@umh.es

INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease is the most common cause of dementia among the elderly and is characterized by loss of memory and other cognitive functions. The major pathological hallmarks include extensive synaptic and neuronal loss, astrogliosis, and accumulation of proteinaceous deposits. The AD brain is characterized by the presence of β -amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (NFT), which are the hallmark pathological features (for a review see Blennow et al., 2006). β -amyloid plaques are extracellular deposits of which the major component is the β -amyloid protein (A β), a small polypeptide generated by processing of a much larger transmembrane β-amyloid precursor protein (APP; Masters et al., 1985; Kang et al., 1987) through the successive action of proteolytic enzymes known as secretases (for a recent review see Zhang et al., 2011). The intracellular NFT are composed of paired helical filaments of the microtubule-associated protein tau, which is abnormally hyperphosphorylated (P-tau; Grundke-Iqbal et al., 1986). Today, the focus on research has moved away from the proteinaceous deposits toward studies on the role of the triggering effectors, soluble oligomeric AB, and P-tau. Accordingly, much research is devoted to understanding how Aß and P-tau lead to the toxic events associated with AD, how they cause changes in the expression of other key brain proteins and ultimately how they cause neurodegeneration. However, it is also crucial to decipher how both Aβ and P-tau interact in order to reach a better understanding of the mechanism of neurotoxicity and to achieve an effective therapy.

As extensively reviewed in this special issue, acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is a key enzyme in the cholinergic nervous system. During the progression of AD, many different types of neurons deteriorate, although there is a profound loss of forebrain cholinergic neurons, which is accompanied by a progressive decline in acetyl-choline (Davies and Maloney, 1976; Perry et al., 1977). Both

A common feature in the Alzheimer's disease (AD) brain is the presence of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) which is commonly associated with β -amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (NFT). Although our understanding of the relationship between AChE and the pathological features of AD is incomplete, increasing evidence suggests that both β -amyloid protein (A β) and abnormally hyperphosphorylated tau (P-tau) can influence AChE expression. We also review recent findings which suggest the possible role of AChE in the development of a vicious cycle of A β and P-tau dysregulation and discuss the limited and temporary effect of therapeutic intervention with AChE inhibitors.

Keywords: acetylcholinesterase, β -amyloid, presenilin 1, P-tau, Alzheimer's disease

the acetylcholine-synthesizing enzyme choline acetyltransferase (ChAT), as well in the acetylcholine-hydrolyzing enzyme, AChE are affected. Therapies designed to reverse the cholinergic deficit are in large measure based on the importance of cholinergic function in cognition. In spite the overall decrease in the activity of AChE in the AD brain, current AD therapy is mostly based on inhibitors of AChE (AChE-I), which enhance cholinergic transmission, but which have modest and transient therapeutic effects (Giacobini, 2002; Kaduszkiewicz et al., 2005). As a consequence of its role as a target for AD therapy, AChE is one of the most studied proteins in the Alzheimer's field, with about 1500 manuscripts indexed into the PubMed; the vast majority of reports in the field relate with treatment strategies associated with the use of AChE-I.

It has been well known for almost 50 years that the distribution of AChE molecular forms is particularly affected in the AD brain, but the physiopathological significance and subsequent implications of these intriguing changes in AChE species remain unknown. An increase in AChE levels around amyloid plaques and NFT is a common feature of AD neuropathology, and although the significance of this increase remains to be determined. In another way, up-regulation of AChE activity following long-term AChE-I therapy has been reported in a number of studies during the last decade. All these abnormalities in AChE expression patterns, as well AChE up-regulation in reaction to chronic inhibition, may are related with the limited efficiency and persistence of AChE-I. In summary, after decades of study and hundreds of reports, AChE remains of considerable interest into the AD field. The description of changes in AChE levels and forms in the AD brain has merit extensive revision (see for example Younkin et al., 1986; Mesulam and Geula, 1990; Massoulié et al., 1993; Layer, 1995; Small et al., 1996; Kása et al., 1997; Grisaru et al., 1999; Talesa, 2001; Rees and Brimijoin, 2003; Ballard et al., 2005; Silman and Sussman, 2005;

³ Menzies Research Institute, University of Tasmania, Hobart, TAS, Australia

⁴ Centro de Biología Molecular "Severo Ochoa," Universidad Autónoma de Madrid-CSIC, Madrid, Spain

Greenfield et al., 2008; Inestrosa et al., 2008; and many others). The purpose of this article is to review changes in AChE expression in the AD brain, but with a particular emphasis on the role of these changes in the pathophysiology of AD. In addition, we summarize our recent findings about the cross-talk between AChE and A β , and also between AChE and P-tau. The possibility that A β and P-tau interact through AChE is considered.

ALTERED AChE MOLECULAR FORM PATTERN IN AD

Acetylcholinesterase can exist in several different molecular forms, which have specific patterns of expression in different cell types (for a review see Massoulié, 2002). Moreover, the specific subcellular distribution of each species of AChE probably reflects different physiological functions for each form. Indeed, a large number of studies suggest that AChE could have novel functions unrelated to cholinergic neurotransmission (for review see Massoulié et al., 1993; Laver, 1995; Small et al., 1996; Soreq and Seidman, 2001). In this regard, it is important to note that AChE is present in both cholinergic and non-cholinergic brain areas, where the functional significance of non-cholinergic AChE remains unknown. We particularly refer to the work of Mesulam (2004) for a detailed view of the distribution of AChE in the non-pathological and AD brain. Even in cholinergic areas, it has been suggested that the reduction of AChE activity in the AD brain is not due to cholinergic depletion alone, as the density of AChE-rich (cholinergic) fibers decreased in cortical areas of the AD patients but was not correlated with the number of AChE-rich neurons (Heckers et al., 1992). Therefore, it is important to note that an alteration in AChE levels may not reflect a change in cholinergic neurotransmission.

Not all molecular forms of AChE are equally affected in the AD brain. Studies using sucrose gradient centrifugation have revealed two major forms of AChE in the mammal brain, tetrameric and monomeric species (Figure 1; reviewed in Massoulié et al., 1993). The major forms in the non-AD adult brain are tetramers (G₄) that are anchored in the cell membrane of neurons. These tetramers probably constitute the true cholinergic species. Other minor species are monomers (G1) and dimers (G2) that cannot be completely separated from each other by sucrose gradient centrifugation. Regional variations in the AChE molecular form ratio G₄/G₁ usually been studied in relation to neurochemical and neuroanatomical, particularly cholinergic, features of the brain (Atack et al., 1986). However in the AD brain, there is a selective loss in the G₄ form, while the lighter species are preserved (Atack et al., 1983; Fishman et al., 1986) or even increased in severely affected cases of AD (Figure 1; see also Arendt et al., 1992; Sáez-Valero et al., 1999). Similarly, changes in AChE molecular forms in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) reflect changes in the brain (Sáez-Valero et al., 1999, 2000a). Light AChE species, which represent the major forms in plasma, are also increased in the AD plasma (García-Ayllón et al., 2010). In agreement with human studies, AChE monomeric species are also increased in brain of the APPC100 and Tg2576 transgenic mice which overproduce human Aβ (Figure 2; see also Sberna et al., 1998; Fodero et al., 2002; Silveyra et al., 2011a) and in rats given intracerebral Aβ (Sáez-Valero et al., 2002). Different reports have corroborated the possibility that Aβ might influence AChE (Sberna et al., 1997; Hu et al., 2003; Melo et al., 2003). So far, the significance of this particular



FIGURE 1 | Tetrameric and monomeric AChE molecular forms are differentially affected in the Alzheimer's brain. Human frontal cortex from non-demented individuals (ND; closed circles) and Alzheimer's patients (AD; open circles) were extracted in a Tris–saline buffer containing proteinases inhibitors and 1% (w/v) Triton X-100. Molecular weight forms of AChE were analyzed by ultracentrifugation at 150,000 × g in a continuous sucrose gradient (5–20% w/v), containing 0.5% (w/v) Triton X-100, for 18 h at 4°C as previously described (Sáez-Valero et al., 1999). Tetramers (G₄) and monomers (G₁) AChE forms were identified by their coefficient of sedimentation. The proportion of G₄ forms in AD is particularly depleted whereas the minor G₁ species are mostly preserved (no change; n.ch.) or even slightly increased.



brain of a transgenic mouse model of A β **over-expression.** AChE is expressed as several different species with various molecular weights which can be identified by sucrose density gradient centrifugation (see **Figure 1**). Cerebral cortices from an APPC100 transgenic mice which express human A β (Tg APPC100; open circles) display higher levels of monomeric G₁ AChE forms compared to control samples of similar age (closed circles; 3 months old), while levels of tetrameric G₄ AChE species were not different (no change; n.ch.). See also Sberna et al. (1998).

increase in monomeric AChE around plaques and in A β models is unclear.

SIGNIFICANCE OF INCREASED MONOMERIC ACHE IN AD

Light forms of AChE in the brain have been generally considered as biosynthetic precursors of the G_4 forms due to the fact that oligomeric forms of AChE are assembled from monomeric precursors (Brockman et al., 1986) and that once assembled these forms do not interconvert (Rotundo, 1988). Although it is also possible that a pool of monomers represents a separate pool with a different physiological role than that of the major cholinergic G_4 form (Small et al., 1996; Grisaru et al., 1999). Because G_1 species are precursors of higher molecular weight species, and as a consequence G₄ is always present in association with the G₁ form, it is difficult to identify a specific functional pool of G1 species which is distinct from the precursor pool. Interestingly, in this context, the prevalence of lighter AChE forms in AD brain resembles an embryonic pattern of expression (Arendt et al., 1992). In the human embryonic brain, the major form of AChE is a monomeric species (Muller et al., 1985). Indeed, the expression pattern of AChE forms within the embryonic brain depends on the development stage (Zakut et al., 1985; Perry et al., 1986). The G₄ species increase during human brain maturation and become the most abundant before 11 weeks of gestation (Muller et al., 1985). In rodents, the situation is similar with light AChE being the prevalent embryonic forms (Rieger and Vigny, 1976; Sung and Ruff, 1983). However, there is a shift in the molecular forms that occurs post-natally (Muller et al., 1985). The G1 AChE form is the more abundant during all gestational periods (Figure 3). Interestingly, the distribution in molecular form of the structurally related enzyme butyrylcholinesterase (BuChE) does not change significantly either during fetal development or in AD (Atack et al., 1987). The physiological significance of the early and sustained expression of embryonic G1 AChE, where a role in neurotransmission is not clear, is unknown. However, it has been suggested that AChE has roles in development, such as neuronal differentiation, regulation of cell growth, or cell adhesion. These novel functions may depend on protein-protein interactions rather than the enzyme's catalytic activity (Brimijoin and Koenigsberger, 1999; Paraoanu et al., 2006). On this basis, it has been suggested that the AChE in AD may be similar to embryonic AChE, and that it may reflect the activation of a neuronal repair in the AD brain (Layer, 1995).

Therefore, we can speculate that G_1 AChE has a non-cholinergic role during brain development, and that this role may be unrelated to the enzyme's catalytic properties. In this context, it is assumed that all AChE forms possessed similar catalytic properties, which is probably true when oligomeric and monomeric precursors are compared. Nevertheless, it has been demonstrated subtle differences in sensitivity to inhibitors and in kinetic properties exist between tetrameric and monomeric AChE species (Ogane et al., 1992; Rakonczay, 2003). More interestingly, embryonic G_4 AChE shares similar biochemical and kinetic properties with the adult enzyme, but embryonic G_1 AChE differs in its kinetic properties and in its affinity for several AChE-I from the adult G_1 form (Moreno et al., 1998). In this context, AChE activity present in the AD brain associated with plaques and NFT displays particular enzymatic properties and sensitivity to inhibitors (Geula and Mesulam, 1989; Wright et al., 1993).

Therefore, if we accept the possibility that embryonic AChE may possess a function independent of its catalytic capacities, the large pool of catalytically inactive AChE protein should be considered. The basis for the presence of an embryonic AChE species different from that of the adult, is unknown, but several questions arises regarding the use of AChE-I in AD therapy.

The existence of an unexpectedly large pool of inactive AChE has been demonstrated in brain (Chatel et al., 1993) and other tissues (Stieger et al., 1987; Rotundo, 1988; García-Ayllón et al., 2006), and suggested in CSF (García-Ayllón et al., 2007). This inactive pool may have non-classical functions, as it has been demonstrated that transgenic over-expression of enzymatically inactive AChE can influence neurodevelopment (Dori et al., 2005). The inactive AChE fraction is proportionally more abundant in embryonic than in adult tissues (Massoulié et al., 1993). Because routinely AChE levels are estimated enzymatically using various modifications of the Ellman et al. (1961) method, and are not normally estimated immunochemically, little information is available on this inactive pool of AChE in pathological and non-pathological conditions. A significant decrease of both AChE activity and immunoreactivity has been observed using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay of AD brain (Hammond and Brimijoin, 1988). However, after decades of studying AChE in the AD brain further research is still necessary in order to determine the AChE protein content and its relationship with altered AChE activity levels. Whether non-catalytic AChE in brain has physiological significance, and how it is affected during pathology and treatment, are issues that warrant further study.

This complex scenario of multiple molecular forms is brought about, at least in part, by the existence of alternative splicing of



embryonic and adult stage)

density gradient (see Figure 1). At early embryonic stage only light

the single ACHE gene, generating different AChE variants, with potential different gene regulation (Grisaru et al., 1999; see also Figure 4). Alternative 3' RNA splicing generates different polypeptide encoding transcripts called "tailed" or T, "hydrophobic" or H, and "readthrough" or R-transcripts (Massoulié et al., 1993; Taylor and Radic, 1994; Grisaru et al., 1999), with the same catalytic domain and distinct C-terminal peptides that determine the ability of the molecule to form oligomers. In the mammalian brain, the T-transcript is the major form and encodes subunits which produce monomers, dimers, and tetrameric forms; whereas the R-transcript, which is normally present at low levels (Kaufer et al., 1998; Perrier et al., 2005), encodes a soluble monomeric form (Sternfeld et al., 2000; Figure 4). In addition to the 3' alternatively spliced species of AChE, the 5' end is also subject to intricate regulation (Meshorer et al., 2004) generating AChE variants that have extended N-termini; thus, within the brain N-AChE-T and N-AChE-R variants may occur in parallel with AChE-T and AChE-R. The AChE-T and AChE-R monomers or their N-extended variants cannot be distinguished by molecular weight. Whether the increase in monomeric AChE in the AD brain is related to increases in the T or R variants is still an open question. Anyhow, in this context has been suggested that the AChE-R can compete with the main brain AChE-T protein and suppress the formation of insoluble Aβ oligomers (Berson et al., 2008; see below). An increased N-AChE-T expression has been also postulated in the AD brain



associated with disease progression, including apoptotic cell death (Toiber et al., 2008). In summary, Soreq and Seidman (2001) have presented evidence that N- and C-terminally modified AChE variants, all of which have similar enzymatic activities, can display distinct and in certain cases inverse functions (reviewed in Greenberg et al., 2010). The use of AChE-I which does not distinguish between AChE variants should interfere in all processes indiscriminately.

The central question is whether the changes in the distribution of AChE molecular forms in the AD brain have any physiopathological consequences. As stated previously, gross sedimentation analysis cannot distinguish between monomeric isoforms that are synthesized to be assembled in oligomers, or arise as degradation products, and those specific monomeric species which may have specific functions. Therefore, in previous studies we have further characterized the increase in monomeric AChE associated to Alzheimer's and to $A\beta$ by characterizing its glycosylation pattern by lectin binding analysis, based on the assumption that different functional pools of AChE may have different glycosylation patterns. Correct glycosylation determines the adequate intracellular trafficking, folding, assembly, and final localization of glycoproteins. Thus different forms (glycosylated variants or glycoforms) of the same protein should differ in glycosylation in order to achieve a different oligomerization state, subcellular localization, protein-protein interaction affinity, or a different physiological function. Indeed, for a particular glycoprotein, the abundance of single glycoforms should closely correlate to each other and be regulated within narrow limits. By exploiting the ability of lectins to bind diverse carbohydrate moieties with high specificity (Sharon and Lis, 2004), we have demonstrated that the glycosylation of AChE is altered in the AD brain, postmortem, and lumbar CSF (Sáez-Valero et al., 1997, 1999, 2000a). Tetrameric G₄ and light G1 have different glycosylation patterns (Sáez-Valero et al., 1999), thus depletion specific loss of the tetrameric form in the AD brain may be responsible, in part, for this change. Changes in AChE glycosylation were also characterized in Aβ transgenic mice models displaying increases in monomeric AChE (Sberna et al., 1998; Fodero et al., 2002). However, we further demonstrated that when the light AChE species from AD and non-demented brain are isolated, G₁ species present in AD brain displayed different affinities for lectins and for conformational anti-AChE antibodies, compared with isoforms from control brains (Sáez-Valero et al., 2000b). These changes indicate that the minor subset of G1 AChE, whose contribution is increased in AD brain, correspond to isoforms (glycoforms) either not present, or poorly present in adult human brain in non-disease conditions. The physiological relevance of the increase in this minor G₁ form for AD pathogenesis is unclear.

Alterations in the glycosylation state of other glycoproteins have been reported in AD tissue (Guevara et al., 1998; Fodero et al., 2001; Kanninen et al., 2004; Sihlbom et al., 2008). Pathological impairment in the broader protein glycosylation machinery could significantly compromise the processing of many glycoproteins, thereby resulting in loss of physiological function of many of these proteins. Abnormal incorporation of carbohydrate moieties in AChE subunits can compromise its functional role and/or oligomerization. In this context, altered AChE glycosylation has been also demonstrated in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (Silveyra et al., 2006), a neurodegenerative process where impaired glycosylation machinery is suspected (Rudd et al., 1999). Nonetheless, unlike AD, in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, altered AChE glycosylation is not caused by changes in the proportion of any particular molecular form (Silveyra et al., 2006). Therefore, we favor the hypothesis that in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease change in AChE glycosylation is the consequence of perturbed glycosylation machinery, whereas the altered glycosylation pattern of light AChE species in AD reflects an imbalance of protein glycoforms resulting from changes in AChE variants related or not to differentiation state. This is an issue that requires further study.

P-TAU INCREASES AChE, DIFFERENCES FROM Aß

It has been noted that abnormal AChE expression in the AD brain occurs in association with the two hallmark features of the AD pathology, the amyloid plaques and the NFT (Mesulam and Morán, 1987; Ulrich et al., 1990). As mentioned previously, Aß peptides influence AChE levels, thus AB may be responsible for increased AChE around plaques. However, the increase in AChE associated with NFT has remained largely unexplored. Recently, we showed for the first time that P-tau can trigger an increase in AChE expression (Silveyra et al., 2011a). In vivo over-expression of P-tau in transgenic mice (Tg VLW mice) expressing human tau mutations causing frontotemporal dementia and parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17 (FTDP-17) led to an increase in the activity of the T-transcript of AChE (Silveyra et al., 2011a). The results suggest that the early increase in AChE expression that occurs around NFT may be a consequence of disturbed tau phosphorylation. In contrast to A^β transgenic models in which only one specific molecular form of AChE increases, in the P-tau transgenic mice, all major molecular forms of AChE were increased, including the tetrameric species (Figure 5). The explanation for differences in the pattern of AChE expression between AB and P-tau over-expressing mice remain unclear and will require further research, as will the potential differing physiopathological consequences of increases in tetrameric or monomeric AChE. In



this context, it is necessary to consider the different subcellular localization of tetramers and monomers. Light forms probably localized internally whereas G_4 forms are localized extracellularly (Inestrosa et al., 1981). Therefore, the different localization of these forms determines and limits potential interactions with other protein partners. The recent finding that PRiMA (proline-rich membrane anchor) directs a restricted localization of tetrameric AChE not only to synapses but also to membrane microdomains called rafts (Xie et al., 2010), suggests that there may be different functional interactions of AChE species with particular partners.

DOWNSTREAM CONSEQUENCES OF CHANGES IN ACHE LEVELS IN AD BRAIN

Notwithstanding the overall loss of total AChE activity in the AD brain, AChE is consistently increased in regions around amyloid plaques and NFT at all stages of the disease, including some of the earliest stages (Perry et al., 1980; Mesulam and Morán, 1987; Ulrich et al., 1990). Extensive studies by Inestrosa et al. (1996) suggest that AChE may directly interact with A β in a manner that increases deposition of A β to form plaques. Studies using double transgenic mice that over-express AChE and A β (Rees et al., 2003) support these observations and they suggest that AChE may play a role in pathogenesis of AD.

Our own recent work also indicate that AChE can modulate APP processing and A^β production. A^β is produced through the successive action of two proteolytic enzymes, β -secretase and γ -secretase on APP (Zhang et al., 2011). The active proteolytic component of the γ -secretase complex is presenilin 1 (PS1; Suh and Checler, 2002). Mutations in PS1 cause early-onset AD with an accelerated rate of AB deposition (St George-Hyslop, 2000), thus proteins that interact with PS1 are of major functional importance. We have previously demonstrated an interaction between AChE and PS1 by reciprocal co-immunoprecipitation (Silveyra et al., 2008). Recently, we demonstrated that AChE can influence PS1 levels by showing that AChE over-expression increases PS1 levels, while AChE knock-down with siRNA leads decrease PS1 in transfected cells (Silveyra et al., 2011b). Perhaps the most significant conclusion from our recent study is the potential participation of AChE in a degenerative cycle that enhances amyloidogenic APP processing. We can presume that several degenerative cycles, participating as interactive systems within a larger vicious cycle, accelerate the development of AD. Hence, in AD it is possible that Aß can induce a feedback loop leading to amyloidogenic APP processing (Cribbs et al., 1995; White et al., 2003). A vicious cycle of AB generation potentially could involve PS1; recent evidence indicates that Aβ42 can induce an increase in PS1 levels in cultured neurons creating a toxic loop (Matrone et al., 2008). Using different experimental conditions, we have confirmed that both AB42 and P-tau trigger an increase in AChE, which can in turn influence PS1 and thereby modulate $A\beta$ production (Figure 6). We have found that Aβ42-induced PS1 increase can be prevented by pre-treatment of SH-SY5Y cells with siRNA AChE (Silveyra et al., 2011b). The possibility that different effects may be obtained with different AChE species and variants (tetrameric versus monomeric molecular form, or T-variant versus R-variant or N-extended variant), requires further study. In this context, recent evidence indicates a



specific role inducing GSK-3 β activation and tau hyperphosphorylation for the alternative N-terminally extended T-AChE variant (Toiber et al., 2008), variant up-regulated by stressors inducing protein misfolding and calcium imbalances, both characteristic of AD.

It appears likely, therefore, that several vicious cycles trigger by $A\beta$ and P-tau involve the potential participation of AChE. The significance of these theoretical considerations to the clinical and neuropathological course of AD remains to be demonstrated.

EFFECTS OF AChE-I

Therapies designed to reverse the cholinergic deficit are in large measure based on the importance of cholinergic function in cognition. Indeed, AChE-Is have proven to be modestly efficacious in treating the cognitive and functional symptoms of AD. In addition disease-modifying effects of AChE inhibition has been also considered (Giacobini, 2002). However, the modest clinical efficacy of AChE-Is has not discouraged the development of new AChE-Is, and particularly the so called dual binding site AChE-Is (Muñoz-Torrero, 2008; Pepeu and Giovannini, 2009), which are both inhibitors of AChE and also of amyloid plaque formation. This latter effect is based on the fact that AChE-binding molecules may, in addition to their effect on enzyme activity, block the effect of AChE on AB fibrillogenesis by interaction throughout the peripheral anionic site of the enzyme (Inestrosa et al., 1996). Besides the design of new inhibitors with the capacity to block catalytic and peripheral anionic sites of AChE, there is evidence that inhibitors may also influence APP processing. AChE-Is have been shown to alter APP expression and metabolism in cellular (Lahiri et al., 1994; Pakaski et al., 2001; Peng et al., 2006) and animal models (Mori et al., 1995; Zimmermann et al., 2004; Dong et al., 2009), as well in AD-treated patients (Clarke et al., 2001; Basun et al., 2002; Zimmermann et al., 2005). The modulatory effects of AChE-I on APP metabolism have been attributed to their effect on ADAM10/α-secretase (Zimmermann et al., 2004; Peng et al., 2006), BACE1/β-secretase (Lahiri et al., 2007; Fu et al., 2008; Li et al., 2010), and on PS1/ γ -secretase (Silveyra et al., 2011b). The disparity between the effects of AChE-Is and cholinergic agonists on secretase activity would suggest that AChE is not exerting its modulatory action on PS1 via a cholinergic mechanism (Zimmermann et al., 2004; Silveyra et al., 2011b). However, effects on APP processing by cholinergic agonists have been also demonstrated (Nitsch et al., 1992; Rossner et al., 1998; Davis et al., 2010). The mechanisms by which AChE-Is influence APP processing remain unclear, but it is suggested that regulation of APP processing by AChE-Is may involve multiple mechanisms, including cholinergic and noncholinergic actions, some independent of their anti-cholinesterase (catalytic) activities (Lahiri et al., 1997).

The therapeutic effect of current AChE-Is is both modest and transient. Current AChE-I treatment results are disappointing both because of their poor efficacy and tolerability. Interestingly, these drugs have a limited duration of cognitive benefit. The effects of these drugs on APP processing also fail to be maintained over the long-term in Alzheimer's patients (Basun et al., 2002).

The transience of the response to AChE-I could be associated with AChE up-regulation in reaction to chronic inhibition (Chiappa et al., 1995; Kaufer et al., 1998). Indeed, increases in CSF AChE have been reported after AChE-I treatment (Davidsson et al., 2001; Darreh-Shori et al., 2006; García-Ayllón et al., 2007; Parnetti et al., 2011). The varying responses of different AChE species to AChE-I treatment, were the light AChE species seem not subject to AChE-I induced up-regulation, suggest different modes of regulation and should be also considered (García-Ayllón et al., 2007). Interestingly, we found that the effect of AChE-I treatment on PS1 levels was also not sustained, and that the lack of effect on PS1 was associated with up-regulation of AChE (Silveyra et al., 2011b). Our data suggest that sustained AChE inhibition cannot be effective when the expression of AChE is up-regulated and that this undesired effect needs to be addressed to develop more effective therapies based on AChE-I.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

In summary, AChE species differ in their responses to disease and their interactions with β -amyloid and P-tau. The important question about the nature of the alternative functions of AChE, their association with different AChE species and variants, and their role in AD pathogenesis and therapy needs to be examined further. Recent evidence also suggests the potential participation of AChE in vicious cycles involving A β and P-tau. Elucidation of the mechanisms involved in these changes will be useful for understanding the physiological and pathological relevance of altered AChE expression in the AD brain and AChE-I pharmacological intervention. The chronic increases in AChE activity during AChE-I treatment may cause the therapeutic value of AChE-I to be limited and temporary and needs to be addressed in order to improve therapy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would especially like to thank Dr. M.-X. Silveyra for her contribution, and M.-T. García-Hedo and C. Serra-Basante for technical assistance. This work was supported by grants from Foundatión CIEN-Reina Sofía, FIS (Grant PS09/00684), and CIBERNED, ISC-III from Spain to Javier Sáez-Valero.

REFERENCES

- Arendt, T., Bruckner, M. K., Lange, M., and Bigl, V. (1992). Changes in acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease resemble embryonic development – a study of molecular forms. *Neurochem. Int.* 21, 381–396.
- Atack, J. R., Perry, E. K., Bonham, J. R., Candy, J. M., and Perry, R. H. (1986). Molecular forms of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase in the aged human central nervous system. *J. Neurochem.* 47, 263–277.
- Atack, J. R., Perry, E. K., Bonham, J. R., Candy, J. M., and Perry, R. H. (1987). Molecular forms of butyrylcholinesterase in the human neocortex during development and degeneration of the cortical cholinergic system. J. Neurochem. 48, 1687–1692.
- Atack, J. R., Perry, E. K., Bonham, J. R., Perry, R. H., Tomlinson, B. E., Blessed, G., and Fairbairn, A. (1983). Molecular forms of acetylcholinesterase in senile dementia of Alzheimer type: selective loss of the intermediate (10S) form. *Neurosci. Lett.* 40, 199–204.
- Ballard, C. G., Greig, N. H., Guillozet-Bongaarts, A. L., Enz, A., and Darvesh, S. (2005). Cholinesterases: roles in the brain during health and disease. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 2, 307–318.
- Basun, H., Nilsberth, C., Eckman, C., Lannfelt, L., and Younkin, S. (2002). Plasma levels of Abeta42 and Abeta40 in Alzheimer patients during treatment with the acetylcholinesterase inhibitor tacrine. *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord.* 14, 156–160.
- Berson, A., Knobloch, M., Hanan, M., Diamant, S., Sharoni, M., Schuppli, D., Geyer, B. C., Ravid, R., Mor, T. S., Nitsch, R. M., and Soreq, H. (2008). Changes in readthrough acetylcholinesterase expression modulate amyloid-beta pathology. *Brain* 131, 109–119.
- Blennow, K., de Leon, M. J., and Zetterberg, H. (2006). Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* 368, 387–403.
- Brimijoin, S., and Koenigsberger, C. (1999). Cholinesterases in neural development: new findings and toxicologic implications. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 107, 59–64.
- Brockman, S. K., Usiak, M. F., and Younkin, S. G. (1986). Assembly of monomeric acetylcholinesterase into tetrameric and asymmetric forms. *J. Biol. Chem.* 261, 1201–1207.
- Chatel, J. M., Grassi, J., Frobert, Y., Massoulié, J., and Vallette, F. M.

(1993). Existence of an inactive pool of acetylcholinesterase in chicken brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 90, 2476–2480.

- Chiappa, S., Padilla, S., Koenigsberger, C., Moser, V., and Brimijoin, S. (1995). Slow accumulation of acetylcholinesterase in rat brain during enzyme inhibition by repeated dosing with chlorpyrifos. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 49, 955–963.
- Clarke, N. A., Soininen, H., Gustafson, L., Minthon, L., Alhainen, K., and Francis, P. T. (2001). Tacrine may alter APP-like protein levels in the lumbar CSF of Alzheimer patients. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 16, 1104– 1106.
- Cribbs, D. H., Davis-Salinas, J., Cotman, C. W., and Van Nostrand, W. E. (1995). Aß induces increased expression and processing of amyloid precursor protein in cortical neurons. *Alzheimer Res.* 1, 197–200.
- Darreh-Shori, T., Meurling, L., Pettersson, T., Hugosson, K., Hellström-Lindahl, E., Andreasen, N., Minthon, L., and Nordberg, A. (2006). Changes in the activity and protein levels of CSF acetylcholinesterases in relation to cognitive function of patients with mild Alzheimer's disease following chronic donepezil treatment. J. Neural Transm. 113, 1791–1801.
- Davidsson, P., Blennow, K., Andreasen, N., Eriksson, B., Minthon, L., and Hesse, C. (2001). Differential increase in cerebrospinal fluidacetylcholinesterase after treatment with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 300, 157–160.
- Davies, P., and Maloney, A. J. F. (1976). Selective loss of central cholinergic neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* 2, 1403.
- Davis, A. A., Fritz, J. J., Wess, J., Lah, J. J., and Levey, A. I. (2010). Deletion of M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors increases amyloid pathology in vitro and in vivo. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 4190–4196.
- Dong, H., Yuede, C. M., Coughlan, C. A., Murphy, K. M., and Csernansky, J. G. (2009). Effects of donepezil on amyloid-beta and synapse density in the Tg2576 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res.* 1303, 169–178.
- Dori, A., Cohen, J., Silverman, W. F., Pollack, Y., and Soreq, H. (2005). Functional manipulations of acetylcholinesterase splice variants highlight alternative splicing contributions to murine neocortical development. *Cereb. Cortex* 15, 419–430.
- Ellman, G. L., Courtney, K. D., Andres, V. Jr., and Feather-Stone,

R. M. (1961). A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase activity. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 7, 88–95.

- Fishman, E. B., Siek, G. C., MacCallum, R. D., Bird, E. D., Volicer, L., and Marquis, J. K. (1986). Distribution of the molecular forms of acetylcholinesterase in human brain, alterations in dementia of the Alzheimer type. Ann. Neurol. 19, 246–252.
- Fodero, L. R., Sáez-Valero, J., Barquero, M. S., Marcos, A., McLean, C. A., and Small, D. H. (2001). Wheat germ agglutinin-binding glycoproteins are decreased in Alzheimer's disease cerebrospinal fluid. *J. Neurochem.* 79, 1022–1006.
- Fodero, L. R., Sáez-Valero, J., McLean, C. A., Martins, R. N., Beyreuther, K., Masters, C. L., Robertson, T. A., and Small, D. H. (2002). Altered glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase in APP (SW) Tg2576 transgenic mice occurs prior to amyloid plaque deposition. *J. Neurochem.* 81, 441–448.
- Fu, H., Li, W., Luo, J., Lee, N. T., Li, M., Tsim, K. W., Pang, Y., Youdim, M. B., and Han, Y. (2008). Promising anti-Alzheimer's dimer bis(7)tacrine reduces beta-amyloid generation by directly inhibiting BACE-1 activity. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 366, 631–636.
- García-Ayllón, M. S., Riba-Llena, I., Serra-Basante, C., Alom, J., Boopathy, R., and Sáez-Valero, J. (2010). Altered levels of acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer plasma. *PLoS ONE* 5, e8701. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008701
- García-Ayllón, M. S., Silveyra, M. X., Andreasen, N., Brimijoin, S., Blennow, K., and Sáez-Valero, J. (2007). Cerebrospinal fluid acetylcholinesterase changes after treatment with donepezil in patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 101, 1701–1711.
- García-Ayllón, M. S., Silveyra, M. X., Candela, A., Compañ, A., Clària, J., Jover, R., Pérez-Mateo, M., Felipo, V., Martínez, S., Galcerán, J., and Sáez-Valero, J. (2006). Changes in liver and plasma acetylcholinesterase in rats with cirrhosis induced by bile duct ligation. *Hepatology* 43, 444–453.
- Geula, C., and Mesulam, M.-M. (1989). Special properties of cholinesterases in the cerebral cortex of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res.* 498, 185–189.
- Giacobini, E. (2002). Long-term stabilizing effect of cholinesterase inhibitors in the therapy of Alzheimer' disease. J. Neural Transm. Suppl. 62, 181–187.
- Greenberg, D. S., Toiber, D., Berson, A., and Soreq, H. (2010).

Acetylcholinesterase variants in Alzheimer's disease: from neuroprotection to programmed cell death. *Neurodegener. Dis.* 7, 60–63.

- Greenfield, S. A., Zimmermann, M., and Bond, C. E. (2008). Non-hydrolytic functions of acetylcholinesterase. The significance of C-terminal peptides. *FEBS J.* 275, 604–611.
- Grisaru, D., Sternfeld, M., Eldor, A., Glick, D., and Soreq, H. (1999). Structural roles of acetylcholinesterase variants in biology and pathology. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 264, 672–686.
- Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Tung, Y. C., Quinlan, M., Wisniewski, H. M., and Binder, L. I. (1986). Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubuleassociated protein tau (tau) in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 83, 4907–4913.
- Guevara, J., Espinosa, B., Zenteno, E., Vázguez, L., Luna, J., Perry, G., and Mena, R. (1998). Altered glycosylation pattern of proteins in Alzheimer disease. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 57, 905–914.
- Hammond, P., and Brimijoin, S. (1988). Acetylcholinesterase in Huntington's and Alzheimer's diseases: simultaneous enzyme assay and immunoassay of multiple brain regions. *J. Neurochem.* 50, 1111–1116.
- Heckers, S., Geula, C., and Mesulam, M. M. (1992). Acetylcholinesterase-rich pyramidal neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 13, 455–460.
- Hu, W., Gray, N. W., and Brimijoin, S. (2003). Amyloid-beta increases acetylcholinesterase expression in neuroblastoma cells by reducing enzyme degradation. *J. Neurochem.* 86, 470–478.
- Inestrosa, N. C., Alvarez, A., Perez, C. A., Moreno, R. D., Vicente, M., Linker, C., Casanueva, O. I., Soto, C., and Garrido, J. (1996). Acetylcholinesterase accelerates assembly of amyloid-beta-peptides into Alzheimer's fibrils: possible role of the peripheral site of the enzyme. *Neuron* 16, 881–891.
- Inestrosa, N. C., Dinamarca, M. C., and Alvarez, A. (2008). Amyloidcholinesterase interactions. Implications for Alzheimer's disease. *FEBS J.* 275, 625–632.
- Inestrosa, N. C., Reiness, C. G., Reichardt, L. F., and Hall, Z. W. (1981). Cellular localization of the molecular forms of acetylcholinesterase in rat pheochromocytoma PC12 cells treated with nerve growth factor. J. Neurosci. 1, 1260–1267.

- Kaduszkiewicz, H., Zimmermann, T., Beck-Bornholdt, H. P., and van den Bussche, H. (2005). Cholinesterase inhibitors for patients with Alzheimer's disease: systematic review of randomised clinical trials. *BMJ* 331, 321–327.
- Kang, J., Lemaire, H. G., Unterbeck, A., Salbaum, J. M., Masters, C. L., Grzeschik, K. H., Multhaup, G., Beyreuther, K., and Müller-Hill, B. (1987). The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. *Nature* 19–25; 325, 733.
- Kanninen, K., Goldsteins, G., Auriola, S., Alafuzoff, I., and Koistinaho, J. (2004). Glycosylation changes in Alzheimer's disease as revealed by a proteomic approach. *Neurosci. Lett.* 367, 235–240.
- Kása, P., Rakonczay, Z., and Gulya, K. (1997). The cholinergic system in Alzheimer's disease. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 52, 511–535.
- Kaufer, D., Friedman, A., Seidman, S., and Soreq, H. (1998). Acute stress facilitates long-lasting changes in cholinergic gene expression. *Nature* 393, 373–377.
- Lahiri, D. K, Chen, D., Maloney, B., Holloway, H. W., Yu, Q. S., Utsuki, T., Giordano, T., Sambamurti, K., and Greig, N. H. (2007). The experimental Alzheimer's disease drug posiphen [(+)-phenserine] lowers amyloid-beta peptide levels in cell culture and mice. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 320, 386–396.
- Lahiri, D. K., Farlow, M. R., Nurnberger, J. I. Jr., and Greig, N. H. (1997). Effects of cholinesterase inhibitors on the secretion of beta-amyloid precursor protein in cell cultures. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 826, 416–421.
- Lahiri, D. K., Lewis, S., and Farlow, M. R. (1994). Tacrine alters the secretion of the beta-amyloid precursor protein in cell lines. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 37, 777–787.
- Layer, P. G. (1995). Nonclassical roles of cholinesterases in the embryonic brain and possible links to Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 9, 29–36.
- Li, Q., Wu, D., Zhang, L., and Zhang, Y. (2010). Effects of galantamine on β-amyloid release and beta-site cleaving enzyme 1 expression in differentiated human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. *Exp. Gerontol.* 45, 842–847.
- Massoulié, J. (2002). The origin of the molecular diversity and functional anchoring of cholinesterases. *Neurosignals* 11, 130–143.
- Massoulié, J., Pezzementi, L., Bon, S., Krejci, E., and Vallette, F.-M. (1993).

Molecular and cellular biology of cholinesterases. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 41, 31–91.

- Masters, C. L., Simms, G., Weinman, N. A., Multhaup, G., McDonald, B. L., and Beyreuther, K. (1985). Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer's disease and Down syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 82, 4245–4249.
- Matrone, C., Ciotti, M. T., Mercanti, D., Marolda, R., and Calissano, P. (2008). NGF and BDNF signaling control amyloidogenic route and Abeta production in hippocampal neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 13139–11344.
- Melo, J. B., Agostinho, P., and Oliveira, C. R. (2003). Involvement of oxidative stress in the enhancement of acetylcholinesterase activity induced by amyloid beta-peptide. *Neurosci. Res.* 45, 117–127.
- Meshorer, E., Toiber, D., Zurel, D., Sahly, I., Dori, A., Cagnano, E., Schreiber, L., Grisaru, D., Tronche, F., and Soreq, H. (2004). Combinatorial complexity of 5' alternative acetylcholinesterase transcripts and protein products. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 29740–29751.
- Mesulam, M. M. (2004). The cholinergic innervation of the human cerebral cortex. *Prog. Brain Res.* 145, 67–78.
- Mesulam, M. M., and Geula, C. (1990). Shifting patterns of cortical cholinesterases in Alzheimer's disease: implications for treatment, diagnosis, and pathogenesis. Adv. Neurol. 51, 235–240.
- Mesulam, M. M., and Morán, M. A. (1987). Cholinesterases within neurofibrillary tangles related to age and Alzheimer's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 22, 223–228.
- Moreno, R. D. Campos, F. O., Dajas, F., and Inestrosa, N. C. (1998). Developmental regulation of mouse brain monomeric acetylcholinesterase. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 16, 123–134.
- Mori, F., Lai, C. C., Fusi, F., and Giacobini, E. (1995). Cholinesterase inhibitors increase secretion of APPs in rat brain cortex. *Neuroreport* 6, 633–636.
- Muller, F., Dumez, Y., and Massoulié, J. (1985). Molecular forms and solubility of acetylcholinesterase during the embryonic development of rat and human brain. *Brain Res.* 331, 295–302.
- Muñoz-Torrero, D. (2008). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors as diseasemodifying therapies for Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 15, 2433–2455.
- Nitsch, R. M., Slack, B. E., Wurtman, R. J., and Growdon, J. H. (1992).

Release of Alzheimer amyloid precursor derivatives stimulated by activation of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *Science* 258, 304–307.

- Ogane, N., Giacobini, E., and Messamore, E. (1992). Preferential inhibition of acetylcholinesterase molecular forms in rat brain. *Neurochem. Res.* 17, 489–495.
- Pakaski, M., Papp, H., Rakonczay, Z., Fakla, I., and Kasa, P. (2001). Effects of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors on the metabolism of amyloid precursor protein in vitro. *Neurobiology* (*Bp.*) 9, 55–57.
- Paraoanu, L. E., Steinert, G., Klaczinski, J., Becker-Röck, M., Bytyqi, A., and Layer, P. G. (2006). On functions of cholinesterases during embryonic development. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 30, 201–204.
- Parnetti, L., Chiasserini, D., Andreasson, U., Ohlson, M., Hüls, C., Zetterberg, H., Minthon, L., Wallin, A. K., Andreasen, N., Talesa, V. N., and Blennow, K. (2011). Changes in CSF acetyl- and butyrylcholinesterase activity after long-term treatment with AChE inhibitors in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neurol. Scand. 124, 122–129.
- Peng, Y., Jiang, L., Lee, D. Y., Schachter, S. C., Ma, Z., and Lemere, C. A. (2006). Effects of huperzine a on amyloid precursor protein processing and beta-amyloid generation in human embryonic kidney 293 APP Swedish mutant cells. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 84, 903–911.
- Pepeu, G., and Giovannini, M. G. (2009). Cholinesterase inhibitors and beyond. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 6, 86–96.
- Perrier, A. L., Massoulié, J., and Krejci, E. (2002). PRiMA: the membrane anchor of acetylcholinesterase in the brain. *Neuron* 33, 275–285.
- Perrier, N. A., Salani, M., Falasca, C., Bom, S., Augusti-Tocco, G., and Massoulié, J. (2005). The read through variant of acetylcholinesterase remains very minor after heat shock, organophosphate inhibition and stress, in cell culture and in vivo. J. Neurochem. 94, 629–638.
- Perry, R. H., Blessed, G., Perry, E. K., and Tomlinson, B. E. (1980). Histochemical observations on cholinesterase activities in the brains of elderly normal and demented (Alzheimer-type) patients. Age Ageing 9, 9–16.
- Perry, E. K., Perry, R. H., Blessed, G., and Tomlinson, B. E. (1977). Necropsy evidence of central cholinergic deficits in senile dementia. *Lancet* 1, 189.
- Perry, E. K., Smith, C. J., Atack, J. R., Candy, J. M., Johnson, M., and Perry,

R. H. (1986). Neocortical cholinergic enzyme and receptor activities in the human fetal brain. *J. Neurochem.* 47, 1262–1269.

- Rakonczay, Z. (2003). Potencies and selectivities of inhibitors of acetylcholinesterase and its molecular forms in normal and Alzheimer's disease brain. *Acta Biol. Hung.* 54, 183–189.
- Rees, T., Hammond, P. I., Soreq, H., Younkin, S., and Brimijoin, S. (2003). Acetylcholinesterase promotes beta-amyloid plaques in cerebral cortex. *Neurobiol. Aging* 24, 777–787.
- Rees, T. M., and Brimijoin, S. (2003). The role of acetylcholinesterase in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Drugs Today (Barc.) 39, 75–83.
- Rieger, F., and Vigny, M. (1976). Solubilization and physicochemical characterization of rat brain acetylcholinesterase: development and maturation of its molecular forms. *J. Neurochem.* 27, 121–129.
- Rossner, S., Ueberham, U., Schliebs, R., Perez-Polo, J. R., and Bigl, V. (1998). The regulation of amyloid precursor protein metabolism by cholinergic mechanisms and neurotrophin receptor signaling. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 56, 541–569.
- Rotundo, R. L. (1988). Biogenesis of acetylcholinesterase molecular forms in muscle. Evidence for a rapidly turning over, catalytically inactive precursor pool. *J. Biol. Chem.* 263, 19398–19406.
- Rudd, P. M., Endo, T., Colominas, C., Groth, D., Wheeler, S. F., Harvey, D. J., Wormald, M. R., Serban, H., Prusiner, S. B., Kobata, A., and Dwek, R. A. (1999). Glycosylation differences between the normal and pathogenic prion protein isoforms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 13044–13049.
- Sáez-Valero, J., Barquero, M. S., Marcos, A., McLean, C. A., and Small, D. H. (2000a). Altered glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase in lumbar cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 69, 664–667.
- Sáez-Valero, J., Mok, S. S., and Small, D. H. (2000b). An unusually glycosylated form of acetylcholinesterase is a CSF biomarker for Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neurol. Scand. Suppl. 176, 49–52.
- Sáez-Valero, J., de Ceballos, M. L., Small, D. H., and de Felipe, C. (2002). Changes in molecular isoform distribution of acetylcholinesterase in rat cortex and cerebrospinal fluid after intracerebroventricular administration of amyloid beta-peptide. *Neurosci. Lett.* 325, 199–202.

- Sáez-Valero, J., Sberna, G., McLean, C. A., Masters, C. L., and Small, D. H. (1997). Glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase as diagnostic marker for Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* 350, 929.
- Sáez-Valero, J., Sberna, G., McLean, C. A., and Small, D. H. (1999). Molecular isoform distribution and glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase are altered in brain and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 72, 1600–1608.
- Sberna, G., Sáez-Valero, J., Beyreuther, K., Masters, C. L., and Small, D. H. (1997). The amyloid β-protein of Alzheimer's disease increases acetylcholinesterase expression by increasing intracellular calcium in embryonal carcinoma P19 cells. J. Neurochem. 69, 1177–1184.
- Sberna, G., Sáez-Valero, J., Li, Q. X., Czech, C., Beyreuther, K., Masters, C. L., McLean, C. A., and Small, D. H. (1998). Acetylcholinesterase is increased in the brains of transgenic mice expressing the C-terminal fragment (CT100) of the beta-amyloid protein precursor of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 71, 723–731.
- Sharon, N., and Lis, H. (2004). History of lectins: from hemagglutinins to biological recognition molecules. *Glycobiology* 14, 53R–62R.
- Sihlbom, C., Davidsson, P., Sjögren, M., Wahlund, L. O., and Nilsson, C. L. (2008). Structural and quantitative comparison of cerebrospinal fluid glycoproteins in Alzheimer's disease patients and healthy individuals. *Neurochem. Res.* 33, 1332–1340.
- Silman, I., and Sussman, J. L. (2005). Acetylcholinesterase: "classical" and "non-classical" functions and pharmacology. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 5, 293–302.
- Silveyra, M. X., Cuadrado-Corrales, N., Marcos, A., Barquero, M. S., Rábano, A., Calero, M., and Sáez-Valero, J. (2006). Altered glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. J. Neurochem. 96, 97– 104.
- Silveyra, M. X., Evin, G., Montenegro, M. F., Vidal, C. J., Martínez,

S., Culvenor, J. G., and Sáez-Valero, J. (2008). Presenilin 1 interacts with acetylcholinesterase and alters its enzymatic activity and glycosylation. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 28, 2908–2919.

- Silveyra, M. X., García-Ayllón, M. S., de Barreda, E. G., Small, D. H., Martínez, S., Avila, J., and Sáez-Valero, J. (2011a). Altered expression of brain acetylcholinesterase in FTDP-17 human tau transgenic mice. *Neurobiol. Aging.* doi: 10.1016/ j.neurobiolaging.2011.03.006. [Epub ahead of print].
- Silveyra, M. X., García-Ayllón, M. S., Serra-Basante, C., Mazzoni, V., García-Gutierrez, M. S., Manzanares, J., Culvenor, J. G., and Sáez-Valero, J. (2011b). Changes in acetylcholinesterase expression are associated with altered presenilin-1 levels. *Neurobiol. Aging.* doi: 10.1016/ j.neurobiolaging.2011.04.006. [Epub ahead of print].
- Small, D. H., Michaelson, S., and Sberna, G. (1996). Non-classical actions of cholinesterases: role in cellular differentiation, tumorigenesis and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem. Int.* 28, 453–483.
- Soreq, H., and Seidman, S. (2001). Acetylcholinesterase – new roles for an old actor. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 294–302.
- St George-Hyslop, P. H. (2000). Molecular genetics of Alzheimer's disease. *Biol. Psychiatry* 47, 183–199.
- Sternfeld, M., Shoham, S., Klein, O., Flores-Flores, C., Evron, T., Idelson, G. H., Kitsberg, D., Patrick, J. W., and Soreq, H. (2000). Excess "read-through" acetylcholinesterase attenuates but the "synaptic" variant intensifies neurodeterioration correlates. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 8647–8652.
- Stieger, S., Brodbeck, U., and Witzemann, V. (1987). Inactive monomeric acetylcholinesterase in the low-salt-soluble extract of the electric organ from Torpedo marmorata. J. Neurochem. 49, 460–467.
- Suh, Y. H., and Checler, F. (2002). Amyloid precursor protein, presenilins, and alpha-synuclein: molecular

pathogenesis and pharmacological applications in Alzheimer's disease. *Pharmacol Rev.* 54, 469–525.

- Sung, S. C., and Ruff, B. A. (1983). Molecular forms of sucrose extractable and particulate acetylcholinesterase in the developing and adult rat brain. *Neurochem. Res.* 8, 303–311.
- Talesa, V. N. (2001). Acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease. Mech. Ageing Dev. 122, 1961–1969.
- Taylor, P., and Radic, Z. (1994). The cholinesterases: from genes to proteins. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 34, 281–320.
- Toiber, D., Berson, A., Greenberg, D., Melamed-Book, N., Diamant, S., and Soreq, H. (2008). Nacetylcholinesterase-induced apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS ONE* 3, e3108. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003108
- Ulrich, J., Meier-Ruge, W., Probst, A., Meier, E., and Ipsen, S. (1990). Senile plaques: staining for acetylcholinesterase and A4 protein: a comparative study in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex. *Acta Neuropathol.* 80, 624–628.
- White, A. R., Maher, F., Brazier, M. W., Jobling, M. F., Thyer, J., Stewart, L. R., Thompson, A., Gibson, R., Masters, C. L., Multhaup, G., Beyreuther, K., Barrow, C. J., Collins, S. J., and Cappai, R. (2003). Diverse fibrillar peptides directly bind the Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein and amyloid precursor-like protein 2 resulting in cellular accumulation. *Brain Res.* 966, 231–244.
- Wright, C. I., Geula, C., and Mesulam, M.-M. (1993). Neuroglial cholinesterases in the normal brain and in Alzheimer's disease, relationship to plaques, tangles and patterns of selective vulnerability. *Ann. Neurol.* 34, 373–384.
- Xie, H. Q., Liang, D., Leung, K. W., Chen, V. P., Zhu, K. Y., Chan, W. K., Choi, R. C., Massoulié, J., and Tsim, K. W. (2010). Targeting acetylcholinesterase to membrane rafts: a function mediated by the prolinerich membrane anchor (PRiMA) in neurons. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 11537–11546.

- Younkin, S. G., Goodridge, B., Katz, J., Lockett, G., Nafziger, D., Usiak, M. F., and Younkin, L. H. (1986). Molecular forms of acetylcholinesterases in Alzheimer's disease. *Fed. Proc.* 45, 2982–2988.
- Zakut, H., Matzkel, A., Schejter, E., Avni, A., and Soreq, H. (1985). Polymorphism of acetylcholinesterase in discrete regions of the developing human fetal brain. *J. Neurochem.* 45, 382–389.
- Zhang, Y. W., Thompson, R., Zhang, H., and Xu, H. (2011). APP processing in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Brain.* 4, 3.
- Zimmermann, M., Borroni, B., Cattabeni, F., Padovani, A., and Di Luca, M. (2005). Cholinesterase inhibitors influence APP metabolism in Alzheimer disease patients. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 19, 237–242.
- Zimmermann, M., Gardoni, F., Marcello, E., Colciaghi, F., Borroni, B., Padovani, A., Cattabeni, F., and Di Luca, M. (2004). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors increase ADAM10 activity by promoting its trafficking in neuroblastoma cell lines. J. Neurochem. 90, 1489–1499.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 21 June 2011; paper pending published: 27 July 2011; accepted: 24 August 2011; published online: 13 September 2011.

Citation: García-Ayllón M-S, Small DH, Avila J and Sáez-Valero J (2011) Revisiting the role of acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease: cross-talk with P-tau and β -amyloid. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 4:22. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011.00022

Copyright © 2011 García-Ayllón, Small, Avila and Sáez-Valero. This is an openaccess article subject to a non-exclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.



Stressing hematopoiesis and immunity: an acetylcholinesterase window into nervous and immune system interactions

Adi Gilboa-Geffen^{1,2}, Gunther Hartmann² and Hermona Soreq¹*

¹ The Edmond and Lily Safra Center for Brain Sciences and the Institute of Life Sciences, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel ² Institutes of Clinical Chemistry and Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital Bonn, Bonn, Germany

Edited by:

Karl Tsim, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, China

Reviewed by:

Miou Zhou, University of California, Los Angeles, USA Bernard Jasmin, University of Ottawa, Canada

*Correspondence:

Hermona Soreq, The Edmond and Lily Safra Center of Brain Sciences, The Edmond J. Safra Campus, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Givat Ram, Jerusalem 91904, Israel. e-mail: soreq@cc.huji.ac.il Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) differentiate and generate all blood cell lineages while maintaining self-renewal ability throughout life. Systemic responses to stressful insults, either psychological or physical exert both stimulating and down-regulating effects on these dynamic members of the immune system. Stress-facilitated division and re-oriented differentiation of progenitor cells modifies hematopoietic cell type composition, while enhancing cytokine production and promoting inflammation. Inversely, stress-induced increases in the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh) act to mitigate inflammatory response and regain homeostasis. This signaling process is terminated when ACh is hydrolyzed by acetylcholinesterase (AChE). Alternative splicing, which is stress-modified, changes the composition of AChE variants, modifying their terminal sequences, susceptibility for microRNA suppression, and sub-cellular localizations. Intriguingly, the effects of stress and AChE variants on hematopoietic development and inflammation in health and disease are both subject to small molecule as well as oligonucleotide-mediated manipulations in vitro and in vivo. The therapeutic agents can thus be targeted to the enzyme protein, its encoding mRNA transcripts, or the regulator microRNA-132, opening new venues for therapeutic interference with multiple nervous and immune system diseases.

Keywords: acetylcholinesterase, hematopoiesis, stress

INTRODUCTION

Stress can be defined as a psychological, environmental, or physiologic threat on homeostasis (Chrousos, 2009). Psychological stress begins with impulses from high cortical centers via the limbic system and results in the release of chemical mediators. Catecholamine signals, and specifically, nor-adrenaline, are then released from sympathetic nerve fibers in direct proximity to target tissues assisting the body to launch a fight-or-flight reaction, increasing heart rate, and blood flow to skeletal muscles while decreasing immune reactions (Padgett and Glaser, 2003). Another key contributor to these processes is the parasympathetic neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh) which is fundamental for nervous system function (Kaufer et al., 1998) and is also produced by peripheral leukocytes (Kawashima and Fujii, 2000). These two pivotal neurotransmitters are both up-regulated during stress and can activate the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) and the sympathetic adrenal medulla (Black, 2002). Specifically, sustaining moderate ACh levels is crucial for maintaining homeostasis: abrupt stress-induced elevation of ACh signaling may be lethal whereas its gradual loss, as in Alzheimer's disease, multiple system atrophy, and other neuro-degeneration conditions, is associated with progressive deterioration of cognitive, autonomic, and neuromuscular functions (Soreq and Seidman, 2001). Also, activation of cholinergic receptors is beneficial in pathological

states such as atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, hypertensive vasculopathy and nephropathy, and heart failure, largely due to yet incompletely understood mechanisms (Chrousos, 2009; McEwen and Gianaros, 2011). In our current review, we argue that moderate ACh levels are also crucial for controlling immune and inflammatory functions, both in the brain and in peripheral tissues and that acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is a key contributor toward sustaining these levels.

The dynamic hematopoiesis process of blood cell production and differentiation is notably characterized by a continuous turnover of cells throughout life. Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are characterized by their ability to generate all blood cell lineages while maintaining self-renewal. These properties are modified substantially when the host of these cells is exposed to either psychological or physical stressors (Dudakov et al., 2010), so that cells from the bone marrow and the vascular marginal pool are rapidly mobilized to the circulation (Rafii et al., 1995). Consequently, cytokines and chemokines capable of activating cells to immediately respond to various stimuli regulate the production and longevity and determine the number of circulating blood cells (Cavazzana-Calvo et al., 2011). Cytokines further regulate the division and differentiation of progenitor cells to develop into morphologically recognizable cells with distinctive phenotype features. Myelopoiesis involves the production of granulocytes, monocytes, red blood cells (RBCs) and the plateletproducing megakaryocytes (Mks). The lymphoid progenitor cells can differentiate into T, B, or natural killer (NK) lymphocytes, depending on the microenvironment. Importantly, mesenchymal stem cells carry both nicotinic and muscarinic ACh receptors (Hoogduijn et al., 2009). Stress-inducible changes in cholinergic signaling and in any of these populations can hence drastically modulate immune functions.

STRESS-AFFECTED HEMATOPOIESIS AND NEUROPOIESIS

There are many interactions between the nervous and hematopoietic systems. These include sequence and structural homology between neuropoietic and hematopoietic factors. Neuropoietic factors such as cholinergic differentiation factor (CDF) and ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) determine the developmental fate of sympathetic neurons from noradrenergic to cholinergic function. These show homologies to the hematopoietic cytokines granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) and interleukin-6 (Bazan, 1991).

Hematopoietic factors may affect differentiation and regeneration of cholinergic neurons. In contrast, scopolamine, a muscarinic ACh receptor blocker, can abolish stress-induced erythropoiesis (Gol'dberg et al., 2000), and deficiencies of neuropeptides. Substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) lead to a dramatic fall in neutrophil production; these neuropeptides stimulate bone marrow colony formation and affect neutrophils production via both direct and indirect effects on bone marrow colony forming units of granulocyte/monocyte progenitors (CFU-GM). The observed effects do not involve peripheral blood CFU-GM, suggesting a direct neural control over BM hematopoiesis (Broome et al., 2000). Furthermore, erythropoietin was shown to exert neurotrophic and neuroprotective activities in different in vivo and in vitro models of brain damage as well as an anti-apoptotic effect on microglia, the brain's resident immune cell (Vairano et al., 2002).

Hematopoietic factors may also affect differentiation and regeneration of cholinergic neurons. In contrast, scopolamine, a muscarinic ACh receptor blocker, can abolish stress-induced erythropoiesis, and deficiencies of neuropeptides. Substance P and CGRP lead to a dramatic fall in neutrophil production; these neuropeptides stimulate bone marrow colony formation and affect neutrophils production via both direct and indirect effects on bone marrow CFU-GM progenitors. The observed effects do not involve peripheral blood CFU-GM, suggesting a direct neural control over BM hematopoiesis.

THE PARASYMPATHETIC SYSTEM ACETYLCHOLINE HYDROLYZING ENZYME ACETYLCHOLINESTERASE AND STRESS

The parasympathetic system and the ACh hydrolyzing enzyme AChE together contribute to the delicate balance of hematopoietic and immune events under stress (Figure 1). ACh produced by the vagus nerve and/or by peripheral leukocytes (Rosas-Ballina et al., 2011) can potently modulate several classical immune reactions by activating the a7 nicotinic receptor a7nAChR on the leukocytes' membrane, which in turn blocks the NF-kB-mediated production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) a. Compatible with this mechanism of action, vagal stimulation suppresses septic shock-like response after bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) injection (Gol'dberg et al., 2000; Tracey, 2002). Tissue residing mononuclear cells also receive cholinergic signaling via ACh secreted from the vagus and/or synthesized in these nucleated immune cells, which have all the components of the cholinergic signaling system: ACh, the ACh synthesizing enzyme choline acetyl-transferase (ChAT), and the co-regulated vesicular ACh transporter VAChT, transcribed from the same transcription unit, the ACh degrading enzyme AChE and functional muscarinic and nicotinic ACh receptors. Correspondingly, ACh receptors were identified on lymphocytes from the thymus, lymph nodes, spleen, and peripheral blood



(Tracey, 2002). Also, vagus nerve stimulation fails to inhibit TNF α production in splenectomized animals during lethal endotoxemia, demonstrating cholinergic innervation of the spleen (Huston et al., 2006).

In mice, peptidergic nerve fibers entering the bone marrow terminate with synapses on stromal and perivascular cells, interactions that were implicated in local inflammation and regulation of leukocyte trafficking (Gol'dberg et al., 2000). Endothelium, a key regulator of leukocyte trafficking during inflammation, is also a target of anti-inflammatory cholinergic mediators; both vagus nerve stimulation and cholinergic agonists significantly block leukocyte migration in vivo (Saeed et al., 2005). Cholinergic neurons are also present in developing thymic rudiments and their presence was associated with increased production of thymic lymphocytes. The cholinergic system also affects HSCs and their niche cells and plays an active role in T cell differentiation. Thus, CD8+ T cells from M1 receptor-deficient mice fail to differentiate into cytolytic T lymphocytes (Zimring et al., 2005). ACh release from spleen T cells can in turn attenuate TNF a production in spleen via a7nAChR expressed on innate immune cells (Rosas-Ballina et al., 2010). Furthermore, T cells show plasticity in their response to cholinergic stimuli, so that nicotine upregulates interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and down-regulates interleukin (IL)-17 secretion, whereas muscarin enhances IL-10 and IL-17 and inhibits INF- γ secretion. As is implicated from the numerous studies stated above, ACh signaling is essential for T-cell activation and its opposite function may be required to synchronize and balance ionic and metabolic events in a single lymphocyte. Within the T-cell, the ACh regulatory axis may provide for a fine tuning of the T cells to changing environment (Qian et al., 2011).

In all peripheral tissues, ACh signals normally remain above a certain threshold sufficient to suppress the production of proinflammatory cytokines, yet are transiently reduced following stress due to AChE over-production which lasts several hours (Nance and Sanders, 2007). Within 24 h, elevation of the AChEtargeted microRNA-132 (Shaked et al., 2009; Soreq and Wolf, 2011) reduces AChE levels, retrieving ACh-mediated blockade of pro-inflammatory cytokines production. Therefore, stress responses also facilitate yet more IL-1 production (Gilboa-Geffen et al., 2007). Monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, and T lymphocytes which infiltrate peripheral organs and accelerate pathological processes are exposed to the adrenergic and cholinergic transmitters released by the autonomic innervations of these organs, which could dramatically alter cytokine release (Nance and Sanders, 2007). That serum AChE activity continuously increases with age (Sklan et al., 2004) may suggest aging-related deterioration in the efficacy of this regulation process.

Under stress, the elevated glucocorticoid cortisol interacts with two cytosine/guanosine (CpG-rich) sequence motifs in the AChE promoter to induce nuclear transcriptional and posttranscriptional events of over-production of AChE and replace the major stable AChE splice variant AChE-S by the less stable AChE-R variant (Figure 2) (Meshorer et al., 2002). This effect associates with release from AChE-R of the cleavable Cterminal peptide ARP. Both AChE-R and ARP can stimulate the proliferation of CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells and facilitate the proliferation and differentiation of promegakaryocytes and subsequent platelet production (Pick et al., 2006). When secreted, the extra-cellular AChE-R hydrolyzes ACh as efficiently as AChE-S, further facilitating the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines; and when retained in the intracellular space AChE-R interacts through the C-terminal ARP peptide with several partner signaling proteins, also promoting cell proliferation (Meshorer et al., 2005). Ex vivo, ARP was more effective than cortisol and equally effective as stem cell factor in promoting expansion and differentiation of early



FIGURE 2 | AChE controls the anti-inflammatory reflex. (A) At the extracellular space, both AChE-S and AChE-R hydrolyze ACh, impairing its capacity to block, through the α 7 nicotinic ACh receptor, the activation of NF κ B which enables pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion (the so-called "anti-inflammatory reflex"). (B) Under normal conditions, AChE-S is by

far the prominent variant keeping ACh in balance, AChE-R being the soluble, minor component. **(C)** Under stress, excess ACh impairs the cholinergic balance. **(D)** Substitution of AChE-S with excess AChE-R facilitates ACh hydrolysis, shifting the imbalance to AChE excess [Ofek et al. (2007)].

hematopoietic progenitor cells into myeloid and Mk lineages (Pick et al., 2006).

Tissue macrophages are effectively deactivated when exposed to ACh, suppressing the release of the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-18 at the post-transcriptional level (Tracey, 2002). Among other effects, immune stimuli induce over-expression of the AChE-targeting microRNA-132 in leukocytes (Soreq and Wolf, 2011). Consequently, microRNA-132 reduces AChE levels, increasing the available ACh and finally inhibiting the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Wang et al., 2003). Inversely, mice engineered to over-express a 3'shortened and hence microRNA-132 refractory AChE-R present excessive leukocyte recruitment into the peritoneum, higher levels of inflammatory cytokines than strain-matched controls and impaired cholinergic anti-inflammatory regulation in spite of substantial microRNA-132 up-regulation both in the bone marrow and the hypothalamus. Intravenous injection to wildtype mice of an LNA-modified anti-miR-132 oligonucleotide increases AChE activity in the bone marrow, spleen, and serum, with parallel consequences (Shaked et al., 2009). MiR-132 has been shown to be a regulator of neuronal structure and function. Transgenic mice over-expressing miR-132 in forebrain neurons display increased dendritic spine density and decreased expression of MeCP2, a protein implicated in Rett Syndrome and other disorders of mental retardation. These mice displayed significant deficits in novel object recognition (Hansen et al., 2010). However, shRNA-mediated suppression of the "synaptic" AChE-S variant prevented the increase in miR-132 following footshock stress, suggesting bidirectional regulation (Shaltiel et al., in press).

Furthermore, miR-132 has been shown to be induced during periods of active synaptogenesis and is necessary and sufficient for hippocampal spine formation. Knockdown of the miR-132 target p250GAP increases spine formation while overexpression attenuates this activity (Impey et al., 2010).

AChE AND GRANULOCYTOSIS

AChE-R and ARP both induce granulocytosis (Grisaru et al., 2001). The specificity of ARP is supported by the finding that ASP, the parallel yet distinct C-terminal peptide of AChE-S, fails to induce such effects (**Figure 3**). In the post-partum human serum, AChE-R excess was speculated to lead to reduced ACh concentrations. AChE-R accumulation might hence be perceived as an adaptive response, facilitating the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines to protect the body from post-partum conditions, such as infections. This is compatible with observations of increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines under stress and further proliferative and cell activation signals (Broome et al., 2000). Protracted post-stress granulocytosis initiated by cortisol would then increase AChE-R production and reduce ACh's anti-inflammatory action.

Subsequent secondary feedback response to the initial excess of ACh and AChE in the periphery is needed to re-balance parasympathetic activities (Erb et al., 2001), suppress the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in macrophages (Tracey, 2002), and terminate the granulocytosis process. Such responses can potentially involve changes in miR-132 which can suppress AChE activities. In contrast, IL-1 β induces ACHE gene expression in phaeochromocytoma cells (Li et al., 2000) (**Figure 4**). The involvement of AChE-R in immune system activities under acute



FIGURE 3 | AChE variants exert hematopoietic effects through common and distinct protein partners. (A) The common core domain of AChE interacts with laminin. (B) To validate partner interactions, the C-termini of AChE-S and AChE-R were constructed together with GFP. (C) The C-terminus of AChE-S interacts with the anti-apoptogenic nuclear CtBp, whereas intracellular AChE-R interacts with the proliferation activating scaffold PKC β carrier RACK1 and with Enolase. (**D**) Fluorescent cell images: GFP constructs direct the AChE-S and AChE-R C-termini to nucleus and cytoplasm, respectively [Perry et al. (2007)].



stress further prolongs the beneficial (pro-inflammatory) HPA effects mediated through cortisol. While explaining the harmful aspects of stress (chronically high cytokine levels) (Grisaru et al., 2001), increased levels of AChE-R can also maintain the immune system at high alert, avoiding acute suppression of the immune system and providing protection from bacterial infection.

THE AChE-S SPLICE VARIANT CAUSES LEUKOPENIA

AChE gene expression increases during apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2002), and silencing of the AChE gene by small interference (si) RNA prevents apoptosis (Pick et al., 2006). Given that AChE-S is by far the major AChE splice variant in all tissues (Soreq and Seidman, 2001), this suggests that AChE-S induces apoptosis, alternatively or additionally to its known role in the apoptosome formation. One possible mechanism through which this could occur involves the interaction of AChE-S with the anti-apoptotic C-terminal binding protein (CtBP). Supporting this notion,

AChE-S excess capable of blocking the anti-apoptotic effect of CtBp reduces T lymphopoiesis and thrombopoiesis, inversely to the effect of AChE-R, which up-regulates hematopoiesis (Gilboa-Geffen et al., 2007). Correspondingly, AChE-S overexpressing mice (TgS) present elevated hemoglobin and total RBC counts accompanied by decreased platelet counts, GR1 + myeloid cells and T lymphocytes [both T helper (CD4+) and T suppressor cells (CD8+)], but unchanged content of monocytes (CD11b+) and B lymphocytes (CD19+) (Perry et al., 2007). This suggests that the CFU-GEMM progenitor cells from AChE-S over-expressing mice preferentially differentiate toward erythropoiesis rather than megakaryocytopoiesis and granulopoiesis, inverse to the stress-induced enhancement of granulopoiesis and thrombocytosis, under AChE-R over-expression (Grisaru et al., 2001). Together, under acute stress (Gilboa-Geffen et al., 2007; Perry et al., 2007), elevated AChE-R and decreased AChE-S levels can, therefore, induce a bimodal myelopoietic and thrombopoietic effect: first, by increasing AChE-R inducing proliferation,

and second by enhancing the CtBP-anti-apoptotic effect due to AChE-S loss which releases CtBP from AChE/CtBP complexes (**Figure 4**).

STRESS-INDUCED THROMBOPOIESIS

Thrombopoiesis increases in response to stress-increased production of AChE-R. This likely involves AChE-R interaction with the scaffold protein RACK1 and its cargo PKCE (Perry et al., 2007), which induces megakaryocytic differentiation in HEL and K562 cells and in primary human HSCs (Lev-Lehman et al., 1997). TPO and platelet counts also increase in the AChE-R overproducing TgR mice as compared to the strain-matched control mice. This affects the non-fatal LPS response: LPS administration (5 ug/kg) induces a rapid fall in platelet counts in both TgR and control mice, but platelet and WBC recovery is considerably faster in TgR mice, likely due to the increased capacity of TgR BM progenitors to proliferate and differentiate into pluripotent CFU-GEMM, CFU-GM, and CFU-Mk (Pick et al., 2006; Perry et al., 2007). Moreover, thrombopoietin (TPO) increases PKCE expression in mouse Mks, whereas blocking PKC activation inhibits platelet formation (Deutsch et al., 2002). Thus, the elevated levels of TPO, AChE-R, and PKCE in plasma and Mks from TgR mice support the notion of a cholinergic promotion of thrombopoietic signal transduction both through the hydrolytic and the non-enzymatic features of AChE-R. The pivotal role played by AChE-R and ARP in hematopoiesis and thrombopoiesis suggests a potential new strategy for improving post-engraftment thrombopoiesis.

STRESS AND THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT

In the autoimmune disease Myasthenia gravis (MG) AChE-R translocates to the membrane-associated fraction of thymocytes, reflecting the activation state of the thymic cells. Like thymus from MG patients, the thymus from TgR mice displays an abnormally high number of immature thymocytes compared to control mice. PKCBII which plays a role in B cell receptor survival signaling (Oshevski et al., 1999) is also over-expressed in TgR mice compared to FVB/N controls. AChE-R could thus protect immature thymocytes from apoptosis, maintaining a high level of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Rojnuckarin and Kaushansky, 2001). The high number of thymocytes in TgR mice is compatible with production of AChE-R by cortical stromal cells exerting a protective signal from apoptosis to the neighboring thymocytes. That immature thymocytes located in the cortex require contact signals with the cortical epithelium to survive (Toiber et al., 2008), may therefore, explain why excessive AChE-R production by cortical stromal cells induces an efficient positive selection process in the TgR thymus. Also, AChE-R could be produced by the thymocytes themselves, and thymocytes cultured from TgR mice are more resistant to apoptosis than normal thymocytes, even in the absence of stromal cells. Cholinergic signals and AChE's catalytic activity thus influence thymocytic apoptosis in inverse directions, so that the pro-apoptotic effect of ACh is counterbalanced by a proliferative effect that could be predominant for the AChE-R variant. Supporting this notion, the TgR thymus presents more proliferating cells (expressing the Ki67 antigen) compared to control mice (Gilboa-Geffen et al., 2007) (Figure 5).

STRESS, AChE SPLICE VARIANTS AND ANTISENSE MODULATION

Antisense oligonucleotides are short synthetic strands of modified DNA or RNA designed to hybridize within the cell with target-specific mRNA by Watson-Crick base pairing. Binding activates RNAses that degrade them. RNA-antisense complexes block synthesis of the protein encoded by the mRNA sequence and release the antisense agent to bind to a further strand of mRNA, creating a recycling antisense mechanism. An antisense agent which selectively destroys AChE-R, EN101 (currently denoted BL-7040) is a 20-mer oligonucleotide, chemically modified by incorporating 2'oxymethyl groups in the last three nucleotides at its 3' end. EN101/BL-7040 binds to a coding sequence common to all splice variants of human AChE (Evron et al., 2005). Since the AChE-R mRNA transcript includes less guanosines and cytosines than AChE-S, it is intrinsically less stable and more sensitive to this treatment. BL-7040/EN101 is an FDA approved orphan drug shown to be safe for human use and active both intravenously and orally in the suppression of the progressive muscle fatigue symptoms of rats with experimental myasthenia gravis (MG), an autoimmune neuromuscular disease involved with systemic AChE-R over-production (Brenner et al., 2003). It was also demonstrated to suppress AChE-R in primates (Evron et al., 2005) and in human myasthenic patients (Argov et al., 2007; Sussman et al., 2008).

Other short oligonucleotides, designated aptamers can be selected to tightly and specifically bind a target protein molecule (Que-Gewirth and Sullenger, 2007) and have been approved for the therapeutic use by the US FDA. A 50-mer nuclease-resistant RNA aptamer with 2'-amino-modified pyrimidines can recognize human muscarinic AChR, and cross-react with MG patient autoantibodies (Lee and Sullenger, 1997), efficiently preventing them from down-modulating AChR expression on human cells (Que-Gewirth and Sullenger, 2007). Intriguingly, BL-7040 also operates as an aptamer activator of Toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9) facilitating an alternative route of NFkB, controlling salivary function (Gilboa-Geffen et al., 2011) and avoiding post-traumatic stress in mice exposed to predator scent (Zimmerman et al., 2012).

STRESS AND NEUROIMMUNE SIGNALING

Within the central nervous system, neuronal ACh levels rapidly increase under stress, followed by a feedback response of AChE overproduction which can tilt the balance to reduce ACh levels (Kaufer et al., 1998). Correspondingly, the key pro-inflammatory mediator IL-1 is over-expressed in the brain under stress. That IL-1 can induce neuronal AChE synthesis (Li et al., 2000) would further suppress ACh levels, inducing a feed-forward loop of stress-inducible inflammatory response in the brain. This response is pivotal for those neural systems thought to be involved in stress effects in PTSD in humans (Rauch et al., 2006) and in predator stress effects in animals (Adamec et al., 2005). Systems implicated include the amygdala, hippocampus, and medial prefrontal cortex and brain stem targets of forebrain limbic systems. It is unlikely that within such complex circuitry, changes in one system are responsible for all lasting effects of stress. Nevertheless, neuronal AChE-R has been found to be functionally involved in



stress-mediated facilitation of fear learning, limbic neural plasticity, and change in affect in predator stress (Adamec and Shallow, 1993; Nijholt et al., 2004; Adamec et al., 2008). Specifically, stressinduced transcription of AChE-R facilitates neuroplasticity in the brain's limbic structures, resulting in long-lasting changes in neural systems (Meshorer et al., 2002; Nijholt et al., 2004).

Severe stress may precipitate affective disorder lasting up to a life time after traumatic stress (Yehuda, 2002). Predator stress (inescapable and unprotected exposure to a cat) likewise lastingly increases rodent anxiety (Adamec and Shallow, 1993). Increased expression of AChE-R following stress has been demonstrated in some of the same areas involved in predator stress-induced limbic neuroplasticity, including the hippocampus and amygdala. Intriguingly, BL-7040/EN101 administration limits these stress reactions. Predator stress abnormally increases the transcription of AChE-R, which in turn alters the neural substrate responsible for the changes in acoustic startle amplitude. BL-7040/EN101 reduces the mRNA for AChE-R, and prevents the occurrence of these changes (Adamec et al., 2008). This effect involves TLR9 activation and is preventable by the TLR9 blocking oligonucleotide ODN 2088 (Zimmerman et al., 2012). It has been proposed that following severely stressful events, AChE-R increases to a level which is no longer adaptive and results in physiological changes which contribute to changes in affect observed in post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Meshorer et al., 2002; Nijholt et al., 2004). Correspondingly, systemic administration of BL-7040/EN101 selectively lowers the level of AChE-R both peripherally (Argov et al., 2007) and in the brain (Evron et al.,

2005; Pollak et al., 2005). In view of the TLR9 involvement, this effect indicates inter-related coordination between the innate immune system and the AChE gene expression. Termination of the granulocytosis response in the periphery thus resembles the termination of stress-inducible neurotransmission in the brain, highlighting the close inter-relationships between the neuronal and immune cell reactions to stress (Kiecolt-Glaser et al., 2003).

NON-CATALYTIC ROLE FOR ACHE IN THE CNS

The stress-related role of neural AChE was inferred from experiments in which over-expression of AChE-R mRNA was suppressed in mice subjected to closed head injury by administration of mouse/EN101 (Shohami et al., 2000). This treatment reduced the number of dead neurons and facilitated neurologic recovery, suggesting that AChE-R and/or secondary element(s) induced by overexpression of AChE-R contributed to neuronal death (Metz and Tracey, 2005). This could reflect a direct contribution of the increased hydrolytic capacity of the induced AChE to reduce the tissue level of ACh, promoting inflammation and tissue damage. Alternatively, or in addition, stress-induced AChE could selectively contribute to cellular apoptosis through its non-catalytic properties, inducing cell death in non-cholinergic neurons as well (Zhang et al., 2002; Park et al., 2004).

Photoreceptor loss is the primary cause of blindness in degenerative diseases such as retinitis pigmentosa and age-related macular degeneration. Exposure of albino rats to bright light provides an established model for photoreceptor damage and stress-induced photoreceptor injury (Stone et al., 1999). A variety of growth hormones, cytokines (LaVail et al., 1992), and antioxidants (Organisciak et al., 1992) were found to partially protect retinal photoreceptors from light damage, suggesting causal involvement of stress-induced processes. The importance of AChE gene expression for retinal maintenance was experimentally validated in a detailed neuro-anatomic survey that demonstrated impaired formation of the inner retina and degeneration of photoreceptors in an AChE knockout mouse where ALL of the AChE variants are missing (Bytyqi et al., 2004). The major excitatory neurotransmitter of the retina is L-glutamate, whereas ACh plays a limited role in visual information processing within the retina and is found mainly in amacrine and ganglion cells in the proximal part of the retina (Hutchins, 1987; Criswell and Brandon, 1993). Either AChE-S or AChE-R can appear either with a cleavable N-terminal signal peptide or with an extended N terminus, potentially making it membrane bound. AChE mRNA expression in human adult photoreceptors (Broide et al., 1999), cells that are not involved in cholinergic synaptic activity further raises the possibility that AChE in photoreceptors exerts stress-related morphogenic function(s). It was shown that the N-AChE protein plays a detrimental role, exacerbating photoreceptor injury after exposure to bright, damaging light. Notably, EN101 treatment limited light-induced damages to the retina (Kehat et al., 2007). Future experiments are needed to find out whether N-AChE-R accumulates in retinal (and other) neurons after other stressful episodes such as increased pressure (glaucoma), metabolic stress (diabetes), and ischemia, where it may play detrimental role(s) promoting neuronal and specifically retinal damage.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

To properly function, the immune system depends on a finetuned balance of immune cell activation, proliferation, and differentiation which is perturbed under stress. Consequently,

REFERENCES

- Adamec, R., Head, D., Soreq, H., and Blundell, J. (2008). The role of the read through variant of acetylcholinesterase in anxiogenic effects of predator stress in mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 189, 180–190.
- Adamec, R. E., Blundell, J., and Burton, P. (2005). Neural circuit changes mediating lasting brain and behavioral response to predator stress. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 29, 1225–1241.
- Adamec, R. E., and Shallow, T. (1993). Lasting effects on rodent anxiety of a single exposure to a cat. *Physiol. Behav.* 54, 101–109.
- Argov, Z., Mckee, D., Agus, S., Brawer, S., Shlomowitz, N., Yoseph, O. B., Soreq, H., and Sussman, J. D. (2007). Treatment of human myasthenia gravis with oral antisense suppression of acetylcholinesterase. *Neurology* 69, 699–700.
- Bazan, J. F. (1991). Neuropoietic cytokines in the hematopoietic fold. *Neuron* 7, 197–208.

- Black, P. H. (2002). Stress and the inflammatory response: a review of neurogenic inflammation. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 16, 622–653.
- Brenner, T., Hamra-Amitay, Y., Evron, T., Boneva, N., Seidman, S., and Soreq, H. (2003). The role of readthrough acetylcholinesterase in the pathophysiology of myasthenia gravis. *FASEB J.* 17, 214–222.
- Broide, R. S., Grifman, M., Loewenstein, A., Grisaru, D., Timberg, R., Stone, J., Shani, M., Patrick, J. W., and Soreq, H. (1999). Manipulations of ACHE gene expression suggest non-catalytic involvement of acetylcholinesterase in the functioning of mammalian photoreceptors but not in retinal degeneration. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 71, 137–148.
- Broome, C. S., Whetton, A. D., and Miyan, J. A. (2000). Neuropeptide control of bone marrow neutrophil production is mediated by both direct and indirect effects on

hematopoietic and immune responses are largely modified under stress in an inter-related manner conserved throughout evolution. First, stress inducible changes in hematopoietic processes can substantially modulate both the immune and CNS functions, for example, by over-producing cytokines which can penetrate the brain and affect neuronal activities. Second, the parasympathetic system, largely through AChE modulations, contributes to the delicate balance between hematopoietic and immune events and CNS reactions under stress. The major AChE splice variant AChE-S is replaced by the stress-induced AChE-R variant. Due to modified splicing, consequently impaired AChE-S-CtBp interaction as well as enhanced AChE-R-RACK1 interactions, both enhance granulopoiesis and thrombocytosis. Increased levels of AChE-R can thus trigger beneficial resistance to acute overstimulation under exposure to microbial molecules such as LPS, but at the same time sustaining the harmful effects of chronically high cytokine levels. This balance of stress-inducible positive and negative effects can be maintained by diverse Oligonucleotide treatments, achieving better control over both nervous system and immune functions. While these therapeutic strategies await further studies to discern the corresponding molecular mechanisms, the promising findings can already point at numerous previously unforeseen interactions between the immune and the nervous system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research is supported by Israel Science Foundation's Legacy Heritage grant 378/11 and the German Research Foundation's DFG Trilateral Germany-Israel Palestine Authority Cooperation Program (to Hermona Soreq). Adi Gilboa-Geffen was the incumbent of a FEBS post-doctoral fellowship for work in Bonn. The BL-7040 program has been licensed to BioLineRx for future development.

CFU-GM. Br. J. Haematol. 108, 140-150.

- Bytyqi, A. H., Lockridge, O., Duysen, E., Wang, Y., Wolfrum, U., and Layer, P. G. (2004). Impaired formation of the inner retina in an AChE knockout mouse results in degeneration of all photoreceptors. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 20, 2953–2962.
- Cavazzana-Calvo, M., Fischer, A., Bushman, F. D., Payen, E., Hacein-Bey-Abina, S., and Leboulch, P. (2011). Is normal hematopoiesis maintained solely by long-term multipotent stem cells? *Blood* 117, 4420–4424.
- Chrousos, G. P. (2009). Stress and disorders of the stress system. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 5, 374–381.
- Criswell, M. H., and Brandon, C. (1993). Acetylcholinesterase and choline acetyltransferase localization patterns do correspond in cat and rat retinas. *Vision Res.* 33, 1747–1753.
- Deutsch, V. R., Pick, M., Perry, C., Grisaru, D., Hemo, Y.,

Golan-Hadari, D., Grant, A., Eldor, A., and Soreq, H. (2002). The stress-associated acetylcholinesterase variant AChE-R is expressed in human CD34(+) hematopoietic progenitors and its C-terminal peptide ARP promotes their proliferation. *Exp. Hematol.* 30, 1153–1161.

- Dudakov, J. A., Khong, D. M., Boyd, R. L., and Chidgey, A. P. (2010). Feeding the fire: the role of defective bone marrow function in exacerbating thymic involution. *Trends Immunol.* 31, 191–198.
- Erb, C., Troost, J., Kopf, S., Schmitt, U., Loffelholz, K., Soreq, H., and Klein, J. (2001). Compensatory mechanisms enhance hippocampal acetylcholine release in transgenic mice expressing human acetylcholinesterase. J. Neurochem. 77, 638–646.
- Evron, T., Moyal-Segal, L. B., Lamm, N., Geffen, A., and Soreq, H. (2005). RNA-targeted suppression of stressinduced allostasis in primate spinal

cord neurons. Neurodegener. Dis. 2, 16–27.

- Gilboa-Geffen, A., Lacoste, P. P., Soreq, L., Cizeron-Clairac, G., Le Panse, R., Truffault, F., Shaked, I., Soreq, H., and Berrih-Aknin, S. (2007). The thymic theme of acetylcholinesterase splice variants in myasthenia gravis. *Blood* 109, 4383–4391.
- Gilboa-Geffen, A., Wolf, Y., Hanin, G., Melamed-Book, N., Pick, M., Bennett, E. R., Greenberg, D. S., Lester, S., Rischmueller, M., and Soreq, H. (2011). Activation of the alternative NFkappaB pathway improves disease symptoms in a model of Sjogren's syndrome. *PLoS One* 6:e28727. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028727
- Gol'dberg, E. D., Dygai, A. M., Skurikhin, E. G., Provalova, N. V., and Suslov, N. I. (2000). Adrenergic and cholinergic mechanisms of hemopoiesis regulation during experimental neuroses. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 129, 323–326.
- Grisaru, D., Deutsch, V., Shapira, M., Pick, M., Sternfeld, M., Melamed-Book, N., Kaufer, D., Galyam, N., Gait, M. J., Owen, D., Lessing, J. B., Eldor, A., and Soreq, H. (2001). ARP, a peptide derived from the stress-associated acetylcholinesterase variant, has hematopoietic growth promoting activities. *Mol. Med.* 7, 93–105.
- Grisaru, D., Pick, M., Perry, C., Sklan, E. H., Almog, R., Goldberg, I., Naparstek, E., Lessing, J. B., Soreq, H., and Deutsch, V. (2006). Hydrolytic and nonenzymatic functions of acetylcholinesterase comodulate hemopoietic stress responses. J. Immunol. 176, 27–35.
- Guimaraes-Sternberg, C., Meerson, A., Shaked, I., and Soreq, H. (2006). MicroRNA modulation of megakaryoblast fate involves cholinergic signaling. *Leuk. Res.* 30, 583–595.
- Hansen, K. F., Sakamoto, K., Wayman, G. A., Impey, S., and Obrietan, K. (2010). Transgenic miR-132 alters neuronal spine density and impairs novel object recognition memory. *PLoS One* 5:e15497. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015497
- Hoogduijn, M. J., Cheng, A., and Genever, P. G. (2009). Functional nicotinic and muscarinic receptors on mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 18, 103–112.
- Huston, J. M., Ochani, M., Rosas-Ballina, M., Liao, H., Ochani, K., Pavlov, V. A., Gallowitsch-Puerta, M., Ashok, M., Czura, C. J., Foxwell, B., Tracey, K. J., and Ulloa, L. (2006). Splenectomy inactivates the

cholinergic antiinflammatory pathway during lethal endotoxemia and polymicrobial sepsis. *J. Exp. Med.* 203, 1623–1628.

- Hutchins, J. B. (1987). Acetylcholine as a neurotransmitter in the vertebrate retina. *Exp. Eye Res.* 45, 1–38.
- Impey, S., Davare, M., Lasiek, A., Fortin, D., Ando, H., Varlamova, O., Obrietan, K., Soderling, T. R., Goodman, R. H., and Wayman, G. A. (2010). An activity-induced microRNA controls dendritic spine formation by regulating Rac1-PAK signaling. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 43, 146–156.
- Kaufer, D., Friedman, A., Seidman, S., and Soreq, H. (1998). Acute stress facilitates long-lasting changes in cholinergic gene expression. *Nature* 393, 373–377.
- Kawashima, K., and Fujii, T. (2000). Extraneuronal cholinergic system in lymphocytes. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 86, 29–48.
- Kehat, R., Zemel, E., Cuenca, N., Evron, T., Toiber, D., Loewenstein, A., Soreq, H., and Perlman, I. (2007). A novel isoform of acetylcholinesterase exacerbates photoreceptors death after photic stress. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 48, 1290–1297.
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., Preacher, K. J., Maccallum, R. C., Atkinson, C., Malarkey, W. B., and Glaser, R. (2003). Chronic stress and age-related increases in the proinflammatory cytokine IL-6. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 9090–9095.
- LaVail, M. M., Unoki, K., Yasumura, D., Matthes, M. T., Yancopoulos, G. D., and Steinberg, R. H. (1992). Multiple growth factors, cytokines, and neurotrophins rescue photoreceptors from the damaging effects of constant light. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 89, 11249–11253.
- Lee, S. W., and Sullenger, B. A. (1997). Isolation of a nucleaseresistant decoy RNA that can protect human acetylcholine receptors from myasthenic antibodies. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 15, 41–45.
- Lev-Lehman, E., Deutsch, V., Eldor, A., and Soreq, H. (1997). Immature human megakaryocytes produce nuclear-associated acetylcholinesterase. *Blood* 89, 3644–3653.
- Li, Y., Liu, L., Kang, J., Sheng, J. G., Barger, S. W., Mrak, R. E., and Griffin, W. S. (2000). Neuronalglial interactions mediated by interleukin-1 enhance neuronal acetylcholinesterase activity and mRNA expression. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 149–155.

- McEwen, B. S., and Gianaros, P. J. (2011). Stress- and allostasisinduced brain plasticity. Annu. Rev. Med. 62, 431–445.
- Meshorer, E., Bryk, B., Toiber, D., Cohen, J., Podoly, E., Dori, A., and Soreq, H. (2005). SC35 promotes sustainable stress-induced alternative splicing of neuronal acetylcholinesterase mRNA. *Mol. Psychiatry* 10, 985–997.
- Meshorer, E., Erb, C., Gazit, R., Pavlovsky, L., Kaufer, D., Friedman, A., Glick, D., Ben-Arie, N., and Soreq, H. (2002). Alternative splicing and neuritic mRNA translocation under long-term neuronal hypersensitivity. *Science* 295, 508–512.
- Metz, C. N., and Tracey, K. J. (2005). It takes nerve to dampen inflammation. *Nat. Immunol.* 6, 756–757.
- Nance, D. M., and Sanders, V. M. (2007). Autonomic innervation and regulation of the immune system (1987–2007). Brain Behav. Immun. 21, 736–745.
- Nijholt, I., Farchi, N., Kye, M., Sklan, E. H., Shoham, S., Verbeure, B., Owen, D., Hochner, B., Spiess, J., Soreq, H., and Blank, T. (2004). Stress-induced alternative splicing of acetylcholinesterase results in enhanced fear memory and longterm potentiation. *Mol. Psychiatry* 9, 174–183.
- Ofek, K., Krabbe, K. S., Evron, T., Debecco, M., Nielsen, A. R., Brunnsgaad, H., Yirmiya, R., Soreq, H., and Pedersen, B. K. (2007). Cholinergic status modulations in human volunteers under acute inflammation. *J. Mol. Med.* 85, 1239–1251.
- Organisciak, D. T., Darrow, R. M., Jiang, Y. I., Marak, G. E., and Blanks, J. C. (1992). Protection by dimethylthiourea against retinal light damage in rats. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 33, 1599–1609.
- Oshevski, S., LeBousse-Kerdiles, M. C., Clay, D., Levashova, Z., Debili, N., Vitral, N., Jasmin, C., and Castagna, M. (1999). Differential expression of protein kinase C isoform transcripts in human hematopoietic progenitors undergoing differentiation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 263, 603–609.
- Padgett, D. A., and Glaser, R. (2003). How stress influences the immune response. *Trends Immunol.* 24, 444–448.
- Park, S. E., Kim, N. D., and Yoo, Y. H. (2004). Acetylcholinesterase plays a pivotal role in apoptosome formation. *Cancer Res.* 64, 2652–2655.
- Perry, C., Pick, M., Podoly, E., Gilboa-Geffen, A., Zimmerman, G.,

Sklan, E. H., Ben-Shaul, Y., Diamant, S., and Soreq, H. (2007). Acetylcholinesterase/C terminal binding protein interactions modify Ikaros functions, causing T lymphopenia. *Leukemia* 21, 1472–1480.

- Pick, M., Perry, C., Lapidot, T., Guimaraes-Sternberg, C., Naparstek, E., Deutsch, V., and Soreq, H. (2006). Stress-induced cholinergic signaling promotes inflammationassociated thrombopoiesis. *Blood* 107, 3397–3406.
- Pollak, Y., Gilboa, A., Ben-Menachem, O., Ben-Hur, T., Soreq, H., and Yirmiya, R. (2005). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors reduce brain and blood interleukinlbeta production. *Ann. Neurol.* 57, 741–745.
- Qian, J., Galitovskiy, V., Chernyavsky, A. I., Marchenko, S., and Grando, S. A. (2011). Plasticity of the murine spleen T-cell cholinergic receptors and their role in *in vitro* differentiation of naive CD4 T cells toward the Th1, Th2 and Th17 lineages. *Genes Immun*, 12, 222–230.
- Que-Gewirth, N. S., and Sullenger, B. A. (2007). Gene therapy progress and prospects: RNA aptamers. *Gene Ther.* 14, 283–291.
- Rafii, S., Shapiro, F., Pettengell, R., Ferris, B., Nachman, R. L., Moore, M. A., and Asch, A. S. (1995). Human bone marrow microvascular endothelial cells support long-term proliferation and differentiation of myeloid and megakaryocytic progenitors. *Blood* 86, 3353–3363.
- Rauch, S. L., Shin, L. M., and Phelps, E. A. (2006). Neurocircuitry models of posttraumatic stress disorder and extinction: human neuroimaging research–past, present, and future. *Biol. Psychiatry* 60, 376–382.
- Rojnuckarin, P., and Kaushansky, K. (2001). Actin reorganization and proplatelet formation in murine megakaryocytes: the role of protein kinase calpha. *Blood* 97, 154–161.
- Rosas-Ballina, M., Ochani, M., Olofsson, P., Valdés-Ferrer, S., Chavan, S., and Tracey, K. J. (2010). Neural control of acetylcholine release by T cells attenuates TNF production in endotoxemia. *J. Immunol.* 184, 138.124.
- Rosas-Ballina, M., Olofsson, P. S., Ochani, M., Valdes-Ferrer, S. I., Levine, Y. A., Reardon, C., Tusche, M. W., Pavlov, V. A., Andersson, U., Chavan, S., Mak, T. W., and Tracey, K. J. (2011). Acetylcholinesynthesizing T cells relay neural signals in a vagus nerve circuit. *Science* 334, 98–101.

- Saeed, R. W., Varma, S., Peng-Nemeroff, T., Sherry, B., Balakhaneh, D., Huston, J., Tracey, K. J., Al-Abed, Y., and Metz, C. N. (2005). Cholinergic stimulation blocks endothelial cell activation and leukocyte recruitment during inflammation. *J. Exp. Med.* 201, 1113–1123.
- Shaked, I., Meerson, A., Wolf, Y., Avni, R., Greenberg, D., Gilboa-Geffen, A., and Soreq, H. (2009). MicroRNA-132 potentiates cholinergic anti-inflammatory signaling by targeting acetylcholinesterase. *Immunity* 31, 965–973.
- Shaltiel, G., Hanan, M., Wolf, Y., Barbash, S., Kovalev, E., Shoham, S., and Soreq, H. (in press). Hippocampal microRNA-132 mediates stress-inducible cognitive deficits through its acetylcholinesterase target. *Brain Struct. Funct.*
- Shohami, E., Kaufer, D., Chen, Y., Seidman, S., Cohen, O., Ginzberg, D., Melamed-Book, N., Yirmiya, R., and Soreq, H. (2000). Antisense prevention of neuronal damages following head injury in mice. *J. Mol. Med.* 78, 228–236.
- Sklan, E. H., Lowenthal, A., Korner, M., Ritov, Y., Landers, D. M., Rankinen, T., Bouchard, C., Leon, A. S., Rice, T., Rao, D. C., Wilmore, J. H., Skinner, J. S., and Soreq, H.

- (2004). Acetylcholinesterase/paraoxonase genotype and expression predict anxiety scores in Health, Risk Factors, Exercise Training, and Genetics study. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 5512–5517.
- Soreq, H., and Seidman, S. (2001). Acetylcholinesterase–new roles for an old actor. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 294–302.
- Soreq, H., and Wolf, Y. (2011). NeurimmiRs: microRNAs in the neuroimmune interface. *Trends Mol. Med.* 17, 548–555.
- Stone, J., Maslim, J., Valter-Kocsi, K., Mervin, K., Bowers, F., Chu, Y., Barnett, N., Provis, J., Lewis, G., Fisher, S. K., Bisti, S., Gargini, C., Cervetto, L., Merin, S., and Peer, J. (1999). Mechanisms of photoreceptor death and survival in mammalian retina. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.* 18, 689–735.
- Sussman, J. D., Argov, Z., Mckee, D., Hazum, E., Brawer, S., and Soreq, H. (2008). Antisense treatment for myasthenia gravis: experience with monarsen. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 1132, 283–290.
- Toiber, D., Berson, A., Greenberg, D., Melamed-Book, N., Diamant, S., and Soreq, H. (2008). Nacetylcholinesterase-induced apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS One* 3:e3108. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003108

- Tracey, K. J. (2002). The inflammatory reflex. *Nature* 420, 853–859.
- Vairano, M., Dello Russo, C., Pozzoli, G., Battaglia, A., Scambia, G., Tringali, G., Aloe-Spiriti, M. A., Preziosi, P., and Navarra, P. (2002). Erythropoietin exerts antiapoptotic effects on rat microglial cells *in vitro. Eur. J. Neurosci.* 16, 584–592.
- Wang, H., Yu, M., Ochani, M., Amella, C. A., Tanovic, M., Susarla, S., Li, J. H., Yang, H., Ulloa, L., Al-Abed, Y., Czura, C. J., and Tracey, K. J. (2003). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha7 subunit is an essential regulator of inflammation. *Nature* 421, 384–388.
- Yehuda, R. (2002). Post-traumatic stress disorder. N. Engl. J. Med. 346, 108–114.
- Zhang, X. J., Yang, L., Zhao, Q., Caen, J. P., He, H. Y., Jin, Q. H., Guo, L. H., Alemany, M., Zhang, L. Y., and Shi, Y. F. (2002). Induction of acetylcholinesterase expression during apoptosis in various cell types. *Cell Death Differ.* 9, 790–800.
- Zimmerman, G., Shaltiel, G., Barabash, S., Cohen, J., Gasho, C., Shenhar, S., Shalev, H., Berliner, S., Shelef, I., Shoham, S., Friedman, A., Cohen, H., and Soreq, H. (2012). Post-traumatic anxiety associates with failure of the innate immune receptor TLR9 to evade the

pro-inflammatory NFkB pathway. *Transl. Psychiatry* 2, e78.

Zimring, J. C., Kapp, L. M., Yamada, M., Wess, J., and Kapp, J. A. (2005). Regulation of CD8+ cytolytic T lymphocyte differentiation by a cholinergic pathway. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 164, 66–75.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 04 December 2011; paper pending published: 16 January 2012; accepted: 22 February 2012; published online: 16 March 2012.

Citation: Gilboa-Geffen A, Hartmann G and Soreq H (2012) Stressing hematopoiesis and immunity: an acetylcholinesterase window into nervous and immune system interactions. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 5:30. doi: 10.3389/fnmol. 2012.00030

Copyright © 2012 Gilboa-Geffen, Hartmann and Soreq. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Acetylcholinesterase loosens the brain's cholinergic anti-inflammatory response and promotes epileptogenesis

Yehudit Gnatek^{1†‡}, Gabriel Zimmerman^{2,3‡}, Yael Goll^{2,3}, Naim Najami^{1†}, Hermona Soreq^{2,3} and Alon Friedman¹*

¹ Departments of Physiology and Neurobiology, Zlotowski Center of Neuroscience, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva, Israel

² Interdisciplinary Center for Neural Computation, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel

³ The Edmond and Lily Safra Center of Brain Sciences, The Institute of Life Sciences, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel

Edited by:

Karl Tsim, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, China

Reviewed by:

Oleg Krishtal, Ukrainian Academy of Sciences, Ukraine Fabien Pernot, Rhenovia Pharma, France

*Correspondence:

Alon Friedman, Department of physiology, Laboratory for Experimental Neuroscience, Ben-Gurion University, Beer-Sheva, 84105 Israel. e-mail: alonf@bgu.ac.il

[†]Present Address:

Yehudit Gnatek, Sheba Medical Center, Pediatric Stem Cell Research Institute, Tel HaShomer, Israel. Naim Najami, Department of Biology, The Academic Arab College of Education, Haifa, Israel.

***These authors contributed equally to this work.

Recent studies show a key role of brain inflammation in epilepsy. However, the mechanisms controlling brain immune response are only partly understood. In the periphery, acetylcholine (ACh) release by the vagus nerve restrains inflammation by inhibiting the activation of leukocytes. Recent reports suggested a similar anti-inflammatory effect for ACh in the brain. Since brain cholinergic dysfunctions are documented in epileptic animals, we explored changes in brain cholinergic gene expression and associated immune response during pilocarpine-induced epileptogenesis. Levels of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) and inflammatory markers were measured using real-time RT-PCR, in-situ hybridization and immunostaining in wild type (WT) and transgenic mice over-expressing the "synaptic" splice variant AChE-S (TqS). One month following pilocarpine, mice were video-monitored for spontaneous seizures. To test directly the effect of ACh on the brain's innate immune response, cytokines expression levels were measured in acute brain slices treated with cholinergic agents. We report a robust up-regulation of AChE as early as 48 h following pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus (SE). AChE was expressed in hippocampal neurons, microglia, and endothelial cells but rarely in astrocytes. TgS mice overexpressing AChE showed constitutive increased microglial activation, elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines 48h after SE and accelerated epileptogenesis compared to their WT counterparts. Finally we show a direct, muscarine-receptor dependant, nicotine-receptor independent anti-inflammatory effect of ACh in brain slices maintained ex vivo. Our work demonstrates for the first time, that ACh directly suppresses brain innate immune response and that AChE up-regulation after SE is associated with enhanced immune response, facilitating the epileptogenic process. Our results highlight the cholinergic system as a potential new target for the prevention of seizures and epilepsy.

Keywords: acetylcholinesterase, epileptogenesis, hippocampus, inflammation, status epilepticus

INTRODUCTION

Accumulating experimental evidence indicates that brain immune response and inflammatory mediators decrease the threshold for individual seizures and contributes to the process of epileptogenesis (for review see: Vezzani and Granata, 2005; Rijkers et al., 2009; Vezzani et al., 2011). Therefore, understanding the mechanisms controlling the extent and duration of the brain's inflammatory response to status epilepticus (SE) and injury may promote the understanding of epileptogenesis and highlight new therapeutic targets for the prevention and treatment of epilepsy.

Peripheral inflammation is controlled, amongst others, by the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway which involves inhibition of innate immune responses by ACh released from the vagus nerve. This mechanism is dependent on the alpha7 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7nAChR), which inhibits NF-kappaB nuclear translocation and suppresses cytokine release by monocytes and macrophages (Tracey, 2002, 2009). Centrally

acting inhibitors of the ACh hydrolyzing enzyme, acetylcholinesterase (AChE), were shown to enhance the peripheral cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway via central muscarinic receptors (Pavlov et al., 2006, 2009). Recent reports point toward a cholinergic anti-inflammatory mechanism also in the central nervous system (CNS). In cultured microglia, ACh pretreatment inhibited lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) release via α 7nAChR (Shytle et al., 2004). Accordingly, AChE inhibition reduced microglial production of TNF α in a hypoxia model (Wang et al., 2010). AChE inhibitors have also been shown to reduce glial activation and inflammatory cytokine production in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (Nizri et al., 2008) and in a cerebral hypoperfusion model in the rat (Wang et al., 2010).

We recently reported cholinergic dysfunction and upregulation of AChE in temporal lobe structures of SE-experienced epileptic rats (Zimmerman et al., 2008). These results raised the hypothesis that transcriptionally controlled cholinergic imbalance may have a role in brain immune response during epileptogenesis. We thus used the pilocarpine model of epilepsy to study AChE expression and the role of consequent cholinergic imbalance on brain immune response and epileptogenesis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All animal experiments were approved by the Committee for Ethics in Animal experimentation of the Faculty of Health Sciences, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev. Wild type (WT) FVB/N (Harlan Laboratories, Jerusalem), and transgenic mice over-expressing human AChE-S (TgS) (Beeri et al., 1995) were maintained on a 12 h light/dark cycle and had access to food and water ad libitum. All chemicals were purchased from Sigma unless otherwise mentioned.

PILOCARPINE TREATMENT

The well-established pilocapine model for temporal lobe epilepsy was induced (Cavalheiro et al., 1996; Shibley and Smith, 2002; Chen et al., 2005). Pilocarpine (290–340 mg/kg i.p.) was injected to adult (8–16 weeks old, 26–34 g BW) male mice 15 min after pre-treatment with methyl-scopolamine (1.5 mg/kg i.p.). Animals were observed for 2 h after pilocarpine injection, and seizures were evaluated according to a modified version of the Racine scale (Racine, 1972; Borges et al., 2003). SE was defined by continuous seizure activity consisting of stages 3.5–5 seizures, five taken as the onset. Forty minutes from onset, SE was interrupted by injection of diazepam (4 mg/kg i.p.). Control mice were treated with the same protocol, except that saline was injected instead of pilocarpine, followed, 1 h later, by diazepam.

Epilepsy was diagnosed in the presence of at least one spontaneous stage five seizure observed during a 48 h period of video-monitoring, 1–3 months after SE (in 11 WT mice). For the comparison of spontaneous seizures frequency between strains, WT (eight mice) and TgS (12 mice) were simultaneously videomonitored 1 month following SE.

PROCESSING OF TISSUE SAMPLES

Forty-eight hours after SE, animals were deeply anesthetized with isofluorane and decapitated. For enzymatic activity and RT-PCR, brains were quickly removed and the hippocampus was dissected and frozen in liquid nitrogen. All tissues were stored fresh at -80°C. For native protein extraction, frozen tissue was thawed and homogenized on ice with 200 µl homogenization buffer (0.01 M sodium phosphate pH 7.4, 1% triton, 4°C). Lysates were pre-cleared by centrifugation at 17,000 rpm at 4°C for 30 min, and the total protein concentration of the supernatant was determined using Bradford solution (Bio-Rad, Israel) (Bradford, 1976). Bovine serum albumin (BSA) was used as a standard. The supernatants were kept on ice until the cholinesterase assay was performed within 2h after homogenization. For histological staining, hemispheres were either fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in phosphate buffer saline (PBS) for 48 h and paraffin-embedded, or horizontally sliced to 400 µm sections, fixed in 4% PFA in phosphate buffer (PB) (0.1 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.02 M NaH₂PO₄, pH 7.4) and kept in 4°C until re-slicing. Slices were immersed

in 30% sucrose overnight and then re-sliced to $30\,\mu m$ sections in a freezing microtome (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany).

KARNOVSKY-ROOT STAINING IN NON-DENATURING ELECTROPHORESIS GEL AND BRAIN SECTIONS

Electrophoresis of active AChE was performed in non-denaturing conditions. Fifty milligrams protein from each supernatant was loaded on 7.5% vertical polyacrylamide gel at 4°C for 1 h (Bon et al., 1988). Migration was performed in the presence of 0.25% Triton X-100; AChE activity was revealed as reported by Karnovsky and Roots (Karnovsky and Roots, 1964; Kaufer et al., 1998). Bands intensity was quantified using a homemade MatLab script. AChE activity staining was performed in 200 μ m fresh horizontal sections using the same staining solution (Zimmerman et al., 2008). Images were taken with a stereomicroscope (Zeiss, Lumar.V12 and an AxiCam MRc5).

REAL-TIME RT-PCR, In-situ HYBRIDIZATION AND IMMUNOSTAINING

Real-time RT-PCR was performed using a standard protocol as previously described (Zimmerman et al., 2008). Total RNA was extracted using Absolutely RNA Miniprep Kit (Stratagene, CA, USA), and reverse transcribed (300 ng) using Verso[™] cDNA Kit (Thermo, MA, USA). RT-PCR was performed using ABsolute[™] QPCR SYBR® Green ROX (ABgene, UK) in a 7900 HT Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, CA, USA). Quantification was assessed at the logarithmic phase of the PCR reaction. The PCR annealing temperature was 60°C for all primer pairs (**Table 1**). Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was used as a house-keeping gene.

For double labeling histological experiments we combined in-situ hybridization (FISH) with immunofluorescence (IF). Stainings were done on seven µm-thick paraffin-embedded sagittal sections or 30 µm-thick freezing microtome horizontal sections. Prior to staining, 30 µm sections were washed three times in PB and mounted on SuperFrost slides (Thermo, MA, USA). FISH was performed as previously described (Berson et al., 2008) with slight modifications: for antigen retrieval, slides were soaked in 0.01 M citrate buffer pH six, heated in the micro-wave for 15 min, washed in doubledistilled water and with PBT. Hybridization mix [including 50-mer 5'-biotinylated, 2-O-methylprotected complementary RNA probes (Table 2) $10 \mu g/ml$] was applied for 10 min in 60°C and then for 90 min in 52°C (90 min and overnight respectively for 30 µm sections). After washing with TBST buffer (25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 136 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 0.05% Tween-20), slides were incubated in blocking solution for 30 min. Primary antibodies (Table 3) diluted in the blocking solution were incubated (90 min) at room temperature (30 µm sections-overnight in 4°C). After three rinses in TBST, sections were incubated in a mix of streptavidinconjugated Cy2 and Cy3 or Cy5 conjugated goat IgG (Jackson Immunoresearch, 1:100 dilution) in TBST for 1 h at room temperature. Slides were then washed with TBST, and mounted with ImmunoMount (Thermo, MA, USA). Slides stained for Iba1 were incubated in PBS with 0.5% Triton X-100 for 1 h, before blocking.

Table 1 | Primer pairs.

Gene	Accession #	Primers
Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH)	NM017008	F(1242): GGGTGTGAACCACGAG
		R(1417): AGGGGCCATCCACAGTCT
Acetylcholinesterase (AChE)S-variant	AF002993	F(7855): CTTCTGGAACCGCTTCCTCCCCAAATT
		R(6916): GTAGTGGTCGAACTGGTTCTTCCAGTGCAC
Acetylcholinesterase (AChE)R-variant	AF002993	F(7855): CTTCTGGAACCGCTTCCTCCCCAAATT
		R(7779): GGTTACACCTGGCGGGCTCC
Acetylcholinesterase (AChE)N-variant	AY389979	F(188): AATGCTAGGCCTGGTGATGT
		R(285): GGCAGTGGAAACTTCTGGA
Interleukin 1 beta (IL-1β)	NM008361.3	F(368): GCCCATCCTCTGTGACTCAT
		R(597): AGGCCACAGGTATTTTGTCG
Interleukin 12 (IL-12)	M86672.1	F(600): CATCGATGAGCTGATGCAGT
		R(762): CAGATAGCCCATCACCCTGT
Tumor necrosis factor alpha(TNF-α)	NM013693	F(946): AGCCCCCAGTCTGTATCCTT
		R(1157): CTCCCTTTGCAGAACTCAGG
High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1)	NM010439.3	F(4): ACAGAGCGGAGAGAGTGAGG
		R(247): GGGTGCTTCTTCTTGTGCTC

Table 2 | Complementary RNA probes.

Probe	Beginning point in the mouse AChE gene	Sequence
mAChE-S	Exon E6 position 1,392	5'-CCCCUAGUGGGAGGAAGUCGGGGAGGAGUGGACAGGGCCUGGGGGCUCGG-3'
mAChE-R	Intron I4 position 74	5'-AACCCUUGCCGCCUUGUGCAUUCCCUGCUCCCCCACUCCAUGCGCCUAC-3'

Table 3 D	ilution, blocking,	and designated	sections for all	primary antibodies.
-------------	--------------------	----------------	------------------	---------------------

Primary antibody	Source	Dilution	Blocking	Designated sections
Mouse anti-GFAP	Sigma	1:400	4% goat serum (Sigma) +	7μ m-thick paraffin-
Rabbit anti-GAD65/67	Sigma	1:400	2% BSA (Sigma)	embedded sections
Mouse anti-NeuN	Chemicon	1:100		$30\mu m$ -thick freezing
Rabbit anti-Iba1	Wako	1:1000 (+0.3%	Dyna Antibody Diluant	microtome sections
		Triton X-100)	(Dyna Scientific) (+0.5% Triton X-100)	

Abbreviations: GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; GAD, glutamic acid decarboxylase; NeuN, neuronal nuclei; Iba1, ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1.

ACUTE SLICES PREPARATION AND DRUG APPLICATION

Preparation and maintenance of brain slices *ex-vivo* was performed using standard procedures as previously reported (Zimmerman et al., 2008). In short, mice (2–4 month old) were deeply anesthetized; brains quickly removed and 400 μ m horizontal slices were obtained (NVSLM1—motorized advance vibroslice, WPI, USA). Slices were maintained in a standard interface chamber at 36 ± 1°C and were superfused with artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) contained (in mM): NaCl, 129; NaHCO₃, 21; NaH₂PO₄, 1.25; MgSO₄, 1.8; CaCl₂, 1.6; KCl, 3; glucose, 10; pH 7.4. Treated slices were incubated simultaneously with matched controls (in separate chambers). Drugs were added to the bathing solution after 30 min incubation with ACSF for 4 h. Slices were then transferred to liquid nitrogen for RT-PCR. Drugs included carbamylcholine chloride (CCh, 50 μ M), acetylcholine (ACh 10 or 50 μ M), physostigmine (1 μ M), Atropine (1 μM), Mecamylamine (50 μM), α -bungarotoxin (100 μM) and tetrodotoxine (TTX, 1 μM).

MICROSCOPY AND IMAGE ACQUISITION

All fluorescent images were obtained using XYZ scanning with an Olympus FluoView FV1000 confocal microscope (Olympus, Hamburg, Germany) or with a Nikon inverted TI microscope (Nikon, Japan) and a cooled 14 bit CCD camera (Coolsnap HQ2, Photometrics, Tucson AZ). For quantification, Six to eight images (\times 20) from non-overlapping hippocampal fields were taken from each slice (three slices per animal, two to three animals per group) using the same acquisition parameters. Analysis was done using a homemade MatLab script: intensity values for each image were normalized to the mean. A constant cut-off value was set to establish a threshold defining background ("black") and signal ("white") pixels. The total number of white pixels (stained area) for each binary image was summed and that value was later used for statistical analysis.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The non-parametric Mann–Whitney test, One-Way ANOVA, Chi-square (χ^2), and two-tailed independent student *t*-test were applied (SPSS; SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA) as mentioned in the text. *P* < 0.05 was considered significant. Data is expressed as the mean \pm SEM.

RESULTS

SE was achieved in 75.7% of mice injected with pilocarpine (n = 53 out of 70) with a mortality rate of 22.6%. In WT mice, 48 h video-monitoring at 3 months after SE revealed a high percentage (n = 9 out of 11, 82%) of epileptic mice (≥ 1 spontaneous unprovoked stage 5 seizure).

AChE IS UP-REGULATED DURING EPILEPTOGENESIS

As previous studies showed AChE upregulation in chronic epileptic animals, we studied AChE expression 48 h after SE to challenge the hypothesis that cholinergic imbalance occurs early during the epileptogenesis process. All known alternatively spliced AChE mRNA transcripts, including AChE-S, AChE-R, and N-AChE were found to be significantly up-regulated in the hippocampus of treated mice compared to saline-injected controls (**Figure 1A**). Karnovsky–Root staining confirmed increased AChE activity in hippocampal homogenates (**Figure 1B**) as well as in sections obtained from SE-experienced mice (**Figure 1C**). Within the hippocampus, AChE activity was most prominent in the stratum molecular of the dentate gyrus, the stratum oriens of the CA1 and CA3 regions, the subiculum and the entorhinal cortex (**Figure 1C**).

To identify specific cell populations expressing AChE mRNA following SE, we combined AChE FISH with immunostaining against specific cell-type markers. FISH showed intensified

AChE expression in neurons within all regions of the hippocampus, which was most prominent in the pyramidal cell layer of all CA sub-regions (Figures 2A,B,G). In addition, ACHE mRNA was co-localized with GAD positive inhibitory interneurons in all hippocampal sub-regions (Figure 2H). We further searched for AChE expression in glia cells, known to be activated early following SE and suggested to play a role in epileptogenesis (Borges et al., 2003; Turrin and Rivest, 2004; Ivens et al., 2007; Pitkanen et al., 2007; David et al., 2009). GFAP immunostaning indeed indicated a strong astroglial activation after SE (Figures 2C,D); However, while AChE mRNA was observed along blood vessels, probably in endothelial cells, co-labeling experiments failed to reveal significant ACHE mRNA expression within GFAP-positive astrocytes (Figures 2I,J). Conversely, in SE-exposed mice we found a robust increase in immunolabeling for the microglia marker, Iba1 (Figures 2E,F; p < 0.001; control: n = 47, treated: n = 70fields from three sections per animal, 2/3 animals per group; independent t-test), co-labeled with a strong FISH signal for AChE mRNA (Figures 2K,L). In addition, Iba1 positive cells following SE presented perikaryal hypertrophy and processes retraction (Figure 2L), a clear morphological pattern for their activation (Rappold et al., 2006).

BRAIN ACHE LEVELS AND LOCAL IMMUNE RESPONSE

The rapid up-regulation and expression pattern of AChE after SE together with the known cholinergic control of immune response in the periphery led us to challenge the hypothesis that the observed cholinergic imbalance is sufficient to induce a local innate immune response within the brain. We thus tested the immune response in transgenic mice with a constitutive over-expression of the human synaptic variant of acetylcholinesterase (AChE-S) (TgS) before and 48 h following SE. In TgS mice, showing 50% more AChE activity than WT animals (Beeri et al., 1995; and **Figure 3A**), immunolabeling against Iba1 was significantly



FIGURE 1 | AChE up-regulation 48 h post SE. (A) expression levels of AChE-S, AChE-R, and N-AChE 48 h after SE, as revealed by real-time RT-PCR (p = 0.05, 0.053, and 0.025 respectively; n = 5 controls, n = 3 or 4 treated; mean \pm SEM; Mann–Whitney test). **(B)** Top: Karnovsky–Roots staining on

non-denatured activity gel of control and 48 h after SE samples. Bottom: gel quantification (p = 0.05; n = 3; mean \pm SEM; Mann–Whitney test). (C) Karnovsky–Roots staining of 200 μ m horizontal brain sections from control and 48 h post SE mice. C, control; T, treated.



FIGURE 2 | ACHE expression in the hippocampus. (A,B) FISH for ACHE-R in the hippocampus of control (A) and 48 h after SE (B) mice. (C,D) GFAP staining in the hippocampus of control (C) and 48 h post SE (D) mice. (E,F) Iba1 staining in the hippocampus of control (E) and 48 h post SE (F) mice. (G) Double labeling of ACHE (green) and NeuN (red) in CA1 area of a treated animal. (H) Double labeling of ACHE (green) and GAD65/67 (red) in

the hilus of a treated animal. **(I,J)** Double labeling of AChE (green) and GFAP (red) in hippocampus of control **(I)** and treated **(J)** mice (scale 10 μ m). Note the clear positive AChE staining in the blood vessel and the endothelial cells but not in the end fit of GFAP-positive astrocytes surrounding it. **(K,L)** Double labeling of AChE (green) and lba1 (red) in hippocampus of control **(K)** and treated **(L)** mice (scale 10 μ m).

increased compared to WT (p = 0.046; WT: n = 47, TgS: n = 70fields from three sections per animal, 2/3 animals per group; independent *t*-test). This increase was associated with upregulation of mRNA for high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1)-a pro-inflammatory cytokine-like mediator expressed in activated microglia (Lotze and Tracey, 2005; Kim et al., 2006; Hayakawa et al., 2008) (**Figure 3F**; p = 0.014). Forty-eight hours following SE both WT and TgS mice showed higher labeling of Iba1 compared to their matched controls (Figure 3B); However, treated TgS mice showed significantly higher (30%) labeling compared to that observed in treated WTs (17%) (p = 0.043; control: n = 47, treated: n = 71 fields from three sections per animal, 2/3 animals per group; independent *t*-test). In addition, up-regulation of IL-1β and IL-12 was significantly higher in TgS mice compared to WT (Figures 3C,D). SE-induced up-regulation of TNFa mRNA was similar in both WT and TgS mice (Figure 3E). HMGB1 was also upregulated (p = 0.027) in WT exposed to

SE and matched the already high levels in non-treated TgS (Figure 3F).

TgS MICE OVER-EXPRESSING AChE SHOW ACCELERATED EPILEPTOGENESIS

To test whether the observed increase in immune response in treated TgS mice is associated with altered epileptogenesis (Vezzani et al., 2008), we video-monitored WT and TgS mice for 48 h one month after SE. Importantly, no differences in the acute response to pilocarpine (rate of SE, delay to SE, seizure phenotypes, response to diazepam or survival) were observed between WT and TgS mice (**Figures 4A–C**). In contrast, videomonitoring at 1 month uncovered a significantly higher rate of TgS mice presenting spontaneous seizures compared to WT mice (**Figure 4D**). These results support the notion that AChE overexpression is associated with enhanced immune response and facilitated epileptogenesis.



CHOLINERGIC ACTIVATION IS ANTI-INFLAMMATORY IN HIPPOCAMPAL SLICES

Our results suggested that the rapid up-regulation of AChE following SE is associated with enhanced local immune response. To explore to what extent this effect is associated with reduced cholinergic control over the brain innate immune response, we studied the immune response in acute brain slices maintained *exvitro* 4 h following the slicing procedure. We hypothesized that the injury associated with the slicing procedure would activate a significant inflammatory response (Lucas et al., 2006) which could be suppressed by cholinergic stimuli. Indeed, cholinergic activation by 50 μ M CCh reduced mRNA levels of IL1 β and TNF α (**Figure 5A**). Similar results were found with low levels of the physiological agonist, ACh (10 μ M), in the presence of the AChE inhibitor physostigmine (1 μ M, **Figure 5A**). The addition of TTX did not prevent CCh action on the immune response, suggesting it is not dependent on neuronal firing (**Figure 5B**). Importantly, while the non-specific muscarinic receptor antagonist atropine blocked the cholinergic-suppression of inflammatory response, the non-specific nicotinic receptor antagonist, mecamylamine $(50 \,\mu\text{M})$ or the α 7 nicotinic receptor antagonist α -bungarotoxin $(100 \,\text{nM})$ did not (**Figure 5B** and data not shown).

DISCUSSION

In this study we offer experimental evidence indicating that (1) cholinergic imbalance due to upregulation of AChE within the hippocampus is associated with a local immune response; (2) such imbalance and the associated inflammation following SE is associated with epileptogenesis; and (3) ACh acts directly as a modulator of brain innate immune response and thereby affect epileptogenesis.

AChE is the fastest enzyme in mammalian cells and as the enzyme in charge of executing ACh breakdown it is a key component of cholinergic signaling (Meshorer and Soreq, 2006). AChE



levels are controlled via transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms and are dramatically increased under toxicological, physical and psychological stress (Kaufer et al., 1998; Shohami et al., 2000; Meshorer et al., 2002). This fast and robust increase in AChE levels in response to neuronal activation has been suggested to act as an homeostatic control to reduce neuronal excitability (Meshorer et al., 2005b) and on the long-run this response was reported to be associated with enhanced network excitability (Meshorer et al., 2002; Zimmerman et al., 2008). These previous findings raised the hypothesis that AChE will be similarly up-regulated following SE in the pilocarpine model of epilepsy. Indeed, 48 h following SE we recorded increased AChE mRNA and protein levels in SE-experienced mice. Unlike milder and more specific stress manipulations (e.g., psychological) where upregulation was reported to include the readthrough alternatively spliced AChE-R variant (Kaufer et al., 1998; Meshorer et al., 2002), SE was associated with a significant increase in mRNA levels of all three alternatively spliced transcripts (Figure 1). In this

study we used the muscarinic agonist, pilocarpine, to induce SE and thus it is possible that AChE upregulation represents a specific response to the activation of muscarinic receptors. While we cannot entirely exclude this possibility, it seems unlikely in light of a similar up-regulation observed in the brains from chronic epileptic rats following kainic acid-induced SE (Zimmerman et al., 2008). The presence of c-fos binding sites in the promoter of the gene encoding AChE (Meshorer et al., 2004) further suggest that its upregulation is part of the transcriptional response to excess neuronal activation. AChE transcripts were found in both principle and inhibitory interneurons, supporting its role in controlling the hyperexcitable network. In addition, following SE high expression levels of AChE mRNA were also found in morphologically identified endothelial cells, suggesting it may have a role in vascular changes observed following SE, specifically the robust increase in blood-brain barrier (BBB) permeability (van Vliet et al., 2007; Weissberg et al., 2011). This notion is supported by reports on compromised BBB in transgenic mice over-expressing AChE (Meshorer et al., 2005a). The activation of the immune system, and specifically HMGB1 upregulation in these transgenic animals (Figure 3) may also underlie BBB opening (Zhang et al., 2011). AChE transcripts were not found in GFAP positive astrocytes, despite their robust activation during SE. These results are consistent with a previous report showing AChE activity in different lines of neuronal and non-neuronal cells except for astrocytes (Thullbery et al., 2005), although mixed astroglia cells were reported to upregulate the readthrough ACHE transcript following oxidative stress in culture (Bond et al., 2006). High expression levels of ACHE transcripts were found in Iba1 positive microglia following SE and to much less extent in control animals. These results together with the well-described brain immune activation following SE (review by Vezzani et al., 2011) raised the hypothesis that AChE upregulation in microglia may have a role in modulating the innate immune response. This hypothesis is supported by previous studies showing that in microglial cell cultures AChE induces changes in cell morphology as well as iNOS upregulation (von Bernhardi et al., 2003). That the AChE effect is likely to be associated with cholinergic signaling is suggested by the observation that ACh inhibits LPS-induced TNFa release in microglia cultures, an effect attenuated by α -bungarotoxin (Shytle et al., 2004). To test directly the role of AChE overexpression on microglia functions we studied transgenic mice with CNS limited, constitutive up-regulation of synaptic AChE-S (Sternfeld et al., 2000). Indeed, the increase in AChE activity led to increased immunostaining of the microglial marker Iba1 and significant upregulation of mRNA levels for HMGB1 (Figure 3), a newly defined cytokine that can be passively released from necrotic cells or actively released from immune activated cells (Wang et al., 1999; Abraham et al., 2000). Our finding showing that AChE over expression in transgenic animals facilitated epileptogenesis are consistent with recent reports showing a proconvulsant effect of HMGB1 in kainic acid treated mice (Maroso et al., 2010). It is worth noticing that TgS mice showed a robust increase in IL-1ß expression (18-fold higher than WT mice) 48 h following SE, consistent with the welldescribed epileptogenic effects of IL-1\u03b3 (Vezzani et al., 1999; Friedman and Dingledine, 2011). Facilitated epileptogenesis in



TgS mice could not be solely attributed to enhanced seizure activity due to increased network sensitivity to ACh (Meshorer et al., 2002) since the latency and duration of SE in response to pilocarpine were similar in WT mice. This strengthens the notion that AChE upregulation following SE is a response to excess neuronal activation rather than a direct effect of pilocarpine. We cannot rule out at this stage the contribution of other epileptogenic mechanisms including vascular changes (i.e., enhanced BBB permeability) (Marchi et al., 2007; Friedman et al., 2009) or changes in peripheral immune response (Fabene et al., 2008; Marchi et al., 2009). When monitoring WTs for 1–3 month, 82% showed spontaneous seizures, while TgS were not monitored at such a late time point. Therefore, it is feasible that the rate of epileptogenesis and not the end result are different between the strains.

The most direct evidence for cholinergic control over the innate immune response is given in the acute slices experiments demonstrating that adding ACh or CCh to the bathing solution suppressed mRNA levels of IL-1β and TNF-α. In accordance with these results, previous studies demonstrated anti-inflammatory effect for ACh and AChE inhibitors in glial cultures (Shytle et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2010) and for AChE inhibitors in animals (Nizri et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2008, 2010). It is important to note that exposure to centrally acting potent AChE inhibitors induces SE and neuroinflammation that may promote epileptogenesis (Dhote et al., 2007, 2012; De Araujo Furtado et al., 2010). Thus, it seems clear that AChE inhibition per se, perhaps due to enhanced neuronal excitability is usually associated with increased brain inflammation and the transient increase in ACh levels are not sufficient to block completely the brain innate immune processes associated with SE and chronic recurrent seizures (Pernot et al., 2009). Unlike previous studies (mostly in the peripheral nervous system) (Tracey, 2002, 2007; Shytle et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2008), our findings point to muscarinic dependant activation as the underlying pathway. Although muscarinic receptors in the CNS were shown to control the peripheral nicotinic pathway, hinting to complex interactions between the involved pathways (Pavlov et al., 2006, 2009), these interactions could not explain the observations in the *ex-vivo* slice preparation. Since recent studies did show that cytokines act as pro-convulsants (Vezzani et al., 2011), their upregulation may also be attributed to a positive feedback enhancement mechanism. However, it is noteworthy that the sodium channel blocker, TTX had no effect on cholinergic-suppression of cytokine production suggesting that this cholinergic effect is independent of neuronal firing.

In summary, our study suggests for the first time, a role for activity-dependant cholinergic imbalance in brain immune response, epileptogenesis and seizures and may offer a new basis for understanding the role of AChE-inhibitors in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease and similar neurodegenerative disorders. Future studies are warranted to delineate the contribution of cholinergic signaling to brain immune response in neurological and neurodegenerative disorders where immune response has been reported (Amor et al., 2010) as well as its potential as a novel target in the treatment of uncontrolled brain immune response.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Sonderforschungsbereich TR3, the Israel Science Foundation (566/07), The German-Israel Foundation (GIF 1066-124.1/2008) and the National Institute for Neurological Disorders and Stroke (1RO1N5066005).
REFERENCES

- Abraham, E., Arcaroli, J., Carmody, A., Wang, H., and Tracey, K. J. (2000). HMG-1 as a mediator of acute lung inflammation. *J. Immunol.* 165, 2950–2954.
- Amor, S., Puentes, F., Baker, D., and van der Valk, P. (2010). Inflammation in neurodegenerative diseases. *Immunology* 129, 154–169.
- Beeri, R., Andres, C., Lev-Lehman, E., Timberg, R., Huberman, T., Shani, M., and Soreq, H. (1995). Transgenic expression of human acetylcholinesterase induces progressive cognitive deterioration in mice. *Curr. Biol.* 5, 1063–1071.
- Berson, A., Knobloch, M., Hanan, M., Diamant, S., Sharoni, M., Schuppli, D., Geyer, B. C., Ravid, R., Mor, T. S., Nitsch, R. M., and Soreq, H. (2008). Changes in readthrough acetylcholinesterase expression modulate amyloid-beta pathology. *Brain* 131, 109–119.
- Bond, C. E., Patel, P., Crouch, L., Tetlow, N., Day, T., Abu-Hayyeh, S., Williamson, C., and Greenfield, S. A. (2006). Astroglia up-regulate transcription and secretion of 'readthrough' acetylcholinesterase following oxidative stress. *Eur. I. Neurosci.* 24, 381–386.
- Bon, S., Toutant, J. P., Meflah, K., and Massoulie, J. (1988). Amphiphilic and nonamphiphilic forms of Torpedo cholinesterases: I. Solubility and aggregation properties. *J. Neurochem.* 51, 776–785.
- Borges, K., Gearing, M., McDermott, D. L., Smith, A. B., Almonte, A. G., Wainer, B. H., and Dingledine, R. (2003). Neuronal and glial pathological changes during epileptogenesis in the mouse pilocarpine model. *Exp. Neurol.* 182, 21–34.
- Bradford, M. M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal. Biochem.* 72, 248–254.
- Cavalheiro, E. A., Santos, N. F., and Priel, M. R. (1996). The pilocarpine model of epilepsy in mice. *Epilepsia* 37, 1015–1019.
- Chen, J., Larionov, S., Pitsch, J., Hoerold, N., Ullmann, C., Elger, C. E., Schramm, J., and Becker, A. J. (2005). Expression analysis of metabotropic glutamate receptors I and III in mouse strains with different susceptibility to experimental temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurosci. Lett.* 375, 192–197.
- David, Y., Cacheaux, L. P., Ivens, S., Lapilover, E., Heinemann, U., Kaufer, D., and Friedman, A.

(2009). Astrocytic dysfunction in epileptogenesis: consequence of altered potassium and glutamate homeostasis? *J. Neurosci.* 29, 10588–10599.

- De Araujo Furtado, M., Lumley, L. A., Robison, C., Tong, L. C., Lichtenstein, S., and Yourick, D. L. (2010). Spontaneous recurrent seizures after status epilepticus induced by soman in Sprague–Dawley rats. *Epilepsia* 51, 1503–1510.
- Dhote, F., Carpentier, P., Barbier, L., Peinnequin, A., Baille, V., Pernot, F., Testylier, G., Beaup, C., Foquin, A., and Dorandeu, F. (2012). Combinations of ketamine and atropine are neuroprotective and reduce neuroinflammation after a toxic status epilepticus in mice. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 259, 195–209.
- Dhote, F., Peinnequin, A., Carpentier, P., Baille, V., Delacour, C., Foquin, A., Lallement, G., and Dorandeu, F. (2007). Prolonged inflammatory gene response following somaninduced seizures in mice. *Toxicology* 238, 166–176.
- Fabene, P. F., Navarro, M. G., Martinello, M., Rossi, B., Merigo, F., Ottoboni, L., Bach, S., Angiari, S., Benati, D., Chakir, A., Zanetti, L., Schio, F., Osculati, A., Marzola, P., Nicolato, E., Homeister, J. W., Xia, L., Lowe, J. B., McEver, R. P., Osculati, F., Sbarbati, A., Butcher, E. C., and Constantin, G. (2008). A role for leukocyte-endothelial adhesion mechanisms in epilepsy. *Nat. Med.* 14, 1377–1383.
- Friedman, A., and Dingledine, R. (2011). Molecular cascades that mediate the influence of inflammation on epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 52 (Suppl. 3), 33–39.
- Friedman, A., Kaufer, D., and Heinemann, U. (2009). Bloodbrain barrier breakdown-inducing astrocytic transformation: novel targets for the prevention of epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* 85, 142–149.
- Hayakawa, K., Mishima, K., Nozako, M., Hazekawa, M., Mishima, S., Fujioka, M., Orito, K., Egashira, N., Iwasaki, K., and Fujiwara, M. (2008). Delayed treatment with minocycline ameliorates neurologic impairment through activated microglia expressing a highmobility group box1-inhibiting mechanism. Stroke 39, 951–958.
- Ivens, S., Kaufer, D., Flores, L. P., Bechmann, I., Zumsteg, D., Tomkins, O., Seiffert, E., Heinemann, U., and Friedman, A. (2007). TGF-beta receptormediated albumin uptake into

astrocytes is involved in neocortical epileptogenesis. *Brain* 130, 535–547.

- Karnovsky, M. J., and Roots, L. (1964). A "direct-coloring" thiocholine method for cholinesterases. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 12, 219–221.
- Kaufer, D., Friedman, A., Seidman, S., and Soreq, H. (1998). Acute stress facilitates long-lasting changes in cholinergic gene expression. *Nature* 393, 373–377.
- Kim, J. B., Sig, C. J., Yu, Y. M., Nam, K., Piao, C. S., Kim, S. W., Lee, M. H., Han, P. L., Park, J. S., and Lee, J. K. (2006). HMGB1, a novel cytokine-like mediator linking acute neuronal death and delayed neuroinflammation in the postischemic brain. J. Neurosci. 26, 6413–6421.
- Lotze, M. T., and Tracey, K. J. (2005). High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1): nuclear weapon in the immune arsenal. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 5, 331–342.
- Lucas, S. M., Rothwell, N. J., and Gibson, R. M. (2006). The role of inflammation in CNS injury and disease. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 147 (Suppl. 1), S232–S240.
- Marchi, N., Angelov, L., Masaryk, T., Fazio, V., Granata, T., Hernandez, N., Hallene, K., Diglaw, T., Franic, L., Najm, I., and Janigro, D. (2007). Seizure-promoting effect of bloodbrain barrier disruption. *Epilepsia* 48, 732–742.
- Marchi, N., Fan, Q., Ghosh, C., Fazio, V., Bertolini, F., Betto, G., Batra, A., Carlton, E., Najm, I., Granata, T., and Janigro, D. (2009). Antagonism of peripheral inflammation reduces the severity of status epilepticus. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 33, 171–181.
- Maroso, M., Balosso, S., Ravizza, T., Liu, J., Aronica, E., Iyer, A. M., Rossetti, C., Molteni, M., Casalgrandi, M., Manfredi, A. A., Bianchi, M. E., and Vezzani, A. (2010). Toll-like receptor 4 and high-mobility group box-1 are involved in ictogenesis and can be targeted to reduce seizures. *Nat. Med.* 16, 413–419.
- Meshorer, E., Biton, I. E., Ben-Shaul, Y., Ben-Ari, S., Assaf, Y., Soreq, H., and Cohen, Y. (2005a). Chronic cholinergic imbalances promote brain diffusion and transport abnormalities. *FASEB J.* 19, 910–922.
- Meshorer, E., Bryk, B., Toiber, D., Cohen, J., Podoly, E., Dori, A., and Soreq, H. (2005b). SC35 promotes sustainable stress-induced alternative splicing of neuronal acetylcholinesterase mRNA. *Mol. Psychiatry* 10, 985–997.
- Meshorer, E., Erb, C., Gazit, R., Pavlovsky, L., Kaufer, D., Friedman, A., Glick, D., Ben Arie, N., and

Soreq, H. (2002). Alternative splicing and neuritic mRNA translocation under long-term neuronal hypersensitivity. *Science* 295, 508–512.

- Meshorer, E., and Soreq, H. (2006). Virtues and woes of AChE alternative splicing in stress-related neuropathologies. *Trends Neurosci.* 29, 216–224.
- Meshorer, E., Toiber, D., Zurel, D., Sahly, I., Dori, A., Cagnano, E., Schreiber, L., Grisaru, D., Tronche, F., and Soreq, H. (2004). Combinatorial complexity of 5' alternative acetylcholinesterase transcripts and protein products. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 29740–29751.
- Nizri, E., Irony-Tur-Sinai, M., Faranesh, N., Lavon, I., Lavi, E., Weinstock, M., and Brenner, T. (2008). Suppression of neuroinflammation and immunomodulation by the acetylcholinesterase inhibitor rivastigmine. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 203, 12–22.
- Pavlov, V. A., Ochani, M., Gallowitsch-Puerta, M., Ochani, K., Huston, J. M., Czura, C. J., Al-Abed, Y., and Tracey, K. J. (2006). Central muscarinic cholinergic regulation of the systemic inflammatory response during endotoxemia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 5219–5223.
- Pavlov, V. A., Parrish, W. R., Rosas-Ballina, M., Ochani, M., Puerta, M., Ochani, K., Chavan, S., Al-Abed, Y., and Tracey, K. J. (2009). Brain acetylcholinesterase activity controls systemic cytokine levels through the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 23, 41–45.
- Pernot, F., Carpentier, P., Baille, V., Testylier, G., Beaup, C., Foquin, A., Filliat, P., Liscia, P., Coutan, M., Pierard, C., Beracochea, D., and Dorandeu, F. (2009). Intrahippocampal cholinesterase inhibition induces epileptogenesis in mice without evidence of neurodegenerative events. *Neuroscience* 162, 1351–1365.
- Pitkanen, A., Kharatishvili, I., Karhunen, H., Lukasiuk, K., Immonen, R., Nairismägi, J., Gröhn, O., and Nissinen, J. (2007). Epileptogenesis in experimental models. *Epilepsia* 48, 13–20.
- Racine, R. J. (1972). Modification of seizure activity by electrical stimulation. II. Motor seizure. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 32, 281–294.
- Rappold, P. M., Lynd-Balta, E., and Joseph, S. A. (2006). P2X7 receptor immunoreactive profile confined to resting and activated microglia in

the epileptic brain. *Brain Res.* 1089, 171–178.

- Rijkers, K., Majoie, H. J., Hoogland, G., Kenis, G., De, B. M., and Vles, J. S. (2009). The role of interleukin-1 in seizures and epilepsy: a critical review. *Exp. Neurol.* 216, 258–271.
- Shibley, H., and Smith, B. N. (2002). Pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus results in mossy fiber sprouting and spontaneous seizures in C57BL/6 and CD-1 mice. *Epilepsy Res.* 49, 109–120.
- Shohami, E., Kaufer, D., Chen, Y., Seidman, S., Cohen, O., Ginzberg, D., Melamed-Book, N., Yirmiya, R., and Soreq, H. (2000). Antisense prevention of neuronal damages following head injury in mice. J. Mol. Med. 78, 228–236.
- Shytle, R. D., Mori, T., Townsend, K., Vendrame, M., Sun, N., Zeng, J., Ehrhart, J., Silver, A. A., Sanberg, P. R., and Tan, J. (2004). Cholinergic modulation of microglial activation by alpha 7 nicotinic receptors. J. Neurochem. 89, 337–343.
- Sternfeld, M., Shoham, S., Klein, O., Flores-Flores, C., Evron, T., Idelson, G. H., Kitsberg, D., Patrick, J. W., and Soreq, H. (2000). Excess "readthrough" acetylcholinesterase attenuates but the "synaptic" variant intensifies neurodeterioration correlates. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 8647–8652.
- Thullbery, M. D., Cox, H. D., Schule, T., Thompson, C. M., and George, K. M. (2005). Differential localization of acetylcholinesterase in neuronal and non-neuronal cells. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 96, 599–610.

- Tracey, K. J. (2002). The inflammatory reflex. *Nature* 420, 853–859.
- Tracey, K. J. (2007). Physiology and immunology of the cholinergic antiinflammatory pathway. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 289–296.
- Tracey, K. J. (2009). Reflex control of immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 9, 418–428.
- Turrin, N. P., and Rivest, S. (2004). Innate immune reaction in response to seizures: implications for the neuropathology associated with epilepsy. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 16, 321–334.
- van Vliet, E. A., da Costa, A. S., Redeker, S., van Schaik, R., Aronica, E., and Gorter, J. A. (2007). Blood-brain barrier leakage may lead to progression of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Brain* 130, 521–534.
- Vezzani, A., Balosso, S., and Ravizza, T. (2008). The role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of epilepsy. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 22, 797–803.
- Vezzani, A., Conti, M., De, L. A., Ravizza, T., Moneta, D., Marchesi, F., and De Simoni, M. G. (1999). Interleukin-1beta immunoreactivity and microglia are enhanced in the rat hippocampus by focal kainate application: functional evidence for enhancement of electrographic seizures. J. Neurosci. 19, 5054–5065.
- Vezzani, A., French, J., Bartfai, T., and Baram, T. Z. (2011). The role of inflammation in epilepsy. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 7, 31–40.
- Vezzani, A., and Granata, T. (2005). Brain inflammation in epilepsy:

experimental and clinical evidence. *Epilepsia* 46, 1724–1743.

- von Bernhardi, R., Ramirez, G., De Ferrari, G. V., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2003). Acetylcholinesterase induces the expression of the betaamyloid precursor protein in glia and activates glial cells in culture. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 14, 447–457.
- Wang, H., Bloom, O., Zhang, M., Vishnubhakat, J. M., Ombrellino, M., Che, J., Frazier, A., Yang, H., Ivanova, S., Borovikova, L., Manogue, K. R., Faist, E., Abraham, E., Andersson, J., Andersson, U., Molina, P. E., Abumrad, N. N., Sama, A., and Tracey, K. J. (1999). HMG-1 as a late mediator of endotoxin lethality in mice. *Science* 285, 248–251.
- Wang, J., Zhang, H. Y., and Tang, X. C. (2010). Huperzine a improves chronic inflammation and cognitive decline in rats with cerebral hypoperfusion. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 88, 807–815.
- Wang, Z. F., Wang, J., Zhang, H. Y., and Tang, X. C. (2008). Huperzine A exhibits anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects in a rat model of transient focal cerebral ischemia. *J. Neurochem.* 106, 1594–1603.
- Weissberg, I., Reichert, A., Heinemann, U., and Friedman, A. (2011). Blood-brain barrier dysfunction in epileptogenesis of the temporal lobe. *Epilepsy Res. Treat.* doi: 10.1155/2011/143908
- Zhang, J., Takahashi, H. K., Liu, K., Wake, H., Liu, R., Maruo, T., Date, I., Yoshino, T., Ohtsuka, A., Mori, S., and Nishibori, M. (2011).

Anti-high mobility group box-1 monoclonal antibody protects the blood-brain barrier from ischemia-induced disruption in rats. *Stroke* 42, 1420–1428.

Zimmerman, G., Njunting, M., Ivens, S., Tolner, E., Behrens, C. J., Gross, M., Soreq, H., Heinemann, U., and Friedman, A. (2008). Acetylcholineinduced seizure-like activity and modified cholinergic gene expression in chronically epileptic rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 27, 965–975.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 January 2012; paper pending published: 13 February 2012; accepted: 07 May 2012; published online: 18 May 2012.

Citation: Gnatek Y, Zimmerman G, Goll Y, Najami N, Soreq H and Friedman A (2012) Acetylcholinesterase loosens the brain's cholinergic anti-inflammatory response and promotes epileptogenesis. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 5:66. doi: 10.3389/ fnmol.2012.00066

Copyright © 2012 Gnatek, Zimmerman, Goll, Najami, Soreq and Friedman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Cholinesterase-targeting microRNAs identified *in silico* affect specific biological processes

Geula Hanin^{1,2} and Hermona Soreq^{1,2}*

¹ The Alexander Silberman Institute of Life Sciences, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel

² Edmond and Lily Safra Center of Brain Sciences, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel

Edited by:

Karl Tsim, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, China

Reviewed by:

Sheriar Hormuzdi, University of Dundee, UK Javier Saez-Valero, Universidad Miquel Hernandez, Spain

*Correspondence:

Hermona Soreq, The Silberman Institute of Life Sciences, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, The Edmond Safra Campus, Givat Ram, Jerusalem 91904, Israel. e-mail: soreq@cc.huji.ac.il MicroRNAs (miRs) have emerged as important gene silencers affecting many target mRNAs. Here, we report the identification of 244 miRs that target the 3'-untranslated regions of different cholinesterase transcripts: 116 for butyrylcholinesterase (BChE), 47 for the synaptic acetylcholinesterase (AChE-S) splice variant, and 81 for the normally rare splice variant AChE-R. Of these, 11 and 6 miRs target both AChE-S and AChE-R, and AChE-R and BChE transcripts, respectively. BChE and AChE-S showed no overlapping miRs, attesting to their distinct modes of miR regulation. Generally, miRs can suppress a number of targets; thereby controlling an entire battery of functions. To evaluate the importance of the cholinesterase-targeted miRs in other specific biological processes we searched for their other experimentally validated target transcripts and analyzed the gene ontology enriched biological processes these transcripts are involved in. Interestingly, a number of the resulting categories are also related to cholinesterases. They include, for BChE, response to glucocorticoid stimulus, and for AChE, response to wounding and two child terms of neuron development: regulation of axonogenesis and regulation of dendrite morphogenesis. Importantly, all of the AChE-targeting miRs found to be related to these selected processes were directed against the normally rare AChE-R splice variant, with three of them, including the neurogenesis regulator miR-132, also directed against AChE-S. Our findings point at the AChE-R splice variant as particularly susceptible to miR regulation, highlight those biological functions of cholinesterases that are likely to be subject to miR post-transcriptional control, demonstrate the selectivity of miRs in regulating specific biological processes, and open new venues for targeted interference with these specific processes.

Keywords: AChE, BChE, microRNA

INTRODUCTION

MicroRNAs (miRs) are small RNA molecules which target many mRNA transcripts, leading to their post-transcriptional silencing (Bartel, 2009). Many mRNAs can be silenced by multiple miRs and miRs often target more than one mRNA participating in a particular biological function (Bartel, 2009). Together, this suggests that the miR networks affecting specific mRNA transcripts may provide useful information on the biological roles in which these transcripts are involved. Cholinesterases are involved in many biological functions (Massoulie, 2002). However, miR-132 is the only miR so far that has been experimentally validated as targeting AChE, with consequences on inflammatory responses (Shaked et al., 2009). To delineate additional miRs which might regulate cholinesterase functions, we explored the 3'-untranslated regions (3'-UTR) of human cholinesterase transcripts (acetyl- and butyrylcholinesterase, AChE, BChE; Soreq and Seidman, 2001).

Given that several of the proteins involved in a specific function are often repressed by the same miR (Girardot et al., 2010), changes in a particular miR might down-regulate the entire process. Hence, we surmised that those functions that are shared by cholinesterases and the other targets of the cholinesterase-complementary miRs would be more susceptible for being affected by miR control than other processes. That concept is schematically presented as a workflow in **Figure 1**.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

MicroRNA candidates were identified on each of the 3'-UTR sequences of AChE and BChE, which are 235, 1030, and 478 nucleotides long for BChE, the major "synaptic" AChE-S variant and the stress-inducible AChE-R variant, respectively (**Figure 2A**). We used the PicTar¹, miRanda², miRbase³, and microCosm⁴ algorithms to identify these transcript-specific miRs. All predictions ensured a threshold *P*-value < 0.05, and analysis specifications allowed both evolutionarily conserved and non-conserved miRs, which enabled us to include primate-targeting miRs as well.

Validation of miR-target interactions generally involved a 3'UTR luciferase assay. In some cases, it was complemented by protein blots, real-time RT-qPCR, microarrays, transgenic technology, β -galactosidase, or GFP-tagged targets. See, for example

¹www.pictar.mdc-berlin.de

²www.microRNA.org

³www.mirbase.org

⁴http://www.ebi.ac.uk/enright-srv/microcosm/htdocs/targets/v5/



the Shaked et al. (2009) report for several of the latter technologies used to explore the miR-132 target AChE, and (Hansen et al., 2010) for the "classical" 3'-UTR and transgenic approaches, in exploring p250GAP which is also a miR-132 target.

To search for gene ontology (GO) categories which are also relevant for the other mRNA targets of cholinesterase-related miRs, we used the DAVID functional annotation clustering tool⁵. For each of the miRs identified as targeting one of the cholinesterases we searched for other experimentally validated targets; and we then used the lists of the other validated targets as gene lists for the DAVID search. Each list was normalized to the entire human genome, which served as a background.

RESULTS

We identified 116, 81, and 47 miRs (24, 8, and 20 miRs/100 nucleotides) that are complementary to the 3'-UTR domains of the BChE, AChE-R, and AChE-S transcripts, respectively. Of these, 6 miRs target both BChE and AChE-R whereas 11 miRs are common to both AChE-R and AChE-S, but BChE and AChE-S do not share any miR (**Figure 2B**). Positions of the identified miRs are presented in **Figure 2C**, with miR-132 targeting a similar seed domain localized at the very 3'-end of the 3'-UTR in both the AChE-S and AChE-R transcripts. Of the cholinesterase-targeting miRs, seven had multiple binding sites to the target AChE-S, nine to AChE-R, and seven to the BChE transcript, suggesting that they have a higher prospect for being functional (John et al., 2004).



domains. **(B)** Each 3'-UTR is targeted by many different miRs, part of which shared by BChE/AChE-R and AChE-R/AChE-S. **(C)** Gene and transcript compositions (exons shown as boxes, introns – as lines) and miR distribution patterns on the 3'-UTR domain (not to scale). Overlaps are color coded. MiR (diamonds) localizations are marked. Black stars show miR-132 position.

Compatible with the different conceptual principles on which each of the algorithms employed is based, only 8.6, 17, and 13.7% (7/81), (8/47), (16/116) of the miRs identified as targeting AChE-R, AChE-S, and BChE, respectively, were predicted by more than one of the algorithms. For AChE-R, these are hsa-miR-28-5p, -423-3p, -484, -483-5p, -663, -582-3p, -380*. For AChE-S, hsa-miR-194, -939, -658, -608,-615-5p, -423-5p -920, and let-7f-2* and for BChE, hsa-miR-203, -218, -221, -222, -181a, -181b, -181c, -181d, -494, -200b, -200c, -576-3p, -16-2*, -625, -195*, -889.

These cholinesterase-targeting miRs and their other validated non-cholinesterase targets are listed in **Tables 1–3** with the corresponding functions attributed to these other targets. The relevant citations appear in **Tables A1–A4** in Appendix. Of note, numerous cholinesterase-targeting miRs have no experimentally validated targets at this time, yet others have more than one validated target and associate with more than one biological function. Examples include miR-124 which targets both the AChE-S and IQGAP1-(Furuta et al., 2010), a GTPase activating protein which promotes neurite outgrowth (**Table 1**). Additionally miR-152 and miR-148a, which target AChE-R, also target the calmodulin regulating kinase CaMKII α (Liu et al., 2010; **Table 2**). Lastly, the BChE-targeting cluster of miRs-222 and -221 also target the neuronal early immediate protein c-fos (Ichimura et al., 2010; **Table 3**).

⁵http://david.abcc.ncifcrf.gov/

Table 1 | Additional targets of AChE-S targeting microRNAs.

miR ID		Validated targets	
hsa-miR-491-5p	Bcl-X(L; cell death)		
hsa-miR-605	Mdm2 (ubiquitination)		
hsa-miR-608	CD44 (cell-cell/cell-matrix interaction)	CDC42 (cell division)	
hsa-miR-124	Glucocorticoid receptor	LAMC1 (laminin _Y 1)	IQGAP1(neurite outgrowth; Furuta et al., 2010)
	NeuroD1 (neurogenic differentiation 1)	BAF53a (chromatin remodeling)	C14orf24 (chromosome 14 ORF 24)
	Mtpn (myotrophin)	PTBP1 (splicing)	CDK6 (cyclin-dependent kinase 6)
	Mapk14 (mitogen activated protein kinase 14)	PTBP2 (splicing)	SOX9 (glial cell specification)
	CDK2 (cyclin-dependent kinase 2)	C/EBPα (transcription)	Lhx2 (transcription)
	MCP1 (monocyte chemoattractant protein 1)	FOXA2 (transcription)	EfnB1(projecting axons)
	ltgb1 (integrin 1)	VIM (cytoskeleton; Furuta et al., 2010)	NR3C2 (Mineralocorticoid and gluco- corticoid receptor)
	SCP1 (synaptonemal filaments)	SMYD3 (transcription; Furuta et al., 2010)	
hsa-let-7g	C-Myc (transcription)	Collagen alpha2 (COL1A2)	Bcl-xL (cell death)
hsa-miR-196a	HOX-B7 (transcription)	SPRR2C (small proline-rich protein 2C)	Annexin A1 (exocytosis)
	S100A9 (calcium-binding protein A9)	KRT5 (keratin 5)	HOXC8 (transcription)
hsa-miR-542-3p			Survivin
hsa-miR-525-5p	VPAC1 (vasoactive intestinal peptide receptor 1)		

Table 2 | Additional targets of microRNAs targeting AChE-R.

miR ID		Validated targets	
Hsa-miR-708	MPL (thrombopoietin receptor; Girardot		
	et al., 2010)		
Hsa-miR-28-5p	MPL (thrombopoietin receptor; Girardot	OTUB1 (immune system transcription;	
	et al., 2010)	Girardot et al., 2010)	
	N4BP1 (NEDD4 binding protein 1;	TEX261 (apoptosis; Girardot et al., 2010)	MAPK1 (megakaryocyte differentiation;
	Girardot et al., 2010)		Girardot et al., 2010)
hsa-miR-503	ANLN (actin-binding protein anillin)	ATF6 (activating transcription factor 6)	CHEK1 (cell cycle)
	EIF2C1 (argonaute1)	KIF23 (mitotic kinesin-like protein 1)	WEE1 (mitosis regulator)
	CCNE1 (cyclin E1)	CDC25A (cell cycle)	
	CCND1 (cyclin D1)	CDC14A (CDC14 cell division cycle 14	
		homolog A)	
hsa-miR-148a	$CaMKII\alpha$ (CNS kinase; Liu et al., 2010)	MLC1 (megalencephalic	MSK1 (histone phosphorylase)
		leukoencephalopathy with subcortical	
		cysts 1)	
	DNMT1 (DNA methyltransferase 1)	DNMT3B (CpG island methylation)	MITF (microphthalmia-associated
			transcription factor)
	CCKBR (modulates anxiety and	EPAS1 (endothelial PAS	HLA-G (asthma susceptibility)
	neuroleptic activity)	domain-containing protein 1)	
	POMC (pro-opiomelanocortin)	CAND1 (ubiquitin ligase regulation)	PXR (pregnane X receptor)
hsa-miR-152	CaMKIIα (CNS kinase; Liu et al., 2010)	DNMT1 (DNA methyltransferase 1)	
hsa-miR-125b	TNFα (tumor necrosis factor α)	ERBB2 (erythroblastic leukemia viral	BMPR1B (bone morphogenic receptor
		oncogene homolog 2)	type 1B)
	IRF4 (interferon regulatory factor 4)	ERBB3 (erythroblastic leukemia viral	E2F3 (cell cycle)
		oncogene homolog 3)	
	Blimp1 (zinc finger protein)	TEF (thyrotroph embryonic factor)	Bcl2 modifying factor (apoptosis)
	Vdr (vitamin D receptor)	MUC1 (adhesion)	Bak1 (pro-apoptotic Bcl2 antagonist
			killer 1)
	CYP24A1 (cytochrome P450 family 24A)	p53 (tumor suppressor)	SMO (smoothened receptors)
	IGF2 (insulin-like growth factor 2)	Suv39h1 (histone methyltransferase)	Stat3 (Transcription factor, binds to IL-6)
	LIN28 (translational enhancer)	NMDA receptor subunit NR2A	ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated)

(Continued)

Table 2 | Continued

miR ID		Validated targets	
hsa-miR-125a-5p	LIN28 (translational enhancer)	T-TrkC (neurotrophic tyrosine kinase receptor 3)	HuR (cell growth)
	p53 (tumor suppressor)	KLF13 (transcription factor)	AT-rich interactive domain 3B (transcription)
	PDPN 9 (actin organization)	Bak1 (pro-apoptotic Bcl2 antagonist killer 1)	
	N-ras (oncogene)	MEK3 (phosphorylation of MAP kinase)	
hsa-miR-214	SrGAP1(neuronal migration)	Ezh2 (stem cell identity)	N-ras (oncogene)
	JNK1 (MAPK8)	PTEN (tumor suppressor)	MEK3 (phosphorylation)
hsa-miR-199a-5p	Hif-1α (Hypoxia-inducible factor 1) Sirt1 (apoptosis)	IKK β (NF κ B activation)	DDR1 (discoidin domain receptor 1)
hsa-miR-31	ICAM-1 (leukocyte adhesion protein)	Fgf13 (fibroblast growth factor 13)	Dkk-1 (canonical Wnt signaling)
	DACT-3 (epigenetic regulator of Wnt)	E-selectin (inflammation)	p16lnk4a (cell cycle)
	LATS2 (tumor suppression)	PPP2R2A (signal transduction)	Krt16 (keratin 16)
	Krt17 (keratin 17)	Dlx3 (development of ventral forebrain)	E2F6 (cell cycle)
	TIAM1 (T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis 1)	Fzd3 (accumulation of β -catenin)	Integrin α (fibronectin)
	M-RIP (regulation of actin)	MMP16 (blood vessels matrix remodeling)	RDX (actin filaments binding to plasma membrane)
hsa-miR-185	RhoA (signal transduction) WAVE3 (signal transmission) Six1 (limb development)	SATB2 (upper-layer neurons initiation)	PROX1 (CNS development)
hsa-miR-193b	Estrogen receptor α Mcl-1 (myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1)	ETS-1 (oncogene) uPA (urokinase-type plasminogen activator)	CCND1 (cyclin D1)
hsa-miR-7	Alpha-synuclein (SNCA)	SFRS1 (splicing)	ERF (cell proliferation)
	LSH (lymphoid-specific helicase)	DAP (cell death-associated protein)	MRP1 (human multidrug resistance- associated protein 1)
	Associated cdc42 kinase 1	Yan (cell differentiation)	EGFR (epidermal growth factor receptor)
	CD98 (sodium transport)	Pak1 (p21-activated kinase 1)	IGF1R (insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor)
hsa-miR-483-5p	Socs-3 (cytokine signaling)	BBC3/PUMA (apoptosis)	
hsa-miR-663	TGFβ1 (proliferation)	JunB (jun B proto-oncogene)	JunD (jun D proto-oncogene)
hsa-miR-765	TRK3 (neurotrophic tyrosine kinase)	· -	
hsa-miR-146b-3p	IRAK1 (IL1 receptor-associated kinase 1)	EGFR (epidermal growth factor receptor)	MMP16 (degrades extracellular matrix)

Table 3 | Additional targets of BChE-targeting microRNAs.

miR ID		Validated target	
hsa-miR-203	SOCS-3 (cytokine signaling)	Lef1 (lymphoid enhancer-binding factor)	p63 (transcription)
	ABL1 (cell growth)	Barx1 (transcription)	CKAP2 (cytoskeleton associated protein 2)
	LASP1 (cytoskeletal activities)	BIRC5 (regulator of mitosis)	WASF1 (signal transmission)
	ASAP1 (membrane trafficking)	RUNX2 (runt-related transcription factor 2)	
hsa-miR-340	MITF (microphthalmia-associated transcription factor)		
hsa-miR-218	ΙΚΚ-β (NFκB activation)	ROBO1 (roundabout, axon guidance receptor, homolog 1)	BIRC5 (mitosis)
	GJA1 (gap junction protein, α 1)	ROBO2 (roundabout, axon guidance receptor homolog 2)	GLCE (glucuronic acid epimerase)
	PXN (paxillin, cytoskeletal protein)		

(Continued)

Table 3 | Continued

miR ID		Validated target	
hsa-miR-221	ER α (estrogen receptor α)	ICAM-1(leukocyte adhesion protein)	p27 (cell cycle)
	p57 (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1C)	DNA damage-inducible transcript 4 (DDIT4)	TIMP3 (TIMP metallopeptidase inhibitor 3)
	PTEN (tumor suppressor)	PUMA (apoptosis)	C-fos (cell proliferation; Ichimura et al., 2010)
	Bmf (apoptosis)	Mdm2 (ubiquitination)	CDKN1B (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1B)
hsa-miR-222	ER α (estrogen receptor α)	p27 (cell cycle)	PTEN (tumor suppressor)
	STAT5A (transcription)	p57 (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1C)	TIMP3 (TIMP metallopeptidase inhibitor 3)
	Bim (apoptosis)	ETS-1 (transcription)	PUMA (apoptosis)
	PPP2R2A (protein phosphatase 2A	C-fos (cell proliferation; Ichimura et al.,	ICAM-1 (leukocyte adhesion protein)
	subunit B)	2010)	
	MMP1 (cleaves collagens)	SOD2 (superoxide dismutase 2)	
hsa-miR-181a	SIRT1 (apoptosis)	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM; cell	Hox-A11 (transcription)
		cycle)	
	p27(cell cycle)	PLAG1 (transcription)	BCL2 (B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2; apoptosis)
	Bim (apoptosis)	Tcl1 (cell proliferation)	OPN (osteopontin)
hsa-miR-181b	AID (RNA-editing)	PLAG1 (transcription)	BCL2 (B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2; apoptosis)
	TIMP3 (TIMP metallopeptidase inhibitor 3)	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM; cell	SIRT1 (apoptosis)
		cycle)	
	ZNF37A (transcriptional regulation)	ZNF83 (transcriptional regulation)	ZNF182 (transcriptional regulation)
	Mcl-1 (myeloid cell leukemia-1; apoptosis)		
hsa-miR-181c	IL2 (immune response)	BCL2 (B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2; apoptosis)	NOTCH4 (transcriptional activator)
	KRAS (GTPase activity)		
hsa-miR-181d	BCL2 (B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2; apoptosis)		
hsa-miR-494	CaMKII& (CNS kinase)	ROCK-1 (apoptosis)	LIF [leukemia inhibitory factor (cholinergic
			differentiation factor)]
	PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog)	TEL-AML1 (hematopoiesis)	FGFR2 (fibroblast growth factor
			receptor 2)
hsa-miR-129-5p	CAMTA1 (calmodulin binding transcription	EIF2C3 (eukaryotic translation initiation	GALNT1 (oligosaccharide biosynthesis)
	activator 1)	factor 2C, 3)	
	SOX4 (transcriptional activator)		
hsa-miR-30d	Galphai2 (G protein, α inhibiting activity		
	polypeptide 2)		
hsa-miR-30c	Runx1 (runt-related transcription factor 1)	CTGF (connective tissue growth factor)	
hsa-miR-30a	SOD2 (superoxide dismutase 2)	BDNF (brain-derived neurotrophic factor)	Beclin 1 (autophagy)
	Xlim1/Lhx1 (transcription factor)		
hsa-miR-30e	Ubc9 (ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2I)	B-Myb (transcription factor)	
hsa-miR-320a	(Hsp20 heat-shock protein 20)	AQP1 (aquaporin 1)	AQP4 (aquaporin 4)
	TfR-1; CD71 (development of erythrocytes	Mcl-1 (myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1;	
	and the nervous system)	apoptosis)	
hsa-miR-140-5p	Smad3 (transcription)	HDAC4 (histone deacetylase 4)	
hsa-miR-519c-3p	HIF-1 α (hypoxia-inducible factor 1 α)	ABCG2 (exclusion of xenobiotics from the	
		brain)	
hsa-miR-489	PTPN11 (signal transduction)		
hsa-miR-584	NXA1 (exocytosis)	ROCK-1 (actin assembly)	

We focused our survey on those functions of those miRs for which experimental validation is available. **Table 4** presents these miRs which are shared for AChE-R and AChE-S or AChE-R and BChE and some of their additional targets, highlighting the multitude of miR targets with predicted regulatory functions (e.g., the chromatin modulator zinc finger proteins ZEB1 and ZEB2 targeted by miR-200b, miR-200c, and miR-429 that are also directed to both AChE-R and AChE-S; Gregory et al., 2008). Likewise, the AChE-S-targeted miR-132 (Shaked et al., 2009; Soreq and Wolf, 2011) also targets the GTPase regulator p250GAP

miR ID	Validated target common to ACHE-R and AChE-S		
hsa-miR-186	Pro-apoptotic P2 × 7 purinergic receptor	AKAP12 (tumor suppressor)	
hsa-miR-199b-5p	Dyrk1a (brain development)	HES1 (transcriptional repressor)	SET (apoptosis)
hsa-miR-429	ZEB1 (transcriptional repression of IL2;	ZEB2 (SIP1; zinc finger protein; Gregory	PLCgamma1(apoptosis)
	Gregory et al., 2008)	et al., 2008)	
	RERE (apoptosis)		
hsa-miR-200b	ZEB1 (transcriptional repression of IL2;	ZEB2 (SIP1; zinc finger protein; Gregory	PLCgamma1(apoptosis)
	Gregory et al., 2008)	et al., 2008)	
	Serca2 (sarco/endoplasmic reticulum	Suz12 (chromatin silencing)	Ets-1 (transcriptions factor)
	Ca2+ ATPase)		
	OREBP (osmotic response element)	Cyclin D1	
hsa-miR-200c	ZEB1 (transcriptional repression of IL2;	ZEB2 (SIP1; zinc finger protein; Gregory	PLCgamma1(apoptosis)
	Gregory et al., 2008)	et al., 2008)	
	VEGF (angiogenesis)	TUBB3 (neurogenesis and axon guidance)	TRPS1 (transcription factor)
	KLF13 (transcription factor)	MBNL2 (muscleblind-like protein 2)	FAP1 (apoptosis)
miR ID	Va	lidated targets common to ACHE-R and BC	hE
hsa-miR-24	SOD1 (superoxide dismutase 1)	ALK4 (transducer of activin)	Notch1 (Bergmann glia differentiation
	MKK4 (survival signal in T cells)	E2F2 (cell cycle)	H2AX (histone-formation)
	FAF1 (apoptosis)	HNF4 α (cell proliferation)	FURIN (processing of TGF β 1)
	DHFR (dihydrofolate reductase)	DND1(miRNA-mediated gene	
		suppression)	
hsa-miR-212	MeCP2 (interaction with histone	MYC (transcription)	Rb1(tumor suppressor)
	deacetylase) PED (apoptosis)		
hsa-miR-132	AChE-S (Shaked et al., 2009)	P250GAP (neuron-associated GTPase; Vo	Per1 (circadian clock)
		et al., 2005)	
	SirT1 (apoptosis)	MeCP2 (modification of eukaryotic	p300 (chromatin remodeling)
		genomes)	
	Jarid1a (histone demethylase)	Btg2 (cell cycle)	Paip2a (translation regulation)
	p120RasGAP (angiogenesis)		
hsa-miR-198	Cyclin T1		
hsa-miR-194	Rac1 (GTP-binding protein)	Per family (circadian)	EP300 (transcriptional co-activator)
	MDM2 (p53 negative regulator)		

involved in neurite extension (Vo et al., 2005; Hansen et al., 2010; Table 4).

The process-regulation hypothesis of miR function predicts the existence of biological functions in which both cholinesterases, and those other targets which share miRs with cholinesterases, would be involved. To challenge this hypothesis, we first identified the GO categories in which AChE and BChE are involved, and found 24 and 11 biological processes for these two proteins, respectively. Twenty-three, 13, and 18 enriched biological processes emerged as shared processes for the other validated targets of AChE-R, AChE-S, and BChE-targeting miRs, respectively (*P*-value threshold < 0.05).

Out of over 20 ontology categories attributed to AChE, only two are shared with the categories attributed to the other validated targets of the cholinesterase-targeting miRs. These are: *Response to wounding* (GO: 0009611; 68 transcripts) and *Neuron development* (GO: 0048666), and specifically its AChE-relevant child terms *Regulation of axonogenesis* (GO: 0050770; 78 transcripts) and *regulation of dendrite morphogenesis* (GO: 0048814; 27 transcripts). Surprisingly, all 10 miRs that regulate *Response* to wounding and Neuron development selectively target the normally rare, stress-responsive AChE-R transcript, (miR-186, -125b, -200c, -199a-5p, -199b-5p, -125a, -214, -7, -663, -31, and -148a) whereas only three of these miRs also target the prevalent AChE-S mRNA (miR-194, -24, and -132). For BChE, we found only one shared category out of 11 relevant ontology groups: *Response to glucocorticoid stimulus* (GO: 0051384; 119 transcripts), and no overlap with the AChE-relevant categories (**Figures 3A,B**).

DISCUSSION

Using a variety of available algorithms, we found a plethora of cholinesterase-targeted miRs. Some of these were already validated as functionally capable of silencing other mRNA transcripts. A study of the functionally relevant biological processes in which these other targets are involved revealed a highly focused overlap with only few of the biological processes in which cholinesterases participate. Given that miRs regulate targets which share biological



FIGURE 3 | MiR regulators of biological processes shared by cholinesterases and validated targets of these miRs. (A) miRs targeting transcripts participating in the AChE-S and AChE-R relevant *response to wounding* (yellow)and *neuron development* processes(blue) or both categories(green). (B) miRs targeting transcripts participating in the BChE-relevant *response to glucocorticoid stimulus* category.

REFERENCES

- Allshire, R. C., and Karpen, G. H. (2008). Epigenetic regulation of centromeric chromatin: old dogs, new tricks? *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 9, 923–937.
- Bartel, D. P. (2009). MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell* 136, 215–233.
- Fukushima, N., Furuta, D., Hidaka, Y., Moriyama, R., and Tsujiuchi, T. (2009). Post-translational modifications of tubulin in the nervous system. J. Neurochem. 109, 683–693.
- Furuta, M., Kozaki, K. I., Tanaka, S., Arii, S., Imoto, I., and Inazawa, J. (2010). miR-124 and miR-203 are epigenetically silenced tumor-suppressive microRNAs in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Carcinogenesis* 31, 766–776.
- Girardot, M., Pecquet, C., Boukour, S., Knoops, L., Ferrant, A., Vainchenker, W., Giraudier, S., and Constantinescu, S. N. (2010). miR-28 is a thrombopoietin receptor targeting microRNA detected in a fraction of myeloproliferative neoplasm patient platelets. *Blood* 116, 437–445.
- Gregory, P. A., Bert, A. G., Paterson, E. L., Barry, S. C., Tsykin, A., Farshid, G.,

Vadas, M. A., Khew-Goodall, Y., and Goodall, G. J. (2008). The miR-200 family and miR-205 regulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition by targeting ZEB1 and SIP1. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10, 593–601.

- Hansen, K. F., Sakamoto, K., Wayman, G. A., Impey, S., and Obrietan, K. (2010). Transgenic miR132 alters neuronal spine density and impairs novel object recognition memory. *PLoS ONE* 5, e15497. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0015497
- Hill, C. S., and Treisman, R. (1995). Transcriptional regulation by extracellular signals: mechanisms and specificity. *Cell* 80, 199–211.
- Ichimura, A., Ruike, Y., Terasawa, K., Shimizu, K., and Tsujimoto, G. (2010). MicroRNA-34a inhibits cell proliferation by repressing mitogenactivated protein kinase kinase 1 during megakaryocytic differentiation of K562 cells. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 77, 1016–1024.
- John, B., Enright, A. J., Aravin, A., Tuschl, T., Sander, C., and Marks, D. S. (2004). Human MicroRNA targets. *PLoS Biol.* 2, e363. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pbio.0020363

processes, cholinesterases appear to be primarily subject to miR regulation when involved in neuronal development, response to wounding, and glucocorticoid stimulus; and specific cholinergic processes are regulated by miRs targeting both AChE and other targets participating in the same biological process.

Several limitations should be considered in the context of this study. First, the currently available search algorithms for miR candidates appear to differ substantially, which casts a shadow on the veracity of such identification. Second, research bias has focused much of the efforts in the miR field toward cancer research, whereas neuroscience-focused miRs were relatively neglected. Therefore, we might have overlooked important miRs simply because they have not yet been validated experimentally. This being said, that many of the biological functions in which cholinesterases are involved show no relevant cholinesterasetargeting miR sequences suggests other modes of regulation of cholinesterase levels for most of these functions [e.g., transcriptional (Hill and Treisman, 1995), epigenetic (Allshire and Karpen, 2008), or post-translational processes (Fukushima et al., 2009)]. Alternatively, or in addition, miRs might exist which control these functions, but have no role in cancer biology and are therefore not yet characterized. MiR regulation of cholinesterase functions will therefore need to be re-inspected in the near future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to E. R. Bennett, Jerusalem, for critical evaluation of this manuscript. This work was supported by the Legacy Heritage Biomedical Science Partnership Program of the Israel Science Foundation (Grant No. 1876/08, to Hermona Soreq).

- Liu, X., Zhan, Z., Xu, L., Ma, F., Li, D., Guo, Z., Li, N., and Cao, X. (2010). MicroRNA-148/152 impair innate response and antigen presentation of TLR-triggered dendritic cells by targeting CaMKII alpha. *J. Immunol.* 185, 7244–7251.
- Massoulie, J. (2002). The origin of the molecular diversity and functional anchoring of cholinesterases. *Neurosignals* 11, 130–143.
- Shaked, I., Meerson, A., Wolf, Y., Avni, R., Greenberg, D., Gilboa-Geffen, A., and Soreq, H. (2009). MicroRNA-132 potentiates cholinergic antiinflammatory signaling by targeting acetylcholinesterase. *Immunity* 31, 965–973.
- Soreq, H., and Seidman, S. (2001). Acetylcholinesterase – new roles for an old actor. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 294–302.
- Soreq, H., and Wolf, Y. (2011). NeurimmiRs: micro-RNAs in the neuroimmune interface. *Trends Mol. Med.* doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2011.06.009. [Epub ahead of print].
- Vo, N., Klein, M. E., Varlamova, O., Keller, D. M., Yamamoto, T., Goodman, R. H., and Impey, S.

(2005). A cAMP-response element binding protein-induced microRNA regulates neuronal morphogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 16426–16431.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 25 July 2011; paper pending published: 23 August 2011; accepted: 14 September 2011; published online: 05 October 2011.

Citation: Hanin G and Soreq H (2011) Cholinesterase-targeting microR-NAs identified in silico affect specific biological processes. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 4:28. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011.00028

Copyright © 2011 Hanin and Soreq. This is an open-access article subject to a nonexclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.

APPENDIX

Table A1 | Additional targets of AChE-S targeting microRNAs.

miR ID		Validated targets	
hsa-miR-491-5p hsa-miR-605	Bcl-X (L; cell death; Nakano et al., 2010) Mdm2 (ubiquitination; Xiao et al., 2011)		
hsa-miR-608	CD44 (cell–cell/cell–matrix interaction; Jeyapalan et al., 2011)	CDC42 (cell division; Jeyapalan et al., 2011)	
hsa-miR-124	Glucocorticoid receptor (Vreugdenhil et al., 2009)	LAMC1 (laminin γ1; Cao et al., 2007)	IQGAP1(neurite outgrowth; Furuta et al., 2010)
	NeuroD1 (neurogenic differentiation 1; Liu et al., 2011)	BAF53a (chromatin remodeling; Yoo et al., 2009)	C14orf24 (chromosome 14 open reading frame 24; Ko et al., 2009)
	Mtpn (myotrophin; Krek et al., 2005)	PTBP1 (splicing; Makeyev et al., 2007)	CDK6 (cyclin-dependent kinase 6; Pierson et al., 2008)
	Mapk14 (mitogen activated protein kinase 14; Krek et al., 2005)	PTBP2 (splicing; Makeyev et al., 2007)	SOX9 (glial cell specification; Cheng et al., 2009)
	CDK2 (cyclin-dependent kinase 2; Nakamachi et al., 2009)	C/EBPα (transcription factor; Hackanson et al., 2008)	Lhx2 (transcription; Qiu et al., 2009)
	MCP- (1 monocyte chemoattractant protein 1; Nakamachi et al., 2009)	FOXA2 (transcription factor; Baroukh et al., 2007)	EfnB1(projecting axons; Arvanitis et al., 2010)
	ltgb1 (integrin 1; Cao et al., 2007)	VIM (cytoskeleton; Furuta et al., 2010)	NR3C2 (mineralocorticoid and glu- cocorticoid receptor; Sober et al., 2010)
	SCP1 (synaptonemal filaments; Cao et al., 2007)	SMYD3 (transcription; Furuta et al., 2010)	
hsa-let-7g	C-Myc (transcription factor; Lan et al., 2011)	Collagen alpha2 (COL1A2; Ji et al., 2010)	Bcl-xL (cell death; Shimizu et al., 2010)
hsa-miR-196a	HOX-B7 (transcription factor; Braig et al., 2010)	SPRR2C (small proline-rich protein 2C; Maru et al., 2009)	Annexin A1 (exocytosis; Luthra et al., 2008)
	S100A9 (calcium-binding protein A9; Maru et al., 2009)	KRT5 (keratin 5; Maru et al., 2009)	HOXC8 (transcription factor; Kim et al., 2009a)
hsa-miR-542-3p hsa-miR-525-5p	Survivin (Yoon et al., 2010) VPAC1 (vasoactive intestinal peptide receptor 1; Cocco et al., 2010)		

miRs without validated targets: hsa-miR-920, -506, -27b*, -541, -92a-2*, -658, -423-5p, -615-5p, -25*, -4688, -4776-3p, -668, -3613-5p, -4700-5p, -718, let-7f-2*, -455-3p, -633, -554, -524-3p, -638, -525-3p, -611, let-7e*, -4283, -4329, -4278, -4300, -3184, -149*.

Table A2 | Additional targets of microRNAs targeting AChE-R.

miR ID		Validated targets	
hsa-miR-708	MPL (thrombopoietin receptor; Girardot et al., 2010)		
hsa-miR-28-5p	MPL (thrombopoietin receptor; Girardot et al., 2010)	OTUB1 (immune system transcription; Girardot et al., 2010)	
	N4BP1 (NEDD4 binding protein 1; Girardot et al., 2010)	TEX261 (apoptosis; Girardot et al., 2010)	MAPK1 (megakaryocyte differentiation; Girardot et al., 2010)
hsa-miR-503	ANLN (actin-binding protein anillin; Forrest et al., 2010)	ATF6 (activating transcription factor 6; Forrest et al., 2010)	CHEK1 (checkpoint mediated cell cycle arrest; Forrest et al., 2010)
	EIF2C1 (argonaute1; Forrest et al., 2010)	KIF23 (mitotic kinesin-like protein 1; Forrest et al., 2010)	WEE1 (mitosis regulator; Forrest et al., 2010)
	CCNE1 (cyclin E1; Forrest et al., 2010)	CDC25A (cell cycle progression; Forrest et al., 2010)	
	CCND1 (cyclin D1; Forrest et al., 2010)	CDC14A (CDC14 cell division cycle 14 homolog A; Forrest et al., 2010)	
hsa-miR-148a	CaMKIIα (CNS kinase; Liu et al., 2010e)	MLC1 (megalencephalic leukoencephalopathy with subcortical cysts 1; Geisler et al., 2011)	MSK1 (histone phosphorylase; Fujita et al., 2010)
	DNMT1 (DNA methyltransferase 1; Pan	DNMT3B (CpG island methylation;	MITF (microphthalmia-associated tran-
	et al., 2010)	Duursma et al., 2008)	scription factor; Haflidadottir et al., 2010)
	CCKBR (modulates anxiety, analgesia,	EPAS1 (endothelial PAS	HLA-G (asthma susceptibility; Tan et al.,
	arousal, and neuroleptic activity;	domain-containing protein 1;	2007)
	Muinos-Gimeno et al., 2011)	Giraud-Triboult et al., 2011)	
	POMC (pro-opiomelanocortin;	CAND1 (ubiquitin ligase regulation;	PXR (pregnane X receptor; Takagi et al.,
	Muinos-Gimeno et al., 2011)	Murata et al., 2010)	2008)
hsa-miR-152	CaMKIIα (CNS kinase; Liu et al., 2010e)	DNMT1 (DNA methyltransferase 1; Braconi et al., 2010a)	
hsa-miR-125b	$TNF\alpha$ (tumor necrosis factor $\alpha;Tili$ et al.,	ERBB2 (erythroblastic leukemia viral	BMPR1B (bone morphogenic receptor
	2007)	oncogene homolog 2; Scott et al., 2007)	type 1B; Saetrom et al., 2009)
	IRF4 (interferon regulatory factor 4;	ERBB3 erythroblastic leukemia viral	E2F3 (cell cycle control; Huang et al.,
	Malumbres et al., 2009)	oncogene homolog 3; Scott et al., 2007)	2011a)
	Blimp1 (zinc finger protein; Zhang et al., 2011b)	TEF (thyrotroph embryonic factor; Gutierrez et al., 2011)	Bcl2 modifying factor (apoptosis; Xia et al., 2009b)
	Vdr (vitamin D receptor; Zhang et al., 2011b)	MUC1 (adhesion; Rajabi et al., 2010)	Bak1 (pro-apoptotic Bcl2 antagonist killer 1; Zhou et al., 2010)
	CYP24A1 (cytochrome P450, family 24A, polypeptide 1; Komagata et al., 2009)	p53 (tumor suppressor; Le et al., 2009)	SMO (smoothened receptors; Ferretti et al., 2008)
	IGF2 (insulin-like growth factor 2; Ge	Suv39h1 (histone methyltransferase;	Stat3 (transcription factor binds to IL-6;
	et al., 2011)	Villeneuve et al., 2010)	Surdziel et al., 2011)
	LIN28 (translational enhancer; Zhong	NMDA receptor subunit NR2A (Edbauer	ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated;
hsa-miR-125a-5p	et al., 2010) LIN28 (translational enhancer; Wu and	et al., 2010) T-TrkC (neurotrophic tyrosine kinase	Smirnov and Cheung, 2008) HuR (cell growth; Guo et al., 2009)
	Belasco, 2005)	receptor 3; Ferretti et al., 2009)	ATrich interactive democia 2D (term
	p53 (tumor suppressor; Zhang et al., 2009)	KLF13 (transcription factor; Zhao et al., 2010)	AT-rich interactive domain 3B (tran- scription factor; Cowden Dahl et al., 2009)
	PDPN 9 (actin organization; Cortez et al.,	Bak1 (pro-apoptotic Bcl2 antagonist killer	
	2010)	1; Guo et al., 2010)	
	N-ras (oncogene; Juan et al., 2009)	MEK3 (phosphorylation of MAP kinase; Li	
		et al., 2011)	

(Continued)

Table A2 | Continued

miR ID		Validated targets	
hsa-miR-214	SrGAP1(neuronal migration; Zhang et al., 2011a)	Ezh2 (stem cell identity; Juan et al., 2009)	N-ras (oncogene; Liu et al., 2010b)
	JNK1 (MAPK8; Yang et al., 2009)	PTEN (tumor suppressor; Yang et al., 2009)	MEK3 (phosphorylation; Yang et al., 2009)
hsa-miR-199a-5p	Hif-1α (hypoxia-inducible factor 1; Rane et al., 2009) ΙΚΚβ (ΝΓκΒ activation; Chen et al., 2008)	Sirt1 (apoptosis; Rane et al., 2009)	DDR1 (discoidin domain receptor 1; Shen et al., 2010)
hsa-miR-31	ICAM-1 (leukocyte adhesion protein; Suarez et al., 2010)	Fgf13 (fibroblast growth factor 13; Mardaryev et al., 2010)	Dkk-1 (canonical Wnt signaling; Xi et al., 2010)
	DACT-3 (epigenetic regulator of Wnt; Xi et al., 2010)	E-selectin (inflammation; Suarez et al., 2010)	p16lnk4a (cell cycle; Malhas et al., 2010)
	LATS2 (tumor suppression; Liu et al., 2010c)	PPP2R2A (signal transduction; Liu et al., 2010c)	Krt16 (keratin 16; Mardaryev et al., 2010)
	Krt17 (keratin 17; Mardaryev et al., 2010)	DIx3 (development of ventral forebrain; Mardaryev et al., 2010)	E2F6 (cell cycle; Bhatnagar et al., 2010)
	TIAM1 (T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis 1; Cottonham et al., 2010)	Fzd3 (accumulation of β -catenin; Valastyan et al., 2009)	Integrin α (fibronectin; Valastyan et al., 2009)
	M-RIP (regulation of actin; Valastyan et al., 2009)	MMP16 (blood vessels matrix remodeling; Valastyan et al., 2009)	RDX (actin filaments binding to plasma membrane; Valastyan et al., 2009)
	RhoA (signal transduction; Valastyan et al., 2009) WAVE3 (signal transmission;	SATB2 (upper-layer neurons initiation; Aprelikova et al., 2010)	PROX1 (CNS development; Pedrioli et al., 2010)
hsa-miR-185	Sossey-Alaoui et al., 2010) Six1 (limb development; Imam et al., 2010)		
hsa-miR-193b	Estrogen receptor α (Leivonen et al., 2009)	ETS-1 (oncogene; Xu et al., 2010a)	CCND1 (cyclin D1; Xu et al., 2010a)
	Mcl-1 (myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1; Braconi et al., 2010b)	uPA (urokinase-type plasminogen activator; Li et al., 2009b)	
hsa-miR-7	Alpha-synuclein (SNCA; Junn et al., 2009) LSH (lymphoid-specific helicase; llnytskyy et al., 2008)	SFRS1 (Wu et al., 2010b) DAP (cell death-associated protein; Yu et al., 2009)	ERF (cell proliferation; Chou et al., 2010) MRP1 (human multidrug resistance- associated protein 1; Pogribny et al., 2010)
	Associated cdc42 kinase 1 (Saydam et al., 2011)	Yan (cell differentiation; Li and Carthew, 2005)	EGFR (epidermal growth factor receptor; Kefas et al., 2008)
	CD98 (sodium transport; Nguyen et al., 2010)	Pak1 (p21-activated kinase 1; Reddy et al., 2008)	IGF1R (insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor; Jiang et al., 2010)
hsa-miR-483-5p	Socs-3 (cytokine signaling; Ma et al., 2011)	BBC3/PUMA (apoptosis; Veronese et al., 2010)	
hsa-miR-663	TGFβ1 (proliferation; Tili et al., 2010b)	JunB (jun B proto-oncogene;⊤ili et al., 2010a)	JunD (jun D proto-oncogene; Tili et al., 2010a)
hsa-miR- 765	TRK3 (neurotrophic tyrosine kinase; Guidi et al., 2010)		
hsa-miR- 146b-3p	IRAK1 (interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 1; Taganov et al., 2006)	EGFR (epidermal growth factor receptor; Shao et al., 2011)	MMP16 (degrades extracellular matrix; Xia et al., 2009a)

miRs without validated targets that are predicted to target AChE-R: hsa-miR-590-3p, -148b, -193a-3p, -182*, -4298, -4644, -4739, -1224-3p, -4769-5p, -582-3p, -380*, -1825, -892b, -1275, -3155, -765, -3119, -3139, -563, -92b*, -1321, -4283, -1228*, -4323, -4319, -761, -767-5p, -224*, -522, -4271, -1226*, -3179, -92a-1*, -3202, -20b*, -4303, -4306, -3065-5p, -4297, -4329, -3148, -3163, -22*, -4302, -513a-5p, -542-5p, -377*, -1908, -92a-2*, -608, -625.

Table A3 | Additional targets of BChE-targeting microRNAs.

miR ID		Validated target	
hsa-miR-203	SOCS-3 (cytokine signaling; Wei et al., 2010)	Lef1 (lymphoid enhancer-binding factor; Thatcher et al., 2008)	p63 (transcriptional activator or repressor; Yi et al., 2008)
	ABL1 (cell growth; Bueno et al., 2008)	Barx1 (transcription factor; Kim et al., 2011)	CKAP2 (cytoskeleton associated protein 2; Viticchie et al., 2011)
	LASP1 (cytoskeletal activities; Viticchie et al., 2011)	BIRC5 (regulator of mitosis; Viticchie et al., 2011)	WASF1 (signal transmission; Viticchie et al., 2011)
	ASAP1 (membrane trafficking; Viticchie et al., 2011)	RUNX2 (runt-related transcription factor 2; Viticchie et al., 2011)	
hsa-miR-340	MITF (microphthalmia-associated transcription factor; Goswami et al., 2010)		
hsa-miR-218	IKK-β (cytokine-activated intracellular	ROBO1 (roundabout, axon guidance	BIRC5 (regulator of mitosis; Alajez et al.,
134 1111 2 10	signaling pathway; Song et al., 2010)	receptor, homolog 1; Alajez et al., 2011)	2011)
	GJA1 (gap junction protein, α1; Alajez et al., 2011)	ROBO2 (roundabout, axon guidance receptor homolog 2; Alajez et al., 2011)	GLCE (glucuronic acid epimerase; Small et al., 2010)
	PXN (paxillin, cytoskeletal protein; Wu et al., 2010a)		
hsa-miR-221	ERα (estrogen receptor α; Zhao et al., 2008)	ICAM-1 (leukocyte adhesion protein; Hu et al., 2010)	p27 (cell cycle; Garofalo et al., 2008)
	p57 (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1C;	DNA damage-inducible transcript 4	TIMP3 (TIMP metallopeptidase inhibitor 3
	Kim et al., 2009b)	(DDIT4; Pineau et al., 2010)	Garofalo et al., 2009)
	PTEN (tumor suppressor; Garofalo et al., 2009)	PUMA (apoptosis; Zhang et al., 2010)	C-fos (cell proliferation; Ichimura et al., 2010)
	Bmf (apoptosis; Gramantieri et al., 2009)	Mdm2 (ubiquitination; Kim et al., 2010)	CDKN1B (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1B; Kotani et al., 2009)
hsa-miR-222	ERα (estrogen receptor α; Zhao et al., 2008)	p27 (cell cycle; Garofalo et al., 2008)	PTEN (tumor suppressor; Garofalo et al., 2009)
	STAT5A (signal transducer and activator of	p57 (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1C;	TIMP3 (TIMP metallopeptidase inhibitor 3
	transcription 5; Dentelli et al., 2010)	Kim et al., 2009b)	Garofalo et al., 2009)
	Bim (apoptosis; Terasawa et al., 2009)	ETS-1 (transcription factor; Zhu et al., 2011)	PUMA (apoptosis; Zhang et al., 2010)
	PPP2R2A (protein phosphatase 2A subunit B; Wong et al., 2010)	C-fos (cell proliferation; Ichimura et al., 2010)	ICAM-1 (Ueda et al., 2009)
	MMP1 (cleaves collagens; Liu et al., 2009)	SOD2 (superoxide dismutase 2; Liu et al., 2009)	
hsa-miR-181a	SIRT1 (apoptosis, muscle differentiation;	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM; cell	Hox-A11 (transcription factor; Naguibneva
	Saunders et al., 2010)	cycle; Wang et al., 2011)	et al., 2006)
	p27(cell cycle; Cuesta et al., 2009)	PLAG1 (transcription factor; Pallasch et al., 2009)	BCL2 (B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2; apoptosis, Zhu et al., 2010)
	Bim (apoptosis; Lwin et al., 2010)	Tcl1 (cell proliferation; Pekarsky et al., 2006)	OPN (osteopontin; Bhattacharya et al., 2010)
hsa-miR-181b	AID (activation-induced cytidine deaminase; RNA-editing; De Yebenes et al., 2008)	PLAG1 (transcription factor; Pallasch et al., 2009)	BCL2 (B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2; apoptosis Zhu et al., 2010)
	TIMP3 (TIMP metallopeptidase inhibitor 3;	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM; cell	SIRT1 (apoptosis, muscle differentiation;
	Wang et al., 2010a)	cycle; Wang et al., 2011)	Saunders et al., 2010)
	ZNF37A (transcriptional regulation; Huang et al., 2010)	ZNF83 (transcriptional regulation; Huang et al., 2010)	ZNF182 (transcriptional regulation; Huang et al., 2010)
	Mcl-1 (myeloid cell leukemia-1; apoptosis; Zimmerman et al., 2010)		
hsa-miR-181c	IL2 (immune response; Xue et al., 2011)	BCL2 (B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2; apoptosis; Zhu et al., 2010)	NOTCH4 (transcriptional activator complex; Hashimoto et al., 2010)

(Continued)

Table A3 | Continued

miR ID		Validated target	
	KRAS (GTPase activity; Hashimoto et al., 2010)		
hsa-miR-181d	BCL2 (B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2; Zhu et al., 2010)		
hsa-miR-494	CaMKII& (CNS kinase; Wang et al., 2010b)	ROCK-1 (apoptosis; Wang et al., 2010b)	LIF (leukemia inhibitory factor (cholinergic differentiation factor); Wang et al., 2010b)
	PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog; Wang et al., 2010b)	TEL-AML1 (hematopoiesis; Diakos et al., 2010)	FGFR2 (fibroblast growth factor receptor 2; Wang et al., 2010b)
hsa-miR-129-5p	CAMTA1 (calmodulin binding transcription activator 1; Liao et al., 2008) SOX4 (transcriptional activator; Dyrskjot et al., 2009)	EIF2C3 (eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2C, 3; Liao et al., 2008)	GALNT1 (oligosaccharide biosynthesis; Dyrskjot et al., 2009)
hsa-miR-30d	Galphai2 (G protein, α inhibiting activity polypeptide 2; Yao et al., 2010)		
hsa-miR-30c	Runx1 (runt-related transcription factor 1; Ben-Ami et al., 2009)	CTGF (connective tissue growth factor; Duisters et al., 2009)	
hsa-miR-30a	SOD2 (superoxide dismutase 2; Xia et al., 2006) Xlim1/Lhx1 (transcription factor; Agrawal et al., 2009)	BDNF (brain-derived neurotrophic factor; Mellios et al., 2008)	Beclin 1 (autophagy; Zhu et al., 2009)
hsa-miR-30e	Ubc9 (ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2I; Wu et al., 2009)	B-Myb (transcription factor; Martinez et al., 2011)	
hsa-miR-320a	(Hsp20 heat-shock protein 20; Ren et al., 2009)	AQP1 (aquaporin 1; Sepramaniam et al., 2010)	AQP4 (aquaporin 4; Sepramaniam et al., 2010)
	The transferrin receptor 1(TfR-1; CD71; development of erythrocytes and the nervous system; Schaar et al., 2009)	Mcl-1 (myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1; apoptosis; Chen et al., 2009)	
hsa-miR-140-5p	Smad3 (transcriptional modulator; Pais et al., 2010)	HDAC4 (histone deacetylase 4; Tuddenham et al., 2006)	
hsa-miR-519c-3p	HIF-1 α (hypoxia-inducible factor 1 α ; Cha et al., 2010)	ABCG2 (exclusion of xenobiotics from the brain; To et al., 2008)	
hsa-miR-489	PTPN11 (signal transduction; Kikkawa et al., 2010)		
hsa-miR-584	NXA1 (exocytosis; Luthra et al., 2008)	ROCK-1 (actin assembly; Ueno et al., 2011)	

miRs without validated targets: hsa-miR-147b, -532-5p, -508-3p, -889, -325, -573, -195*, -567, -193b*, -625, -16-2*, -576-3p, -190b, -518e*, -518f*, -518d-5p, -147, -320d, -320c, -320b, -875-5p, -758, -30b, -1279, -3145, -1183, -664, -4261, -4262, -1237, -1972, -3146, let-7a-2*, let-7g*, -1911*, -2052, -15a*, -3148, -555, -656, -636, -3182, -513a-3p, -501-3p, -502-3p, -579, -4316, -4312, -1294, -142-5p, -3128, -30a*, -30e*, -4268, -3137, -20b*, -651, -32*, -362-5p, -500b, -501-5p, -1976, -449c*, -1224-5p, -302a*, -1248, -99b*, -99a*, -369-3p, -1256, -629, -187*, -514b-3p, -378*, -1305, -331-5p, -1200, -4272, -4260, -493*, -582-5p, -4255, -3133, -4273, -19a*, -19b-1*, -19b-2*, -4271, -15b*, -1826.

Table A4 | Additional targets of ChE-targeting miRs (common to more than one ChE).

miR ID	Validated target common to ACHE-R and AChE-S Pro-apoptotic P2 × 7 purinergic AKAP12 (tumor suppressor; Goeppert		
Hsa-miR-186			
	receptor(Zhou et al., 2008)	et al., 2010)	
Hsa-miR-199b-5p	Dyrk1a (brain development; Da Costa	HES1 (transcriptional repressor; Garzia	SET (apoptosis; Chao et al., 2010)
	Martins et al., 2010)	et al., 2009)	
Hsa-miR-429	ZEB1 (transcriptional repression of IL2;	ZEB2 (SIP1; zinc finger protein; Gregory	PLCgamma1(apoptosis; Uhlmann
	Gregory et al., 2008)	et al., 2008)	et al., 2010)
	RERE (apoptosis; Karres et al., 2007)		
Hsa-miR-200b	ZEB1 (transcriptional repression of IL2;	ZEB2 (SIP1; zinc finger protein; Gregory	PLCgamma1(apoptosis; Uhlmann
	Gregory et al., 2008)	et al., 2008)	et al., 2010)
	Serca2 (sarco/endoplasmic reticulum	Suz12 (chromatin silencing; lliopoulos	Ets-1 (transcriptions factor; Chan et al
	Ca2+-ATPase; Salomonis et al., 2010)	et al., 2010)	2011)
	OREBP (osmotic response element; Huang et al., 2011b)	Cyclin D1 (Xia et al., 2010)	
Hsa-miR-200c	ZEB1 (transcriptional repression of IL2;	ZEB2 (SIP1; zinc finger protein; Gregory	PLCgamma1(apoptosis; Uhlmann
	Gregory et al., 2008)	et al., 2008)	et al., 2010)
	VEGF (angiogenesis; Liu et al., 2010a)	TUBB3 (neurogenesis and axon guidance;	TRPS1 (transcription factor; Li et al.,
		Cochrane et al., 2009)	2009a)
	KLF13 (transcription factor; Li et al., 2009a)	MBNL2 (muscleblind-like protein 2; Li	FAP1 (apoptosis; Schickel et al., 2010)
		et al., 2009a)	
miR ID	Validated targets common to ACHE-R and BChE		
Hsa-miR-24	SOD1 (superoxide dismutase 1; Papaioannou	ALK4 (transducer of activin; Wang et al.,	Notch1 (Bergmann glia differentiation,
	et al., 2011)	2008)	Fukuda et al., 2005)
	MKK4 (survival signal in T cells; Marasa et al., 2009)	E2F2 (cell cycle; Lal et al., 2009a)	H2AX (histone-formation; Lal et al., 2009b)
	FAF1 (apoptosis; Qin et al., 2010)	HNF4α (cell proliferation; Takagi et al., 2010)	FURIN (processing of TGFβ1; Luna et al., 2011)
	DHFR (dihydrofolate reductase; Mishra et al.,	DND1(miRNA-mediated gene	
	2009)	suppression; Liu et al., 2010d)	
Hsa-miR-212	MeCP2 (interaction with histone	MYC (transcription; Xu et al., 2010b)	Rb1(tumor suppressor; Park et al.,
	deacetylase; Im et al., 2010)		2011)
	PED (apoptosis; Incoronato et al., 2010)		
Hsa-miR-132	AChE-S (Shaked et al., 2009)	P250GAP (neuron-associated GTPase; Vo et al., 2005)	Per1 (circadian clock; Cheng et al., 2007)
	SirT1 (apoptosis; Strum et al., 2009)	MeCP2 (modification of eukaryotic genomes; Klein et al., 2007)	p300 (chromatin remodeling; Lagos et al., 2010)
	Jarid1a (histone demethylase;	Btg2 (cell cycle; Alvarez-Saavedra et al.,	Paip2a (translation regulation;
	Alvarez-Saavedra et al., 2011)	2011)	Alvarez-Saavedra et al., 2011)
	p120RasGAP (angiogenesis; Anand et al.,	- •	
	2010)		
Hsa-miR-198	Cyclin T1(Xu et al., 2010b)		
Hsa-miR-194	Rac1 (GTP-binding protein; Venugopal et al.,	Per family (circadian; Nagel et al., 2009)	EP300 (transcriptional co-activator;
	2010)	, ,	Mees et al., 2010)
	MDM2 (p53 negative regulator; Pichiorri		
	······································		

miRs without validated targets: hsa-miR-423-3p, -484, -4728-3p, -939, -484, -4728-3p.

REFERENCES

- Agrawal, R., Tran, U., and Wessely, O. (2009). The miR-30 miRNA family regulates *Xenopus* pronephros development and targets the transcription factor Xlim1/Lhx1. *Development* 136, 3927–3936.
- Alajez, N. M., Lenarduzzi, M., Ito, E., Hui, A. B., Shi, W., Bruce, J., Yue, S., Huang, S. H., Xu, W., Waldron, J., O'sullivan, B., and Liu, F. F. (2011). MiR-218 suppresses nasopharyngeal cancer progression through downregulation of survivin and the SLIT2-ROBO1 pathway. *Cancer Res.* 71, 2381–2391.
- Alvarez-Saavedra, M., Antoun, G., Yanagiya, A., Oliva-Hernandez, R., Cornejo-Palma, D., Perez-Iratxeta, C., Sonenberg, N., and Cheng, H. Y. (2011). miRNA-132 orchestrates chromatin remodeling and translational control of the circadian clock. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, 731–751.
- Anand, S., Majeti, B. K., Acevedo, L. M., Murphy, E. A., Mukthavaram, R., Scheppke, L., Huang, M., Shields, D. J., Lindquist, J. N., Lapinski, P. E., King, P. D., Weis, S. M., and Cheresh, D. A. (2010). MicroRNA-132-mediated loss of p120RasGAP activates the endothelium to facilitate pathological angiogenesis. *Nat. Med.* 16, 909–914.
- Aprelikova, O., Yu, X., Palla, J., Wei, B. R., John, S., Yi, M., Stephens, R., Simpson, R. M., Risinger, J. I., Jazaeri, A., and Niederhuber, J. (2010). The role of miR-31 and its target gene SATB2 in cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Cell Cycle* 9, 4387–4398.
- Arvanitis, D. N., Jungas, T., Behar, A., and Davy, A. (2010). Ephrin-B1 reverse signaling controls a posttranscriptional feedback mechanism via miR-124. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 30, 2508–2517.
- Baroukh, N., Ravier, M. A., Loder, M. K., Hill, E. V., Bounacer, A., Scharfmann, R., Rutter, G. A., and Van Obberghen, E. (2007). MicroRNA-124a regulates Foxa2 expression and intracellular signaling in pancreatic beta-cell lines. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 19575–19588.
- Ben-Ami, O., Pencovich, N., Lotem, J., Levanon, D., and Groner, Y. (2009). A regulatory interplay between miR-27a and Runx1 during megakaryopoiesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 238–243.
- Bhatnagar, N., Li, X., Padi, S. K., Zhang, Q., Tang, M. S., and Guo, B. (2010). Downregulation of miR-205 and miR-31 confers resistance to chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. *Cell Death Dis.* 1, e105.

- Bhattacharya, S. D., Garrison, J., Guo, H., Mi, Z., Markovic, J., Kim, V. M., and Kuo, P. C. (2010). Micro-RNA-181a regulates osteopontindependent metastatic function in hepatocellular cancer cell lines. *Surgery* 148, 291–297.
- Braconi, C., Huang, N., and Patel, T. (2010a). MicroRNA-dependent regulation of DNA methyltransferase-1 and tumor suppressor gene expression by interleukin-6 in human malignant cholangiocytes. *Hepatol*ogy 51, 881–890.
- Braconi, C., Valeri, N., Gasparini, P., Huang, N., Taccioli, C., Nuovo, G., Suzuki, T., Croce, C. M., and Patel, T. (2010b). Hepatitis C virus proteins modulate microRNA expression and chemosensitivity in malignant hepatocytes. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 16, 957–966.
- Braig, S., Mueller, D. W., Rothhammer, T., and Bosserhoff, A. K. (2010). MicroRNA miR-196a is a central regulator of HOX-B7 and BMP4 expression in malignant melanoma. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 67, 3535–3548.
- Bueno, M. J., Perez De Castro, I., Gomez De Cedron, M., Santos, J., Calin, G. A., Cigudosa, J. C., Croce, C. M., Fernandez-Piqueras, J., and Malumbres, M. (2008). Genetic and epigenetic silencing of microRNA-203 enhances ABL1 and BCR-ABL1 oncogene expression. *Cancer Cell* 13, 496–506.
- Cao, X., Pfaff, S. L., and Gage, F. H. (2007). A functional study of miR-124 in the developing neural tube. *Genes Dev.* 21, 531–536.
- Cha, S. T., Chen, P. S., Johansson, G., Chu, C. Y., Wang, M. Y., Jeng, Y. M., Yu, S. L., Chen, J. S., Chang, K. J., Jee, S. H., Tan, C. T., Lin, M. T., and Kuo, M. L. (2010). MicroRNA-519c suppresses hypoxia-inducible factorlalpha expression and tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.* 70, 2675–2685.
- Chan, Y. C., Khanna, S., Roy, S., and Sen, C. K. (2011). miR-200b targets Ets-1 and is down-regulated by hypoxia to induce angiogenic response of endothelial cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 2047–2056.
- Chao, A., Tsai, C. L., Wei, P. C., Hsueh, S., Chao, A. S., Wang, C. J., Tsai, C. N., Lee, Y. S., Wang, T. H., and Lai, C. H. (2010). Decreased expression of microRNA-199b increases protein levels of SET (protein phosphatase 2A inhibitor) in human choriocarcinoma. *Cancer Lett.* 291, 99–107.
- Chen, L., Yan, H. X., Yang, W., Hu, L., Yu, L. X., Liu, Q., Li, L., Huang, D. D., Ding, J., Shen, F., Zhou, W. P., Wu, M. C., and Wang, H. Y. (2009). The role of microRNA expression pattern in

human intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. *J. Hepatol.* 50, 358–369.

- Chen, R., Alvero, A. B., Silasi, D. A., Kelly, M. G., Fest, S., Visintin, I., Leiser, A., Schwartz, P. E., Rutherford, T., and Mor, G. (2008). Regulation of IKKbeta by miR-199a affects NFkappaB activity in ovarian cancer cells. Oncogene 27, 4712–4723.
- Cheng, H. Y., Papp, J. W., Varlamova, O., Dziema, H., Russell, B., Curfman, J. P., Nakazawa, T., Shimizu, K., Okamura, H., Impey, S., and Obrietan, K. (2007). microRNA modulation of circadian-clock period and entrainment. *Neuron* 54, 813–829.
- Cheng, L. C., Pastrana, E., Tavazoie, M., and Doetsch, F. (2009). miR-124 regulates adult neurogenesis in the subventricular zone stem cell niche. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 399–408.
- Chou, Y. T., Lin, H. H., Lien, Y. C., Wang, Y. H., Hong, C. F., Kao, Y. R., Lin, S. C., Chang, Y. C., Lin, S. Y., Chen, S. J., Chen, H. C., Yeh, S. D., and Wu, C. W. (2010). EGFR promotes lung tumorigenesis by activating miR-7 through a Ras/ERK/Myc pathway that targets the Ets2 transcriptional repressor ERF. *Cancer Res.* 70, 8822–8831.
- Cocco, E., Paladini, F., Macino, G., Fulci, V., Fiorillo, M. T., and Sorrentino, R. (2010). The expression of vasoactive intestinal peptide receptor 1 is negatively modulated by microRNA 525-5p. *PLoS ONE* 5, e12067. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012067
- Cochrane, D. R., Spoelstra, N. S., Howe, E. N., Nordeen, S. K., and Richer, J. K. (2009). MicroRNA-200c mitigates invasiveness and restores sensitivity to microtubule-targeting chemotherapeutic agents. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 8, 1055–1066.
- Cortez, M. A., Nicoloso, M. S., Shimizu, M., Rossi, S., Gopisetty, G., Molina, J. R., Carlotti, C. Jr., Tirapelli, D., Neder, L., Brassesco, M. S., Scrideli, C. A., Tone, L. G., Georgescu, M. M., Zhang, W., Puduvalli, V., and Calin, G. A. (2010). miR-29b and miR-125a regulate podoplanin and suppress invasion in glioblastoma. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* 49, 981–990.
- Cottonham, C. L., Kaneko, S., and Xu, L. (2010). miR-21 and miR-31 converge on TIAM1 to regulate migration and invasion of colon carcinoma cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 35293–35302.
- Cowden Dahl, K. D., Dahl, R., Kruichak, J. N., and Hudson, L. G. (2009). The epidermal growth factor receptor responsive miR-125a represses

mesenchymal morphology in ovarian cancer cells. *Neoplasia* 11, 1208–1215.

- Cuesta, R., Martinez-Sanchez, A., and Gebauer, F. (2009). miR-181a regulates cap-dependent translation of p27(kip1) mRNA in myeloid cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 29, 2841–2851.
- Da Costa Martins, P. A., Salic, K., Gladka, M. M., Armand, A. S., Leptidis, S., El Azzouzi, H., Hansen, A., Coenen-De Roo, C. J., Bierhuizen, M. F., Van Der Nagel, R., Van Kuik, J., De Weger, R., De Bruin, A., Condorelli, G., Arbones, M. L., Eschenhagen, T., and De Windt, L. J. (2010). MicroRNA-199b targets the nuclear kinase Dyrk1a in an auto-amplification loop promoting calcineurin/NFAT signalling. Nat. Cell Biol. 12, 1220–1227.
- De Yebenes, V. G., Belver, L., Pisano, D. G., Gonzalez, S., Villasante, A., Croce, C., He, L., and Ramiro, A. R. (2008). miR-181b negatively regulates activation-induced cytidine deaminase in B cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 205, 2199–2206.
- Dentelli, P., Rosso, A., Orso, F., Olgasi, C., Taverna, D., and Brizzi, M. F. (2010). microRNA-222 controls neovascularization by regulating signal transducer and activator of transcription 5A expression. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 30, 1562–1568.
- Diakos, C., Zhong, S., Xiao, Y., Zhou, M., Vasconcelos, G. M., Krapf, G., Yeh, R. F., Zheng, S., Kang, M., Wiencke, J. K., Pombo-De-Oliveira, M. S., Panzer-Grumayer, R., and Wiemels, J. L. (2010). TEL-AML1 regulation of survivin and apoptosis via miRNA-494 and miRNA-320a. *Blood* 116, 4885–4893.
- Duisters, R. F., Tijsen, A. J., Schroen, B., Leenders, J. J., Lentink, V., Van Der Made, I., Herias, V., Van Leeuwen, R. E., Schellings, M. W., Barenbrug, P., Maessen, J. G., Heymans, S., Pinto, Y. M., and Creemers, E. E. (2009). miR-133 and miR-30 regulate connective tissue growth factor: implications for a role of microRNAs in myocardial matrix remodeling. *Circ. Res.* 104, 170–178.
- Duursma, A. M., Kedde, M., Schrier, M., Le Sage, C., and Agami, R. (2008). miR-148 targets human DNMT3b protein coding region. *RNA* 14, 872–877.
- Dyrskjot, L., Ostenfeld, M. S., Bramsen, J. B., Silahtaroglu, A. N., Lamy, P., Ramanathan, R., Fristrup, N., Jensen, J. L., Andersen, C. L., Zieger, K., Kauppinen, S., Ulhoi, B. P., Kjems, J., Borre, M., and Orntoft,

T. F. (2009). Genomic profiling of microRNAs in bladder cancer: miR-129 is associated with poor outcome and promotes cell death in vitro. *Cancer Res.* 69, 4851–4860.

- Edbauer, D., Neilson, J. R., Foster, K. A., Wang, C. F., Seeburg, D. P., Batterton, M. N., Tada, T., Dolan, B. M., Sharp, P. A., and Sheng, M. (2010). Regulation of synaptic structure and function by FMRP-associated microR-NAs miR-125b and miR-132. *Neuron* 65, 373–384.
- Ferretti, E., De Smaele, E., Miele, E., Laneve, P., Po, A., Pelloni, M., Paganelli, A., Di Marcotullio, L., Caffarelli, E., Screpanti, I., Bozzoni, I., and Gulino, A. (2008). Concerted microRNA control of hedgehog signalling in cerebellar neuronal progenitor and tumour cells. *EMBO J.* 27, 2616–2627.
- Ferretti, E., De Smaele, E., Po, A., Di Marcotullio, L., Tosi, E., Espinola, M. S., Di Rocco, C., Riccardi, R., Giangaspero, F., Farcomeni, A., Nofroni, I., Laneve, P., Gioia, U., Caffarelli, E., Bozzoni, I., Screpanti, I., and Gulino, A. (2009). MicroRNA profiling in human medulloblastoma. *Int. J. Cancer* 124, 568–577.
- Forrest, A. R., Kanamori-Katayama, M., Tomaru, Y., Lassmann, T., Ninomiya, N., Takahashi, Y., De Hoon, M. J., Kubosaki, A., Kaiho, A., Suzuki, M., Yasuda, J., Kawai, J., Hayashizaki, Y., Hume, D. A., and Suzuki, H. (2010). Induction of microRNAs, mir-155, mir-222, mir-424 and mir-503, promotes monocytic differentiation through combinatorial regulation. Leukemia 24, 460–466.
- Fujita, Y., Kojima, K., Ohhashi, R., Hamada, N., Nozawa, Y., Kitamoto, A., Sato, A., Kondo, S., Kojima, T., Deguchi, T., and Ito, M. (2010). MiR-148a attenuates paclitaxel resistance of hormone-refractory, drugresistant prostate cancer PC3 cells by regulating MSK1 expression. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 19076–19084.
- Fukuda, Y., Kawasaki, H., and Taira, K. (2005). Exploration of human miRNA target genes in neuronal differentiation. *Nucleic Acids Symp. Ser.* (*Oxf.*) 49, 341–342.
- Garofalo, M., Di Leva, G., Romano, G., Nuovo, G., Suh, S. S., Ngankeu, A., Taccioli, C., Pichiorri, F., Alder, H., Secchiero, P., Gasparini, P., Gonelli, A., Costinean, S., Acunzo, M., Condorelli, G., and Croce, C. M. (2009). miR-221&222 regulate TRAIL resistance and enhance tumorigenicity through PTEN and TIMP3 downregulation. *Cancer Cell* 16, 498–509.
- Garofalo, M., Quintavalle, C., Di Leva, G., Zanca, C., Romano, G., Taccioli, C., Liu, C. G., Croce, C. M., and

Condorelli, G. (2008). MicroRNA signatures of TRAIL resistance in human non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncogene* 27, 3845–3855.

- Garzia, L., Andolfo, I., Cusanelli, E., Marino, N., Petrosino, G., De Martino, D., Esposito, V., Galeone, A., Navas, L., Esposito, S., Gargiulo, S., Fattet, S., Donofrio, V., Cinalli, G., Brunetti, A., Vecchio, L. D., Northcott, P. A., Delattre, O., Taylor, M. D., Iolascon, A., and Zollo, M. (2009). MicroRNA-199b-5p impairs cancer stem cells through negative regulation of HES1 in medulloblastoma. *PLoS ONE* 4, e4998. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004998
- Ge, Y., Sun, Y., and Chen, J. (2011). IGF-II is regulated by microRNA-125b in skeletal myogenesis. J. Cell Biol. 192, 69–81.
- Geisler, A., Jungmann, A., Kurreck, J., Poller, W., Katus, H. A., Vetter, R., Fechner, H., and Muller, O. J. (2011). microRNA122-regulated transgene expression increases specificity of cardiac gene transfer upon intravenous delivery of AAV9 vectors. *Gene Ther.* 18, 199–209.
- Giraud-Triboult, K., Rochon-Beaucourt, C., Nissan, X., Champon, B., Aubert, S., and Pietu, G. (2011). Combined mRNA and microRNA profiling reveals that miR-148a and miR-20b control human mesenchymal stem cell phenotype via EPAS1. *Physiol. Genomics* 43, 77–86.
- Goeppert, B., Schmezer, P., Dutruel, C., Oakes, C., Renner, M., Breinig, M., Warth, A., Vogel, M. N., Mittelbronn, M., Mehrabi, A., Gdynia, G., Penzel, R., Longerich, T., Breuhahn, K., Popanda, O., Plass, C., Schirmacher, P., and Kern, M. A. (2010). Down-regulation of tumor suppressor A kinase anchor protein 12 in human hepatocarcinogenesis by epigenetic mechanisms. *Hepatology* 52, 2023–2033.
- Goswami, S., Tarapore, R. S., Teslaa, J. J., Grinblat, Y., Setaluri, V., and Spiegelman, V. S. (2010). MicroRNA-340-mediated degradation of microphthalmia-associated transcription factor mRNA is inhibited by the coding region determinant-binding protein. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 20532–20540.
- Gramantieri, L., Fornari, F., Ferracin, M., Veronese, A., Sabbioni, S., Calin, G. A., Grazi, G. L., Croce, C. M., Bolondi, L., and Negrini, M. (2009). MicroRNA-221 targets Bmf in hepatocellular carcinoma and correlates with tumor multifocality. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 15, 5073–5081.
- Guidi, M., Muinos-Gimeno, M., Kagerbauer, B., Marti, E., Estivill, X., and Espinosa-Parrilla, Y. (2010).

Overexpression of miR-128 specifically inhibits the truncated isoform of NTRK3 and upregulates BCL2 in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells. *BMC Mol. Biol.* 11, 95. doi:10.1186/1471-2199-11-95

- Guo, S., Lu, J., Schlanger, R., Zhang, H., Wang, J. Y., Fox, M. C., Purton, L. E., Fleming, H. H., Cobb, B., Merkenschlager, M., Golub, T. R., and Scadden, D. T. (2010). MicroRNA miR-125a controls hematopoietic stem cell number. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 107, 14229–14234.
- Guo, X., Wu, Y., and Hartley, R. S. (2009). MicroRNA-125a represses cell growth by targeting HuR in breast cancer. *RNA Biol.* 6, 575–583.
- Gutierrez, O., Berciano, M. T., Lafarga, M., and Fernandez-Luna, J. L. (2011). A novel pathway of TEF regulation mediated by microRNA-125b contributes to the control of actin distribution and cell shape in fibroblasts. *PLoS ONE* 6, e17169. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0017169
- Hackanson, B., Bennett, K. L., Brena, R. M., Jiang, J., Claus, R., Chen, S. S., Blagitko-Dorfs, N., Maharry, K., Whitman, S. P., Schmittgen, T. D., Lubbert, M., Marcucci, G., Bloomfield, C. D., and Plass, C. (2008). Epigenetic modification of CCAAT/enhancer binding protein alpha expression in acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Res.* 68, 3142–3151.
- Haflidadottir, B. S., Bergsteinsdottir, K., Praetorius, C., and Steingrimsson, E. (2010). miR-148 regulates Mitf in melanoma cells. *PLoS ONE* 5, e11574. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011574
- Hashimoto, Y., Akiyama, Y., Otsubo, T., Shimada, S., and Yuasa, Y. (2010). Involvement of epigenetically silenced microRNA-181c in gastric carcinogenesis. *Carcinogene*sis 31, 777–784.
- Hu, G., Gong, A. Y., Liu, J., Zhou, R., Deng, C., and Chen, X. M. (2010). miR-221 suppresses ICAM-1 translation and regulates interferongamma-induced ICAM-1 expression in human cholangiocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 298, G542–G550.
- Huang, L., Luo, J., Cai, Q., Pan, Q., Zeng, H., Guo, Z., Dong, W., Huang, J., and Lin, T. (2011a). MicroRNA-125b suppresses the development of bladder cancer by targeting E2F3. *Int. J. Cancer* 128, 1758–1769.
- Huang, W., Liu, H., Wang, T., Zhang, T., Kuang, J., Luo, Y., Chung, S. S., Yuan, L., and Yang, J. Y. (2011b). Tonicityresponsive microRNAs contribute to the maximal induction of osmoregulatory transcription factor OREBP

in response to high-NaCl hypertonicity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 475–485.

- Huang, S., Wu, S., Ding, J., Lin, J., Wei, L., Gu, J., and He, X. (2010). MicroRNA-181a modulates gene expression of zinc finger family members by directly targeting their coding regions. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 7211–7218.
- Iliopoulos, D., Lindahl-Allen, M., Polytarchou, C., Hirsch, H. A., Tsichlis, P. N., and Struhl, K. (2010). Loss of miR-200 inhibition of Suz12 leads to polycomb-mediated repression required for the formation and maintenance of cancer stem cells. *Mol. Cell* 39, 761–772.
- Ilnytskyy, Y., Zemp, F. J., Koturbash, I., and Kovalchuk, O. (2008). Altered microRNA expression patterns in irradiated hematopoietic tissues suggest a sex-specific protective mechanism. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 377, 41–45.
- Im, H. I., Hollander, J. A., Bali, P., and Kenny, P. J. (2010). MeCP2 controls BDNF expression and cocaine intake through homeostatic interactions with microRNA-212. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1120–1127.
- Imam, J. S., Buddavarapu, K., Lee-Chang, J. S., Ganapathy, S., Camosy, C., Chen, Y., and Rao, M. K. (2010). MicroRNA-185 suppresses tumor growth and progression by targeting the Six1 oncogene in human cancers. Oncogene 29, 4971–4979.
- Incoronato, M., Garofalo, M., Urso, L., Romano, G., Quintavalle, C., Zanca, C., Iaboni, M., Nuovo, G., Croce, C. M., and Condorelli, G. (2010). miR-212 increases tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand sensitivity in non-small cell lung cancer by targeting the antiapoptotic protein PED. *Cancer Res.* 70, 3638–3646.
- Jeyapalan, Z., Deng, Z., Shatseva, T., Fang, L., He, C., and Yang, B. B. (2011). Expression of CD44 3'-untranslated region regulates endogenous microRNA functions in tumorigenesis and angiogenesis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 3026–3041.
- Ji, J., Zhao, L., Budhu, A., Forgues, M., Jia, H. L., Qin, L. X., Ye, Q. H., Yu, J., Shi, X., Tang, Z. Y., and Wang, X. W. (2010). Let-7g targets collagen type I alpha2 and inhibits cell migration in hepatocellular carcinoma. *J. Hepatol.* 52, 690–697.
- Jiang, L., Liu, X., Chen, Z., Jin, Y., Heidbreder, C. E., Kolokythas, A., Wang, A., Dai, Y., and Zhou, X. (2010). MicroRNA-7 targets IGF1R (insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor) in tongue squamous cell carcinoma cells. *Biochem. J.* 432, 199–205.

- Juan, A. H., Kumar, R. M., Marx, J. G., Young, R. A., and Sartorelli, V. (2009). Mir-214-dependent regulation of the polycomb protein Ezh2 in skeletal muscle and embryonic stem cells. *Mol. Cell* 36, 61–74.
- Junn, E., Lee, K. W., Jeong, B. S., Chan, T. W., Im, J. Y., and Mouradian, M. M. (2009). Repression of alphasynuclein expression and toxicity by microRNA-7. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 13052–13057.
- Karres, J. S., Hilgers, V., Carrera, I., Treisman, J., and Cohen, S. M. (2007). The conserved microRNA miR-8 tunes atrophin levels to prevent neurodegeneration in *Drosophila*. *Cell* 131, 136–145.
- Kefas, B., Godlewski, J., Comeau, L., Li, Y., Abounader, R., Hawkinson, M., Lee, J., Fine, H., Chiocca, E. A., Lawler, S., and Purow, B. (2008). microRNA-7 inhibits the epidermal growth factor receptor and the Akt pathway and is down-regulated in glioblastoma. *Cancer Res.* 68, 3566–3572.
- Kikkawa, N., Hanazawa, T., Fujimura, L., Nohata, N., Suzuki, H., Chazono, H., Sakurai, D., Horiguchi, S., Okamoto, Y., and Seki, N. (2010). miR-489 is a tumour-suppressive miRNA target PTPN11 in hypopharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma (HSCC). Br. J. Cancer 103, 877–884.
- Kim, B. M., Woo, J., Kanellopoulou, C., and Shivdasani, R. A. (2011). Regulation of mouse stomach development and Barx1 expression by specific microRNAs. *Development* 138, 1081–1086.
- Kim, D., Song, J., and Jin, E. J. (2010). MicroRNA-221 regulates chondrogenic differentiation through promoting proteosomal degradation of slug by targeting Mdm2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 26900–26907.
- Kim, Y. J., Bae, S. W., Yu, S. S., Bae, Y. C., and Jung, J. S. (2009a). miR-196a regulates proliferation and osteogenic differentiation in mesenchymal stem cells derived from human adipose tissue. J. Bone Miner. Res. 24, 816–825.
- Kim, Y. K., Yu, J., Han, T. S., Park, S. Y., Namkoong, B., Kim, D. H., Hur, K., Yoo, M. W., Lee, H. J., Yang, H. K., and Kim, V. N. (2009b). Functional links between clustered microRNAs: suppression of cell-cycle inhibitors by microRNA clusters in gastric cancer. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 1672–1681.
- Klein, M. E., Lioy, D. T., Ma, L., Impey, S., Mandel, G., and Goodman, R. H. (2007). Homeostatic regulation of MeCP2 expression by a CREBinduced microRNA. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 1513–1514.
- Ko, H. Y., Lee, D. S., and Kim, S. (2009). Noninvasive imaging

of microRNA124a-mediated repression of the chromosome 14 ORF 24 gene during neurogenesis. *FEBS J.* 276, 4854–4865.

- Komagata, S., Nakajima, M., Takagi, S., Mohri, T., Taniya, T., and Yokoi, T. (2009). Human CYP24 catalyzing the inactivation of calcitriol is posttranscriptionally regulated by miR-125b. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 76, 702–709.
- Kotani, A., Ha, D., Hsieh, J., Rao, P. K., Schotte, D., Den Boer, M. L., Armstrong, S. A., and Lodish, H. F. (2009). miR-128b is a potent glucocorticoid sensitizer in MLL-AF4 acute lymphocytic leukemia cells and exerts cooperative effects with miR-221. *Blood* 114, 4169–4178.
- Krek, A., Grun, D., Poy, M. N., Wolf, R., Rosenberg, L., Epstein, E. J., Macmenamin, P., Da Piedade, I., Gunsalus, K. C., Stoffel, M., and Rajewsky, N. (2005). Combinatorial microRNA target predictions. *Nat. Genet.* 37, 495–500.
- Lagos, D., Pollara, G., Henderson, S., Gratrix, F., Fabani, M., Milne, R. S., Gotch, F., and Boshoff, C. (2010). miR-132 regulates antiviral innate immunity through suppression of the p300 transcriptional coactivator. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 513–519.
- Lal, A., Navarro, F., Maher, C. A., Maliszewski, L. E., Yan, N., O'day, E., Chowdhury, D., Dykxhoorn, D. M., Tsai, P., Hofmann, O., Becker, K. G., Gorospe, M., Hide, W., and Lieberman, J. (2009a). miR-24 inhibits cell proliferation by targeting E2F2, MYC, and other cellcycle genes via binding to "seedless" 3'UTR microRNA recognition elements. *Mol. Cell* 35, 610–625.
- Lal, A., Pan, Y., Navarro, F., Dykxhoorn, D. M., Moreau, L., Meire, E., Bentwich, Z., Lieberman, J., and Chowdhury, D. (2009b). miR-24-mediated downregulation of H2AX suppresses DNA repair in terminally differentiated blood cells. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 16, 492–498.
- Lan, F. F., Wang, H., Chen, Y. C., Chan, C. Y., Ng, S. S., Li, K., Xie, D., He, M. L., Lin, M. C., and Kung, H. F. (2011). Hsa-let-7g inhibits proliferation of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by downregulation of c-Myc and upregulation of p16(INK4A). *Int. J. Cancer* 128, 319–331.
- Le, M. T., Teh, C., Shyh-Chang, N., Xie, H., Zhou, B., Korzh, V., Lodish, H. F., and Lim, B. (2009). MicroRNA-125b is a novel negative regulator of p53. *Genes Dev.* 23, 862–876.
- Leivonen, S. K., Makela, R., Ostling, P., Kohonen, P., Haapa-Paananen, S., Kleivi, K., Enerly, E., Aakula, A., Hellstrom, K., Sahlberg, N., Kristensen, V. N., Borresen-Dale, A. L., Saviranta, P., Perala, M., and Kallioniemi,

O. (2009). Protein lysate microarray analysis to identify microRNAs regulating estrogen receptor signaling in breast cancer cell lines. *Oncogene* 28, 3926–3936.

- Li, L. M., Hou, D. X., Guo, Y. L., Yang, J. W., Liu, Y., Zhang, C. Y., and Zen, K. (2011). Role of microRNA-214targeting phosphatase and tensin homolog in advanced glycation end product-induced apoptosis delay in monocytes. J. Immunol. 186, 2552–2560.
- Li, S. S., Yu, S. L., Kao, L. P., Tsai, Z. Y., Singh, S., Chen, B. Z., Ho, B. C., Liu, Y. H., and Yang, P. C. (2009a). Target identification of microRNAs expressed highly in human embryonic stem cells. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 106, 1020–1030.
- Li, X. F., Yan, P. J., and Shao, Z. M. (2009b). Downregulation of miR-193b contributes to enhance urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) expression and tumor progression and invasion in human breast cancer. Oncogene 28, 3937–3948.
- Li, X., and Carthew, R. W. (2005). A microRNA mediates EGF receptor signaling and promotes photoreceptor differentiation in the *Drosophila* eye. *Cell* 123, 1267–1277.
- Liao, R., Sun, J., Zhang, L., Lou, G., Chen, M., Zhou, D., Chen, Z., and Zhang, S. (2008). MicroRNAs play a role in the development of human hematopoietic stem cells. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 104, 805–817.
- Liu, H., Brannon, A. R., Reddy, A. R., Alexe, G., Seiler, M. W., Arreola, A., Oza, J. H., Yao, M., Juan, D., Liou, L. S., Ganesan, S., Levine, A. J., Rathmell, W. K., and Bhanot, G. V. (2010a). Identifying mRNA targets of microRNA dysregulated in cancer: with application to clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *BMC Syst. Biol.* 4, 51. doi:10.1186/1752-0509-4-51
- Liu, J., Luo, X. J., Xiong, A. W., Zhang, Z. D., Yue, S., Zhu, M. S., and Cheng, S. Y. (2010b). MicroRNA-214 promotes myogenic differentiation by facilitating exit from mitosis via down-regulation of protooncogene N-ras. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 26599–26607.
- Liu, X., Sempere, L. F., Ouyang, H., Memoli, V. A., Andrew, A. S., Luo, Y., Demidenko, E., Korc, M., Shi, W., Preis, M., Dragnev, K. H., Li, H., Direnzo, J., Bak, M., Freemantle, S. J., Kauppinen, S., and Dmitrovsky, E. (2010c). MicroRNA-31 functions as an oncogenic microRNA in mouse and human lung cancer cells by repressing specific tumor suppressors. J. Clin. Invest. 120, 1298–1309.
- Liu, X., Wang, A., Heidbreder, C. E., Jiang, L., Yu, J., Kolokythas,

A., Huang, L., Dai, Y., and Zhou, X. (2010d). MicroRNA-24 targeting RNA-binding protein DND1 in tongue squamous cell carcinoma. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 4115–4120.

- Liu, X., Zhan, Z., Xu, L., Ma, F., Li, D., Guo, Z., Li, N., and Cao, X. (2010e). MicroRNA-148/152 impair innate response and antigen presentation of TLR-triggered dendritic cells by targeting CaMKIIalpha. *J. Immunol.* 185, 7244–7251.
- Liu, K., Liu, Y., Mo, W., Qiu, R., Wang, X., Wu, J. Y., and He, R. (2011). MiR-124 regulates early neurogenesis in the optic vesicle and forebrain, targeting NeuroD1. Nucleic Acids Res. 39, 2869–2879.
- Liu, X., Yu, J., Jiang, L., Wang, A., Shi, F., Ye, H., and Zhou, X. (2009). MicroRNA-222 regulates cell invasion by targeting matrix metalloproteinase 1 (MMP1) and manganese superoxide dismutase 2 (SOD2) in tongue squamous cell carcinoma cell lines. *Cancer Genomics Proteomics* 6, 131–139.
- Luna, C., Li, G., Qiu, J., Epstein, D. L., and Gonzalez, P. (2011). MicroRNA-24 regulates the processing of latent TGFbeta1 during cyclic mechanical stress in human trabecular meshwork cells through direct targeting of FURIN. J. Cell. Physiol. 226, 1407–1414.
- Luthra, R., Singh, R. R., Luthra, M. G., Li, Y. X., Hannah, C., Romans, A. M., Barkoh, B. A., Chen, S. S., Ensor, J., Maru, D. M., Broaddus, R. R., Rashid, A., and Albarracin, C. T. (2008). MicroRNA-196a targets annexin A1: a microRNA-mediated mechanism of annexin A1 downregulation in cancers. Oncogene 27, 6667–6678.
- Lwin, T., Lin, J., Choi, Y. S., Zhang, X., Moscinski, L. C., Wright, K. L., Sotomayor, E. M., Dalton, W. S., and Tao, J. (2010). Follicular dendritic cell-dependent drug resistance of non-Hodgkin lymphoma involves cell adhesion-mediated Bim down-regulation through induction of microRNA-181a. *Blood* 116, 5228–5236.
- Ma, N., Wang, X., Qiao, Y., Li, F., Hui, Y., Zou, C., Jin, J., Lv, G., Peng, Y., Wang, L., Huang, H., Zhou, L., Zheng, X., and Gao, X. (2011). Coexpression of an intronic microRNA and its host gene reveals a potential role for miR-483-5p as an IGF2 partner. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 333, 96–101.
- Makeyev, E. V., Zhang, J., Carrasco, M. A., and Maniatis, T. (2007). The microRNA miR-124 promotes neuronal differentiation by triggering brain-specific alternative premRNA splicing. *Mol. Cell* 27, 435–448.

- Malhas, A., Saunders, N. J., and Vaux, D. J. (2010). The nuclear envelope can control gene expression and cell cycle progression via miRNA regulation. *Cell Cycle* 9, 531–539.
- Malumbres, R., Sarosiek, K. A., Cubedo, E., Ruiz, J. W., Jiang, X., Gascoyne, R. D., Tibshirani, R., and Lossos, I. S. (2009). Differentiation stage-specific expression of microR-NAs in B lymphocytes and diffuse large B-cell lymphomas. *Blood* 113, 3754–3764.
- Marasa, B. S., Srikantan, S., Masuda, K., Abdelmohsen, K., Kuwano, Y., Yang, X., Martindale, J. L., Rinker-Schaeffer, C. W., and Gorospe, M. (2009). Increased MKK4 abundance with replicative senescence is linked to the joint reduction of multiple microRNAs. *Sci. Signal.* 2, ra69.
- Mardaryev, A. N., Ahmed, M. I., Vlahov, N. V., Fessing, M. Y., Gill, J. H., Sharov, A. A., and Botchkareva, N. V. (2010). Micro-RNA-31 controls hair cycle-associated changes in gene expression programs of the skin and hair follicle. *FASEB J.* 24, 3869–3881.
- Martinez, I., Cazalla, D., Almstead, L. L., Steitz, J. A., and Dimaio, D. (2011). miR-29 and miR-30 regulate B-Myb expression during cellular senescence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 108, 522–527.
- Maru, D. M., Singh, R. R., Hannah, C., Albarracin, C. T., Li, Y. X., Abraham, R., Romans, A. M., Yao, H., Luthra, M. G., Anandasabapathy, S., Swisher, S. G., Hofstetter, W. L., Rashid, A., and Luthra, R. (2009). MicroRNA-196a is a potential marker of progression during Barrett's metaplasiadysplasia-invasive adenocarcinoma sequence in esophagus. Am. J. Pathol. 174, 1940–1948.
- Mees, S. T., Mardin, W. A., Wendel, C., Baeumer, N., Willscher, E., Senninger, N., Schleicher, C., Colombo-Benkmann, M., and Haier, J. (2010). EP300 – a miRNA-regulated metastasis suppressor gene in ductal adenocarcinomas of the pancreas. *Int. J. Cancer* 126, 114–124.
- Mellios, N., Huang, H. S., Grigorenko, A., Rogaev, E., and Akbarian, S. (2008). A set of differentially expressed miRNAs, including miR-30a-5p, act as post-transcriptional inhibitors of BDNF in prefrontal cortex. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 17, 3030–3042.
- Mishra, P. J., Song, B., Wang, Y., Humeniuk, R., Banerjee, D., Merlino, G., Ju, J., and Bertino, J. R. (2009). MiR-24 tumor suppressor activity is regulated independent of p53

and through a target site polymorphism. *PLoS ONE* 4, e8445. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008445

- Muinos-Gimeno, M., Espinosa-Parrilla, Y., Guidi, M., Kagerbauer, B., Sipila, T., Maron, E., Pettai, K., Kananen, L., Navines, R., Martin-Santos, R., Gratacos, M., Metspalu, A., Hovatta, I., and Estivill, X. (2011). Human microRNAs miR-22, miR-138-2, miR-148a, and miR-488 are associated with panic disorder and regulate several anxiety candidate genes and related pathways. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 526–533.
- Murata, T., Takayama, K., Katayama, S., Urano, T., Horie-Inoue, K., Ikeda, K., Takahashi, S., Kawazu, C., Hasegawa, A., Ouchi, Y., Homma, Y., Hayashizaki, Y., and Inoue, S. (2010). miR-148a is an androgen-responsive microRNA that promotes LNCaP prostate cell growth by repressing its target CAND1 expression. *Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis*, 13, 356–361.
- Nagel, R., Clijsters, L., and Agami, R. (2009). The miRNA-192/194 cluster regulates the period gene family and the circadian clock. *FEBS J.* 276, 5447–5455.
- Naguibneva, I., Ameyar-Zazoua, M., Polesskaya, A., Ait-Si-Ali, S., Groisman, R., Souidi, M., Cuvellier, S., and Harel-Bellan, A. (2006). The microRNA miR-181 targets the homeobox protein Hox-A11 during mammalian myoblast differentiation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 278–284.
- Nakamachi, Kawano, S., Y., Takenokuchi, М., Nishimura, K., Sakai, Y., Chin, T., Saura, R., Kurosaka, M., and Kumagai, S. (2009). MicroRNA-124a is a key regulator of proliferation and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 secretion in fibroblast-like synoviocytes from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. (Munch.) 60, 1294-1304.
- Nakano, H., Miyazawa, T., Kinoshita, K., Yamada, Y., and Yoshida, T. (2010). Functional screening identifies a microRNA, miR-491 that induces apoptosis by targeting Bcl-X(L) in colorectal cancer cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 127, 1072–1080.
- Nguyen, H. T., Dalmasso, G., Yan, Y., Laroui, H., Dahan, S., Mayer, L., Sitaraman, S. V., and Merlin, D. (2010). MicroRNA-7 modulates CD98 expression during intestinal epithelial cell differentiation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 1479–1489.
- Pais, H., Nicolas, F. E., Soond, S. M., Swingler, T. E., Clark, I. M., Chantry, A., Moulton, V., and Dalmay, T. (2010). Analyzing mRNA expression

identifies Smad3 as a microRNA-140 target regulated only at protein level. *RNA* 16, 489–494.

- Pallasch, C. P., Patz, M., Park, Y. J., Hagist, S., Eggle, D., Claus, R., Debey-Pascher, S., Schulz, A., Frenzel, L. P., Claasen, J., Kutsch, N., Krause, G., Mayr, C., Rosenwald, A., Plass, C., Schultze, J. L., Hallek, M., and Wendtner, C. M. (2009). miRNA deregulation by epigenetic silencing disrupts suppression of the oncogene PLAG1 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* 114, 3255–3264.
- Pan, W., Zhu, S., Yuan, M., Cui, H., Wang, L., Luo, X., Li, J., Zhou, H., Tang, Y., and Shen, N. (2010). MicroRNA-21 and microRNA-148a contribute to DNA hypomethylation in lupus CD4+ T cells by directly and indirectly targeting DNA methyltransferase 1. *J. Immunol.* 184, 6773–6781.
- Papaioannou, M. D., Lagarrigue, M., Vejnar, C. E., Rolland, A. D., Kuhne, F., Aubry, F., Schaad, O., Fort, A., Descombes, P., Neerman-Arbez, M., Guillou, F., Zdobnov, E. M., Pineau, C., and Nef, S. (2011). Loss of Dicer in Sertoli cells has a major impact on the testicular proteome of mice. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 10, M900587MCP900200.
- Park, J. K., Henry, J. C., Jiang, J., Esau, C., Gusev, Y., Lerner, M. R., Postier, R. G., Brackett, D. J., and Schmittgen, T. D. (2011). miR-132 and miR-212 are increased in pancreatic cancer and target the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 406, 518–523.
- Pedrioli, D. M., Karpanen, T., Dabouras, V., Jurisic, G., Van De Hoek, G., Shin, J. W., Marino, D., Kalin, R. E., Leidel, S., Cinelli, P., Schulte-Merker, S., Brandli, A. W., and Detmar, M. (2010). miR-31 functions as a negative regulator of lymphatic vascular lineage-specific differentiation in vitro and vascular development in vivo. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 30, 3620–3634.
- Pekarsky, Y., Santanam, U., Cimmino, A., Palamarchuk, A., Efanov, A., Maximov, V., Volinia, S., Alder, H., Liu, C. G., Rassenti, L., Calin, G. A., Hagan, J. P., Kipps, T., and Croce, C. M. (2006). Tcl1 expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia is regulated by miR-29 and miR-181. *Cancer Res.* 66, 11590–11593.
- Pichiorri, F., Suh, S. S., Rocci, A., De Luca, L., Taccioli, C., Santhanam, R., Zhou, W., Benson, D. M. Jr., Hofmainster, C., Alder, H., Garofalo, M., Di Leva, G., Volinia, S., Lin, H. J., Perrotti, D., Kuehl, M.,

Aqeilan, R. I., Palumbo, A., and Croce, C. M. (2010). Downregulation of p53-inducible microR-NAs 192, 194, and 215 impairs the p53/MDM2 autoregulatory loop in multiple myeloma development. *Cancer Cell* 18, 367–381.

- Pierson, J., Hostager, B., Fan, R., and Vibhakar, R. (2008). Regulation of cyclin dependent kinase 6 by microRNA 124 in medulloblastoma. *J. Neurooncol.* 90, 1–7.
- Pineau, P., Volinia, S., Mcjunkin, K., Marchio, A., Battiston, C., Terris, B., Mazzaferro, V., Lowe, S. W., Croce, C. M., and Dejean, A. (2010). miR-221 overexpression contributes to liver tumorigenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 107, 264–269.
- Pogribny, I. P., Filkowski, J. N., Tryndyak, V. P., Golubov, A., Shpyleva, S. I., and Kovalchuk, O. (2010). Alterations of microRNAs and their targets are associated with acquired resistance of MCF-7 breast cancer cells to cisplatin. *Int. J. Cancer* 127, 1785–1794.
- Qin, W., Shi, Y., Zhao, B., Yao, C., Jin, L., Ma, J., and Jin, Y. (2010). miR-24 regulates apoptosis by targeting the open reading frame (ORF) region of FAF1 in cancer cells. *PLoS ONE* 5, e9429. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009429
- Qiu, R., Liu, K., Liu, Y., Mo, W., Flynt, A. S., Patton, J. G., Kar, A., Wu, J. Y., and He, R. (2009). The role of miR-124a in early development of the *Xenopus* eye. *Mech. Dev.* 126, 804–816.
- Rajabi, H., Jin, C., Ahmad, R., Mcclary, C., Joshi, M. D., and Kufe, D. (2010). Mucin 1 oncoprotein expression is suppressed by the mir-125b oncomir. *Genes Cancer* 1, 62–68.
- Rane, S., He, M., Sayed, D., Vashistha, H., Malhotra, A., Sadoshima, J., Vatner, D. E., Vatner, S. F., and Abdellatif, M. (2009). Downregulation of miR-199a derepresses hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha and sirtuin 1 and recapitulates hypoxia preconditioning in cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 104, 879–886.
- Reddy, S. D., Ohshiro, K., Rayala, S. K., and Kumar, R. (2008). MicroRNA-7, a homeobox D10 target, inhibits p21-activated kinase 1 and regulates its functions. *Cancer Res.* 68, 8195–8200.
- Ren, X. P., Wu, J., Wang, X., Sartor, M. A., Qian, J., Jones, K., Nicolaou, P., Pritchard, T. J., and Fan, G. C. (2009). MicroRNA-320 is involved in the regulation of cardiac ischemia/reperfusion injury by targeting heat-shock protein 20. *Circulation* 119, 2357–2366.

- Saetrom, P., Biesinger, J., Li, S. M., Smith, D., Thomas, L. F., Majzoub, K., Rivas, G. E., Alluin, J., Rossi, J. J., Krontiris, T. G., Weitzel, J., Daly, M. B., Benson, A. B., Kirkwood, J. M., O'dwyer, P. J., Sutphen, R., Stewart, J. A., Johnson, D., and Larson, G. P. (2009). A risk variant in an miR-125b binding site in BMPR1B is associated with breast cancer pathogenesis. *Cancer Res.* 69, 7459–7465.
- Salomonis, N., Schlieve, C. R., Pereira, L., Wahlquist, C., Colas, A., Zambon, A. C., Vranizan, K., Spindler, M. J., Pico, A. R., Cline, M. S., Clark, T. A., Williams, A., Blume, J. E., Samal, E., Mercola, M., Merrill, B. J., and Conklin, B. R. (2010). Alternative splicing regulates mouse embryonic stem cell pluripotency and differentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 10514–10519.
- Saunders, L. R., Sharma, A. D., Tawney, J., Nakagawa, M., Okita, K., Yamanaka, S., Willenbring, H., and Verdin, E. (2010). miRNAs regulate SIRT1 expression during mouse embryonic stem cell differentiation and in adult mouse tissues. *Aging* (*Albany NY*) 2, 415–431.
- Saydam, O., Senol, O., Wurdinger, T., Mizrak, A., Ozdener, G. B., Stemmer-Rachamimov, A. O., Yi, M., Stephens, R. M., Krichevsky, A. M., Saydam, N., Brenner, G. J., and Breakefield, X. O. (2011). miRNA-7 attenuation in schwannoma tumors stimulates growth by upregulating three oncogenic signaling pathways. *Cancer Res.* 71, 852–861.
- Schaar, D. G., Medina, D. J., Moore, D. F., Strair, R. K., and Ting, Y. (2009). miR-320 targets transferrin receptor 1 (CD71) and inhibits cell proliferation. *Exp. Hematol.* 37, 245–255.
- Schickel, R., Park, S. M., Murmann, A. E., and Peter, M. E. (2010). miR-200c regulates induction of apoptosis through CD95 by targeting FAP-1. *Mol. Cell* 38, 908–915.
- Scott, G. K., Goga, A., Bhaumik, D., Berger, C. E., Sullivan, C. S., and Benz, C. C. (2007). Coordinate suppression of ERBB2 and ERBB3 by enforced expression of micro-RNA miR-125a or miR-125b. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 1479–1486.
- Sepramaniam, S., Armugam, A., Lim, K. Y., Karolina, D. S., Swaminathan, P., Tan, J. R., and Jeyaseelan, K. (2010). MicroRNA 320a functions as a novel endogenous modulator of aquaporins 1 and 4 as well as a potential therapeutic target in cerebral ischemia. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 29223–29230.
- Shao, M., Rossi, S., Chelladurai, B., Shimizu, M., Ntukogu, O., Ivan, M., Calin, G. A., and Matei, D. (2011). PDGF induced microRNA

alterations in cancer cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 4035–4047.

- Shen, Q., Cicinnati, V. R., Zhang, X., Iacob, S., Weber, F., Sotiropoulos, G. C., Radtke, A., Lu, M., Paul, A., Gerken, G., and Beckebaum, S. (2010). Role of microRNA-199a-5p and discoidin domain receptor 1 in human hepatocellular carcinoma invasion. *Mol. Cancer* 9, 227.
- Shimizu, S., Takehara, T., Hikita, H., Kodama, T., Miyagi, T., Hosui, A., Tatsumi, T., Ishida, H., Noda, T., Nagano, H., Doki, Y., Mori, M., and Hayashi, N. (2010). The let-7 family of microRNAs inhibits Bcl-xL expression and potentiates sorafenib-induced apoptosis in human hepatocellular carcinoma. J. Hepatol. 52, 698–704.
- Small, E. M., Sutherland, L. B., Rajagopalan, K. N., Wang, S., and Olson, E. N. (2010). MicroRNA-218 regulates vascular patterning by modulation of Slit-Robo signaling. *Circ. Res.* 107, 1336–1344.
- Smirnov, D. A., and Cheung, V. G. (2008). ATM gene mutations result in both recessive and dominant expression phenotypes of genes and microRNAs. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 83, 243–253.
- Sober, S., Laan, M., and Annilo, T. (2010). MicroRNAs miR-124 and miR-135a are potential regulators of the mineralocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C2) expression. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 391, 727–732.
- Song, L., Huang, Q., Chen, K., Liu, L., Lin, C., Dai, T., Yu, C., Wu, Z., and Li, J. (2010). miR-218 inhibits the invasive ability of glioma cells by direct downregulation of IKKbeta. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 402, 135–140.
- Sossey-Alaoui, K., Downs-Kelly, E., Das, M., Izem, L., Tubbs, R., and Plow, E. F. (2010). WAVE3, an actin remodeling protein, is regulated by the metastasis suppressor microRNA, miR-31, during the invasion-metastasis cascade. *Int. J. Cancer* 129, 1331–1343.
- Strum, J. C., Johnson, J. H., Ward, J., Xie, H., Feild, J., Hester, A., Alford, A., and Waters, K. M. (2009). MicroRNA 132 regulates nutritional stress-induced chemokine production through repression of SirT1. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 23, 1876–1884.
- Suarez, Y., Wang, C., Manes, T. D., and Pober, J. S. (2010). Cutting edge: TNF-induced microR-NAs regulate TNF-induced expression of E-selectin and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 on human endothelial cells: feedback control of inflammation. J. Immunol. 184, 21–25

- Surdziel, E., Cabanski, M., Dallmann, I., Lyszkiewicz, M., Krueger, A., Ganser, A., Scherr, M., and Eder, M. (2011). Enforced expression of miR-125b affects myelopoiesis by targeting multiple signaling pathways. *Blood* 117, 4338–4348.
- Taganov, K. D., Boldin, M. P., Chang, K. J., and Baltimore, D. (2006). NF-kappaB-dependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 12481–12486.
- Takagi, S., Nakajima, M., Kida, K., Yamaura, Y., Fukami, T., and Yokoi, T. (2010). MicroRNAs regulate human hepatocyte nuclear factor 4alpha, modulating the expression of metabolic enzymes and cell cycle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 4415–4422.
- Takagi, S., Nakajima, M., Mohri, T., and Yokoi, T. (2008). Posttranscriptional regulation of human pregnane X receptor by micro-RNA affects the expression of cytochrome P450 3A4. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 9674–9680.
- Tan, Z., Randall, G., Fan, J., Camoretti-Mercado, B., Brockman-Schneider, R., Pan, L., Solway, J., Gern, J. E., Lemanske, R. F., Nicolae, D., and Ober, C. (2007). Allele-specific targeting of microRNAs to HLA-G and risk of asthma. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 81, 829–834.
- Terasawa, K., Ichimura, A., Sato, F., Shimizu, K., and Tsujimoto, G. (2009). Sustained activation of ERK1/2 by NGF induces microRNA-221 and 222 in PC12 cells. *FEBS J.* 276, 3269–3276.
- Thatcher, E. J., Paydar, I., Anderson, K. K., and Patton, J. G. (2008). Regulation of zebrafish fin regeneration by microRNAs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 105, 18384–18389.
- Tili, E., Michaille, J. J., Adair, B., Alder, H., Limagne, E., Taccioli, C., Ferracin, M., Delmas, D., Latruffe, N., and Croce, C. M. (2010a). Resveratrol decreases the levels of miR-155 by upregulating miR-663, a microRNA targeting JunB and JunD. *Carcinogenesis* 31, 1561–1566.
- Tili, E., Michaille, J. J., Alder, H., Volinia, S., Delmas, D., Latruffe, N., and Croce, C. M. (2010b). Resveratrol modulates the levels of microRNAs targeting genes encoding tumor-suppressors and effectors of TGFbeta signaling pathway in SW480 cells. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 80, 2057–2065.
- Tili, E., Michaille, J. J., Cimino, A., Costinean, S., Dumitru, C. D., Adair, B., Fabbri, M., Alder, H., Liu, C. G., Calin, G. A., and

Croce, C. M. (2007). Modulation of miR-155 and miR-125b levels following lipopolysaccharide/TNFalpha stimulation and their possible roles in regulating the response to endotoxin shock. *J. Immunol.* 179, 5082–5089.

- To, K. K., Zhan, Z., Litman, T., and Bates, S. E. (2008). Regulation of ABCG2 expression at the 3' untranslated region of its mRNA through modulation of transcript stability and protein translation by a putative microRNA in the \$1 colon cancer cell line. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 5147–5161.
- Tuddenham, L., Wheeler, G., Ntounia-Fousara, S., Waters, J., Hajihosseini, M. K., Clark, I., and Dalmay, T. (2006). The cartilage specific microRNA-140 targets histone deacetylase 4 in mouse cells. *FEBS Lett.* 580, 4214–4217.
- Ueda, R., Kohanbash, G., Sasaki, K., Fujita, M., Zhu, X., Kastenhuber, E. R., Mcdonald, H. A., Potter, D. M., Hamilton, R. L., Lotze, M. T., Khan, S. A., Sobol, R. W., and Okada, H. (2009). Dicer-regulated microR-NAs 222 and 339 promote resistance of cancer cells to cytotoxic Tlymphocytes by down-regulation of ICAM-1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 10746–10751.
- Ueno, K., Hirata, H., Shahryari, V., Chen, Y., Zaman, M. S., Singh, K., Tabatabai, Z. L., Hinoda, Y., and Dahiya, R. (2011). Tumour suppressor microRNA-584 directly targets oncogene Rock-1 and decreases invasion ability in human clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Br. J. Cancer* 104, 308–315.
- Uhlmann, S., Zhang, J. D., Schwager, A., Mannsperger, H., Riazalhosseini, Y., Burmester, S., Ward, A., Korf, U., Wiemann, S., and Sahin, O. (2010). miR-200bc/429 cluster targets PLCgamma1 and differentially regulates proliferation and EGF-driven invasion than miR-200a/141 in breast cancer. Oncogene 29, 4297–4306.
- Valastyan, S., Reinhardt, F., Benaich, N., Calogrias, D., Szasz, A. M., Wang, Z. C., Brock, J. E., Richardson, A. L., and Weinberg, R. A. (2009). A pleiotropically acting microRNA, miR-31, inhibits breast cancer metastasis. *Cell* 137, 1032–1046.
- Venugopal, S. K., Jiang, J., Kim, T. H., Li, Y., Wang, S. S., Torok, N. J., Wu, J., and Zern, M. A. (2010). Liver fibrosis causes downregulation of miRNA-150 and miRNA-194 in hepatic stellate cells, and their overexpression causes decreased stellate cell activation. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 298, G101–G106.

- Veronese, A., Lupini, L., Consiglio, J., Visone, R., Ferracin, M., Fornari, F., Zanesi, N., Alder, H., D'elia, G., Gramantieri, L., Bolondi, L., Lanza, G., Querzoli, P., Angioni, A., Croce, C. M., and Negrini, M. (2010). Oncogenic role of miR-483-3p at the IGF2/483 locus. *Cancer Res.* 70, 3140–3149.
- Villeneuve, L. M., Kato, M., Reddy, M. A., Wang, M., Lanting, L., and Natarajan, R. (2010). Enhanced levels of microRNA-125b in vascular smooth muscle cells of diabetic db/db mice lead to increased inflammatory gene expression by targeting the histone methyltransferase Suv39h1. *Diabetes* 59, 2904–2915.
- Viticchie, G., Lena, A. M., Latina, A., Formosa, A., Gregersen, L. H., Lund, A. H., Bernardini, S., Mauriello, A., Miano, R., Spagnoli, L. G., Knight, R. A., Candi, E., and Melino, G. (2011). MiR-203 controls proliferation, migration and invasive potential of prostate cancer cell lines. *Cell Cycle* 10, 1121–1131.
- Vreugdenhil, E., Verissimo, C. S., Mariman, R., Kamphorst, J. T., Barbosa, J. S., Zweers, T., Champagne, D. L., Schouten, T., Meijer, O. C., De Kloet, E. R., and Fitzsimons, C. P. (2009). MicroRNA 18 and 124a down-regulate the glucocorticoid receptor: implications for glucocorticoid responsiveness in the brain. *Endocrinology* 150, 2220–2228.
- Wang, B., Hsu, S. H., Majumder, S., Kutay, H., Huang, W., Jacob, S. T., and Ghoshal, K. (2010a). TGFbetamediated upregulation of hepatic miR-181b promotes hepatocarcinogenesis by targeting TIMP3. Oncogene 29, 1787–1797.
- Wang, X., Zhang, X., Ren, X. P., Chen, J., Liu, H., Yang, J., Medvedovic, M., Hu, Z., and Fan, G. C. (2010b). MicroRNA-494 targeting both proapoptotic and antiapoptotic proteins protects against ischemia/reperfusion-induced cardiac injury. *Circulation* 122, 1308–1318.
- Wang, Q., Huang, Z., Xue, H., Jin, C., Ju, X. L., Han, J. D., and Chen, Y. G. (2008). MicroRNA miR-24 inhibits erythropoiesis by targeting activin type I receptor ALK4. *Blood* 111, 588–595.
- Wang, Y., Yu, Y., Tsuyada, A., Ren, X., Wu, X., Stubblefield, K., Rankin-Gee, E. K., and Wang, S. E. (2011). Transforming growth factor-beta regulates the sphere-initiating stem celllike feature in breast cancer through miRNA-181 and ATM. Oncogene 30, 1470–1480.

- Wei, T., Orfanidis, K., Xu, N., Janson, P., Stahle, M., Pivarcsi, A., and Sonkoly, E. (2010). The expression of microRNA-203 during human skin morphogenesis. *Exp. Dermatol.* 19, 854–856.
- Wong, Q. W., Ching, A. K., Chan, A. W., Choy, K. W., To, K. F., Lai, P. B., and Wong, N. (2010). MiR-222 overexpression confers cell migratory advantages in hepatocellular carcinoma through enhancing AKT signaling. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 16, 867–875.
- Wu, D. W., Cheng, Y. W., Wang, J., Chen, C. Y., and Lee, H. (2010a). Paxillin predicts survival and relapse in non-small cell lung cancer by microRNA-218 targeting. *Cancer Res.* 70, 10392–10401.
- Wu, H., Sun, S., Tu, K., Gao, Y., Xie, B., Krainer, A. R., and Zhu, J. (2010b).
 A splicing-independent function of SF2/ASF in microRNA processing. *Mol. Cell* 38, 67–77.
- Wu, F., Zhu, S., Ding, Y., Beck, W. T., and Mo, Y. Y. (2009). MicroRNAmediated regulation of Ubc9 expression in cancer cells. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 15, 1550–1557.
- Wu, L., and Belasco, J. G. (2005). Micro-RNA regulation of the mammalian lin-28 gene during neuronal differentiation of embryonal carcinoma cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 9198–9208.
- Xi, S., Yang, M., Tao, Y., Xu, H., Shan, J., Inchauste, S., Zhang, M., Mercedes, L., Hong, J. A., Rao, M., and Schrump, D. S. (2010). Cigarette smoke induces C/EBP-betamediated activation of miR-31 in normal human respiratory epithelia and lung cancer cells. *PLoS* ONE 5, e13764. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013764
- Xia, H., Qi, Y., Ng, S. S., Chen, X., Li, D., Chen, S., Ge, R., Jiang, S., Li, G., Chen, Y., He, M. L., Kung, H. F., Lai, L., and Lin, M. C. (2009a). microRNA-146b inhibits glioma cell migration and invasion by targeting MMPs. *Brain Res.* 1269, 158–165.
- Xia, H. F., He, T. Z., Liu, C. M., Cui, Y., Song, P. P., Jin, X. H., and Ma, X. (2009b). MiR-125b expression affects the proliferation and apoptosis of human glioma cells by targeting Bmf. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 23, 347–358.
- Xia, W., Li, J., Chen, L., Huang, B., Li, S., Yang, G., Ding, H., Wang, F., Liu, N., Zhao, Q., Fang, T., Song, T., Wang, T., and Shao, N. (2010). MicroRNA-200b regulates cyclin D1 expression and promotes S-phase entry by targeting RND3 in HeLa cells. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 344, 261–266.

- Xia, X. G., Zhou, H., Samper, E., Melov, S., and Xu, Z. (2006). Pol IIexpressed shRNA knocks down Sod2 gene expression and causes phenotypes of the gene knockout in mice. *PLoS Genet.* 2, e10. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.0020010
- Xiao, J., Lin, H., Luo, X., and Wang, Z. (2011). miR-605 joins p53 network to form a p53:miR-605:Mdm2 positive feedback loop in response to stress. *EMBO J.* 30, 524–532.
- Xu, C., Liu, S., Fu, H., Li, S., Tie, Y., Zhu, J., Xing, R., Jin, Y., Sun, Z., and Zheng, X. (2010a). MicroRNA-193b regulates proliferation, migration and invasion in human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Eur. J. Cancer* 46, 2828–2836.
- Xu, L., Wang, F., Xu, X. F., Mo, W. H., Xia, Y. J., Wan, R., Wang, X. P., and Guo, C. Y. (2010b). Downregulation of miR-212 expression by DNA hypermethylation in human gastric cancer cells. *Med. Oncol.* doi: 10.1007/s12032-010-9691-0
- Xue, Q., Guo, Z. Y., Li, W., Wen, W. H., Meng, Y. L., Jia, L. T., Wang, J., Yao, L. B., Jin, B. Q., Wang, T., and Yang, A. G. (2011). Human activated CD4(+) T lymphocytes increase IL-2 expression by downregulating microRNA-181c. *Mol. Immunol.* 48, 592–599.
- Yang, Z., Chen, S., Luan, X., Li, Y., Liu, M., Li, X., Liu, T., and Tang, H. (2009). MicroRNA-214 is aberrantly expressed in cervical cancers and inhibits the growth of HeLa cells. *IUBMB Life* 61, 1075–1082.
- Yao, J., Liang, L., Huang, S., Ding, J., Tan, N., Zhao, Y., Yan, M., Ge, C., Zhang, Z., Chen, T., Wan, D., Yao, M., Li, J., Gu, J., and He, X. (2010). MicroRNA-30d promotes tumor invasion and metastasis by targeting Galphai2 in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology* 51, 846–856.
- Yi, R., Poy, M. N., Stoffel, M., and Fuchs, E. (2008). A skin microRNA promotes differentiation by repressing "stemness." *Nature* 452, 225–229.
- Yoo, A. S., Staahl, B. T., Chen, L., and Crabtree, G. R. (2009). MicroRNA-mediated switching of chromatin-remodelling complexes in neural development. *Nature* 460, 642–646.
- Yoon, S., Choi, Y. C., Lee, S., Jeong, Y., Yoon, J., and Baek, K. (2010). Induction of growth arrest by miR-542-3p that targets survivin. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 4048–4052.
- Yu, J. Y., Reynolds, S. H., Hatfield, S. D., Shcherbata, H. R., Fischer, K. A., Ward, E. J., Long, D., Ding, Y., and Ruohola-Baker, H. (2009). Dicer-1-

dependent Dacapo suppression acts downstream of insulin receptor in regulating cell division of *Drosophila* germline stem cells. *Development* 136, 1497–1507.

- Zhang, C. Z., Zhang, J. X., Zhang, A. L., Shi, Z. D., Han, L., Jia, Z. F., Yang, W. D., Wang, G. X., Jiang, T., You, Y. P., Pu, P. Y., Cheng, J. Q., and Kang, C. S. (2010). MiR-221 and miR-222 target PUMA to induce cell survival in glioblastoma. *Mol. Cancer* 9, 229.
- Zhang, H. Y., Zheng, S. J., Zhao, J. H., Zhao, W., Zheng, L. F., Zhao, D., Li, J. M., Zhang, X. F., Chen, Z. B., and Yi, X. N. (2011a). MicroRNAs 144, 145, and 214 are down-regulated in primary neurons responding to sciatic nerve transection. *Brain Res.* 1383, 62–70.
- Zhang, L., Stokes, N., Polak, L., and Fuchs, E. (2011b). Specific MicroR-NAs are preferentially expressed by skin stem cells to balance selfrenewal and early lineage commitment. *Cell Stem Cell* 8, 294–308.
- Zhang, Y., Gao, J. S., Tang, X., Tucker,
 L. D., Quesenberry, P., Rigoutsos, I., and Ramratnam, B. (2009).
 MicroRNA 125a and its regulation of the p53 tumor suppressor gene. *FEBS Lett.* 583, 3725–3730.
- Zhao, J. J., Lin, J., Yang, H., Kong, W., He, L., Ma, X., Coppola, D., and Cheng, J. Q. (2008). MicroRNA-221/222 negatively regulates estrogen receptor alpha and is associated with tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 31079–31086.
- Zhao, X., Tang, Y., Qu, B., Cui, H., Wang, S., Wang, L., Luo, X., Huang, X., Li, J., Chen, S., and Shen, N. (2010). MicroRNA-125a contributes to elevated inflammatory chemokine RANTES levels via targeting KLF13 in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum. (Munch.)* 62, 3425–3435.
- Zhong, X., Li, N., Liang, S., Huang, Q., Coukos, G., and Zhang, L. (2010). Identification of microR-NAs regulating reprogramming factor LIN28 in embryonic stem cells and cancer cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 41961–41971.
- Zhou, L., Qi, X., Potashkin, J. A., Abdul-Karim, F. W., and Gorodeski, G. I. (2008). MicroRNAs miR-186 and miR-150 down-regulate expression of the pro-apoptotic purinergic P2X7 receptor by activation of instability sites at the 3'-untranslated region of the gene that decrease steady-state levels of the transcript. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 28274–28286.

- Zhou, M., Liu, Z., Zhao, Y., Ding, Y., Liu, H., Xi, Y., Xiong, W., Li, G., Lu, J., Fodstad, O., Riker, A. I., and Tan, M. (2010). MicroRNA-125b confers the resistance of breast cancer cells to paclitaxel through suppression of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 antagonist killer 1 (Bak1) expression. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 21496–21507.
- Zhu, H., Wu, H., Liu, X., Li, B., Chen, Y., Ren, X., Liu, C. G., and Yang, J. M. (2009). Regulation of autophagy by a beclin 1-targeted microRNA, miR-30a, in cancer cells. *Autophagy* 5, 816–823.
- Zhu, N., Zhang, D., Chen, S., Liu, X., Lin, L., Huang, X., Guo, Z., Liu, J., Wang, Y., Yuan, W., and Qin, Y. (2011). Endothelial enriched

microRNAs regulate angiotensin IIinduced endothelial inflammation and migration. *Atherosclerosis* 215, 286–293.

- Zhu, W., Shan, X., Wang, T., Shu, Y., and Liu, P. (2010). miR-181b modulates multidrug resistance by targeting BCL2 in human cancer cell lines. *Int. J. Cancer* 127, 2520–2529.
- Zimmerman, E. I., Dollins, C. M., Crawford, M., Grant, S., Nana-Sinkam, S. P., Richards, K. L., Hammond, S. M., and Graves, L. M. (2010). Lyn kinase-dependent regulation of miR181 and myeloid cell leukemia-1 expression: implications for drug resistance in myelogenous leukemia. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 78, 811–817.



Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is an important link in the apoptotic pathway induced by hyperglycemia in Y79 retinoblastoma cell line

R. Shehadeh Masha'our^{1†}, R. Heinrich^{2†}, H. J. Garzozi^{1,2} and I. Perlman²*

¹ Department of Ophthalmology, Bnai-Zion Medical Center, Haifa, Israel

² Ruth and Bruce Rappaport Faculty of Medicine, Technion - Israel Institute of Technology, and The Rappaport Institute, Haifa, Israel

Edited by:

Hermona Soreq, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel

Reviewed by:

Deborah Toiber, Massachusetts General Hospital, USA Tama Evron, Duke University Medical Center, USA

*Correspondence:

I. Perlman, Ruth and Bruce Rappaport Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology and Biophysics, Technion - Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa 31096, Israel. e-mail: iperlman@tx.technion.ac.il

⁺ These authors contributed equally to this work.

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) expression was found to be induced in the mammalian CNS, including the retina, by different types of stress leading to cellular apoptosis. Here, we tested possible involvement of AChE in hyperglycemia-induced apoptosis in a retinal cell line. Y79 retinoblastoma cells were incubated in starvation media (1% FBS and 1 mg/ml glucose) for 16–24 h, and then exposed to hyperglycemic environment by raising extracellular glucose concentrations to a final level of 3.5 mg/ml or 6 mg/ml. Similar levels of mannitol were used as control for hyperosmolarity. Cells were harvested at different time intervals for analysis of apoptosis and AChE protein expression. Apoptosis was detected by the cleavage of Poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) using western blot, and by Terminal deoxynucleotidyl-transferase-mediated dUTP nick-end-labeling (TUNEL) assay. AChE protein expression and activity was detected by western blot and by the Karnovsky and Roots method, respectively. *MissionTM* shRNA for AChE was used to inhibit AChE protein expression. Treating Y79 cells with 3.5 mg/ml of glucose, but not with 3.5 mg/ml mannitol, induced apoptosis which was confirmed by TUNEL assay and by cleavage of PARP. A part of the signaling pathway accompanying the apoptotic process involved up-regulation of the AChE-R variant and an N-extended AChE variant as verified at the mRNA and protein level. Inhibition of AChE protein expression by shRNA protected Y79 cell from entering the apoptotic pathway. Our data suggest that expression of an N-extended AChE variant, most probably an R isoform, is involved in the apoptotic pathway caused by hyperglycemia in Y79 cells.

Keywords: acetylcholinesterase, apoptosis, hyperglycemia, retinoblastoma

INTRODUCTION

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is an essential enzyme in cholinergic synapses since it hydrolyses acetylcholine, thereby terminating cholinergic excitation. However, AChE was also found in tissues devoid of cholinergic innervations (Small et al., 1996), indicating potential non-cholinergic functions for this enzyme including response to stress (Grisaru et al., 2001) and neurogenesis (Robitzki et al., 1998; Bytyqi et al., 2004). There are three different isoforms of AChE resulting from alternative splicing of a single gene: synaptic (S), erythrocytic (E), and read-through (R) (Soreq and Seidman, 2001). Each of these three C-terminal variants can appear in one of two forms depending upon the length of its N-terminus; a normal N-terminus and an extended one. Thus, in principal AChE can appear in six different isoforms. Different AChE variants are believed to be involved in different physiological and/or pathological processes. AChE-S is the variant located in cholinergic synapses and responsible for termination of cholinergic excitation (reviewed in Meshorer and Soreq, 2006). AChE-R was found to play a role in the response to stress in laboratory animals (Kaufer et al., 1998; Shohami et al., 2000). Forced swimming (physiological stress) induced AChE-R mRNA expression in

FVB/N mice (Kaufer et al., 1998). 2'-O-methyl RNA-capped antisense oligonucleotide (AS-ODN) against AChE mRNA blocked over-expression of AChE-R in head-injured mice, reducing the number of dead CA3 hippocampal neurons and facilitating neurological recovery (Shohami et al., 2000). A novel AChE variant with an extended N-terminus was found to exacerbate lightinduced photoreceptor degeneration in albino rats. Treatment with AS-ODNs significantly reduced the expression of this protein, and lowered the degree of light-induced functional damage as expressed by electroretinogram recordings (Kehat et al., 2007). AChE was found to be expressed during apoptosis in different cell types in which the apoptotic pathway could be prevented by AS-ODNs of AChE (Soreq et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 2002). It was later reported that the AChE variant involved in apoptosis was the N-extended AChE-S one (Toiber et al., 2008, 2009). There is evidence regarding the correlation between stress-activated protein kinase family and apoptosis-associated AChE expression. Phosphorylation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and its downstream transcription factor, c-Jun, was enhanced during apoptosis induced by the DNA topoisomerase inhibitors etoposide or excisanin A, in colon cancer cell line SW620. A corresponding increase in AChE expression in the apoptotic cells was observed. This up-regulation in AChE was eliminated by administering a JNK inhibitor, silencing JNK with siRNA or antagonizing c-Jun with a dominant-negative c-Jun mutant (Deng et al., 2006).

Apoptosis-programmed cell death, is an active process that has well-documented biochemical and morphological characteristics, including nuclei break into several pycnotic granules as a result of DNA fragmentation and cell shrinkage (Majno and Joris, 1995). In the retina, apoptosis plays a major role in the loss of visual cells in degenerative disorders such as Retinitis Pigmentosa and Age-Related Macular Degeneration (reviewed in Wenzel et al., 2005), and also occurs in Diabetic Detinopathy (Barber et al., 1998). Biochemical, physiological, and morphological alterations have been observed in non-vascular retinal cells (Barber et al., 1998; Li et al., 2002; Mohr et al., 2002; Kusner et al., 2004; Xi et al., 2005) during early stages of diabetes in animal models, raising the possibility that hyperglycemia is detrimental to retinal neurons prior to any vascular involvement. Rats with streptozotocin-induced-diabetes exhibited reduced electroretinogram responses as early as two weeks after the onset of the diabetes. The rats also expressed glial fibrilary acidic protein (GFAP) in Muller cells before any vascular abnormality was detected in the retina, a sign of early retinal damage (Li et al., 2002). Several studies have shown that Muller cells incubated in elevated glucose concentrations undergo apoptosis as determined in part by annexin-V staining and activation of caspase 3 (Lorenzi and Gerhardinger, 2001; Mohr et al., 2002; Kusner et al., 2004; Xi et al., 2005). Our goals were to test the hypothesis that AChE is involved in hyperglycemia-induced apoptosis of retinal cell line and to identify the AChE variant included in this process.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

CELL CULTURE

Y79 (HTB18) retinoblastoma cell line was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, The global Bioresource Center, USA), and cultured in DMEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 4.5 mg/ml glucose, 1% glutamine, 1% penicillin, and streptomycin (HG-medium) at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO2/95% air. Culture medium was changed twice weekly. Twenty-four hours before experiments, the cells were transferred to a starvation medium containing 1 mg/ml glucose, mimicking physiologic levels of blood glucose concentrations and 1% FBS, 1% glutamine, 1% penicillin, and streptomycin (LG-medium). Then, glucose was added to the Y79 cells to reach a final concentration of 3.5 mg/ml or 6 mg/ml mimicking hyperglycemia (final concentrations in media: 3.5 mg/ml, 19.4 mM, 350 mg/dl and 6 mg/ml, 33.3 mM, 600 mg/dl, respectively). Identical mannitol concentrations were added to the media instead of glucose, to isolate the effect of hyperglycemia from hyperosmolarity.

Cells were harvested at different time points (1, 2, and 24 h after the addition of glucose/mannitol) and analyzed for apoptosis and AChE expression and activity. It is important to note that since serum is known to contain a complex mixture of growth factors, cytokines, and other signaling molecules that stimulate the expression of several genes like *c-fos, c-myc, cyclin D1*, and *VEGF*

in cultured cells (Harris et al., 2001), it was important to reduce the percentage of the FBS to the minimum (1%) needed for the Y79 retinoblastoma cells to maintain the cells in a quiescent un-stimulated phase.

DETECTION OF APOPTOSIS BY TUNEL

Apoptosis was detected by Terminal Deoxynucleotidyltransferase-mediated dUTP nick-end-labeling (TUNEL) using the fluorescein-dUTP-in situ cell death detection kit (Roche Diagnostic GmbH, Mannheim, Germany). For TUNEL assay, cells were seeded on microscope cover glasses pre-coated with 0.1% poly-D-lysine [prepared in 100 mM Na₂B₄O₇.10(H₂O) buffer at pH 8.2], and cultured over-night in the HG-medium. After confirming attachment of cells to the cover slips, medium was changed to LG-medium for over-night starvation. Glucose was added to the starved cells at different concentrations and for different time periods, after which TUNEL was performed according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 1 h, and then washed in PBS. Cells were permeabilized in a solution containing 0.1% Triton X-100 in 0.1% sodium citrate on ice, washed twice with PBS and incubated with TUNEL reaction mixture for 60 min at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere in the dark. Slides were washed twice with PBS, stained with DAPI for nuclei detection, and washed again with PBS. The cover glasses with cells were flapped on glass slides covered with a few drops of mounting media (DakoCytomation), photographed using an upright fluorescence microscope (Axioscop 2, ZEISS), and processed by the Image Pro software.

WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS

Apoptosis was also detected by PARP cleavage from 116 kDa into 89 kDa fragments using western blot analysis. Since PARP is a nuclear protein, we decided to test its cleavage in nuclear extracts and not in whole-cell extracts to prevent dilution. Nuclear extracts were prepared and collected as described previously (Schreiber et al., 1989). Proteins were separated by 10% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane. Membranes were incubated in 5% non-fat dry milk in PBS for 1 h, and subsequently probed with a primary monoclonal antibody: anti-PARP (SeroTec, UK) that detects the full length as well as the cleaved PARP. HRP-conjugated Donkey-anti-mouse (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc., USA) was used as secondary antibody. Bound antibodies were detected using enhanced chemiluminescence reagent-ECL (prepared locally) and visualized by autoradiography. AChE expression was also detected using western blot analysis. Cytoplasmic extracts were prepared (Schreiber et al., 1989), and separated on 12.5% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane as described above. A rabbit anti-human polyclonal AChE antibody, which detects all isoforms of AChE, was used (sc-11409, diluted 1:500 from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., USA). A mouse monoclonal antibody anti-a-Tubulin (T6199, diluted 1:4000 from Sigma-aldrich, USA) was used for normalizing cytoplasmic protein loading. HRP-conjugated Donkey-anti-rabbit or anti mouse (1:5000 diluted in 50% glycerol, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc., USA) was used as secondary antibody. Densitometry analysis was done by TotalLab Quant software.

AChE ACTIVITY

The method of AChE cytochemical staining is based on the ability of AChE to hydrolyze acetylthiocholine, which contains a sulfur atom substituted for oxygen in the ester linkage. Enzymatic cleavage of acetylthiocholine by AChE yields acetate and thiocholine, whose sulphydryl group reduces ferricyanide to ferrocyanide. Brown copper ferrocyanide (Hatchett's brown), is formed at the site of enzymatic activity and immediately precipitates thus marking the site of AChE activity. The procedure for detecting AChE activity was originally described by Karnovsky and Roots (Karnovsky and Roots, 1964), and modified by Hanker et al. (Hanker et al., 1973) and Kobayashi et al. (Kobayashi et al., 1994). Briefly, cells were seeded on microscope cover glasses while cultured in the DMEM culturing medium. Upon being dried at room temperature, the cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 1 h, and then washed in PBS. The cover glasses were then covered with 1 ml per slide of a mixture containing: 65 mM sodium phosphate pH 6.0 containing 0.5 mg acetylthiocholine iodide, 5 mM sodium citrate solution, 10 mM copper sulphate solution, 0.5 mM potassium ferricyanide, 0.1 ml DDW, and 10⁻² mM of Iso-OMPA (Tetra-isopropyl pyrophosphoramide for inhibition of Butyrylcholinesterase) at room temperature for overnight incubation. The cover glasses were flapped on glass slides covered with few drops of immuno-mount (Thermo scientific, USA). Cells preparations were viewed and photographed under light microscopy.

RNA EXTRACTION AND REAL-TIME RT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted by TRI-REAGENTTM (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA), according to Sigma's product information. RNA samples (0.2 µg) were used for cDNA synthesis prepared by the VersoTM cDNA Kit (Thermo SCIENTIFIC, UK). Real-time RT-PCR was performed using the Rotor-Gene Q (Qiagen, Corbett life science, Germany) and SYBR green master mix ABsoluteTM Blue (Thermo SCIENTIFIC, UK). Different primer sequences for human AChE variants were used according to previous description; Primer sequences (listed below), for AChE-S, AChE-R, 18S rRNA (house-keeping reference transcript) (Berson et al., 2008) and for N-extended AChE (Ofek et al., 2007). Serial dilutions of samples served to evaluate primers efficiency and the appropriate cDNA concentration that yields linear changes. Annealing temperature was 60°C for all primers. Melting curve analysis verified the identity of end products.

PCR primers were employed as follows:

hAChE-S (Accession no NM000665);

(Forward primer position 1789-1807) – 5'-cttcctccccaaattgctc-3' (Reverse primer position 1901-1920) – 5'-tcctgcttgctgtagtggtc-3' hAChE-R (Accession no AY750146);

(Forward primer position 7092-7110) – 5' cttcctccccaaattgctc-3' (Reverse primer position 7177-7196) – 5' -ggggagaagagggggt tac-3'

h N-extended-AChE (Accession no AY389977);

(Forward primer position 189-207) – 5′-atgctaggcctggtgatgt-3′ (Reverse primer position 285-303) – 5′-ggcagtggaaacttctgga-3′ h18S rRNA (Accession no M10098);

(Forward primer position 1049-1068) – 5'-cgccgctagaggtgaaa ttc-3' (Reverse primer position 1092-1110) – 5'-ttggcaaatgctttcgctc-3'

MISSION[™] shRNA FOR AChE

shRNA packed in Lenti viral particles were prepared using Lenti compatible vectors; VSVG and delta-NRF which were kindly provided by Prof. Gera Neufeld (Faculty of Medicine, Technion), and five pLKO.1-puro vectors each cloned with a potential translational-blocker-complimentary sequence (21 bp long) to AChE exons (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA). Each pLKO.1 vector together with the two vectors mentioned above were cotransfected in 293-T cell line (using TransIT®-LT-1 Transfection reagent, Mirus Corporation, USA). Forty-eight hours posttransfection, medium containing viruses was collected and filtered through a 0.45 µm filter, and was used to infect Y79 cells for 48 h. Puromycin (2.5 µg/ml) was added to culture media for an additional 48 h for selecting positive-Lenti-infected-cells. Prior to the addition of 3.5 mg/ml glucose, infected-Y79 cells were serum starved under the same conditions as mentioned above. At different time intervals following exposure to glucose, cells were harvested for testing by Western Blot and TUNEL assays as mentioned above.

STATISTICS

Statistically significant differences were calculated by t-test (2 tails).

RESULTS

APOPTOSIS INDUCTION BY HYPERGLYCEMIA

Keeping Y79 cells for 1 or 24 h in 1 mg/ml glucose (5.5 mM), mimicking physiologic conditions did not induce apoptosis (**Figure 1A**). Raising the level of glucose to 3.5 mg/ml (19.4 mM) or to 6 mg/ml (33.3 mM), for 1 h also did not result in apoptosis (**Figure 1A**). However, after 24 h in high glucose (3.5 mg/ml or 6 mg/ml—mimicking hyperglycemia in diabetes), apoptosis was stimulated as evident by abundance of TUNEL positive cells (**Figure 1A**).

Counting TUNEL positive cells, indicated that incubating cells in 3.5 mg/ml or 6 mg/ml glucose for 24 h increased apoptosis significantly (p = 0.05), by 7- and 10-fold, respectively, as compared to cells exposed to the same concentrations of glucose for 1 h (**Figure 1B**).

Full-length PARP is an 116 kDa nuclear protein involved in the repair of DNA, in differentiation and in chromatin structure formation. During apoptosis this protein is cleaved by caspase-3, and possibly by other caspases, into an 89 kDa fragment (Lazebnik et al., 1994). Thus, demonstration of PARP cleavage is accepted as a molecular indicator for the induction of an apoptotic process. Since cleavage of PARP is an early stage (between 1 and 3 h) in apoptosis, we used western blot to measure its cleavage in nuclear extracts of cells prepared after 1 h incubation in different glycemic conditions as shown in **Figure 2A**. PARP cleavage was induced in cells exposed to 3.5 mg/ml or 6 mg/ml of glucose for 1 h, as compared to 1 mg/ml of glucose. To test a possible osmotic effect induced by hyperglycemia and leading



to apoptosis, identical mannitol concentrations were added to starved-Y79 cells and PARP cleavage was examined after 1 h. We assessed quantitatively the magnitude of PARP cleavage and its significance from the cleaved/non-cleaved PARP ratio, as suggested by others (Biggs et al., 2001; Grader-Beck et al., 2007). We scanned the western blots and calculate the ratio of cleaved/noncleaved PARP as shown in **Figure 2B**. PARP cleavage was similar in cells treated with 6 mg/ml of glucose or mannitol, but was more prominent, and statistically significant (p < 0.05), in cells treated with 3.5 mg/ml of glucose which showed 2.2 \pm 0.16-fold of control, as compared to the same concentration of mannitol which showed 1.3 \pm 0.22-fold of control. These results indicate that hyperglycemia caused by 6 mg/ml of glucose, induced apoptosis primarily as a result of hyperosmolarity, while at a lower concentration of 3.5 mg/ml of glucose, apoptosis was induced mainly as a result of hyperglycemia and to a lesser extent by hyperosmolarity.



treated by adding glucose or manifol. Y79 cells were incubated for 16–24 h in starvation medium (1% FBS and 1 mg/ml glucose), and then glucose or mannitol was added (except in control) to reach a concentration of 3.5 mg/ml or 6 mg/ml and incubated for 1 or 2 h. (A) Nuclear extracts were prepared and run on SDS-PAGE, blotted, and probed with

anti-PARP as described under Materials and Methods. **(B)** Three independent experiments were conducted and densitometry values were calculated for cleaved to non-cleaved ratios, and plotted in histograms as fold of control (cells cultured in starvation media containing 1% FBS and 1 mg/ml glucose). Values are means \pm SEM, (N = 3). *p < 0.05.



AChE EXPRESSION INDUCED BY HYPERGLYCEMIA

Figure 3 shows western blot analysis for AChE expression in Y79 cells following 1 h or 2 h incubation in different media. AChE expression was increased in Y79 cells treated with 3.5 mg/ml glucose (G) for 1 h and decreased after 2 h to control levels. AChE expression was not increased in cells treated with

6 mg/ml glucose or in cells treated with either 3.5 mg/ml or 6 mg/ml mannitol (M). The dispersed bands seen in **Figure 3** in the range of 50-75 kDa probably reflect the formation of covalent PRiMA-AChE complexes or differences in the degree of glycosylation of AChE subunits (Darreh-Shori et al., 2004).

To test whether the hyperglycemia-induced expression of AChE is also accompanied by increased AChE activity, we tested AChE activity in Y79 cells exposed to glucose concentrations that induced apoptosis. AChE activity, as demonstrated by Karnovsky and Roots staining (Karnovsky and Roots, 1964) (Figure 4A), was calculated relative to control conditions (1 mg/ml glucose), and was found to increase by 7.0 \pm 1.9-fold in cells treated with 3.5 mg/ml glucose for 1 h. In agreement with AChE expression pattern, AChE activity decreased with time after exposure to high glucose (3.5 mg/ml) and after 24 h was only 1.3 \pm 0.34fold relative to control (Figure 4B). This decrease within 24 h was statistically significant (p < 0.05). AChE activity in cells exposed to 3.5 mg/ml glucose for 1 h was significantly (p < 0.05) higher compared to cells exposed for the same time period to 6 mg/ml glucose. AChE activity was not increased in cells treated with 6 mg/ml glucose for the same time intervals (Figure 4B).

Since AChE was detected in the cytoplasmic (**Figure 3**) fraction, and in part of the experiments also in the membranous fraction (data not shown), we hypothesized that the isoforms detected by the western blot assays might be the short cytoplasmic R monomeric soluble isoform, and the membranous one might be the longer N-extended AChE (R or S variants) and/or the AChE-S variant. To test this hypothesis, Reverse Transcription (RT) real-time PCR was performed. As seen in **Figure 5**, mRNA expression levels corresponding to the AChE-S isoform were low and did not change significantly after 15-, 30- or 60- min incubation with 3.5 mg/ml of glucose. However, mRNA expression transcripts tested for the AChE-R or the N-extended isoforms, were significantly (p < 0.05) up-regulated by 1.5 \pm 0.15 and by 1.4 \pm 0.14-fold respectively, compared to control Y79 cells.

AChE EXPRESSION AND APOPTOSIS

In order to examine whether AChE expression plays a role in the hyperglycemia-induced apoptosis of Y79 cells, we tested five AChE shRNA sequences each cloned in pLKO.1- Lenti compatible vector (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA). An empty pLKO.1 vector (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA), devoid of a relevant shRNA sequence was used as control. As shown in **Figure 6A**, the expression of AChE tested under glucose exposure in the presence of the first sequences sh-1 (lane 3), was high and similar to that expressed in the presence of the sh-control-sequence (lane 2). The expression of AChE in these samples was considerably higher compared to sh-control Lenti-infected Y79 cells, which remained under 1 mg/ml glucose (lane1). These data indicate that sh-1 was not an efficient sequence for blocking AChE translation.

A partial inhibition of AChE protein expression was observed with sh-2, sh-3, and sh-5 (lanes 4, 5, and 7, respectively), as indicated by the weaker band of AChE protein. The most efficient





blockage of translation was found with sh-4 (lane 6) in which the AChE band is barely visible. Equal loading of total protein is confirmed by the α -Tubulin band, shown in **Figure 6A**.

We chose Y79 cells, expressing either AChE mRNA sh-4 or AChE mRNA sh-5 to test the effectiveness of sh-4 and sh-5 in blocking hyperglycemia-induced apoptosis. Starved Lentiinfected Y79 cells with sh-4, sh-5, or sh-control were incubated for 24 h in 3.5 mg/ml or left in 1 mg/ml glucose media and TUNEL assay was performed. Figure 6B shows representative pictures of cells undergoing TUNEL assay, and Figure 6C shows the fraction (percentage) of TUNEL positive cells of total number of cells. Y79 cells expressing sh-control underwent a significant apoptotic effect 24 h after incubation in 3.5 mg/ml glucose (Figure 6B, 2nd row), compared to sh-control Lenti-infected Y79 cells which remained under 1 mg/ml glucose (Figure 6B, 1st row); 75 \pm 7.1% and 14.9 \pm 3.0%, respectively (p < 0.05) (Figure 6C). A significant (p < 0.05) inhibition of apoptosis was seen in sh-4 Lenti-infected Y79 cells following 24 h incubation in 3.5 mg/ml of glucose addition (Figure 6B, 4th row), compared to sh-control Lenti-infected Y79 treated under the same conditions (Figure 6B, 2nd row), 25.2 \pm 8.4% and 75 \pm 7.1%, respectively (**Figure 6C**). No significant induction of apoptosis was seen between sh-4 Lenti-infected Y79 cells incubated under 3.5 mg/ml glucose (Figure 6B, 4th row), and sh-4 Lenti infected Y79 cells, which remained under 1 mg/ml glucose (**Figure 6B**, 3rd row), $25.2 \pm 8.4\%$ and $36.5 \pm 7.2\%$, respectively (Figure 6C). sh-5 was also effective in blocking hyperglycemiainduced apoptosis. The fraction of TUNEL positive cells was significantly (p < 0.05) reduced by sh-5 in Y79 cells incubated for 24 h in 3.5 mg/ml glucose (Figure 6B, 6th row) compared to sh-control cells incubated under the same conditions (Figure 6B, 2nd row); 52.8 \pm 3.4% and 75 \pm 7.1%, respectively (**Figure 6C**).

No significant differences were found in the fraction of TUNEL positive cells between sh-5 Lenti-infected Y79 cells incubated in 3.5 mg/ml glucose for 24 h (**Figure 6B**, 6th row), compared to sh-5 Lenti-infected Y79 cells which remained under 1 mg/ml glucose (**Figure 6B**, 5th row), 52.8 \pm 3.4% and 36 \pm 8%, respectively (**Figure 6C**).

The TUNEL results were strengthened by measurements of PARP cleavage in nuclear extracts of the sh-Lenti infected lines; sh-control, sh-4, and sh-5. The western blot shown in **Figure 7A** and the densitometry results plotted in **Figure 7B**, show that PARP was cleaved by almost 3-fold in sh-control Lenti infected Y79 cells following 1 h incubation in 3.5 mg/ml glucose compared to cells remaining in 1 mg/ml glucose. In contrast, cleavage of PARP could not be detected in the sh-4 and sh-5 Lenti-infected Y79 cells, where AChE translation was blocked. The TUNEL and PARP results and the AChE protein expression data seen in **Figures 6** and **7**, suggest that inhibition of AChE protein expression prevents Y79 cells from entering into the apoptotic cascade.

DISCUSSION

Apoptosis is an essential process during development and differentiation, and following exposure to damaging insults. It removes unwanted cells, which may be injured or misplaced, thus preventing the spread of pathological processes from injured cells to healthy ones. This naturally occurring cell death is prominent in neurons of CNS including the retina during development (Young, 1984; Rodier, 1995). Apoptosis also occurs in the adult CNS tissue subjected to a variety of stressful events such as pathological changes observed in both Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders in brain (Sasaki et al., 1998). In the adult retina, apoptosis is observed after subjecting it to photic stress (Hafezi et al., 1999; Grimm et al., 2001), or to metabolic stress such as hyperglycemia (Barber et al., 1998; Mohr et al., 2002; Kusner et al., 2004; Xi et al., 2005).

Here, apoptosis was induced in a retinal Y79 cell line by exposure to hyperglycemia, and was assessed by PARP cleavage as a molecular indication for apoptosis process (**Figure 2**), and by positive TUNEL staining as indication of apoptotic cells (**Figure 1**). Part of this effect could be attributed to hyperosmolarity, as tested by comparing the effects of adding glucose to those induced by adding mannitol, but exposure to 3.5 mg/ml glucose induced apoptosis mainly by hyperglycemia (**Figure 2**). These results are comparable to previous findings in different cell types such as endothelial cells (McGinn et al., 2003), pericytes (Naruse et al., 2000), myocytes (Shizukuda et al., 2002), and neuronal cells (Lelkes et al., 2001), undergoing apoptosis when exposed to glucose, but not to mannitol until a specific osmolarity level was reached (0.33–0.8%), depending on the cell type.

It should be noted that 6 mg/ml glucose induced a lesser degree of apoptosis compared to 3.5 mg/ml glucose, as indicated by PARP cleavage (**Figure 2**), but not by TUNEL (**Figure 1**). This suggests different pathways for hyperglycemia-induced apoptosis compared to hyperosmolarity-induced apoptosis. Indeed, different mechanisms for apoptosis induction by hyperglycemia and hyperosmolarity were described (Igarashi et al., 1999), showing that glucose concentrations in the range 11–16.5 mM



(2–3 mg/ml, respectively), could activate p38 kinase associated with apoptosis, via a PKC-delta isoform-dependent pathway, while higher glucose or mannitol concentrations activated p38 kinase by hyperosmolarity via a PKC-independent pathway (Igarashi et al., 1999).

Although the molecular mechanisms underlying apoptosis have been extensively studied, these mechanisms and the interactions between the proteins which are involved seem to be very complex and much remains to be elucidated. Increasing body of evidence has shown that AChE may be involved in apoptosis



run for western blot analysis to detect AChE expression or anti α-Tubulin (for loading control) as described under Materials and Methods. The sample in lane 1 and those in 2-7 were run in separate lanes on the same gels. The

were pre-treated in starvation medium as described in **A** and then assayed by Y79 sh-RNA lenti-infected and selected cells were counted and calculated as fold of control cells incubated under starvation medium, and plotted in histograms. Values are means \pm SEM, (N = 3). *p < 0.05.

(Zhang et al., 2002; Jin et al., 2004; Deng et al., 2006; Toiber et al., 2008). Under control conditions, AChE expression (Figure 3) and activity (Figure 4) in Y79 cells is very low, probably reflecting de-differentiation of this retinoblastoma-derived cell line. However, when Y79 cells were treated with 3.5 mg/ml glucose for an hour, AChE expression and activity (Figures 3 and 4, respectively) were significantly increased compared to control. AChE expression decreased almost back to the control level, when tested

2 h after exposure to 3.5 mg/ml glucose (Figure 3), reminiscent of an immediate early gene mRNA and protein expression (Kaufer et al., 1998). AChE expression was not increased in cells treated with 6 mg/ml glucose or in cells treated with mannitol although Y79 cells exposed to these conditions were shown to undergo apoptosis, probably as a result of hyperosmolarity (Figures 2, 3). This may indicate that AChE induction is involved in apoptosis induced by selective stress types, e.g., hyperglycemia but not



by hyperosmolarity. These results shown involvement of AChEstress-induced apoptosis, agree with multiple previous reports demonstrating stress-induced expression of AChE following a variety of stress episodes to the central nervous system, e.g., forced swimming (Kaufer et al., 1998), head trauma (Shohami et al., 2000), and photic stress to the retina (Kehat et al., 2007). The findings that apoptosis and AChE were induced by hyperglycemia can reflect two unrelated pathways linked by a common trigger or can reflect a single pathway in which AChE expression leads to apoptosis. To differentiate between these possibilities we blocked AChE expression with shRNA. We found that preventing AChE expression using shRNA was accompanied by prevention of apoptosis (**Figures 6** and **7**), thus supporting the hypothesis that AChE is involved in the apoptosis induced by hyperglycemia in Y79 cells.

Our RT-PCR studies indicated that hyperglycemia-induced the expression of an N-extended AChE variant and an AChE-R variant (**Figure 5**). The trivial conclusion is that hyperglycemia (3.5 mg/ml glucose) induced the expression of an N-extended AChE-R variant and of an AChE-R variant with regular N-terminus. The former is found in the membrane fraction and the latter in the cytoplasm fraction. This conclusion is contrary to recent findings suggesting that the N-extended AChE-S is the detrimental variant causing apoptosis (Toiber et al., 2008, 2009). These differences may be related to the type of stress and/or to the stressed tissue, but the common feature of the

two variants, the N-extended terminus, probably includes elements that are involved in cellular apoptosis. This is supported by a previous retinal study demonstrating that photic stress induced the expression of an N-extended AChE variant that was involved in cell apoptosis, but its specific C-terminus type could not be identified at the protein level (Kehat et al., 2007). In the same study, in-situ hybridization showed up-regulation of AChE-R mRNA (Kehat et al., 2007). It should be noted that our findings cannot rule-out that hyperglycemia induced the expression of a low-level of N-extended AChE-S that was sufficient to cause apoptosis, but was not detected by the RT-PCR experiments. A potential mechanism for the role of AChE in the induction of apoptosis was suggested recently emphasizing the role of the extended N-terminus (Toiber et al., 2008, 2009). According this suggestion, the extended N-terminus protrudes into the cytoplasm, while the core domain is exposed to the extracellular compartment (Toiber et al., 2008). Several proteins, known to be involved in the apoptotic signaling cascade, i.e., GSK3, GAK (cyclin G associated kinase), JAB1/CSN5, integrin, and Fas (TNF receptor super-family, member 6), were found to interact with the extended N-terminus of AChE-S (Toiber et al., 2009), thus probably linking this AChE variant to apoptosis. It should be stressed that this hypothesis emphasizes the role of the extended N-terminus in apoptosis and not of the C-terminus. Therefore, it is possible that, depending upon the studied cells, the N-extended AChE-R or the N-extended

REFERENCES

- Barber, A. J., Lieth, E., Khin, S. A., Antonetti, D. A., Buchanan, A. G., and Gardner, T. W. (1998). Neural apoptosis in the retina during experimental and human diabetes. Early onset and effect of insulin. *J. Clin. Invest.* 102, 783–791.
- Berson, A., Knobloch, M., Hanan, M., Diamant, S., Sharoni, M., Schuppli, D., Geyer, B. C., Ravid, R., Mor, T. S., Nitsch, R. M., and Soreq, H. (2008). Changes in readthrough acetylcholinesterase expression modulate amyloid-beta pathology. *Brain* 131(Pt 1), 109–119.
- Biggs, J. R., Yang, J., Gullberg, U., Muchardt, C., Yaniv, M., and Kraft, A. S. (2001). The human brm protein is cleaved during apoptosis: the role of cathepsin G. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 3814–3819.
- Bytyqi, A. H., Lockridge, O., Duysen, E., Wang, Y., Wolfrum, U., and Layer, P. G. (2004). Impaired formation of the inner retina in an AChE knockout mouse results in degeneration of all photoreceptors. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 20, 2953–2962.
- Darreh-Shori, T., Hellstrom-Lindahl,
 E., Flores-Flores, C., Guan, Z.
 Z., Soreq, H., and Nordberg,
 A. (2004). Long-lasting acetylcholinesterase splice variations in anticholinesterase-treated

Alzheimer's disease patients. J. Neurochem. 88, 1102–1113.

- Deng, R., Li, W., Guan, Z., Zhou, J. M., Wang, Y., Mei, Y. P., Li, M. T., Feng, G. K., Huang, W., Liu, Z. C., Han, Y., Zeng, Y. X., and Zhu, X. F. (2006). Acetylcholinesterase expression mediated by c-Jun-NH2terminal kinase pathway during anticancer drug-induced apoptosis. *Oncogene* 25, 7070–7077.
- Grader-Beck, T., Casciola-Rosen, L., Lang, T. J., Puliaev, R., Rosen, A., and Via, C. S. (2007). Apoptotic splenocytes drive the autoimmune response to poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 in a murine model of lupus. J. Immunol. 178, 95–102.
- Grimm, C., Wenzel, A., Behrens, A., Hafezi, F., Wagner, E. F., and Reme, C. E. (2001). AP-1 mediated retinal photoreceptor apoptosis is independent of N-terminal phosphorylation of c-Jun. *Cell Death Differ.* 8, 859–867.
- Grisaru, D., Deutsch, V., Shapira, M., Pick, M., Sternfeld, M., Melamed-Book, N., Kaufer, D., Galyam, N., Gait, M. J., Owen, D., Lessing, J. B., Eldor, A., and Soreq, H. (2001). ARP, a peptide derived from the stressassociated acetylcholinesterase variant, has hematopoietic growth promoting activities. *Mol. Med.* 7, 93–105

AChE-S can equally play a role in inducing cell apoptosis. Therefore, the protein partners, mentioned above, would be very interesting to test in our in vitro system. Our in vitro findings on retinoblastoma cell line are consistent with the hypothesis that AChE expression pattern in the mammalian retina is altered by hyperglycemia in a manner affecting its roles. A previous study reported a reduction in AChE catalytic activity in the diabetic rat retina probably due to loss of the hydrophobic variant of AChE (Sanchez-Chavez and Salceda, 2001). Here we showed, in a retinoblastoma cell line, that hyperglycemia altered the expression pattern of AChE causing up-regulation of the AChE-R and the extended N-terminus AChE variants. The latter variant is the prime candidate to induce the observed cell apoptosis, reminiscent of retinal cells' apoptosis that was observed during early stages of diabetes (Barber et al., 1998), before any vascular alteration. These findings need to be expanded to identify with certainty the AChE variant involved in hyperglycemiainduced apoptosis, and to test this effect in vivo, in experimental diabetic models, before new therapeutic approaches can be suggested.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Ms. Irit Mann for her excellent technical assistance. This research was partially supported by the Technion V.P.R fund—The Macular Degeneration Research Fund.

- Hafezi, F., Marti, A., Grimm, C., Wenzel, A., and Reme, C. E. (1999). Differential DNA binding activities of the transcription factors AP-1 and Oct-1 during light-induced apoptosis of photoreceptors. *Vision Res*, 39, 2511–2518.
- Hanker, J. S., Thornburg, L. P., Yates, P. E., and Moore, H. G. 3rd. (1973). The demonstration of cholinesterases by the formation of osmium blacks at the sites of Hatchett's brown. *Histochemie* 37, 223–242.
- Harris, V. K., Kagan, B. L., Ray, R., Coticchia, C. M., Liaudet-Coopman, E. D., Wellstein, A., and Tate Riegel, A. (2001). Serum induction of the fibroblast growth factor-binding protein (FGF-BP) is mediated through ERK and p38 MAP kinase activation and C/EBPregulated transcription. Oncogene 20, 1730–1738.
- Igarashi, M., Wakasaki, H., Takahara, N., Ishii, H., Jiang, Z. Y., Yamauchi, T., Kuboki, K., Meier, M., Rhodes, C. J., and King, G. L. (1999). Glucose or diabetes activates p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase via different pathways. J. Clin. Invest. 103, 185–195.
- Jin, Q. H., He, H. Y., Shi, Y. F., Lu, H., and Zhang, X. J. (2004). Overexpression of acetylcholinesterase inhibited cell

proliferation and promoted apoptosis in NRK cells. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 25, 1013–1021.

- Karnovsky, M. J., and Roots, L. (1964). A direct-coloring thiocholine method for cholinesterases. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 12, 219–221.
- Kaufer, D., Friedman, A., Seidman, S., and Soreq, H. (1998). Acute stress facilitates long-lasting changes in cholinergic gene expression. *Nature* 393, 373–377.
- Kehat, R., Zemel, E., Cuenca, N., Evron, T., Toiber, D., Loewenstein, A., Soreq, H., and Perlman, I. (2007). A novel isoform of acetylcholinesterase exacerbates photoreceptors death after photic stress. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 48, 1290–1297.
- Kobayashi, H., O'Briain, D. S., Hirakawa, H., Wang, Y., and Puri, P. (1994). A rapid technique of acetylcholinesterase staining. *Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med.* 118, 1127–1129.
- Kusner, L. L., Sarthy, V. P., and Mohr, S. (2004). Nuclear translocation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase: a role in high glucose-induced apoptosis in retinal Muller cells. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 45, 1553–1561.
- Lazebnik, Y. A., Kaufmann, S. H., Desnoyers, S., Poirier, G. G., and Earnshaw, W. C. (1994). Cleavage of

poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase by a proteinase with properties like ICE. *Nature* 371, 346–347.

- Lelkes, E., Unsworth, B. R., and Lelkes, P. I. (2001). Reactive oxygen species, apoptosis and altered NGF-induced signaling in PC12 pheochromocytoma cells cultured in elevated glucose: an *in vitro* cellular model for diabetic neuropathy. *Neurotox. Res.* 3, 189–203.
- Li, Q., Zemel, E., Miller, B., and Perlman, I. (2002). Early retinal damage in experimental diabetes: electroretinographical and morphological observations. *Exp. Eye Res.* 74, 615–625.
- Lorenzi, M., and Gerhardinger, C. (2001). Early cellular and molecular changes induced by diabetes in the retina. *Diabetologia* 44, 791–804.
- Majno, G., and Joris, I. (1995). Apoptosis, oncosis, and necrosis. An overview of cell death. *Am. J. Pathol.* 146, 3–15.
- McGinn, S., Poronnik, P., King, M., Gallery, E. D., and Pollock, C. A. (2003). High glucose and endothelial cell growth: novel effects independent of autocrine TGF-beta 1 and hyperosmolarity. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 284, C1374–C1386.
- Meshorer, E., and Soreq, H. (2006). Virtues and woes of AChE alternative splicing in stress-related neuropathologies. *Trends Neurosci.* 29, 216–224.
- Mohr, S., Xi, X., Tang, J., and Kern, T. S. (2002). Caspase activation in retinas of diabetic and galactosemic mice and diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 51, 1172–1179.
- Naruse, K., Nakamura, J., Hamada, Y., Nakayama, M., Chaya, S., Komori, T., Kato, K., Kasuya, Y., Miwa, K., and Hotta, N. (2000). Aldose reductase inhibition prevents glucose-induced apoptosis in

cultured bovine retinal microvascular pericytes. *Exp. Eye Res.* 71, 309–315.

- Ofek, K., Krabbe, K. S., Evron, T., Debecco, M., Nielsen, A. R., Brunnsgaad, H., Yirmiya, R., Soreq, H., and Pedersen, B. K. (2007). Cholinergic status modulations in human volunteers under acute inflammation. J. Mol. Med. (Berl.) 85, 1239–1251.
- Robitzki, A., Mack, A., Hoppe, U., Chatonnet, A., and Layer, P. G. (1998). Butyrylcholinesterase antisense transfection increases apoptosis in differentiating retinal reaggregates of the chick embryo. J. Neurochem. 71, 413–420.
- Rodier, P. M. (1995). Developing brain as a target of toxicity. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 103(Suppl. 6), 73–76.
- Sanchez-Chavez, G., and Salceda, R. (2001). Acetyl- and butyrylcholinesterase in normal and diabetic rat retina. *Neurochem. Res.* 26, 153–159.
- Sasaki, N., Fukatsu, R., Tsuzuki, K., Hayashi, Y., Yoshida, T., Fujii, N., Koike, T., Wakayama, I., Yanagihara, R., Garruto, R., Amano, N., and Makita, Z. (1998). Advanced glycation end products in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative diseases. Am. J. Pathol. 153, 1149–1155.
- Schreiber, E., Matthias, P., Muller, M. M., and Schaffner, W. (1989). Rapid detection of octamer binding proteins with 'mini-extracts', prepared from a small number of cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17, 6419.
- Shizukuda, Y., Reyland, M. E., and Buttrick, P. M. (2002). Protein kinase C-delta modulates apoptosis induced by hyperglycemia in adult ventricular myocytes. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 282, H1625–H1634.

- Shohami, E., Kaufer, D., Chen, Y., Seidman, S., Cohen, O., Ginzberg, D., Melamed-Book, N., Yirmiya, R., and Soreq, H. (2000). Antisense prevention of neuronal damages following head injury in mice. J. Mol. Med. (Berl.) 78, 228–236.
- Small, D. H., Michaelson, S., and Sberna, G. (1996). Non-classical actions of cholinesterases: role in cellular differentiation, tumorigenesis and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem. Int.* 28, 453–483.
- Soreq, H., Patinkin, D., Lev-Lehman, E., Grifman, M., Ginzberg, D., Eckstein, F., and Zakut, H. (1994). Antisense oligonucleotide inhibition of acetylcholinesterase gene expression induces progenitor cell expansion and suppresses hematopoietic apoptosis *ex vivo*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 7907–7911.
- Soreq, H., and Seidman, S. (2001). Acetylcholinesterase–new roles for an old actor. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 294–302.
- Toiber, D., Berson, A., Greenberg, D., Melamed-Book, N., Diamant, S., and Soreq, H. (2008). N-acetylcholinesterase-induced apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS ONE* 3:e3108. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0003108
- Toiber, D., Greenberg, D. S., and Soreq, H. (2009). Pro-apoptotic protein-protein interactions of the extended N-AChE terminus. J. Neural Transm. 116, 1435–1442.
- Wenzel, A., Grimm, C., Samardzija, M., and Reme, C. E. (2005). Molecular mechanisms of light-induced photoreceptor apoptosis and neuroprotection for retinal degeneration. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.* 24, 275–306.
- Xi, X., Gao, L., Hatala, D. A., Smith, D. G., Codispoti, M. C., Gong, B.,

Kern, T. S., and Zhang, J. Z. (2005). Chronically elevated glucoseinduced apoptosis is mediated by inactivation of Akt in cultured Muller cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 326, 548–553.

- Young, R. W. (1984). Cell death during differentiation of the retina in the mouse. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 229, 362–373.
- Zhang, X. J., Yang, L., Zhao, Q., Caen, J. P., He, H. Y., Jin, Q. H., Guo, L. H., Alemany, M., Zhang, L. Y., and Shi, Y. F. (2002). Induction of acetylcholinesterase expression during apoptosis in various cell types. *Cell Death Differ.* 9, 790–800.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 11 December 2011; paper pending published: 03 January 2012; accepted: 14 May 2012; published online: 06 June 2012.

Citation: Shehadeh Masha'our R, Heinrich R, Garzozi HJ and Perlman I (2012) Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is an important link in the apoptotic pathway induced by hyperglycemia in Y79 retinoblastoma cell line. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 5:69. doi: 10.3389/fnmol. 2012.00069

Copyright © 2012 Shehadeh Masha'our, Heinrich, Garzozi and Perlman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Molecular assembly and biosynthesis of acetylcholinesterase in brain and muscle: the roles of t-peptide, FHB domain, and N-linked glycosylation

Vicky P. Chen, Wilson K. W. Luk, Wallace K. B. Chan, K. Wing Leung, Ava J. Y. Guo, Gallant K. L. Chan, Sherry L. Xu, Roy C. Y. Choi and Karl W. K. Tsim*

Division of Life Science, Center for Chinese Medicine, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Hong Kong, China

Edited by:

Hermona Soreq, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel

Reviewed by:

Ye He, University of California San Francisco, USA Bon Suzanne, CNRS, France

*Correspondence:

Karl W. K. Tsim, Division of Life Science, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Clear Water Bay Road, Hong Kong SAR, China. e-mail: botsim@ust.hk Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is responsible for the hydrolysis of the neurotransmitter, acetylcholine, in the nervous system. The functional localization and oligomerization of AChE T variant are depending primarily on the association of their anchoring partners, either collagen tail (ColQ) or proline-rich membrane anchor (PRiMA). Complexes with ColQ represent the asymmetric forms (A_{12}) in muscle, while complexes with PRiMA represent tetrameric globular forms (G_4) mainly found in brain and muscle. Apart from these traditional molecular forms, a ColQ-linked asymmetric form and a PRiMA-linked globular form of hybrid cholinesterases (ChEs), having both AChE and BChE catalytic subunits, were revealed in chicken brain and muscle. The similarity of various molecular forms of AChE and BChE raises interesting question regarding to their possible relationship in enzyme assembly and localization. The focus of this review is to provide current findings about the biosynthesis of different forms of ChEs together with their anchoring proteins.

Keywords: acetylcholinesterase, butyrylcholinesterase, assembly, membrane trafficking, glycosylation

INTRODUCTION

Cholinesterases (ChEs) are serine hydrolases that preferentially act on choline esters. Vertebrates possess two types of cholinesterases (ChEs), corresponding to two distinct genes: acetyl cholinesterase (AChE, EC 3.1.1.7) and butyryl cholinesterase (BChE, EC 3.1.1.8). These two enzymes are distinguished on the basis of the substrate specificities and their sensitivities to selective inhibitors (Mendel and Rudney, 1943; Austin and Berry, 1953). The primary function of AChE is to efficiently hydrolyze the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh) at cholinergic synapses (Massoulié et al., 1993), whereas the physiological function of BChE in vertebrates remains a question of different speculations. Studies of AChE knockout mice suggested that BChE can partially compensate for the absence of AChE in the nervous system (Xie et al., 2000; Duysen et al., 2001); therefore BChE could hydrolyze acetylcholine functionally. Poisoning by ChE inhibitors, such as insecticides or nerve gas, results in accumulation of ACh, and uncontrolled activation of cholinergic receptors, which causes cholinergic crisis and potentially leads to death (Feyereisen, 1995; Bajgar, 2004). On the other hand, controlled treatment with ChE inhibitors are used in therapeutics for patients suffering from myasthenia gravis (Brenner et al., 2008; Mehndiratta et al., 2011), Alzheimer's disease (Giacobini, 2000; Stone et al., 2011), and Parkinson's disease (Hutchinson and Fazzini, 1996; Emre et al., 2004).

In vertebrates, ACHE gene produces several types of coding sequences differing in an alternative choice of splice acceptor sites in the 3' region. This process generates different AChE isoforms, named AChE_R, AChE_H, and AChE_T (Massoulié, 2002). They contain the same catalytic domain, but are associated with distinct C-terminal peptides. In contrast, BCHE gene produces single type of transcript and generates single type of isoform BChE_T (Blong et al., 1997). AChE and BChE are well-known for their multiple molecular forms that have their specific localizations: AChE_R is a soluble monomer that is up-regulated in the brain under stress stimulation (Kaufer et al., 1998; Perrier et al., 2005); AChEH is a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored dimer that is mainly expressed in red blood cells (Li et al., 1991); AChE_T and BChE_T are present in collagen-tailed forms at the neuromuscular junction (nmj) and hydrophobic-tailed forms in the brain (Legay et al., 1995; Blong et al., 1997; Massoulié et al., 2005). The molecular forms of AChE_T and BChE_T in brain and muscle are of particular interest because they are associated with their anchoring proteins: collagen Q (ColQ) or proline-rich membrane anchor (PRiMA). Complexes with ColQ represent the collagen-tailed or asymmetric (A) forms in muscle (Krejci et al., 1997), while complexes with PRiMA represent membrane-bound tetrameric globular form (G₄), mainly in brain (Perrier et al., 2002, 2003; Xie et al., 2009) and muscle (Xie et al., 2007). In addition, mixed cholinesterases, ColQ-linked AChE-BChE A12 hybrid enzyme (Tsim et al., 1988a) and PRiMA-linked AChE-BChE G₄ hybrid enzyme (Chen et al., 2010) that contain both AChE and BChE homodimers in a single molecule are being found in avian system. Here, we summarized the recent studies on the assembly of oligomeric AChE and BChE, as well as the regulation of AChE and/or BChE biosynthesis in neurons and muscles.

Abbreviations: A, asymmetric; ACh, acetylcholine; AChE, acetylcholinesterase; BChE, butyrylcholinesterase; ChEs, cholinesterases; ColQ, collagen tail; Endo H, endoglycosidase H; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; FHB, four-helix bundle; G₄, tetrameric globular form; nmj, neuromuscular junction; PRAD, proline-rich attachment domain; PRiMA, proline-rich membrane anchor; WAT, tryptophan amphiphilic tetramerization.

MOLECULAR FORMS OF ACHE AND BCHE IN BRAIN AND MUSCLE

PRIMA-LINKED GLOBULAR FORMS OF ChEs

In Xenopus oocytes, COS-7 cells, neuroblastoma cells, and muscle cells, the expression of PRiMA has been identified as a limiting factor in organizing G₄ AChE and targeting it to the cell membrane (Perrier et al., 2002; Xie et al., 2007), as well as in directing its membrane raft localization (Xie et al., 2010a). In the absence of PRiMA, the G₄ AChE, or the G₄ BChE, could not be formed. In the brain, the catalytic subunit contained in G4 AChE is AChE_T (Inestrosa et al., 1994). The expression of PRiMA mRNA and protein are increased with an increment of G4 AChE during the development of brain and spinal cord (Leung et al., 2009; Xie et al., 2010b). The PRiMA-linked AChE is also present at the nmj, in which both motor neuron and muscle are the major suppliers. In rat muscles, the protein expression of PRiMA and AChE_T, as well as the G4 AChE, are dramatically increased during development (Leung et al., 2009). The parallel expression of PRiMA and G₄ AChE during the development strengthens the importance of PRiMA in directing, and/or regulating the formation of G₄ enzyme. The PRiMA-linked G₄ BChE however has not been well studied, and therefore the expression profile of which in brain or muscle are not fully revealed.

CoLQ-LINKED ASYMMETRIC FORMS OF ChEs

Asymmetric forms of AChE and BChE are characterized by the presence of collagen-like tail, which is formed by the triple helical association of three ColQ subunits (Feng et al., 1999). The cDNA encoding ColQ has been cloned in Torpedo (Krejci et al., 1991), rat (Krejci et al., 1997), human (Ohno et al., 1998), quail, and chicken (Ruiz and Rotundo, 2009a). The presence of the collagen-tailed forms of ChEs has been found in all classes of vertebrates, but not in invertebrates. They are specifically expressed in muscles and regulated by physiological activity (Sketelj and Brzin, 1985; Deprez et al., 2003; Lau et al., 2008). In human and rat, COLQ gene has two transcripts, ColQ-1 and ColQ-1a: they are differentiatedly expressed in slow-twitch (ColQ-1) and fast-twitch (ColQ-1a) muscles (Ohno et al., 1998; Krejci et al., 1999). The differentiated expression patterns may account for the synaptic and non-synaptic expression profile of ColQlinked AChE in fast slow-twitch and fast-twitch muscles, respectively (Lee et al., 2004; Crne-Finderle et al., 2005; Choi et al., 2007).

EXISTENCE OF AChE–BChE HYBRID ChEs

Most of our knowledge concerning ChEs derives from the studies on the classical AChE and BChE homogenous oligomers. However, the sequence similarity between AChE_T and BChE_T has been further emphasized regarding the existence of hybrid A_{12} forms in new-born chicken muscle (Tsim et al., 1988a), as well as a hybrid G_4 from in the brain (Chen et al., 2010) and embryonic muscles of chicken (Chen et al., 2009). In these hybrid enzymes, both AChE_T and BChE_T are attached to the same anchoring protein, ColQ for A_{12} form and PRiMA for G_4 form (**Figure 1**). The hybrid enzyme exists as a single type, with equivalent number of AChE and BChE catalytic subunits in a single molecule. Interestingly, the expression of these hybrid molecules in chicken brain and



muscle was found to be developmentally regulated. In 1-day-old chicken muscle, the predominant form of AChE is A12 hybrid form; however, the proportion of BChE subunits in the hybrid molecules progressively disappear during the muscle development from embryonic, hatching to adult, and the homogeneous asymmetric AChE becomes the sole form upon the muscle maturation (Tsim et al., 1988b). On the other hand, a continuous increase of AChE-BChE G₄ hybrid expression was observed in chicken brain, while an obvious decrease was found in the leg muscles. To date, we do not have conclusive idea about the underlining regulatory mechanism of these hybrid enzymes. We believe that AChE-BChE hybrid enzymes could take part in cholinergic functions, which includes (i) they carry the catalytic activities of AChE and BChE in hydrolyzing ACh; (ii) they are associated with the anchoring protein, PRiMA or ColQ, which can anchor the hybrid enzymes onto the plasma membrane in the brain or nmj in the muscles; and (iii) the level of BChET indirectly regulates the expression of homogenous G₄ AChE.

In fact, the notion of having the existence of AChE–BChE hybrid enzyme is not new. An abnormal ChE species in the serum of patients suffering from carcinomas was reported (Zakut et al., 1988). This abnormal ChE species in human serum was inhibited by both AChE inhibitor BW284c51 and BChE inhibitor iso-OMPA. In addition, a collagen-tailed asymmetric hybrid AChE has been found relatively abundant in young chicken muscle (Tsim et al., 1988b), but which tends to disappear at the adult stage (Tsim et al., 1988b). Moreover, a hybrid tetramer having AChE and BChE activity was also found in cyst fluids derived from a human astrocytoma (García-Ayllón et al., 2001). However, none of the physiological function of these abnormal ChEs has been elucidated.

ASSEMBLY MECHANISM OF ACHE AND BCHE

The presence of G_4 and A_{12} hybrid ChEs raised interesting questions about the organization of the subunits in a hybrid ChE complex. The assembly of AChE and BChE in cells could provide a good model in revealing the protein assembly of oligomers. By using DNA transfected cell cultures, the organization of different subunits in the PRiMA-linked ChE tetramers has been studied (Chen et al., 2010). Interestingly, AChE_T and BChE_T could not form hybrid dimer in the absence of anchoring protein; on the
other hand, a single type of hybrid tetramer was clearly observed when the two catalytic subunits were co-expressed with PRiMA. Therefore, a "2 + 2" model is proposed for the organization of the four catalytic subunits in the PRiMA-linked ChE tetramers (**Figure 2**). After protein synthesis, AChE_T and BChE_T spontaneously form AChE homodimer and BChE_T homodimer first. When two dimers (two AChE_T dimers, or two BChE_T dimers, or one AChE_T dimer plus one BChE_T dimer) encounter the anchoring protein, PRiMA, and thus ChE tetramers, e.g., G₄ AChE, G₄ BChE, and G₄ AChE/BChE hybrid, are formed.

T-PEPTIDE IS NECESSARY FOR THE OLIGOMERIZATION OF $\mathsf{AChE}_{\mathsf{T}}$ and $\mathsf{BChE}_{\mathsf{T}}$

 $AChE_T$ and $BChE_T$ have a catalytic domain of approximately 500 amino acids, followed by a C-terminal t-peptide of 40 and 41 residues, respectively. The t-peptide on $AChE_T$ and $BChE_T$ presents a considerable sequence similarity, with 24 identical residues, including seven aromatic residues and one cysteine near the C-terminus, which are conserved in human, cat, rabbit, mouse, cow, rat, chicken, and *Torpedo* (Massoulié et al., 1993).

The t-peptide was reported to play an important role in the biosynthesis of ChEs, particularly in the protein folding and exportation. The presence of aromatic residues in the t-peptide induces the misfolding of newly synthesized AChE_T polypeptides, and this effect depends on the hydrophobic character of these residues, because the same effect occurs when they are replaced by leucines (Falasca et al., 2005). In the absence of a proline-rich attachment domain (PRAD)-containing anchoring protein, the t-peptide enhanced a pool of AChE_T molecules toward endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-associated degradation (Belbeoc'h et al., 2003).

The major function of t-peptide is directing the assembly of tetramers of AChE_T (Bon and Massoulié, 1997) and BChE_T (Blong et al., 1997), as well as the association with the structure proteins, ColQ and PRiMA (Krejci et al., 1997; Perrier et al., 2002; Bon et al., 2004). The t-peptide is also named as tryptophan (W) amphiphilic tetramerization (WAT) domains, which contains a sector with seven aromatic residues that are strictly conserved between AChE_T and BChE_T. The association between AChE_T or BChE_T catalytic subunits and anchoring proteins, ColQ and PRiMA, is mostly based on the interaction between four WAT domains on the t-peptides and a PRAD on ColQ or PRiMA (Bon et al., 1997; Dvir et al., 2004; Noureddine et al., 2007). A crystallographic analysis of



form their own homodimers spontaneously. PRiMA recruits two homodimers together to form a PRiMA-linked tetramers, e.g., G₄ AChE, G₄ BChE, G₄ hybrid.

the complex of synthetic t-peptide and PRAD peptide indicated that four α -helical t-peptides form coiled-coil structure around the PRAD, which is arranged in a poly-proline II helix (Dvir et al., 2004). In addition, the formation of disulfide bonds through the cysteine residues near the end of the t-peptides stabilizes the quaternary association, and in fact this association appears to be critical in the case of AChE dimer formation. Dimers could be hardly observed after mutagenesis of the C-terminal cysteine residues in H or T-peptides of *Torpedo* and rat AChE (Morel et al., 2001; Chen et al., 2010).

The importance of t-peptide in the assembly of $AChE_T$ and $BChE_T$ was also reported by DNA mutagenesis studies. The truncated mutants, $AChE_{\Delta T}$ and $BChE_{\Delta T}$, in which the tpeptides were deleted from the catalytic subunits, produced only monomers (Duval et al., 1992). $AChE_T$ and $AChE_{BChE-T}$, $BChE_T$ and $BChE_{AChE-T}$, in which the catalytic domain of each enzyme was swapped with the t-peptide of each other, presented similar assembly ability to form oligomers (Liang et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2010).

THE FHB DOMAIN IS INVOLVED IN THE SELECTION OF CATALYTIC SUBUNITS DURING DIMERIZATION

Although the nature of AChE_T and BChE_T oligomers depends on the presence of the t-peptides, the catalytic domains also influence the oligomerization patterns. The X-ray crystallography studies of Torpedo AChE dimers showed that the contact zone between two AChE_H subunits could be a "four-helix bundle" (FHB), formed by two α helices from each catalytic domain (Sussman et al., 1991). In addition, rat AChE_T was also demonstrated to dimerize through FHB inter-subunit contact zone (Morel et al., 2001). Based on these findings, we compared the predicted FHB sequences that are responsible for the dimeric contact zone of AChE_T and BChE_T from different species. Indeed, FHB domains are highly conserved across different species for either AChE or BChE, including human, mouse, rat, chicken, and Torpedo (Figure 3). On the other hand, the similarity between FHB domains of AChE_T and BChE_T is very low. An inter-species hybrid dimer could be formed between human AChE_T and chicken AChE_T, but not between mammalian AChE_T and BChE_T, in transfected HEK293T cells (Chen et al., 2010). The selectivity of dimerization seems to be based on the feature that the FHB domains of AChE are highly conserved among different species of vertebrates, but are distinguished from vertebrate BChE_Ts. Moreover, another hybrid dimer, between human AChE_{BChE-T} and chicken AChE_T, which contained the similar FHB but different t-peptides, was formed when they were co-expressed together in HEK293T cultured cells (Chen et al., 2010). This further confirmed that the catalytic domains, possibly the FHB domains, should play a critical role in the selection of subunits during the dimerization of ChEs.

According to our current knowledge, the oligomerization of $AChE_T$ or $BChE_T$ with their associated anchoring proteins could rely on three types of interactions (**Figure 4**): (i) the FHB interaction for the formation of dimer through hydrophobic interaction; (ii) intercatenary disulfide bonds between the t-peptide of $AChE_T$ or $BChE_T$ subunits; and (iii) tight hydrophobic interaction between the WAT domains of $AChE_T$ or $BChE_T$ subunits and the PRAD on PRiMA or ColQ.

		AChE	BC	ThE
	FHB-1	FHB-2	FHB-1	FHB-2
	352 362	506 520	390 401	540 561
Human	D l aae av vlhy	AQACAFWNRFLPKLL	SEFGKESILFHY	TKLRAQQCRFWTSFFPKVLEMT
Mouse	D l aae av vlhy	AQTCAFWNRFLPKLL	SRLGK E AVL f y y	SKLRAPQCQFWRLFFPKVLEMT
Rat	d l aae av v l h y	AQTCAFWNRFLPKLL	S SLGK E AIL F Y Y	SKLRAPQCQFWRLFFPKVLEIT
Chicken	e l aae av v l h y	TQICAFWTRFLPKLL	SKLAIESIIFQY	TKLRAQQCRFWNMFFPKVLEMT
Torpedo	d l gld av tlq y	VQMCVFWNQFLPKLL		

FIGURE 3 | Comparison of FHB sequences of AChE_r and BChE_r among different species. The sequences of the two alpha helices (FHB-1 and FHB-2) forming the dimeric contact zone of AChE and BChE are shown. The residues conserved across species are highlighted in bold. The amino acid sequences of human, mouse, rat, chicken, and *Torpedo* AChE catalytic subunits were deduced from

nucleotide sequences accessed from GeneBank[™] AAA68151, CAA39867, EDM13278, P36196, and CAA27169, respectively. The amino acid sequences of human, mouse, rat, and chicken BChE catalytic subunits were deduced from nucleotide sequences accessed from GeneBank[™] AAA99296.1, AAH99977, NP_075231, and NP_989977, respectively.



$\textit{N}\mbox{-}GLYCOSYLATION IS NOT REQUIRED FOR THE ASSEMBLY OF AChE_T BUT IS REQUIRED FOR THE MEMBRANE TRAFFICKING$

AChE_T and BChE_T are well-known highly glycosylated enzymes, which carry various amounts of N-linked carbohydrate side chains attached to their core polypeptides (Liao et al., 1992; Kolarich et al., 2008). Mature human AChE_T monomer possesses three potential N-linked glycosylation sites (Soreq et al., 1990; Velan et al., 1993). Mature human BChE_T carries nine potential N-linked glycosylation sites (Lockridge et al., 1987). These N-linked glycosylation sites, both in AChE and BChE, are highly conserved in mammals, which implies the physiological importance of these glycans for ChEs.

Glycosylation is proposed to be used as a marker for the progression of ChE forms through different subcellular compartments, since it is known that the glycans added in ER are remodeled and matured in Golgi apparatus. In chicken muscles, the assembly of catalytically active dimer and tetramer occurred in the rough ER, with a subset of tetramers being further assembled with ColQ in Golgi apparatus into asymmetric forms (Rotundo, 1984). Once assembled, these catalytically active AChE oligomers were stable, acquired complex oligosaccharides in Golgi apparatus, and were transported to plasma membrane or secreted into medium (Rotundo, 1984). All of these exported AChE molecules contain complex oligosaccharides, because they could bind to lectins such as wheat germ agglutinin and ricin, and were endoglycosidase H (Endo H) resistant (Rotundo et al., 1989). In contrast, 70–80% of the newly synthesized AChE polypeptide chains in chicken muscle appeared to be catalytically inactive and Endo H sensitive, and they were degraded intracellularly with a half-life of about 1.5 h (Rotundo, 1988). Recently, Ruiz and Rotundo (2009a,b) reported that the expression of AChE in quail muscles is regulated by muscle activity through post-translational controls: the over-expression of ER molecular chaperons, such as calnexin, ER protein 72, and protein disulfide isomerase results in an increase of catalytic active ColQ-linked AChE in quail muscles.

The biological function of the glycans on ChEs was elucidated by site mutagenesis studies. Elimination of *N*-glycosylation sites did not interfere with the ability of AChE_T to form a soluble dimer (Velan et al., 1993), or to assembly with PRiMA to form a PRiMAlinked AChE tetramer (Chen et al., 2011). It appears therefore that the oligosaccharide side chains do not affect the structural elements that are responsible for the interaction of different subunits. Indeed, none of the *N*-glycosylation sites on AChE is close to or within the FHB domain implied in dimerization of AChE subunits (Sussman et al., 1991; Morel et al., 2001), or the t-peptide that allows the oligomerization of AChE_T with the anchoring proteins, e.g., ColQ and PRiMA (Bon et al., 2004). Moreover, the glycosylation of $AChE_T$ can greatly affects the protein folding and membrane trafficking. When the glycosylation is eliminated, the folding of $AChE_T$ fails, leading to a severe lost of the enzymatic activity (Chen et al., 2011). In the absence of glycosylation, the secreted G₁ and G₂ AChE are dramatically reduced in transfected cells, and the PRiMA-linked G₄ AChE is retained in ER and fails to be exported to plasma membrane (Chen et al., 2011).

The importance of *N*-glycosylation in the biosynthesis of AChE could explain the abnormality of glycosylation status in some pathological conditions. Proper glycosylation of AChE is

important for normal brain function. Accumulation of molecular forms of AChE with altered patterns of glycosylation has been observed in the brain and cerebrospinal fluid of Alzheimer's patients (Sáez-Valero et al., 1999, 2000). Moreover, characteristics of AChE found in the senile plaques are different from those in normal brain with a higher degree of glycosylation, which is proposed to be one of the factors facilitating formation of amyloid fibrils in the senile plaques (Mimori et al., 1997). These abnormalities in the glycosylation of AChE are very specific for Alzheimer's disease and are not detected in other dementia illness, which suggests that glycosylation of AChE may have a diagnostic value.



FIGURE 5 | Proposed model for the assembly and membrane processing of G₄ ChEs. G₄ AChE, G₄ BChE, and AChE–BChE G₄ hybrid molecules are assembled in ER where both AChE_T and BChE_T subunits have initial glycosylation. These G₄ complexes are subsequently transported to Golgi apparatus where the catalytic subunits can have further glycosylation, and

finally anchored onto the plasma membrane. The AChE_T glycosylation mutant, in which the glycosylation is completely abolished, is still able to assembly with PRiMA and BChE_T to form G₄ AChE and G₄ hybrid. However, both of them are retained in ER, which possibly will be subjected to the degradation pathway.

To summarize the assembly and membrane processing of G₄ ChEs, a model is being proposed as Figure 5. After the mRNAs are translated into peptides, AChE_T and BChE_T polypeptides undergo initial glycosylation, presumably in a co-translation manner. Shortly after the synthesis, the glycosylated AChE_T and BChE_T are assembled into homodimers spontaneously. When these homodimers encounter PRiMA, they form PRiMA-linked G4 AChE, or G4 BChE, or AChE-BChE G4 hybrid in ER. Afterward, PRiMA targets these G₄ complexes to Golgi apparatus where AChE_T and BChE_T subunits have further glycosylation. This trafficking allows the G₄ enzymes to be fully functional and finally become anchored onto the plasma membrane. During the whole process, the proper glycosylation of AChE_T is the key point for the membrane targeting. Without glycosylation, AChE_T polypeptides cannot fold properly, resulting in inactive AChE molecules. These un-glycosylated and inactive AChET molecules can still form PRiMA-linked G4 AChE and AChE-BChE G4 hvbrid, but both of them are retained in ER, failing to be exported to Golgi apparatus, and finally they are subjected to degradation most possibly.

SUMMARY

The assembly of ChEs constitutes a fascinating model to study numerous biological processes, such as post-translational modification, protein–protein interactions, membrane trafficking, and protein degradation. The physiological function of ChEs depends on the catalytic property of the enzymes and the restricted subcellular localization. In brain and muscles, ChEs display extremely rich molecular polymorphisms, possessing soluble,

REFERENCES

- Austin, L., and Berry, W. K. (1953). Two selective inhibitors of cholinesterase. *Biochem. J.* 54, 695–700.
- Bajgar, J. (2004). Organophosphates/nerve agent poisoning: mechanism of action, diagnosis, prophylaxis, and treatment. Adv. Clin. Chem. 38, 151–216.
- Belbeoc'h, S., Massoulié, J., and Bon, S. (2003). The C-terminal t peptide of acetylcholinesterase enhances degradation of unassembled active subunits through the ERAD pathway. *EMBO J.* 22, 3536–3545.
- Blong, R. M., Bedows, E., and Lockridge, O. (1997). Tetramerization domain of human butyrylcholinesterase is at the C-terminus. *Biochem. J.* 327, 747–757.
- Bon, S., Coussen, F., and Massoulié, J. (1997). Quaternary associations of acetylcholinesterase. II. The polyproline attachment domain of the collagen tail. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 3016–3021.
- Bon, S., Dufourcq, J., Leroy, J., Cornut, I., and Massoulié, J. (2004). The C-terminal t peptide of acetylcholinesterase forms an alpha helix that supports homomeric and heteromeric interactions. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 271, 33–47.

- Bon, S., and Massoulié, J. (1997). Quaternary associations of acetylcholinesterase. I. Oligomeric associations of T subunits with and without the amino-terminal domain of the collagen tail. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 3007–3015.
- Brenner, T., Nizri, E., Irony-Tur-Sinai, M., Hamra-Amitay, Y., and Wirguin, I. (2008). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and cholinergic modulation in Myasthenia Gravis and neuroinflammation. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 201–202, 121–127.
- Chen, V. P., Choi, R. C., Chan, W. K., Leung, K. W., Guo, A. J., Chan, G. K., Luk, W. K., and Tsim, K. W. (2011). The assembly of PRiMAlinked acetylcholinesterase: glycosylation is required for enzymatic activity but not for oligomerization. *J Biol Chem.* 286, 32948–32961.
- Chen, V. P., Xie, H. Q., Chan, W. K., Leung, K. W., Chan, G. K., Choi, R. C., Bon, S., Massoulié, J., and Tsim, K. W. (2010). The PRiMAlinked cholinesterase tetramers are assembled from homodimers: hybrid molecules composed of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase dimers are up-regulated during development

membrane-bound and basal lamina-anchored forms, and additionally, hybrid ChEs containing both AChE and BChE catalytic subunits also curiously exist. During the assembly of these ChE complexes, dimer is believed to be the precursor for the PRiMAlinked tetramers and ColQ-linked asymmetric forms. The dimer formation of AChE or BChE depends on recognition between the FHB domains in their catalytic domains, and the assembly of tetramers with PRiMA or ColQ requires the interaction of WAT domain on the C-terminal t-peptides with the PRAD domain on PRiMA or ColQ. N-linked glycans of AChE are employed as both maturation and quality control tags that dictate the destination of the enzyme being exported or not, which inspires that the control of glycosylation may be as a means in regulating the level of functional AChE in pathological conditions. However, there are still several questions out there, which have not been resolved. These questions are: (i) the possible control mechanism in directing the formation of different forms of ChEs; (ii) the regulatory mechanism for the protein trafficking of different states of ChEs; (iii) the fate of the active and inactive ChEs; and (iv) the possible non-cholinergic function of different forms of ChEs.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research in Tsim's laboratory was supported by grants from the Research Grants Council of Hong Kong (662407, 660409, 662911, F-HK21/06T) and the Croucher Foundation (CAS-CF07/08.SC03). The authors are grateful to Drs. Jean Massoulié and Suzanne Bon from Institut de Biologie de l'Ecole Normale Supérieure, Paris, France for their advices during the study.

of chicken brain. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 27265–27278.

- Chen, V. P., Xie, H. Q., Leung, K. W., Choi, R. C., and Tsim, K. W. (2009). "The molecular assembly of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase: the formation of PRiMA-linked G4 hybrid," in Joint Scientific Meeting of the 27th Hong Kong Society of Neurosciences and the 6th Biophysical Society of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, 144.
- Choi, R. C., Ting, A. K., Lau, F. T., Xie, H. Q., Leung, K. W., Chen, V. P., Siow, N. L., and Tsim, K. W. (2007). Calcitonin gene-related peptide induces the expression of acetylcholinesterase-associated collagen ColQ in muscle: a distinction in driving two different promoters between fast- and slow-twitch muscle fibers. J. Neurochem. 102, 1316–1328.
- Crne-Finderle, N., Pregelj, P., and Sketelj, J. (2005). Junctional and extrajunctional acetylcholinesterase in skeletal muscle fibers. *Chem. Biol. Interact*, 157–158, 23–27
- Deprez, P., Inestrosa, N. C., and Krejci, E. (2003). Two different heparin-binding domains in the triple-helical domain of ColQ, the collagen tail subunit of synaptic

acetylcholinesterase. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 23233–23242.

- Duval, N., Krejci, E., Grassi, J., Coussen, F., Massoulié, J., and Bon, S. (1992). Molecular architecture of acetylcholinesterase collagen-tailed forms; construction of a glycolipid-tailed tetramer. *EMBO J.* 11, 3255–3261.
- Duysen, E. G., Li, B., Xie, W., Schopfer, L. M., Anderson, R. S., Broomfield, C. A., and Lockridge, O. (2001). Evidence for nonacetylcholinesterase targets of organophosphorus nerve agent: supersensitivity of acetylcholinesterase knockout mouse to VX lethality. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 299, 528–535.
- Dvir, H., Harel, M., Bon, S., Liu, W. Q., Vidal, M., Garbay, C., Sussman, J. L., Massoulié, J., and Silman, I. (2004). The synaptic acetylcholinesterase tetramer assembles around a polyproline II helix. *EMBO* J. 23, 4394–4405.
- Emre, M., Aarsland, D., Albanese, A., Byrne, E. J., Deuschl, G., De Deyn, P. P., Durif, F., Kulisevsky, J., van Laar, T., Lees, A., Poewe, W., Robillard, A., Rosa, M. M., Wolters, E., Quarg, P., Tekin, S., and Lane, R. (2004). Rivastigmine for dementia associated with Parkinson's disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 351, 2509–2518.

- Falasca, C., Perrier, N., Massoulié, J., and Bon, S. (2005). Determinants of the t peptide involved in folding, degradation, and secretion of acetylcholinesterase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 878–886.
- Feng, G., Krejci, E., Molgo, J., Cunningham, J. M., Massoulié, J., and Sanes, J. R. (1999). Genetic analysis of collagen Q: roles in acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase assembly and in synaptic structure and function. *J. Cell Biol.* 144, 1349–1360.
- Feyereisen, R. (1995). Molecular biology of insecticide resistance. *Toxicol. Lett.* 82–83, 83–90.
- García-Ayllón, M. S., Sáez-Valero, J., Muñoz-Delgado, E., and Vidal, C. J. (2001). Identification of hybrid cholinesterase forms consisting of acetyl- and butyrylcholinesterase subunits in human glioma. *Neuro-science* 107, 199–208.
- Giacobini, E. (2000). Cholinesterase inhibitors stabilize Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem. Res.* 25, 1185–1190.
- Hutchinson, M., and Fazzini, E. (1996). Cholinesterase inhibition in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 61, 324–325.
- Inestrosa, N. C., Moreno, R. D., and Fuentes, M. E. (1994). Monomeric amphiphilic forms of acetylcholinesterase appear early during brain development and may correspond to biosynthetic precursors of the amphiphilic G4 forms. *Neurosci. Lett.* 173, 155–158.
- Kaufer, D., Friedman, A., Seidman, S., and Soreq, H. (1998). Acute stress facilitates long-lasting changes in cholinergic gene expression. *Nature* 393, 373–377.
- Kolarich, D., Weber, A., Pabst, M., Stadlmann, J., Teschner, W., Ehrlich, H., Schwarz, H. P., and Altmann, F. (2008). Glycoproteomic characterization of butyrylcholinesterase from human plasma. *Proteomics* 8, 254–263.
- Krejci, E., Coussen, F., Duval, N., Chatel, J. M., Legay, C., Puype, M., Vandekerckhove, J., Cartaud, J., Bon, S., and Massoulié, J. (1991). Primary structure of a collagenic tail peptide of *Torpedo* acetylcholinesterase: co-expression with catalytic subunit induces the production of collagentailed forms in transfected cells. *EMBO J.* 10, 1285–1293.
- Krejci, E., Legay, C., Thomine, S., Sketelj, J., and Massoulie, J. (1999). Differences in expression of acetylcholinesterase and collagen Q control the distribution and oligomerization of the collagen-tailed forms in fast and slow muscles. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 10672–10679.

- Krejci, E., Thomine, S., Boschetti, N., Legay, C., Sketelj, J., and Massoulié, J. (1997). The mammalian gene of acetylcholinesteraseassociated collagen. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 22840–22847.
- Lau, F. T., Choi, R. C., Xie, H. Q., Leung, K. W., Chen, V. P., Zhu, J. T., Bi, C. W., Chu, G. K., and Tsim, K. W. (2008). Myocyte enhancer factor 2 mediates acetylcholine-induced expression of acetylcholinesteraseassociated collagen ColQ in cultured myotubes. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 39, 429–438.
- Lee, H. H., Choi, R. C., Ting, A. K., Siow, N. L., Jiang, J. X., Massoulié, J., and Tsim, K. W. (2004). Transcriptional regulation of acetylcholinesterase-associated collagen ColQ. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 27098–27107.
- Legay, C., Huchet, M., Massoulié, J., and Changeux, J. (1995). Developmental regulation of acetylcholinesterase transcripts in the mouse diaphragm: alternative splicing and focalization. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 7, 1803–1809.
- Leung, K. W., Xie, H. Q., Chen, V. P., Mok, M. K., Chu, G. K., Choi, R. C., and Tsim, K. W. (2009). Restricted localization of proline-rich membrane anchor (PRiMA) of globular form acetylcholinesterase at the neuromuscular junctions – contribution and expression from motor neurons. *FEBS J.* 276, 3031–3042.
- Li, Y., Camp, S., Rachinsky, T. L., Getman, D., and Taylor, P. (1991). Gene structure of mammalian acetylcholinesterase. Alternative exons dictate tissue-specific expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* 266, 23083–23090.
- Liang, D., Blouet, J. P., Borrega, F., Bon, S., and Massoulié, J. (2009). Respective roles of the catalytic domains and C-terminal tail peptides in the oligomerization and secretory trafficking of human acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase. *FEBS J.* 276, 94–108.
- Liao, J., Heider, H., Sun, M. C., and Brodbeck, U. (1992). Different glycosylation in acetylcholinesterases from mammalian brain and erythrocytes. J. Neurochem. 58, 1230–1238.
- Lockridge, O., Bartels, C. F., Vaughan, T. A., Wong, C. K., Norton, S. E., and Johnson, L. L. (1987). Complete amino acid sequence of human serum cholinesterase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 262, 549–557.
- Massoulié, J. (2002). The origin of the molecular diversity and functional anchoring of cholinesterases. *Neurosignals* 11, 130–143.
- Massoulié, J., Bon, S., Perrier, N., and Falasca, C. (2005). The C-terminal

peptides of acetylcholinesterase: cellular trafficking, oligomerization and functional anchoring. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 157–158, 3–14.

- Massoulié, J., Pezzementi, L., Bon, S., Krejci, E., and Vallette, F. M. (1993). Molecular and cellular biology of cholinesterases. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 41, 31–91.
- Mehndiratta, M. M., Pandey, S., and Kuntzer, T. (2011). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitor treatment for myasthenia gravis. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 2, CD006986.
- Mendel, B., and Rudney, H. (1943). Studies on cholinesterase: 1. Cholinesterase and pseudocholinesterase. *Biochem. J.* 37, 59–63.
- Mimori, Y., Nakamura, S., and Yukawa, M. (1997). Abnormalities of acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease with special reference to effect of acetylcholinesterase inhibitor. *Behav. Brain Res.* 83, 25–30.
- Morel, N., Leroy, J., Ayon, A., Massoulié, J., and Bon, S. (2001). Acetylcholinesterase H and T dimers are associated through the same contact. Mutations at this interface interfere with the C-terminal T peptide, inducing degradation rather than secretion. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 37379–37389.
- Noureddine, H., Schmitt, C., Liu, W., Garbay, C., Massoulié, J., and Bon, S. (2007). Assembly of acetylcholinesterase tetramers by peptidic motifs from the proline-rich membrane anchor, PRiMA: competition between degradation and secretion pathways of heteromeric complexes. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 3487–3497.
- Ohno, K., Brengman, J., Tsujino, A., and Engel, A. G. (1998). Human endplate acetylcholinesterase deficiency caused by mutations in the collagen-like tail subunit (ColQ) of the asymmetric enzyme. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 9654–9659.
- Perrier, A. L., Massoulié, J., and Krejci, E. (2002). PRiMA: the membrane anchor of acetylcholinesterase in the brain. *Neuron* 33, 275–285.
- Perrier, N. A., Khérif, S., Perrier, A. L., Dumas, S., Mallet, J., and Massoulié, J. (2003). Expression of PRiMA in the mouse brain: membrane anchoring and accumulation of "tailed" acetylcholinesterase. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 18, 1837–1847.
- Perrier, N. A., Salani, M., Falasca, C., Bon, S., Augusti-Tocco, G., and Massoulié, J. (2005). The readthrough variant of acetylcholinesterase remains very minor after heat shock,

organophosphate inhibition and stress, in cell culture and in vivo. *J. Neurochem.* 94, 629–638.

- Rotundo, R. L. (1984). Asymmetric acetylcholinesterase is assembled in the Golgi apparatus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 81, 479–483.
- Rotundo, R. L. (1988). Biogenesis of acetylcholinesterase molecular forms in muscle. Evidence for a rapidly turning over, catalytically inactive precursor pool. *J. Biol. Chem.* 263, 19398–19406.
- Rotundo, R. L., Thomas, K., Porter-Jordan, K., Benson, R. J., Fernandez-Valle, C., and Fine, R. E. (1989). Intracellular transport, sorting, and turnover of acetylcholinesterase. Evidence for an endoglycosidase H-sensitive form in Golgi apparatus, sarcoplasmic reticulum, and clathrin-coated vesicles and its rapid degradation by a non-lysosomal mechanism. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 3146–3152.
- Ruiz, C. A., and Rotundo, R. L. (2009a). Dissociation of transcription, translation, and assembly of collagen tailed acetylcholinesterase in skeletal muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 21488–21495.
- Ruiz, C. A., and Rotundo, R. L. (2009b). Limiting role of protein disulfide isomerase in the expression of collagen-tailed acetylcholinesterase forms in muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 31753–31763.
- Sáez-Valero, J., Barquero, M. S., Marcos, A., McLean, C. A., and Small, D. H. (2000). Altered glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase in lumbar cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 69, 664–667.
- Sáez-Valero, J., Sberna, G., McLean, C. A., and Small, D. H. (1999). Molecular isoform distribution and glycosylation of acetylcholinesterase are altered in brain and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 72, 1600–1608.
- Sketelj, J., and Brzin, M. (1985). Asymmetric molecular forms of acetylcholinesterase in mammalian skeletal muscles. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 14, 95–103.
- Soreq, H., Ben-Aziz, R., Prody, C. A., Seidman, S., Gnatt, A., Neville, L., Lieman-Hurwitz, J., Lev-Lehman, E., Ginzberg, D., Lipidot-Lifson, Y., and Zakut, H. (1990). Molecular cloning and construction of the coding region for human acetylcholinesterase reveals a G+C-rich attenuating structure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 9688–9692.

- Stone, J. G., Casadesus, G., Gustaw-Rothenberg, K., Siedlak, S. L., Wang, X., Zhu, X., Perry, G., Castellani, R. J., and Smith, M. A. (2011). Frontiers in Alzheimer's disease therapeutics. *Ther. Adv. Chronic Dis.* 2, 9–23.
- Sussman, J. L., Harel, M., Frolow, F., Oefner, C., Goldman, A., Toker, L., and Silman, I. (1991). Atomic structure of acetylcholinesterase from *Torpedo californica*: a prototypic acetylcholine-binding protein. *Science* 253, 872–879.
- Tsim, K. W., Randall, W. R., and Barnard, E. A. (1988a). An asymmetric form of muscle acetylcholinesterase contains three subunit types and two enzymic activities in one molecule. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 85, 1262–1266.
- Tsim, K. W., Randall, W. R., and Barnard, E. A. (1988b). Synaptic acetylcholinesterase of chicken muscle changes during development from a hybrid to a homogeneous enzyme. *EMBO J.* 7, 2451–2456.

- Velan, B., Kronman, C., Ordentlich, A., Flashner, Y., Leitner, M., Cohen, S., and Shafferman, A. (1993). N-glycosylation of human acetylcholinesterase: effects on activity, stability and biosynthesis. *Biochem.* J. 296, 649–656.
- Xie, H. Q., Choi, R. C., Leung, K. W., Chen, V. P., Chu, G. K., and Tsim, K. W. (2009). Transcriptional regulation of proline-rich membrane anchor (PRiMA) of globular form acetylcholinesterase in neuron: an inductive effect of neuron differentiation. *Brain Res.* 1265, 13–23.
- Xie, H. Q., Choi, R. C., Leung, K. W., Siow, N. L., Kong, L. W., Lau, F. T., Peng, H. B., and Tsim, K. W. (2007). Regulation of a transcript encoding the proline-rich membrane anchor of globular muscle acetylcholinesterase. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 11765–11775.
- Xie, H. Q., Liang, D., Leung, K. W., Chen, V. P., Zhu, K. Y., Chan, W. K., Choi, R. C., Massoulié, J., and Tsim, K. W. (2010a). Targeting

acetylcholinesterase to membrane rafts: a function mediated by the proline-rich membrane anchor (PRiMA) in neurons. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 11537–11546.

- Xie, H. Q., Leung, K. W., Chen, V. P., Chan, G. K., Xu, S. L., Guo, A. J., Zhu, K. Y., Zheng, K. Y., Bi, C. W., Zhan, J. Y., Chan, W. K., Choi, R. C., and Tsim, K. W. (2010b). PRiMA directs a restricted localization of tetrameric AChE at synapses. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 187, 78–83.
- Xie, W., Stribley, J. A., Chatonnet, A., Wilder, P. J., Rizzino, A., McComb, R. D., Taylor, P., Hinrichs, S. H., and Lockridge, O. (2000). Postnatal developmental delay and supersensitivity to organophosphate in gene-targeted mice lacking acetylcholinesterase. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 293, 896–902.
- Zakut, H., Even, L., Birkenfeld, S., Malinger, G., Zisling, R., and Soreq, H. (1988). Modified properties of serum cholinesterases in primary carcinomas. *Cancer* 61, 727–737.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 July 2011; accepted: 10 October 2011; published online: 25 October 2011.

Citation: Chen VP, Luk WKW, Chan WKB, Leung KW, Guo AJY, Chan GKL, Xu SL, Choi RCY and Tsim KWK (2011) Molecular assembly and biosynthesis of acetylcholinesterase in brain and muscle: the roles of t-peptide, FHB domain, and N-linked glycosylation. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 4:36. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011.00036

Copyright © 2011 Chen, Luk, Chan, Leung, Guo, Chan, Xu, Choi and Tsim. This is an open-access article subject to a non-exclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.



Acetylcholinesterase involvement in apoptosis

Xue-Jun Zhang¹* and David S. Greenberg²

¹ State Key Laboratory of Cell Biology, Institute of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shanghai, China

² Edmond and Lily Safra Center of Brain Sciences, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel

Edited by:

Hermona Soreq, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel

Reviewed by:

Eran Meshorer, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel Deborah Toiber, Harvard Medical School, USA Adi Gilboa-Geffen, Harvard Medical School, USA

*Correspondence:

Xue-Jun Zhang, Institute of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences, 320 YueYang Road, Shanghai 200031, China. e-mail: xjzhang@sibs.ac.cn To date, more than 40 different types of cells from primary cultures or cell lines have shown AChE expression during apoptosis and after the induction apoptosis by different stimuli. It has been well-established that increased AChE expression or activity is detected in apoptotic cells after apoptotic stimuli in vitro and in vivo, and AChE could be therefore used as a marker of apoptosis. AChE is not an apoptosis initiator, but the cells in which AChE is overexpressed undergo apoptosis more easily than controls. Interestingly, cells with downregulated levels of AChE are not sensitive to apoptosis induction and AChE deficiency can protect against apoptosis. Some tumor cells do not express AChE, but when AChE is introduced into a tumor cell, the cells cease to proliferate and undergo apoptosis more readily. Therefore, AChE can be classified as a tumor suppressor gene. AChE plays a pivotal role in apoptosome formation, and silencing of the AChE gene prevents caspase-9 activation, with consequent decreased cell viability, nuclear condensation, and poly (adenosine diphosphate-ribose) polymerase cleavage. AChE is translocated into the nucleus, which may be an important event during apoptosis. Several questions still need to be addressed, and further studies that address the non-classical function of AChE in apoptosis are needed.

Keywords: acetylcholinesterase, apoptosis, tumor

The human gene that encodes acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is located on chromosome 7q22 (Ehrlich et al., 1992; Getman et al., 1992). Acetylcholinesterase is a type B carboxylesterase that rapidly hydrolyzes the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh) at cholinergic synapses, as well as at neuromuscular junctions (Grisaru et al., 1999; Sperling et al., 2008). Additional splice variants involving both the 5' and 3' ends of the gene have also been reported. Among these splice variants are three distinct AChE variants, each with a different carboxyterminal sequence, called the "synaptic" (S), "erythrocytic" (E), and "readthrough" (R) AChE isoforms (Soreq and Seidman, 2001; Meshorer and Soreq, 2006). "Synaptic" AChE-S constitutes the principal multimeric enzyme in brain and muscle; soluble, monomeric "readthrough" AChE-R has been reported in embryonic and tumor cells and is induced under psychological, chemical, and physical stress; and finally, glypiated dimers of erythrocytic AChE-E are associated with red blood cell membranes (Grisaru et al., 1999). In addition to its catalytic function of the hydrolysis of acetylcholine, AChE has been shown to be involved in many non-cholinergic functions, such as cell growth, stem cell differentiation (Sperling et al., 2008), neuritogenesis, cell adhesion (Paraoanu and Layer, 2008), synaptogenesis, activation of dopamine neurons, tumorigenesis, amyloid fiber assembly

(Inestrosa et al., 1996; Alvarez et al., 1997), hematopoiesis, and thrombopoiesis (Greenfield, 1996; Layer, 1996; Small et al., 1996; Soreq and Seidman, 2001). Almost a decade ago, work by our group revealed that AChE-S expression can be induced during apoptosis in various cell types, including cells that did not originate from the nervous or hematopoietic system (Zhang et al., 2002). It has also been shown that AChE exerts its pivotal role in apoptosis by its participation in the formation of the apoptosome (Park et al., 2004). In this review we will summarize the functional evidence for the role of AChE during apoptosis, despite the fact that our understanding of the apoptotic role of AChE is still not complete.

AChE LEVELS ARE INCREASED IN APOPTOTIC CELLS AFTER APOPTOTIC STIMULI BOTH *IN VITRO* AND *IN VIVO*

AChE is expressed in cholinergic neurons, neuromuscular junctions, hematopoietic cells, including erythrocytes (Grisaru et al., 1999) and megakaryocytes (Paulus et al., 1981; Tranumjensen and Behnke, 1981), as well tissues that are not innervated by cholinergic neurons (Small et al., 1996). There is mounting evidence, however, that AChE expression is induced during apoptosis in a variety of other cell types (Zhang et al., 2002). Human lung fibroblast (HLF) cells and rat kidney (NRK) cells do not normally express AChE, but have been shown to express high levels of AChE when undergoing apoptosis or when moving from an inactive to an active state (Zhang et al., 2002; Jin et al., 2004). In general, cells that normally express low levels of AChE, such as PC-12, showed increased levels of AChE and AChE activity whilst undergoing apoptosis (Yang et al., 2002; Jing et al., 2008). Steinritz et al. (2007) reported that

Abbreviations: AChE, acetylcholinesterase; AChE-E, erythrocytic acetylcholinesterase; AChE-S, synaptic acetylcholinesterase; AChE-R, readthrough acetylcholinesterase; AML, acute myeloid leukemia; BuChE, butyrylcholinesterase; HCC, human colorectal carcinoma; Icv, intracerebroventricular; RA, refractory anemia; TGF-β, transforming growth factor-beta; TGF-α, transforming growth factor-alpha; TgS mice, transgenic mice overexpressing AChE-S.

increased AChE activity was found in sulfur mustard (SM)-treated A549 cell culture, as determined by Ellman assay and Western blotting. Interestingly, AChE activity showed a strong correlation with the number of TUNEL-positive cells. Furthermore, AChE activity may be a potential marker of apoptosis in A549 cells after SM injury (Steinritz et al., 2007). Other diseases with a possible apoptotic role in disease pathogenesis such as Alzheimer's disease and diabetes also show cholinesterase involvement. Allam et al. observed that butyrylcholinesterase and AChE-related proteins were found to be common to both Alzheimer's disease and diabetes; these proteins may play an etiological role via their influence on insulin resistance and lipid metabolism (Allam et al., 2006). Toiber et al. (2008) showed that in transfected primary brain cultures, an alternative N terminal extended transcript of AChE (N-AChE-S) induced cell death, morphological impairments and caspase-3 activation. In addition in cortical tissues from AD patients, N-AChE-S overexpression coincides with Tau hyper-phosphorylation. In other pathologies, Hu et al. (2009) showed increased expression levels of AChE and caspase-3 in the brain and peripheral immune system of focal cerebral ischemic rats. Xiao et al. (2006) utilized AChE with Bax, c-fos, and p53 genes as markers of apoptosis. Huang et al. (2005) have developed a novel assay that utilizes fluorochrome-tagged physostigmine (Ph-F) in situ to detect active AChE that has been induced during apoptosis. Cells that show an increase in AChE activity during apoptosis are summarized in Table 1.

CELL SENSITIVITY TO APOPTOSIS IS RELATED TO ACHE EXPRESSION LEVELS

AChE is not a universal activators of apoptosis as it has been wellestablished that cholinergic neurons and neuromuscular junctions that express AChE do not initiate apoptosis under normal conditions without an apoptotic stimulus. However, AChE-positive cells, such as PC-12 (Yang et al., 2002; Jing et al., 2008) as well as neurons have been shown to respond more sensitively to apoptotic stimuli than AChE-negative cells (Jin et al., 2002, 2004). To investigate this, a stable cell line that overexpressed AChE was established from NRK cells. Overexpression of AChE was shown to inhibit cell proliferation and promote apoptosis in these cells. Transgenic mice which overexpress catalytically active AChE-S and have a higher levels of AChE hydrolytic activity than control mice, show increased levels of cell labeling by both bromodeoxyuridine and caspase-3; which reflects increased neural apoptosis (Cohen et al., 2008) though these transgenic mice also showed increased neuronal survival through an as yet unidentified compensatory mechanism. AChE was also shown to suppress cell proliferation via catalytic hydrolysis of acetylcholine in human colorectal carcinoma (HCC) (Montenegro et al., 2006).

Zhang et al. (2002) showed that the downregulation of AChE expression with antisense inhibited apoptosis, and they suggest that AChE is potentially a marker and a regulator of apoptosis. Park et al. (2004) explored the role of AChE in apoptosis by silencing the *AChE* gene. Silencing of *AChE* abolished the expression of AChE and prevented caspase-9 activation, decreased cell viability, nuclear condensation, and poly(adenosine diphosphateribose) polymerase cleavage. Animal models of degenerative

diseases were found to be more easily established in AChE^{+/+} mice than $AChE^{+/-}$ mice. Espallergues et al. (2010) showed that the intracerebroventricular injection of amyloid-beta (25-35) failed to induce learning deficits in AChE^{+/-} mice, but impaired learning in AChE^{+/+} controls. The peptide showed reduced toxicity in the forebrain structures of AChE^{+/-} mice, as an increase in lipid peroxidation levels was measured in the hippocampus of AChE^{+/+} but not AChE^{+/-} mice. They concluded that the increase in cholinergic tonus observed in AChE^{+/-} mice did not result in increased memory functions but allowed a significant prevention of the deleterious effects of muscarinic blockade or amyloid toxicity. Ye et al. (2010) recently reported that AChE is expressed during ischemia-reperfusion (I/R)-induced apoptosis in vivo. Their study demonstrated that AChE may be a pro-apoptotic factor and that the inhibition of AChE reduces the degree of renal I/R injury.

AChE AND TUMOR SUPPRESSION

Papers reporting the presence of AChE in tumors have first been reported almost 40 years ago (Gearhart and Mintz, 1974). The exact role of AChE in oncogenesis or tumor progression is still unclear and beyond the scope of this review. However a number of studies (Gearhart and Mintz, 1974; Takahashi et al., 1995; Johnson and Cotter, 1997) have shown an genetic alterations in the long arm of chromosome 7 the genetic locus of the AChE gene, in several tumors. Furthermore, the agricultural use of AChE inhibitors is known to induce several types of tumors (Dich et al., 1997; Cabello et al., 2001; Abou-Donia, 2003). Stephenson et al. (1996) investigated gene copy-number alterations at these genes in myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and acute myeloid leukemia (AML). These data raise the intriguing possibility that the proaptotic role of AChE could play a role in tumor suppressor. (Stephenson et al., 1996).

Cholinesterases are downregulated in HCC (Montenegro et al., 2006), squamous cell carcinoma, and retinoblastoma (Qavi and Al-Rajhi, 2009). Zhao et al. (2011) demonstrated that AChE was significantly downregulated in the cancer tissues of 69.2% of HCC patients, and the low level of AChE expression in HCC was correlated with tumor aggressiveness, the elevated risk of postoperative recurrence, and a low survival rate. Both the recombinant AChE protein and the enhanced expression of AChE significantly inhibited HCC cell growth in vitro and tumorigenicity in vivo. The studies describe the function of AChE as a tumor growth suppressor that acts in the regulation of cell proliferation, relevant signaling pathways, and the chemosensitivity of HCC cells. AChE is a promising independent prognostic predictor for HCC recurrence and the survival of HCC patients (Montenegro et al., 2006). AChE-R was shown to increases germ cell apoptosis (Mor et al., 2008).

LOCALIZATION OF ACHE TO THE CELL NUCLEUS AND APOPTOTIC BODIES MAY PLAY A ROLE IN APOPTOSIS INDUCTION

Zhang et al. (2002) have shown by cytochemical staining and immunohistochemistry that the presence of AChE is not homogeneous in either the cytoplasm or in the nucleus. To establish whether this heterogeneity is due to the stage of Table 1 | Summarized cell lines in which AChE expression or activity were increased by the apoptotic stimuli with various apoptotic inducers.

Cell type	Apoptotic inducer	Increase of AChE expression or activity	Reference	
A549	Sulfur mustard	Yes	Steinritz et al. (2007)	
Animal brain	HBP hypobaric hypoxia (HBH)	Yes	Muthuraju et al. (2009)	
Brain tissue of rats	Ischemia	Yes	Hu et al. (2009)	
BRL	Detachment	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
C57BL/6J beta cells		Yes		
	Streptozotocin		Zhang et al. (2002)	
Dami	TGFβ	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
EC prim. bovine endothelial cell	TGFβ	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
EC prim. swine endothelial cell	Detachment	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
HEK293T	H_2O_2 , cisplatin	Yes	Zhang et al. (2008), Gong et al. (2009)	
HEL	Huangqi (Hex)	Yes	Cheng et al. (2004)	
HeLa	A23187, thapsigargin, topotecan, $H_2O_2,$ $TNF\alpha + CHX$	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002), Huang et al. (2005) Gao et al. (2009), Zhu et al. (2007a,b,c)	
HFL1	Aging	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
HL-60	Topotecan, H ₂ O ₂ , Daunorubicin	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002), Huang et al. (2005)	
HLF	Aging	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002), Jin et al. (2002)	
HOS	TGFβ	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
HT-29	Etoposide	Yes	Park et al. (2004, 2008)	
HUVEC	Serum-starved medium	Yes	Xie et al. (2011)	
IL-3-deprived (murine) bone marrow derived mast cells	A nitric oxide donor	Yes	Park et al. (2008)	
Jarkat Cell	Topotecan, H_2O_2	Yes	Huang et al. (2005)	
K562	Huangqi (Hex)	Yes	Cheng et al. (2004)	
Lymphocytes	Post partum	Yes	Pick et al. (2004)	
M07e	Minus GM-CSF	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
Malme-3M	Etoposide	Yes	Park et al. (2008)	
MDA-MB-435s	A23187, thapsigargin	Yes	Zhu et al. (2007c)	
Meg-01	TGFβ	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
Mouse hippocampal granule cells	Tgs	Yes	Cohen et al. (2008)	
from Tgs mice				
Myoblast	Staurosporine	AChE-R	Pegan et al. (2010)	
NIH/3T3	Detachment	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
MIN6 cells	Streptozotocin	Yes	Zhang et al. (2012)	
NRK	G418	Yes	Jin et al. (2004)	
Osteoblast	Long-term culture	Yes	Gu et al. (2002)	
PC-12	H ₂ O ₂ , A23187, thapsigargin	Yes	Jing et al. (2008), Jiang et al. (2007)	
PC-3	ΤGFβ	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
Primary cortical neuron	Sodium selenite	Yes	Xiao et al. (2006)	
Primary cultured rat articular chondrocytes	Infected with 100 MOI adenoviral TRAIL	Yes	Park et al. (2008)	
Rat kidney	Ischemia/reperfusion	Yes	Ye et al. (2010)	
Rat smooth muscle	TGF-β	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	
Raw264.7	SIN-1, a nitric oxide donor	Yes	Park et al. (2008)	
Retinal	Light-induced retinal damage	Yes	Kehat et al. (2007)	
SH-SY5Y	Tertiary butylhydroperoxide	N-AChE	Kehat et al. (2007)	
SK-MEL-5	Etoposide	Yes	Park et al. (2008)	
SK-N-SH	$TNF\alpha + CHX$	Yes	Zhang et al. (2002)	

(Continued)

Table 1 | Continued

Cell type	Apoptotic inducer	Increase of AChE expression or activity	Reference /
SW620 cells	Etoposide, excisanin A	Yes	Deng et al. (2006)
571	Etoposide	Yes	Park et al. (2008)
3MG	Etoposide	Yes	Park et al. (2008)

HUVEC, human umbilical vein endothelial cells.

apoptosis induction, the authors examined the time course of AChE expression in the leukemic Meg-01 cell line after treatment with transforming growth factor (TGF)-β. Cytochemical staining showed AChE initially appears in the cytosol and afterward in the nucleus. AChE-positive staining follows the nuclear morphological changes such as condensation and fragmentation. Eventually, when the cell membrane ruptures, AChE is released. They also examined the expression of AChE by transmission electron microscopy. At 2 h after TGF-β treatment, AChE was observed only in the cytosol but by 4 h had moved entirely to the nucleus. Therefore, during the induction of apoptosis, AChE is first synthesized in the cytosol and then accumulates in the nucleus. In general AChE is present in the nucleus at the mid- and late-stages of apoptosis (Yang et al., 2002; Jin et al., 2004; Xie et al., 2011). Santos et al. (2007) initially investigated the expression and subcellular localization of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) in endothelial cells and showed the expression of a 70-kDa AChE in both the cytoplasmic and nuclear compartments. The levels of this novel isoform are decreased in response to vascular endothelial growth factor via the proteasome pathway. They found that AChE was downregulated in human leukemic T cells compared with normal T cells, which suggested that the decreased expression of the 55-kDa AChE protein may contribute to an angiogenic response and be associated with tumorigenesis. Importantly, nuclear expression is not specific to endothelial cells, but is also present in non-neuronal and neuronal cells. Xie et al. (2011) showed that the 55-kDa AChE protein was induced during apoptosis and was negatively regulated by the Akt pathway. PC-12 express AChE at basal levels in normal cells, but a 55-kDa AChE protein can be found during the progression of apoptosis. This 55 kDa AChE protein was temporally expressed after the activation of caspases and was caspase-dependent. The inhibition of protein synthesis with CHX indicated that the 55kDa AChE protein resulted from the cleavage of the 68-kDa AChE

REFERENCES

- Abou-Donia, M. B. (2003). Organophosphorus ester-induced chronic neurotoxicity. Arch. Environ. Health 58, 484–497.
- Allam, A. R., Sridhar, G. R., Thota, H., Suresh Babu, C., Siva Prasad, A., and Divakar, C. (2006). Alzheimer's disease and Type 2 diabetes mellitus: the cholinesterase connection? *Lipids Health Dis.* 5, 28.
- Alvarez, A., Opazo, C., Alarcón, R., Garrido, J., and Inestrosa, N. C. (1997). Acetylcholinesterase promotes the aggregation of

amyloid-beta-peptide fragments by forming a complex with the growing fibrils. *J. Mol. Biol.* 272, 348–361.

- Cabello, G., Valenzuela, M., Vilaxa, A., Durán, V., Rudolph, I., Hrepic, N., and Calaf, G. (2001). A rat mammary tumor model induced by the organophosphorous pesticides parathion and malathion, possibly through acetylcholinesterase inhibition. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 109, 471–479.
- Cheng, X. D., Hou, C. H., Zhang, X. J., Xie, H. Y., Zhou, W. Y., Yang,

(Xie et al., 2011). There are still questions regarding AChE that need to be addressed, including its function when it enters the nucleus. Furthermore, whether AChE entry into the nucleus is an active or passive event, how is it transported and what is the signal that allows it to enter the nucleus are all questions which still need to be resolved.

ACHE COULD PLAYS A PIVOTAL ROLE IN THE FORMATION OF APOPTOSOMES

The role of AChE in apoptosis is a key question in this field. Park et al. (2004) showed that silencing of the AChE gene inhibited the interaction between Apaf-1 and cytochrome c. They concluded that AChE plays an important role in apoptosome formation. Their data showed that an antisense AChE oligonucleotide showed a similar effect by silencing the AChE gene. Small interfering RNA (siRNA) against the cytochrome c gene blocked the interaction of AChE with Apaf-1, whereas siRNA targeting the Apaf-1 gene did not block the interaction of AChE with cytochrome c. These findings indicated that the interaction of AChE with cytochrome c is required for the interaction between cytochrome c and protease-activating factor-1. Park et al. (2008) also showed that the interactions of AChE with caveolin-1 and, subsequently with cytochrome *c*, appear to be indispensable for the formation of apoptosomes. To date, however, these findings have only been shown in one study and more evidence is required to confirm how AChE participates in the formation of the apoptosome.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author is grateful to Hermona Soreq, Jerusalem, for critical evaluation of this manuscript. This work was supported in part by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 30971481 and 31071213).

- L., Zhang, S. B., and Qian, R. L. (2004). Effects of Huangqi (Hex) on inducing cell differentiation and cell death in K562 and HEL cells. *Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. (Shanghai)* 36, 211–217.
- Cohen, J. E., Zimmerman, G., Melamed-Book, N., Friedman, A., Dori, A., and Soreq, H. (2008). Transgenic inactivation of acetylcholinesterase impairs homeostasis in mouse hippocampal granule cells. *Hippocampus* 18, 182–192.
- Deng, R., Li, W., Guan, Z., Zhou, J. M., Wang, Y., Mei, Y. P., Li,

M. T., Feng, G. K., Huang, W., Liu, Z. C., Han, Y., Zeng, Y. X., and Zhu, X. F. (2006). Acetylcholinesterase expression mediated by c-Jun-NH2-terminal kinase pathway during anticancer drug-induced apoptosis. *Oncogene* 25, 7070–7077.

- Dich, J., Zahm, S. H., Hanberg, A., and Adami, H. O. (1997). Pesticides and cancer. *Cancer Causes Control* 8, 420–443.
- Ehrlich, G., Viegas-Pequignot, E., Ginzberg, D., Sindel, L., Soreq, H., and Zakut, H. (1992). Mapping the human acetylcholinesterase gene to

chromosome-7Q22 by fluorescent in situ hybridization coupled with selective PCR amplification from a somatic hybrid cell panel and chromosome-sorted DNA libraries. *Genomics* 13, 1192–1197.

- Espallergues, J., Galvan, L., Sabatier, F., Rana-Poussine, V., Maurice, T., and Chatonnet, A. (2010). Behavioral phenotyping of heterozygous acetylcholinesterase knockout (AChE(+/-)) mice showed no memory enhancement but hyposensitivity to amnesic drugs. *Behav. Brain Res.* 206, 263–273.
- Gao, W., Zhu, H., Zhang, J. Y., and Zhang, X. J. (2009). Calcium signaling-induced Smad3 nuclear accumulation induces acetylcholinesterase transcription in apoptotic HeLa cells. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 66, 2181–2193.
- Gearhart, J. D., and Mintz, B. (1974). Contact-mediated myogenesis and increased acetylcholinesterase activity in primary cultures of mouse terato-carcinoma cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 71, 1734–1738.
- Getman, D. K., Eubanks, J. H., Camp, S., Evans, G. A., and Taylor, P. (1992). The human gene encoding acetylcholinesterase is located on the long arm of chromosome-7. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 51, 170–177.
- Gong, X. W., Ye, W., Zhou, H., Ren, X., Li, Z., Zhou, W., Wu, J., Gong, Y., Ouyang, Q., Zhao, X., and Zhang, X. (2009). RanBPM is an acetylcholinesterase-interacting protein that translocates into the nucleus during apoptosis. *Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. (Shanghai)* 41, 883–891.
- Greenfield, S. (1996). Non-classical actions of cholinesterases: role in cellular differentiation, tumorigenesis and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem. Int.* 28, 485–490.
- Grisaru, D., Sternfeld, M., Eldor, A., Glick, D., and Soreq, H. (1999). Structural roles of acetylcholinesterase variants in biology and pathology. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 264, 672–686.
- Gu, Q., Zhu, H. M., and Zhang, X. J. (2002). Apoptosis of rat osteoblasts in process of calcification in vitro. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 23, 808–812.
- Hu, T., Fu, Q., Liu, X., Zhang, H., and Dong, M. (2009). Increased acetylcholinesterase and caspase-3 expression in the brain and peripheral immune system of focal cerebral ischemic rats. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 211, 84–91.
- Huang, X., Lee, B., Johnson, G., Naleway, J., Guzikowski, A., Dai, W.,

and Darzynkiewicz, Z. (2005). Novel assay utilizing fluorochrome-tagged physostigmine (Ph-F) to in situ detect active acetylcholinesterase (AChE) induced during apoptosis. *Cell Cycle* 4, 140–147.

- Inestrosa, N. C., Alvarez, A., Pérez, C. A., Moreno, R. D., Vicente, M., Linker, C., Casanueva, O. I., Soto, C., and Garrido, J. (1996). Acetylcholinesterase accelerates assembly of amyloid-beta-peptides into Alzheimer's fibrils: possible role of the peripheral site of the enzyme. *Neuron* 16, 881–891.
- Jiang, H., Zhang, J., Zhu, H., Li, H., and Zhang, X. (2007). Nerve growth factor prevents the apoptosis-associated increase in acetylcholinesterase activity after hydrogen peroxide treatment by activating Akt. Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. (Shanghai) 39, 46–56.
- Jin, Q. H., He, H. Y., Shi, Y. F., Lu, H., and Zhang, X. J. (2004). Overexpression of acetylcholinesterase inhibited cell proliferation and promoted apoptosis in NRK cells. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 25, 1013–1021.
- Jin, Q. H., Shi, Y. F., He, H. Y., Ng, K. K., Jiang, H., Yang, L., Jiang, Z. Q., and Zhang, X. J. (2002). Isolation of acetylcholinesterase from apoptotic human lung fibroblast cells by antibody affinity chromatography. *Biotechniques* 33, S92–S97.
- Jing, P., Jin, Q., Wu, J., and Zhang, X. J. (2008). GSK3 beta mediates the induced expression of synaptic acetylcholinesterase during apoptosis. J. Neurochem. 104, 409–419.
- Johnson, E., and Cotter, F. E. (1997). Monosomy 7 and 7q-associated with myeloid malignancy. *Blood Rev.* 11, 46–55.
- Kehat, R., Zemel, E., Cuenca, N., Evron, T., Toiber, D., Loewenstein, A., Soreq, H., and Perlman, I. (2007). A novel isoform of acetylcholinesterase exacerbates photoreceptors death after photic stress. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 48, 1290–1297.
- Layer, P. G. (1996). Non-classical actions of cholinesterases: role in cellular differentiation, tumorigenesis and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem. Int.* 28, 491–495.
- Meshorer, E., and Soreq, H. (2006). Virtues and woes of AChE alternative splicing in stress-related neuropathologies. *Trends Neurosci.* 29, 216–224.
- Montenegro, M. F., Ruiz-Espejo, F., Campoy, F. J., Muñoz-Delgado, E., de la Cadena, M. P., Rodríguez-Berrocal, F. J., and Vidal, C. J. (2006). Cholinesterases are down-expressed

in human colorectal carcinoma. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 63, 2175–2182.

- Mor, I., Sklan, E. H., Podoly, E., Pick, M., Kirschner, M., Yogev, L., Bar-Sheshet Itach, S., Schreiber, L., Geyer, B., Mor, T., Grisaru, D., and Soreq, H. (2008). Acetylcholinesterase-R increases germ cell apoptosis but enhances sperm motility. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* 12, 479–495.
- Muthuraju, S., Maiti, P., Solanki, P., Sharma, A. K., Amitabh, Singh, S. B., Prasad, D., and Ilavazhagan, G. (2009). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors enhance cognitive functions in rats following hypobaric hypoxia. *Behav. Brain Res.* 203, 1–14.
- Paraoanu, L. E., and Layer, P. G. (2008). Acetylcholinesterase in cell adhesion, neurite growth and network formation. *FEBS J.* 275, 618–624.
- Park, S. E., Jeong, S. H., Yee, S. B., Kim, T. H., Soung, Y. H., Ha, N. C., Kim, N. D., Park, J. Y., Bae, H. R., Park, B. S., Lee, H. J., and Yoo, Y. H. (2008). Interactions of acetylcholinesterase with caveolin-1 and subsequently with cytochrome c are required for apoptosome formation. *Carcinogenesis* 29, 729–737.
- Park, S. E., Kim, N. D., and Yoo, Y. H. (2004). Acetylcholinesterase plays a pivotal role in apoptosome formation. *Cancer Res.* 64, 2652–2655.
- Paulus, J. M., Maigne, J., and Keyhani, E. (1981). Mouse megakaryocytes secrete acetylcholinesterase. *Blood* 58, 1100–1106.
- Pegan, K., Matkovic, U., Mars, T., Mis, K., Pirkmajer, S., Brecelj, J., and Grubic, Z. (2010). Acetylcholinesterase is involved in apoptosis in the precursors of human muscle regeneration. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 187, 96–100.
- Pick, M., Flores-Flores, C., Grisaru, D., Shochat, S., Deutsch, V., and Soreq, H. (2004). Blood-cell-specific acetylcholinesterase splice variations under changing stimuli. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 22, 523–531.
- Qavi, H., and Al-Rajhi, A. A. (2009). Acetylcholinesterase and HHV-8 in squamous cell carcinoma and retinoblastoma. *In vivo* 23, 679–683.
- Santos, S. C. R., Vala, I., Miguel, C., Barata, J. T., Garção, P., Agostinho, P., Mendes, M., Coelho, A. V., Calado, A., Oliveira, C. R., e Silva, J. M., and Saldanha, C. (2007). Expression and subcellular localization of a novel nuclear acetylcholinesterase protein. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 25597–25603.
- Small, D. H., Michaelson, S., and Sberna, G. (1996). Non-classical actions

of cholinesterases: role in cellular differentiation, tumorigenesis and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem. Int.* 28, 453–483.

- Soreq, H., and Seidman, S. (2001). Acetylcholinesterase – new roles for an old actor. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 294–302.
- Sperling, L. E., Steinert, G., Boutter, J., Landgraf, D., Hescheler, J., Pollet, D., and Layer, P. G. (2008). Characterisation of cholinesterase expression during murine embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 175, 156–160.
- Steinritz, D., Emmler, J., Hintz, M., Worek, F., Kreppel, H., Szinicz, L., and Kehe, K. (2007). Apoptosis in sulfur mustard treated A549 cell cultures. *Life Sci.* 80, 2199–2201.
- Stephenson, J., Czepułkowski, B., Hirst, W., and Mufti, G. J. (1996). Deletion of the acetylcholinesterase locus at 7q22 associated with myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) and acute myeloid leukaemia (AML). *Leuk. Res.* 20, 235–241.
- Takahashi, S., Shan, A. L., Ritland, S. R., Delacey, K. A., Bostwick, D. G., Lieber, M. M., Thibodeau, S. N., and Jenkins, R. B. (1995). Frequent loss of heterozygosity AT 7Q31.1 in primary prostate-cancer is associated with tumor aggressiveness and progression. *Cancer Res.* 55, 4114–4119.
- Toiber, D., Berson, A., Greenberg, D., Melamed-Book, N., Diamant, S., and Soreq, H. (2008). Nacetylcholinesterase-induced apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS ONE* 3, e3108. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003108
- Tranumjensen, J., and Behnke, O. (1981). Acetylcholinesterase in the platelet-megakaryocyte system. 2. Structural localization in megakaryocytes of the rat, mouse, and CAT. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 24, 281–286.
- Xiao, R., Qiao, J. T., Zhao, H. F., Liang, J., Yu, H. L., Liu, J., Guo, A. M., and Wang, W. (2006). Sodium selenite induces apoptosis in cultured cortical neurons with special concomitant changes in expression of the apoptosis-related genes. *Neurotoxicology* 27, 478–484.
- Xie, J., Jiang, H., Wan, Y. H., Du, A. Y., Guo, K. J., Liu, T., Ye, W. Y., Niu, X., Wu, J., Dong, X. Q., and Zhang, X. J. (2011). Induction of a 55 kDa acetylcholinesterase protein during apoptosis and its negative regulation by the Akt pathway. *J. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 3, 250–259.
- Yang, L., He, H. Y., and Zhang, X. J. (2002). Increased expression of intranuclear AChE involved in

apoptosis of SK-N-SH cells. Neurosci. Res. 42, 261–268.

- Ye, W., Gong, X., Xie, J., Wu, J., Zhang, X., Ouyang, Q., Zhao, X., Shi, Y., and Zhang, X. (2010). AChE deficiency or inhibition decreases apoptosis and p53 expression and protects renal function after ischemia/reperfusion. *Apoptosis* 15, 474–487.
- Zhang, B., Yang, L., Yu, L., Lin, B., Hou, Y., Wu, J., Huang, Q., Han, Y., Guo, L., Ouyang, Q., Zhang, B., Lu, L., and Zhang, X. (2012). Acetylcholinesterase is associated with apoptosis in beta-cells and contributes to IDDM pathogenesis. *Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. (Shanghai)* 44, 207–216.
- Zhang, J. Y., Jiang, H., Gao, W., Wu,J., Peng, K., Shi, Y. F., and Zhang,X. J. (2008). The JNK/AP1/ATF2

pathway is involved in H2O2induced acetylcholinesterase expression during apoptosis. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 65, 1435–1445.

- Zhang, X. J., Yang, L., Zhao, Q., Caen, J. P., He, H. Y., Jin, Q. H., Guo, L. H., Alemany, M., Zhang, L. Y., and Shi, Y. F. (2002). Induction of acetylcholinesterase expression during apoptosis in various cell types. *Cell Death Differ*. 9, 790–800.
- Zhao, Y. J., Wang, X., Wang, T., Hu, X., Hui, X., Yan, M., Gao, Q., Chen, T., Li, J. Yao, M., Wan, D., Gu, J., Fan, J., and He, X. (2011). Acetylcholinesterase, a key prognostic predictor for hepatocellular carcinoma, suppresses cell growth and induces chemosensitization. *Hepatology* 53, 493–503.
- Zhu, H., Gao, W., Jiang, H., Wu, J., Shi, Y. F., and Zhang, X. J. (2007a).

Calcineurin mediates acetylcholinesterase expression during calcium ionophore A23187-induced HeLa cell apoptosis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1773, 593–602.

- Zhu, H., Gao, W., Shi, Y. F., and Zhang, X. J. (2007b). The CCAATbinding factor CBF/NF-Y regulates the human acetylcholinesterase promoter activity during calcium ionophore A23187-induced cell apoptosis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1770, 1475–1482.
- Zhu, H., Gao, W., Jiang, H., Jin, Q. H., Shi, Y. F., Tsim, K. W., and Zhang, X. J. (2007c). Regulation of acetylcholinesterase expression by calcium signaling during calcium ionophore A23187and thapsigargin-induced apoptosis. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 39, 93–108.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 09 January 2012; accepted: 18 March 2012; published online: 10 April 2012.

Citation: Zhang X-J and Greenberg DS (2012) Acetylcholinesterase involvement in apoptosis. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 5:40. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2012.00040

Copyright © 2012 Zhang and Greenberg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.